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We enable professional people around the world to 
connect and engage with each other, with the markets 
they serve and with the information they need to succeed.
 We do this by providing them with access both to 
their audiences and to insightful, business-critical 
information by whatever means works best – at live events, 
through digital media or in publications.
 Our expert staff are deeply embedded within each 
of the many professional communities we serve. Working 
within a culture of creativity and collaboration, we share 
knowledge, know-how and ideas right across UBM’s 
businesses and around the globe.

United Business Media Annual Report and Accounts 2010

We help businesses do business.

 

Financial Calendar Cautionary Statement 
 

Record date for 2010 second interim dividend  15 April
Annual General Meeting  10 May
Second interim dividend payment date  19 May
Announcement of interim results  29 July
First Interim dividend for 2011 payment date  October
 

This Annual Report has been prepared for, and only for, the members of 
United Business Media Limited (the Company), as a body, and no other persons. 
The Company, its directors, employees, agents or advisers do not accept or 
assume responsibility to any other person to whom this document is shown or 
into whose hands it may come and any such responsibility or liability is expressly 
disclaimed. By their nature, the statements concerning the risks and uncertainties 
facing the Group in this Annual Report involve uncertainty since future events 
and circumstances can cause results and developments to differ materially from 
those anticipated.  

The forward-looking statements reflect knowledge and information available 
at the date of preparation of this Annual Report and the Company undertakes 
no obligation to update these forward-looking statements. Nothing in this 
Annual Report should be construed as a profit forecast. 
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Section 1: 2010 Review

At a glance

UBM is a global live media and B2B communications, 
marketing service and data provider. We seek to help 
companies make connections, communicate their 
proposition and do business effectively. 

What are our key strengths?What do we do?

Events

We organise tradeshows and other live ‘in person’ events which enable communities to do business 
– UBM is the world’s second largest ‘pure play’ event organiser. Revenues are generated by 
exhibitors purchasing vendor space, through event sponsorship or, for certain events, through 
attendee entrance fees.

See page 14 for further details. 

Data Services1 (‘DS’)

We provide data and information products which support professionals in their decision making 
and day-to-day activities. We look to create unique, market-leading data sets that can be utilised 
by multiple end users in niche sectors. Revenues are generated through annual subscriptions and 
listing fees; consulting, content and training services; and advertising or marketing support.

See page 22 for further details. 

Online – Marketing Services1 (‘Online’)

We execute campaigns on behalf of clients looking to enhance their branding, customer awareness, 
reach and engagement or to generate sales leads. We offer our clients measurable return on 
investment and high audience engagement. Revenues are generated through advertising (such as 
banner ads), lead generation services and, increasingly, virtual event organisation and building/
managing community websites on behalf of clients.

See page 26 for further details. 

Print – Magazines (‘Print’)

We also publish 123 print titles which provide clients with a more traditional advertising platform. 
The majority of titles are controlled circulation magazines which continue to play an important 
role in serving specific professional and commercial communities. We have seen growing cross-over 
with online marketing services as clients seek an integrated marketing approach or as publications 
migrate online. We are managing the print business towards a focused portfolio of leading titles.

See page 30 for further details. 

Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring (‘TD&M’)

Our PR Newswire business provides communications products and services to professionals 
working in marketing, public relations, corporate communications or investor relations roles. 
As well as distributing our clients’ messages and information, PR Newswire also helps identify 
target audiences and monitors how effectively the message has been communicated. 

See page 18 for further details.

Contribution to 2010 revenue %

1. Events 34.8
2.  TD&M 20.4
3. DS 20.8
4. Online 7.8
5. Print 16.2

2

3

1

4

5

1 Previously Data Services and Online – Marketing Services were reported as a combined segment.

A market leader in hosting face-to-face 
interactions – increasingly important in the 
digital age 

Positioned to capitalise on growth in the 
digital age with a range of quality multi-media 
products and services

Strong presence in high growth and emerging 
economies – broad international infrastructure

Diverse portfolio of products and services 
with cross integration 

Committed, skilled people working in 
an innovative and collaborative culture

Brand strength within attractive 
business communities

Distributed customer base – no single customer 
generates more than 1% of UBM’s revenues

Highly cash generative

Strong balance sheet
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Where do we operate? Who are our customers?

* Denotes offices with more than 50 employees.

We transfer the skills, knowledge and experience we gain 
in serving one community across and between markets, 
transferring best practice and innovation from one 
community to another, from one geography to another 
and from one product type to another. 

2010 Revenue by community %

1. Technology & IP 22.4
2. News Distribution 20.4
3. Health 20.2
4. Lifestyle 7.4
5. Trade & Transport 7.0
6. Ingredients 6.2
7. Fashion 5.6
8. Built Environment 5.5
9. Paper 2.0
10. Other 3.3

1 

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9 10

Other Emerging 

Markets*

China*

* Emerging Markets constituents are the non-G10 countries – most notably for UBM: China, Brazil, India, Thailand,   
 Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Mexico and UAE.

UKEuropeN. America RoW

Revenue by geographies 2005–2010 £m

290

414

106

146 149
129

48

112

31
54

10

34

Emerging Markets*

2005 2010

£634mTotal: £889m

Singapore

San Francisco

Los Angeles

Mexico City Mumbai

Cleveland
Paris

Guangzhou

Chicago London

Hong Kong

Ottawa

São Paulo

Brussels

Sydney

Shanghai

Amsterdam

Manhasset 

Tokyo

New
York

Manila
Albuquerque

Beijing

UBM services a variety of specialist business 
communities. It is through intimate knowledge 
of these chosen communities that we can 
service our customers most effectively. 

We have a well balanced portfolio with exposure to both mature markets and higher 
growth Emerging Markets.* Over the last five years we have increased our exposure 
to fast growth Emerging Markets, since 2005 our revenues from China and other 
Emerging Markets have grown 110% to £166m. 
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Section 1: 2010 Review

2010 Review

In 2010 our revenues have been restored to 2008 
levels, despite the £72m contraction in print and 
a relatively mixed global recovery. In 2010 UBM 
revenue grew by 5% to £889.2m. Statutory IFRS 
operating profit, after exceptional items, increased 
to £132.3m (2009: £25.8m loss) and basic EPS was 
37.3p (2009: 30.9p). 2010 is both about operational 
progress and building and investing in UBM to 
prosper in the future. 

Our aim

Our main aim is to create long term value and 
generate attractive returns for shareholders. 
The dividend graph (on page 5) shows our strong 
track record of dividend growth for shareholders. 
For 2010 the Board has announced a second interim 
dividend of 19.0p (2009: 18.2p) to bring the total 
dividend for 2010 to 25.0p (2009: 24.2p) 
representing a 3.3% increase.

The Total Shareholder Return graph shows we 
outperformed the sector during 2010 although our 
performance dipped during 2009. 

UBM’s strategic progress 

As David Levin describes in more detail in his review, 
our strategy of enhancing our range of quality 
products and services while expanding our presence 
in high growth Emerging Markets and attractive 
business communities, remains unchanged. Through 
both organic initiatives and targeted acquisitions we 
are creating a portfolio which will benefit from 
structural growth going forward. 

Initiatives to strengthen UBM’s foundations 
have included: launching the ‘GEM1’ best practice 
initiative during the year; investing in our technology, 
new product development and sales force of PR 
Newswire, our Targeting, Distribution and 
Monitoring (‘TD&M’) business; strengthening 
Data Services (‘DS’) through new products, core 
database development and geographic expansion; 
and, enhancing our Online – Marketing Services 
(‘Online’), particularly in virtual events. Meanwhile 
our strategy of managing the contraction of the print 
portfolio continues.

During the year we acquired full or majority 
interests in 22 businesses. The most notable of these 
was Canon Communications, which provides UBM 
with market leading media brands serving the medical 
device design and advanced manufacturing industry. 
Canon brings geographically diverse revenues from 
a complementary electronics community and its 
events portfolio also lends itself well to geo-cloning. 
This acquisition and eight others have increased our 
exposure to the attractive events industry – which 
now accounts for 54.4% of UBM’s adjusted profit2 
(2009: 50.9%) – while the remaining 13 acquisitions 
have further strengthened the offerings and 
geographic reach of our TD&M, DS and Online 
businesses. It is worth noting that in total, Emerging 
Markets3 now account for 18.7% of UBM’s revenues 
and 28.6% of adjusted profits (2009: 16.7% and 
23.8% respectively). 

Chairman’s Statement
Our Aim: To create long term value while 
generating attractive returns for shareholders. 

£889.2m

Revenues

Restored to 2008 levels 

despite print contraction.

1 Global Events Momentum.
2 See explanations of UBM’s business measures on pages 51.
3  Emerging Markets constituents are the non-G10 countries – most notably 

for UBM: China, Brazil, India, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, 
Philippines, Mexico and UAE.

John Botts  

Chairman



S
e
c
tio

n
 1

: 2
0
1
0
 R

e
v
ie

w
S

e
c
tio

n
 2

: G
o

v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

S
e
c
tio

n
 3

: F
in

a
n
c
ia

l s
ta

te
m

e
n
ts

United Business Media Annual Report and Accounts 2010 5

03 0504 06 07 08 09 10

Dividend pence

25.0

9.0
12.0

15.0
18.0

21.6
23.8 24.2  

Our people

Our people are UBM’s key asset and, as you can 
see on page 13, motivating and supporting them 
is a major priority for delivering on our strategy. 

During 2010 we have continued to make progress 
in developing our management talent including 
re-scoping and expanding the Business Leaders 
Programme (‘BLP’) and the European Leadership 
Development Programme (‘E-LDP’) (for further 
details see page 45). To reflect the global nature 
of UBM, programme modules have been hosted in 
the UK, US and India. 58 people have now graduated 
from the programmes, nine of whom have since made 
cross-divisional transfers. We have also introduced 
a formal mentoring programme of rising managers 
by board members and senior executives, which 
facilitates a shared perspective on leadership talent 
across UBM and enhances engagement of our 
non-executive directors. 

Communication within UBM has continued to 
develop during 2010. Usage of the Wiki, our online 
UBM community, has grown 28% and is helping 
our cross-UBM relationships to grow stronger and 
multiply with the transfer of knowledge and best 
practice. Our UBM-wide employee engagement 
survey highlighted our meritocratic/innovative work 
environment and commitment to social responsibility 
as areas of strength. (See page 45 for more detail.) 

The Board

Our Board composition provides UBM with a 
broad range of sector, geographical and management 
experience. This breadth of knowledge is particularly 
appropriate given the global nature of UBM, its range 
of products and services and the emerging digital 
trends. There is a high degree of engagement with the 
business and in addition to the usual presentations 
from divisional CEOs the Board also visited two of 
our largest exhibitions in Brazil and India and hosted 
the offsite strategy meeting in India, reflecting the 
growing importance of Emerging Markets for UBM. 
(For more details on governance see pages 64 to 68.) 

Corporate responsibility

UBM’s commitment to environmental and social 
responsibility continues to expand and is a key priority. 
On pages 47 to 50 we detail our continued progress in 
managing our environmental impact and supporting 
the communities in which we work. Two successes 
stand out: first, the Non Government Organisation 
(‘NGO’) Event programme – for the second year 
running our staff volunteered significant time to 
organising our second event in São Paulo which had 
more than 500 exhibiting NGOs (2009: 270) and 
almost 13,000 visitors (2009: 2,500). NGO Brazil 
2011 is in hand and we are soon launching our first 
Responsible Business conference in the UK. Secondly, 
we are implementing an internal global environmental 
reporting system for 156 office locations in 35 
countries which significantly improves our ability 
to monitor and manage our carbon footprint.

In short, UBM has made good strategic progress 
in 2010. The appointment of executives to cross 
divisional roles is giving us organisational cohesion 
and the growing cadre of graduates from our 
management training programmes is playing an 
increasingly significant part in directing our 
businesses. We are investing significantly in organic 
initiatives as well as in targeted acquisitions. 
This investment is building our business in Emerging 
Markets as well as strengthening our existing core 
operations, increasing our exposure to attractive 
business communities and improving our ability 
to capitalise on opportunities created by the digital 
revolution.

Finally, the Board would like to thank everyone 
at UBM for their vision and efforts during 2010. 
We have now largely completed the process to 
reshape UBM and we have established strong 
foundations on which to build our business’s 
future growth.

John Botts 

Chairman

United Business Media Limited

18.7%

Emerging Markets3

Now accounts for a significant 

proportion of UBM revenues.

25.0p

Dividend

Full year dividend increased 

3.3%.

50

75

100

125

150

01/01/06 01/01/07 01/01/08

UBM FTSE All Share Media

01/01/09 01/01/10 01/01/11

Total shareholder return 
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Section 1: 2010 Review

David Levin  

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Executive Officer’s statement 
2010 has been a year of both operational 
and strategic progress for UBM.

Operating and Financial Review

£889.2m

Revenues

From continuing operations 

rose 4.9%.

*  See explanation of UBM’s business measures on page 51.
*** Emerging Markets constituents are the non-G10 countries – most notably 

for UBM: China, Brazil, India, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, 
Philippines, Mexico and UAE.

2010 results

Revenues from continuing operations rose 4.9% to 
£889.2m (2009: £847.6m) and adjusted operating 
profit* from continuing operations was broadly 
flat at £171.8m (2009: £171.2m) reflecting higher 
investment in new product development, sales and 
IT. The adjusted operating margin* was 19.3% in 
2010 compared to 20.2% in 2009. Adjusted profit 
before tax* was £156.4m (2009: £165.1m). Adjusted 
earnings per share* (‘EPS’) were 51.0p, down from 
55.1p in 2009 reflecting higher interest and tax. 

2010 achievements 

Our consistent strategy of developing products 
in winning formats, targeting attractive business 
communities in growing geographies, provides 
us with a good platform for growth.

We are encouraged by the progress of our Events 
business which, notwithstanding the anticipated 
lower ‘even’ year biennial revenue contribution, showed 
7.8% revenue growth and a solid margin performance. 
The strength of our events brands has enabled us 
to capitalise on the gradually improving trends in 

corporate spending while the operational 
performance of the business has continued to develop. 
We held over 300 events in 21 countries during 
the year and launched four new geo-cloned events 
in India, China, Abu Dhabi and the US. We have 
also continued to enhance best practice across the 
entire event portfolio through our ‘GEM’ initiative 
launched in June 2010. The other important driver 
for events has been the continuation of our successful 
acquisition strategy and we, since year end, 
announced the acquisition of two leading events in 
India which will further strengthen our position as 
one of the leading commercial organisers in that 
country. During 2010 UBM bought outright or 
acquired major positions in nine event related 
businesses. The most notable of these was Canon 
Communications, acquired for £182.9m, which 
is performing well and will deliver on planned 
geo-cloning opportunities, most notably in Brazil and 
India. Other events related acquisitions have provided 
us with further exposure to the attractive Emerging 
Markets** (which accounted for 38.7% of 2010 
total events revenues), strengthened our offering 
to an existing community or provided access to a 
community we think has natural growth potential 
or geo-cloning opportunities. 

PR Newswire, our Targeting, Distribution 
and Monitoring (‘TD&M’) business revenues 
grew by 12.3% during 2010. Our US wire business 
saw resilient revenue growth of 2.9% with continued 
solid margins, while our strategy of diversifying the 
revenues base is delivering strong growth in non-wire 
US products (including products such as multimedia 
news releases, where we believe we are the market 
leader in the US, and filing services) which grew 
by 21.4% and in our international business which 
expanded by 18.8%. During the year we successfully 
migrated the businesses’ 600+ servers to an 
outsourced provider, substantially enhancing the 
robustness of the platform and providing a secure 
foundation for future development. 
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£171.8m

Adjusted operating profit*

From continuing operations 

was broadly flat despite  

higher levels of investment.

£156.4m

Adjusted profit before tax*

Was down 5.3%.

51.0p

Adjusted EPS*

Was down 7.4%.

This investment in IT infrastructure, the development 
of new products and services and the enhancement 
of the sales teams, coupled with product mix dilution, 
resulted in a 4.6 percentage point decline in the 
TD&M margin. We also acquired five businesses 
which enhance the geographic reach of our PR 
Newswire business. 

Data Services (‘DS’) has seen improving top 
line trends with revenues up 3.1%, largely driven 
by good performance in products and services for 
the technology community. We are making good 
progress in migrating our print data products to the 
online environment with online data and services 
revenues now accounting for 66.7% of total DS 
revenues (2009: 61.4%). We are investing in the 
development of new products such as: trading 
platforms for our shipping database business, 
expanding our aviation cargo database; a new 
analytics tool for the paper industry as well as 
expanding our offering geographically, particularly in 
Asia. This investment in DS combined with the shift 
in product mix resulted in the overall DS margin 
declining from 20.8% to 18.5%. We also made 
£9.0m of DS related acquisitions to bolster specific 
opportunities in the import/export community, 
maritime industry, UK Built Environment and 
Chinese paper industry. 

The fastest revenue growth has been in our 
Online – Marketing Services (‘Online’) 
segment where revenues rose 28.6%, principally 
due to increased revenues from the technology 
community where the marketing budget 
environment is improving and we are offering an 
enhanced product range with improved client 
engagement. Our most significant investment has 
been in virtual events which, rather than cannibalising 
the live events, are proving a complementary revenue 
stream that helps strengthen the associated brands. 
During 2010 we ran 103 virtual events worldwide, 
investing operating expenditure in developing this 
area. Enhancements in our key online brands, such as 
Information Week, coupled with product innovations 
are also having positive revenue effects and receiving 
recognition through industry awards. 

Print – Magazines (‘Print’) revenues fell 13.1% 
during the year and now accounts for only 16.2% 
of UBM’s total revenues. In line with our established 
strategy we have continued to manage our print 
magazine portfolio towards a smaller, more profitable 
and commercially sustainable set of titles, as 
evidenced by a 1.5 percent point increase in the 
margin in 2010. Adjusted operating profit* for 
Print rose to £10.0m (2009: £8.9m). As we further 
rationalise our portfolio of titles we expect that in 
time our continuing print titles will form part of an 
integrated ‘Online and Print – Marketing Services’ 
offering and growth will be driven by our ability to 
engage with an audience through a variety of channels 
including, more recently, mobile. It is worth noting 
that the combined revenues of Online and Print 
declined 2.9% in 2010 while the combined margin 
improved to 5.3% (2009: 4.3%).

Total adjusted operating profits* for UBM 
were broadly flat at £171.8m – this was owing to 
the operational investments in TD&M, DS and 
Online plus a small increase in net corporate costs. 
Gross corporate costs remained constant at £15.6m 
(2009: £15.5m) but were offset by lower sundry 
corporate income of £6.4m (2009: £7.9m). In 2011 
we expect the gross corporate costs to increase slightly 
while the level of sundry corporate income continues 
to decline.

Finally, given the strategic emphasis we are 
placing on growth markets it is worth noting that 
18.7% of 2010 total revenues are now generated in 
Emerging Markets**. During the year these revenues 
grew 17.6% with an increasing presence in both India 
and South America. In our largest Emerging Market 
of China (which now accounts for 12.6% of total 
revenues) we appointed Philip Chapnick, formerly 
CEO of our Think Services business, as Group Chief 
Representative in Beijing to manage and coordinate 
our overall Chinese relationships. 

David Levin 

Chief Executive Officer

United Business Media Limited

09 10

2010 revenue by segment £m

Events
TD&M
DS
Online 
Print 
Total

 
 

 

310
181
185

69
144
889

288
161
179

54
166
848

20102009
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Section 1: 2010 Review

Our business model

UBM seeks to help companies make connections, 
communicate their proposition and do business 
effectively. 

We transfer the skills, knowledge and experience 
we gain in serving one community across and 
between markets, transferring best practice and 
innovation from one community to another, from 
one geography to another and from one product type 
to another. From one company to many, we enable 
the flow of information, directing messages and 
assessing their impact on specific audiences. 

Community understanding

As the graph on page 3 highlights we operate 
in a variety of specialist communities which have 
attractive growth characteristics. We seek to know 
who’s who in the community, have relationships with 
key participants, create rich databases of relevance 
to those professionals, understand the key themes 
affecting their community, their information needs 
and how they operate. It is through this thorough 
understanding that we are able to service them 
most effectively. 

Quality offering

By having a broad range of quality services and 
products we can create an offering specifically 
designed to meet the needs of the community being 
served. As described in more detail below, we think 
the media industry is shifting to a more integrated 
approach and therefore having a full range of 
products and services is increasingly important.

Geographic diversity

The transformation to a global economy coupled 
with the shift towards digital media leads us to believe 
that diverse geographic experience and infrastructure 
is advantageous. It also provides us with access to high 
growth opportunities in Emerging Markets and 
quality revenues from more mature markets.

Business model

UBM’s marketplace 

The B2B marketplace which UBM operates in is 
extremely fragmented, reflecting the number and 
variety of communities and geographies we serve 
and the diversity of products and services we offer. 
Estimates of its size and growth prospects vary 
considerably. Outsell estimates that the ‘information 
industries’ marketplace (which includes HR 
information, Search, Aggregation & Syndication, 
Market Research, B2B Trade publishing and 
directories) is worth $366.3bn and is expected to 
demonstrate a compounded annual growth rate 
(‘CAGR’) of 2.3% between 2010 and 2013. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers meanwhile estimate 
the more narrowly defined ‘Business to Business’ 
market (which exclude live events, but include 
business information, trade magazines and directory 
advertising) at $141.3bn for 2010 and expect 
CAGR of 1.0% between 2010 and 2014. 

There are two key influences on the long term 
development of the marketplace: the continuing 
impact of the ‘digital revolution’ and the shift towards 
the ‘Emerging Markets’. 

Worldwide Enterprise IT spend is forecast to 
surpass $2.4 trillion in 2010, a 4.1% increase from 
2009, with the communications, media and services 
industry expected to grow at a 4.6% CAGR between 

Operating and Financial Review

UBM Strategy

Our strategic thinking

Community 
understanding

Geographic  
diversity

Quality  
offering
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2009–2014 (Source: Gartner Inc.). It is no surprise 
therefore that we are seeing a trend towards a more 
integrated marketing approach with digital at its core. 
Perhaps stimulated by the global recession, we are 
seeing a greater degree of client focus on efficiency 
and profitability; for example our customers want 
to be able to measure the impact of their marketing 
campaigns, or our audiences, who have access to a 
proliferation of content, are now looking for quality 
and accessibility. The distribution channels are 
changing, with mobile apps becoming increasingly 
important, and we are seeing a trend from solely 
traditional media platforms to a combination 
which offer a high level of engagement and are 
more embedded in the professionals’ work flow. 

The importance of relationship marketing 
remains and we believe that face-to-face interactions 
will continue to be a crucial element of the B2B 
industry. One could even argue that in an increasingly 
environmentally conscious world it is appealing 
to attend a single event and meet a multitude 
of contacts, rather than travelling to meet each 
contact individually. 

The other factor influencing the long term 
development of the marketplace is the 
macroeconomic environment and the shift towards 
the ‘Emerging Markets’. In the short term the industry 
as a whole should benefit from the global recovery 
– with improvements in the corporate spending 
environment and in the proportion of spend allocated 
to marketing. The speed of growth will vary, with the 
expectation that Emerging Markets will deliver the 
highest levels of growth. 

The digitalisation trends and Emerging Markets 
shift are driving development both of new media 
products and services, and of new business models to 
support them, across all sectors and in all geographies. 
We view UBM’s diversity as a distinct advantage – 
our varied portfolio and breadth of geographic 
exposure enables us to be agile and capitalise on 
changes in our marketplace. 

Our strategy

Positioning UBM to benefit from these macro, 
long term shifts in the industry is our primary 
strategic objective. 

Our strategy is to take a leading role in the Live Media 
and B2B Communications markets, in chosen 
communities, by building businesses which are well 
positioned to prosper in the digital age and have the 
potential for global growth. The graphs above show 
how, over the last five years, we have re-shaped the 
portfolio and geographic exposure of UBM.

Whilst our strategy remains consistent, some of 
you may note that we’ve changed how we articulate it 
and are adopting a more granular approach. We have 
identified five priorities for delivering on our strategy:

1. Organic revenue growth

2. Growth through acquisition

3. People and culture

4. Responsible business

5. Appropriate processes

We have made good strategic progress in 2010 – 
evidenced through the financial key performance 
indicators:

KPI 2009 2010

Year on  
year  

change

Revenue (£m) 847.6 889.2 +4.9%

Adjusted operating 
profit* (£m) 171.2 171.8 +0.4%

Adjusted operating 
margin* 20.2% 19.3% –0.9%

Adjusted EPS* (p) 55.1 51.0 –7.4%

Cash from  
operations (£m) 142.7 154.7 +8.4%

ROACE* 15.8% 14.7% –1.1%pt 

Net debt/  
Adjusted EBITDA* 1.2x 2.6x

As you can see the Board have increased the number 
of financial KPIs they formally review to measure the 
health and progress of the business. They also review 
performance indicators which are more operational 
in nature (as detailed over the next two pages).

$2.4tr

Worldwide IT spend

Gartner Inc estimate in  

2010 IT Enterprise spend  

will surpass

$336.3bn

Information industries

Outsell estimate the 

marketplace is worth

More information on segmental 
marketplaces see pages 14 to 31.

* See explanations of UBM’s business measures on page 51.
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Segmental revenues 2005 vs 2010 £m

Events
TD&M
DS
Online 
Print
Total 

310
181
185

69
144
889

167
104

73
30

260
634

 
 

 

20102005

05 10

Geographic revenues 2005 vs 2010 £m

N. America
Europe
UK
Emerging Markets
RoW 
Total 

414
146
129
166

34
889

290
106
149

79
10

634

 
 

 

20102005
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Mix type of revenues %

Year on  
year  

change 
%

2009 
£m

2010 

£m

US wire 73.3 75.4 2.9

Non US wire  43.4 52.7 21.4
PR Newswire 
Europe 12.2 13.5 10.7

Other 32.5 39.6 21.8
09 10

Events
Targeting, Distribution 
and Monitoring

We continue to develop the Events portfolio by launching new events, enlarging the size 
of the events, increasing the yields and sharing best practice knowledge. 

We continue to invest and innovate to 
further expand PRN’s offering beyond 
the US wire product. 

Operating and Financial Review

UBM Strategy continued

1.  
Organic revenue growth: We continually look 
to organically strengthen the products and services 
within our portfolio. Below we detail initiatives 
to improve the performance of each of the segments.

For more detail about the events business and 
its performance in 2010 see pages 14-17. 

For more detail about the TD&M business and 
its performance in 2010 see pages 18-21. 

We also grow in Emerging Markets (‘EM’) through the launch of new events 
under brands which have been successful elsewhere (‘Geo-cloning.’)

Operational Performance Indicators

Year on  
year  

change2009 2010

Sqm of Annual Events 895.3k 925.2k 3.3%

Sqm of Biennial Events* 87.2k 56.6k –35.1%
Attendees to Annual Events 1.21m 1.22m 1.1%

Attendees to Biennial Events* 109.4k 78.2k –28.5%

* Biennial ‘odd’ year events are larger.

Operational Performance Indicators

2009 2010

Revenue of new launch events (£m) 3.6 4.0

No. of new geo-cloned events 7 4

Proportion of EM revenue %

2009 2010

EM 34.3 38.7

Non EM 65.7 61.3

05 06 07 08 09 10

Revenue £m

292

220

167

245

288
310

Revenue £m

154
141

130

104

161
181

05 06 07 08 09 10

2010 Geo-cloned events

In China, which now accounts for 12.6% of 
total revenues, given its strategic focus, we have 
created a managerial role in Beijing to manage 
and coordinate our overall Chinese relationships 
and leverage the capabilities offered by the entire 
UBM portfolio of products and services.

Internal infrastructure 

We continue to build our internal infrastructure 
to better support the businesses. 
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Data Services

With content now becoming more available 
through the internet it is important we 
invest and innovate to deepen our data sets 
and enhance the delivery channels to our 
customers. We are also looking to improve 
the quality of revenues (increasing the 
proportion of digital revenues) and diversify 
the delivery channels (the mix between 
‘subscription’, ‘consulting, content and 
training’ and ‘advertising’ revenues).

Online – Marketing Services

The rapidity of technological advance 
means that we must continually innovate 
to ensure we are best serving our clients. 
We seek to capitalise on the trend towards 
an integrated marketing approach through 
developing our high engagement offering 
and growing the number of quality virtual 
events increasing proportion of Lead 
generation and other revenues. 

Print – Magazines

Although print publishing in general is 
in decline we believe there is a role for 
leading community titles. We continue 
to manage the print portfolio to focus 
on leading titles. Over time it will make 
sense to combine our print segment with 
online for an integrated marketing services 
product offering.

Operational Performance Indicators

Year on  
year  

change2009 2010

Lead generation & other 
revenues (£m) 16.4 21.8 32.9%

Proportion of Lead generation 
and other 30.5% 31.5% 1.0%pt

No. of virtual events 38 103 171.1%

For more detail about the DS business and 
its performance in 2010 see pages 22-25. 

1. Events
2. TD&M
3. DS
4. Online 
5. Print 

34.8
20.4
20.8

7.8
16.2

Contribution to 2010 revenue %

2

3

1

4

5

 
 

 

For more detail about the Online business and 
its performance in 2010 see pages 26-29. 

Revenue £m

05 06 07 08 09 10

57

4243

30

54

69

For more detail about the Print business and 
its performance in 2010 see pages 30-31. 

Revenue £m

05 06 07 08 09 10

216
231

256260

166
144

05 06 07 08 09 10

168

143

91
73

179 185

Revenue £m 

Number of titles 

06 07 08 09 10

140
155

182

109
123*

* Reflects acquisition of 26 titles.

Operational Performance Indicators

Year on  
year  

change2009 2010

Digital revenues (£m) 109.9 123.2 +12.1%

Digital & services 
proportion  61.4% 66.7% +5.3%pt

Proportion of revenues  

Subscription  64.3% 63.4% –0.9%pt

Consulting, content 
& training 23.5% 27.0% +3.5%pt

Advertising 12.2% 9.6% –2.6%pt

The UBM Wiki – online community, allows 
employees from all around the globe and 
different businesses to share ideas, information 
and best practice. 

Wiki usage 

Wiki usage continues to 

increase – number of pages 

viewed in 2010

+28%



United Business Media Annual Report and Accounts 201012

Section 1: 2010 Review

Operating and Financial Review

UBM Strategy continued

2.
Growth through acquisition
We invest in strategic acquisitions in order 
to strengthen our existing portfolio or provide 
exposure to markets we feel are attractive. 

Target selection 

We select targets which are complementary to our 
existing business in terms of geography, segment or 
community. Below is a table showing the acquisitions 
made in 2010. 

Integration process 

In order to facilitate a smooth process, executives are 
given responsibility for integration. The integration 
of the Canon acquisition, completed in October, 
is progressing well.

Strict financial discipline 

A target acquisition also has to satisfy financial criteria 
with projected post tax ROI* exceeding 8% within 
the first full year of ownership.

Consideration
Pre tax 

return on investment %

£m 2008 2009 2010

2008  
acquisitions 49.9 12.4 6.5 7.8
2009  
acquisitions 26.5  – 14.8 4.51

2010  
acquisitions2 258.0 – – 10.6
Total 334.4 10.0

2010 acquisitions Geography Segment Community

Initial 
consideration 

net of cash
acquired*

£m

Expected 
contingent and 

deferred 
consideration  

£m

Estimated total  
consideration 

 £m

E Commerce Expo UK Events Technology 0.4 1.2 1.6
Sign China China Events Other 6.3 4.3 10.6
DesignCon USA Events Technology 0.9 – 0.9
Sienna – Concrete show Brazil Events Built Environment 6.5 6.8 13.3
NavalShore Brazil Events Trade & Transport 1.2 0.1 1.3
Children – Baby – Maternity – Expo China Events Lifestyle 6.3 4.2 10.5
The Routes Development Group UK Events Trade & Transport 6.8 1.3 8.1
Canon Communications USA Events Technology/Health 182.9 – 182.9
Publishing Expo UK Events Other 0.2 – 0.2
DNA-13 Canada TD&M News Distribution 4.0 0.6 4.6
PR Newswire do Brasil Brazil TD&M News Distribution 0.7 0.1 0.8
PR Newswire Argentina Argentina TD&M News Distribution 0.0 – 0.0
Corporate360 Hong Kong TD&M News Distribution 0.2 0.7 0.9
Hors Antenne Europe TD&M News Distribution 5.3 2.7 8.0
SharedVue USA DS Technology 0.2 4.9 5.1
CenTradeX USA DS Trade & Transport 0.3 0.1 0.4
UM Paper China DS Paper 0.1 0.2 0.3
JOC Exchange (Triton) USA DS Trade & Transport 0.3 1.7 2.0
Lead-In Research UK DS Built Environment 0.9 0.3 1.2
Game Advertising Online New Zealand Online Technology 0.6 3.0 3.6
Astound USA Online Technology 0.1 1.0 1.1
OBGYN.net USA Online Health 0.5 0.1 0.6
Total    224.7 33.3 258.0
1  Performance reflects reported results for The Fuel Team which was integrated into PR Newswire in 2010. Excluding it, the pre tax return on acquisition would have been 8.6% for 2009 acquisitions.
2  2010 return on investment calculated on a full year pro-forma basis.
* See explanation of UBM’s business measures on page 51.
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3.
People and  
culture

4.
Responsible  
business

5.
Processes 

Our people

A key element for creating long term 
growth is our ability to attract, develop 
and retain the most talented people at all 
levels. Our people are our most valuable 
asset. We do this through a variety of 
initiatives including:

Talent management – most notably our 
Business Leaders Programme and European 
Leadership Development Programme
Adopting employment policies which 
offer flexible working and paid leave
Appropriate reward incentives – 
including bonus, long term incentives 
and Sharesave schemes
Promoting the wellbeing of our people – 
wellness clinics and programmes, health 
checkups, healthclub reimbursement 
schemes etc

Our culture

Equally important is the culture of the 
Group – we have continued to make 
progress in developing a positive culture 
which is meritocratic, intellectually honest, 
entrepreneurial and innovative, which 
values respect and integrity, and which is 
agile and responsive to changes in our 
workplace. We believe that clear and open 
communication is fundamental to fostering 
this positive culture. We use a variety of 
means to communicate: the UBM Wiki, 
staff surveys, town hall meetings, 
e-newsletters etc. Encouragingly, our first 
UBM-wide engagement survey highlighted 
that we scored above the norm in areas such 
as recognition/respect in the workplace, 
encouragement to innovate and the sense 
that employee contributions are valued. 

The issues of sustainability, climate change 
and corporate responsibility affect us all and, 
as a global company, we are committed to 
ensuring that we engage positively with 
society and minimise any negative and social 
impacts from our operations. Acting with 
respect is central to the way we do business, 
and we believe that acting in a responsible 
manner is key to delivering sustainable value 
for our shareholders.

Environment 

As a leading organiser of events all around 
the world we recognise the impact that 
our business can have on the environment. 
We seek to reduce our carbon footprint over 
time and improve our recycling efforts.

0706 08 09 10

3,339
3,885

5,399

3,380 3,413

 

Ludgate House carbon footprint tCO2e

Community 

We recognise the importance of our 
relationship with the communities in which 
we operate. Over time we have been shifting 
our community focus away from more 
passive philanthropic activities, such as 
simple cash donations, to more active 
engagement, looking to bring our expertise 
to bear in how we serve the communities in 
which we operate. 

Structure & Control 

It is important to ensure we have the 
appropriate processes in place to carefully 
and efficiently measure and control 
performance within the business. 

The CEO hosts monthly meetings/
video calls with each of the divisional 
CEOs. We have a thorough quarterly 
review process in which the divisional 
CEOs update on performance and 
expectations against budget. Rewards are 
also aligned with strategy through 
incentives to achieve budget and specific 
personal objectives.

Focus on KPIs 

As highlighted on page 9 the Board review 
certain financial KPIs for the Group as 
a whole and operational performance 
indicators. The quarterly review process, 
mentioned above, also looks at the financial 
performance of each of the divisions.

Sound risk management

Sound risk management is an essential 
discipline for running the business efficiently 
and pursuing our strategy successfully. Our 
internal audit function manages a UBM-wide 
annual risk mapping exercise – reviewing with 
each division the risks they have identified 
and agreeing upon measures and controls 
to mitigate their risks wherever possible.

This process is reviewed by the Audit 
Committee and then by the Board, to 
ensure a consistent and coherent approach 
to the principal risk factors and to those 
other risk factors that may arise or which 
may become material in the future.

Divisional performance and associated 
risks are regularly discussed on CEO 
monthly calls.

For more detail about Corporate 
Responsibility see pages 44-50. 

For more detail about how we manage risk 
see pages 40-43. 
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The business model – 
UBM creates value by:

Targeting specialist communities exhibiting attractive 
growth characteristics

Creating and evolving strong branded events within 
each specific community (or sub-community) to 
ensure it is a ‘must attend’ event

Exploiting growth opportunities by launching and 
geo-cloning events, especially into Emerging Markets 

Revenues are driven by: 

The number of events hosted 

The size of those events

How many exhibitors or attendees we can attract

The price the exhibitor, attendee, visitor or sponsor 
pays (depending on which type of event it is)

Attractions of the Events industry:

Strong cash generation and favourable working 
capital flows 

Forward booking and revenue visibility

Profit margin potential with strong branded events

Relative recession resilience of leading events 

Potential challenges:

Government and associations influence – UBM 
maintain strong relationships where necessary, 
including recently creating a managerial position in 
Beijing whose primary mandate is to manage and 
coordinate UBM’s overall China relationships

Event maturity – we closely monitor the life cycle of 
our events and manage our event brands accordingly

Margin dilution while building event brands 

Infrastructure constraints within Emerging Markets 

Events offer the unique experience of face-to-face meetings – 
ranging from large-scale global industry exhibitions or tradeshows 
through to small-scale incentive events. Industry analysts recognise 
events as one of the few ‘traditional’ media types which have 
proved resilient in the emerging digital environment – 
underpinned by the continuing importance both of exhibitions 
within sales and marketing activities and of the face-to-face 
interaction between buyers and sellers provided by tradeshows. 

Operating and Financial Review

Segmental Performance

Events

1  Emerging Markets constituents are the non-G10 countries – most notably 
for UBM: China, Brazil, India, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, 
Philippines, Mexico and UAE. 

1. Emerging Markets1

2. N. America
3. UK
4. Europe
5. RoW

38.7
26.3
16.4
14.6

4.0

Geographic split %

1 

2

3

4

5 
 
 
 

1. Technology
2. Lifestyle
3. Ingredients
4. Fashion
5. Other

24.9
18.2
17.7
15.1
24.1

Community split %

1 

2

3

4

5

 
 
 
 

Revenue growth £m

0605 07 08 09 10

310

220

168

245

292 288

Adjusted operating margins % 

0605 07 08 09 10

30.229.4
27.3 27.4 28.2

30.3
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The marketplace 

Events industry analysts AMR estimate that in 2010 
the global events industry declined 0.6% to $24.8bn. 
Interestingly this was owing to a significant decline 
in US performance and generally softer European 
trends, partially offset by improvements in German, 
Italian and Emerging Market countries. The pie chart 
below shows how significant the US is within the 
global events market:

1. US
2. UK
3. Europe
4. EM1

5. RoW

42.6
5.9

20.0
14.6
16.9

Exhibition market by geography %

1 

23

4

5

 
 
 
 

AMR estimate that the CAGR between 2010 and 
2014 will be 6.2%. Within this there is some variation 
between country performance as illustrated in the 
table below.

Country
2010f–2014f  

CAGR %

China +10.9

Brazil +9.3

India +9.0

US +6.7

Turkey +6.7

Germany +4.1

UK +3.7

Hong Kong +3.5

France +3.3

Italy +2.8

UBM’s market position

The tradeshow industry is highly fragmented, with 
no one player holding more than 4.0% of the global 
market. UBM is estimated to be the fourth largest 
player with around 1.8% of market share and the 
second largest pure play organiser. 

1. Reed Exhibitions*
2. GL Events
3. Messe Frankfurt
4. UBM*
5. Fiera Milano
6. Other

4.0
3.2
2.4
1.8
1.7

86.9

Exhibition market by operator %

* Pure play events organisers.

1 2
3

4
5

 
 
 
 

UBM’s events portfolio comprises over 300 events 
and generates 68.3% of Events revenues from 
‘exhibitor paid’ tradeshows. A small number of 
UBM’s events, principally our US-based technology 
shows, are ‘attendee paid’ events. UBM also operates 
a number of conferences which may serve as 
complementary components of a wider portfolio 
of media products designed to serve a particular 
commercial community. 

The competitive positioning of UBM is event 
specific and depends upon the community and 
geography. We have some extremely strong brands 
within our events portfolio, with our top 20 annual 
Events accounting for almost 50% of Annual 
Events revenues. 

UBM’s Event operations are particularly well 
aligned to the increasing importance of China, 
India and Brazil. In 2010 our events in Emerging 
Markets represented 38.7% of UBM’s total Events 
revenue, a much larger share than the 14.6% that 
these countries’ events represent within the global 
events market. This positions UBM with a unique 
platform for growth. 

38.7%

Emerging Markets1

UBM’s events operations are 

well aligned with a significant 

proportion of revenues 

generated in Emerging Markets.

14.6%

Exhibitions marketplace

General Emerging Markets 

representation within global 

Events marketplace is 

relatively small at present.

1.8%

UBM’s market position

Highly fragmented market – 

no one player >4.0% market 

share. UBM’s position 4th  

with 1.8%.

UBM Event brands

FUNDING 
AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING 19 May 2011 – Eversheds, London

propertyweek.com/affordablehousing



United Business Media Annual Report and Accounts 201016

Section 1: 2010 Review

Operating and Financial Review

Segmental Performance continued

2010 performance 

We are encouraged by the progress of our Events 
business which, following good growth in revenues 
and a solid margin performance, now accounts for 
34.8% of UBM’s revenues (2009: 33.9%) and 54.4% 
of total adjusted operating profit1 (2009: 50.9%).

Over the course of the year we hosted over 300 
events, including: 198 tradeshows, 78 conferences 
and 23 awards in 21 different countries (2009: over 
300 events in 17 countries). In keeping with our 
strategy of increasing our emphasis on high growth 
countries this included six new exhibitions in India, 
two in China, one in Brazil and one in the Middle 
East. Three of these events were geo-clones into 
China, India and Abu Dhabi (while a fourth was 
geo-cloned in the US). We acquired nine further 
events businesses while discontinuing certain others 
(£19.3m of 2009 revenues have now been 
discontinued or sold).

A total of 36,900 exhibitors attended our annual 
events during the year (2009: 37,300) with square 
meters for our annual portfolio rising 3.3% to 925,200 
and overall visitor numbers remaining broadly flat 
(1,220,000 vs 1,207,000) despite discontinuing 
or selling a small number of paid events.

Total reported revenues for events grew by 7.8% 
over the year to £310.0m (2009: £287.5m) impacted 
by a lower biennial contribution. In 2010 we 
hosted 16 biennial events (2009: 12 events) which 
contributed £19.8m of revenue. Although these 
exhibited 3.1% constant currency revenue growth 
over their 2008 editions, overall biennial revenue 

fell £10.0m year on year reflecting the portfolio 
difference between the ‘odd’ and ‘even’ year events.

Annual event revenues grew 12.6% to £290.2m 
(2009: £257.7m) reflecting the improvements in 
the quality of the event portfolio – stand revenues 
rose 10.2% to £193.9m (2009: £175.9m), attendee 
revenues were up 24.1% to £36.8m (2009: £29.7m) 
and Sponsorship and other revenues rose 14.2% 
to £59.5m (2009: £52.1m).

During 2010 we invested a total of £229.4m 
buying outright or acquiring majority interests in 
nine events related businesses, which have already 
contributed £16.3m to the 2010 reported events 
revenue. Had they all been owned since 1 January 
2010 they would have contributed approximately 
a further £33.2m. The most high profile acquisition 
was of Canon Communications while our other 
acquisitions provide UBM with greater exposure 
to Emerging Markets or to attractive high growth 
communities. For example the World Routes 
Development Forum provides UBM with a leading 
scheduling event in the aviation calendar while the 
Sign China tradeshow provides good exposure 
to this high growth outdoor advertising sector in 
an Emerging Market economy and both events now 
feature among our Top 20 shows. Other notable 
acquisitions include the Shanghai international 
Children-Baby-Maternity Products Expo (‘CBME’) 
and the Navalshore tradeshow and Concrete Show 
South America in Brazil. Since the year end we 
have also completed our first acquisition in Turkey, 
of a 65% interest in Rotaforte, the country’s largest 
jewellery event organiser.

Events continued

£310.0m

Total Events revenue 

Grew by 7.8% over the year. 

CPhI

UBM serves the worldwide pharmaceutical ingredients 

industry with a range of tradeshows, conferences and 

online products. The flagship tradeshow, CPhI, first took 

place in Frankfurt in 1990, attracting 250 visitors and 16 

exhibiting companies. In 2010 CPhI Worldwide and it’s 

co-located events of ICSE, PMEC and BioPh, took place 

in Paris, attracting a record number of nearly 29,000 

attendees and well over 2,000 exhibitors, occupying 

around 60,000sqm of showfloor. UBM has developed its 

Pharma event portfolio line with the industry’s evolution. 

Supporting the industry’s geographical expansion, 

CPhI ‘geocloned’ shows now take place in China, India, 

Japan and South America. UBM also supports emerging 

Pharma markets with shows such as ICSE (contract 

serices), P-MEC (pharmaceutical machinery and 

equipment), BioPharm (bio solutions). Two new brands 

are being introduced in 2011: InnoPack (packaging for 

pharma) and LabWorld (lab and analytical equipment).  

For more information go to www.cphi.com
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On an underlying basis revenues grew 12.2% during 
the year. This figure represents the constant currency 
(‘CC’) organic growth of our continuing annual 
events portfolio (stripping out biennials, discontinued 
activity and acquired businesses). Approximately 1.7 
%pts of this increase reflects new launches while the 
remainder is attributable to improvements in the 
events industry more generally. Of our top 20 
tradeshows that we owned in both 2009 and 2010, 
these showed revenue growth of 5.8% during the year 
– with our H1 events declining 2.0%, while our H2 
shows exhibited 13.1% growth.

The table below shows the annual event revenues 
split by geography. Emerging Markets now account 
for 40.0% of our annual event revenues having risen 
33.0% during the year. This increase was largely 
driven by acquisitions, most notably Sign China 
and CBME, new launches and good growth in our 
largest events. We ran our first ever events in the year 
in Vietnam and Indonesia and approved a plan to 
expand our ASEAN business. Underlying revenues 
for the region were up 26.3%.

The positive North American performance has 
been driven by the contribution of the acquired 
World Routes and Canon tradeshows, cyclical 
recovery of our technology events and three new 
exhibitions. On an underlying basis North American 
annual event revenues rose 4.9%, driven in particular 
by significant growth in attendee revenues from our 
Black Hat (IT security) event in July and other 
technology events. 

It is worth noting that had we owned the Canon 
and DesignCon businesses from 1 January 2010 
they would have contributed approximately a further 
£23.4m to North American annual event revenues.
Revenues from our UK annual events fell 3.0% with 
the incremental revenue from the E Commerce Expo 
acquisition, positive performances at certain (largely 
H2 weighted) events and incremental revenues 
from new events, more than offset by disappointing 
early year performances, particularly at IFSEC 
and Interiors Birmingham both of which have 
been impacted by the continued pressure on the 
construction sector, and the decision to discontinue 
various events. Underlying UK annual event revenues 
rose 2.2%.

European annual revenues rose 5.7% largely 
because of a strong performance at ICSE and a good 
performance at CPhI Worldwide. On an underlying 
basis revenues rose 8.1% reflecting the influence 
of the two largest events on our European annual 
portfolio. The rest of world revenues refer to Japan, 
which has seen a 17.4% decline in annual revenues 
largely driven by discontinued/sold events. When 
excluded, underlying annual revenues grew by 5.8%.

Adjusted operating profit1 rose 7.2% to £93.5m 
(2009: £87.2m) with a broadly flat operating margin 
of 30.2% (2009: 30.3%). We are continuing to grow 
the business through a programme of investment into 
geo-clones and new launches which dilutes the overall 
margin, added to which, in aggregate, our ‘even’ year 
biennial shows have a lower margin than ‘odd’ years.

£93.5m

Total Events Adjusted 

Operating Profit1 

Grew by 7.2% over the year.

Annual Events Revenue Performance

Full year 
2009 

£m

Full year 
2010 

£m
Change 

%

CC 
change 

%

Underlying
 change*

%

Emerging Markets2 87.2 116.0 33.0 31.1 26.3

N. America 74.4 80.0 7.5 6.8 4.9

UK 49.7 48.2 (3.0) (3.0) 2.2

Europe 33.2 35.1 5.7 5.9 8.1

RoW 13.2 10.9 (17.4) (18.8) 5.8

Annual Events Revenue 257.7 290.2 12.6 11.7 12.2

* Underlying growth rates exclude currency movements and portfolio changes.
1  Adjusted operating profit is operating profit excluding amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items and share of taxation on profit 

from joint ventures and associates. All references to margin are on this adjusted operating profit basis. See explanation of UBM’s business measures on page 51.
2  Emerging Markets constituents are the non-G10 countries – most notably for UBM: China, Brazil, India, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, 

Philippines, Mexico and UAE.

Total Events Performance

Full year  
2009 

£m

Full year  
2010 

£m
Change 

%

CC 
change 

%

Underlying
 change*

%

Annual Events Revenue 257.7 290.2 12.6 11.7 12.2

Biennial Events Revenue 29.8 19.8 (33.6) (33.8) n/a

Total Events Revenue 287.5 310.0 7.8 7.0 12.2

Total Events Adjusted Operating Profit1 87.2 93.5 7.2 6.2 12.0

Total Events Adjusted Operating Profit1 Margin 30.3% 30.2% (0.1)%pt
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Section 1: 2010 Review

The business model – 
UBM creates value by:

Offering a distribution platform with 
unparalleled direct reach

Creating new products which enable marketing 
and communications professionals to do their 
job more effectively

Revenues are driven by:

The number of releases 

The types of releases

New products which aid the marketing and 
communications professionals

The price they are willing to pay for those services 

Attractions of the TD&M industry:

Increasing necessity for clients to engage 
with a targeted audience

Potential growth of the global disclosure market 
with growing obligation to engage more

Growth opportunities by innovating through 
new channels and into new geographies

The scalability of technology platforms

Potential challenges:

Risk of commoditisation of traditional wire products

Revised regulatory guidance which reduces clients’ 
reliance on traditional wire distribution

Speed of change within the digital environment

PR Newswire provides communications products and 
services to professionals working in marketing, public relations, 
corporate communications or investor relations roles in 
businesses, government and other non-commercial organisations. 
Our mission is to positively impact our customers reputation, 
brand and revenues by enabling content to reach and engage 
target audiences. 

Operating and Financial Review

Segmental Performance continued

PR Newswire: Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring 

1  Emerging Markets constituents are the non-G10 countries – most notably 
for UBM: China, Brazil, India, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, 
Philippines, Mexico and UAE. 

Revenue growth £m

0605 07 08 09 10

181

130

104

141
154 161

Adjusted operating margins %

0605 07 08 09 10

23.2

32.3
28.0

34.8

28.1 27.8

1. US wire
2. US non-wire
3. PR Newswire 
3. Europe
4. Other 
4. PR Newswire
 4.businesses

Business split %

1 

2

3

4

41.6
29.1

 
7.4

 
 

21.9

1. N. America
2. Europe
3. UK
4. Emerging Markets1

86.3
3.1
4.3
6.3

Geographic split %

1 

2
3

4
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The marketplace 

For PR Newswire almost half of the revenues are 
generated through US wire distribution – the graph 
below shows the trend in wire distribution in the US 
over time*. As you would expect, the graph shows there 
is a correlation between the economic environment 
and the number of press releases being distributed.

Wire volumes in the US over time ‘000

0605 07 08 09 10

622

481456
500

579 565

Source: PR Newswire analysis*

As mentioned on page 8 the digital environment 
is changing how many organisations communicate 
with their audiences, most notably with the shift 
away from traditional advertising practices towards 
methods of driving audience engagement. There has 
been a corresponding increase in the popularity of 
Multimedia News Releases (‘MNR’). 

PR Newswire MNR traffic over time ‘000

08 09 10

2.5

0.9

2.0

Source: PR Newswire analysis

The previously very separate activities of advertising, 
marketing, public relations, corporate communications 
and investor relations are increasingly using an 
integrated set of techniques and tools to communicate 
an organisation’s message more consistently and across 
a wider range of media. 

In addition to this, as financial markets continue to 
globalise, the number of companies needing to fulfil 
disclosure obligations imposed by national and 
international market regulators is likely to continue 
to expand – so we expect the global disclosure market 
to grow over the long term.

UBM’s market position

PR Newswire’s business is largely US based 
with 41.6% of revenues generated through US wire 
products. PR Newswire analysis of third party data* 
of wire releases lead the company to believe that, 
along with Business Wire, PR Newswire is a market 
leader in wire distribution in the US.

1. Business Wire
2. PR Newswire
3. PRWeb
4. Marketwire
5. Global Newswire

30.8
30.7
17.7
16.7

4.1

US wire market share %

1 

2

3

4

5

 
 
 

In terms of the Multimedia News Releases – 
a growing area for PR Newswire Similar analysis of 
third party data* of multimedia news releases lead the 
company to believe that PR Newswire is the market 
leader in this segment.

1. PR Newswire
2. Marketwire
3. Business Wire
4. Global Newswire

47.7
32.0
16.1

4.2

US MNR market share %

1 

2

3

4

 
 
 

30.7%

Wire market share in the US

The Company believes it is one 

of the market leaders in the wire 

distribution market in the US*.

+9.6%

Wire volumes in the US

Total wire market traffic* in 

the US is estimated to have 

picked up in 2010.

UBM Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring brands

*  Estimates based on PR Newswire analysis of third party data. We are not able 
to verify that the third party data has been presented on a consistent basis.
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Section 1: 2010 Review

Operating and Financial Review

Segmental Performance continued

2010 performance 

PR Newswire, our TD&M business made good 
progress in 2010. The business showed headline 
revenue growth of 12.3% to £181.2m (2009: £161.4m), 
part of which was currency appreciation and on a 
constant currency basis revenues grew by 9.0%.

Our US wire business showed a resilient 
performance with revenues increasing 2.9% to £75.4m 
reflecting generally higher levels of corporate and 
marketing activity. The number of wire releases we 
distributed in 2010 in the US (on behalf of US and 
international customers) grew 4.4% to 190,700. 
We estimate that overall press release volumes in the 
US increased approximately 9.6%, with some smaller 
competitors gaining traction, principally with the 
small and medium-sized enterprises. In response to this 
we have recently launched iReach, a streamlined lower 
cost distribution platform aimed at smaller businesses.

Our non-wire US products exhibited 21.4% 
growth to deliver £52.7m of revenues, driven by 
particularly strong performances at MultiVu (our 
multimedia news release (‘MNR’) production and 
distribution platform), from managing an increasing 
number of corporate and IR websites and from 
Vintage (our filing and printing service). 

Statistics for 2010 suggest we are the leader in the 
US MNR market, and we believe the business is well 
positioned to benefit from the growing popularity 
of MNRs as well as the increasingly widespread use 
of multimedia content as part of standard corporate 
communications practice.

We have continued to make progress in diversifying 
our geographic revenue base. Our non-US revenues 
rose 18.8% to £53.1m and now account for 29.3% of 
total TD&M revenues (2009: 27.7%). PR Newswire 
Europe revenues rose 10.7% to £13.5m, principally 
driven by UK wire growth. Revenues generated in the 
other PR Newswire businesses grew 21.8% to £39.6m 
driven by currency appreciation, an improving wire 
performance in Asia and Latin America and the 
increasing popularity of MultiVu. The Corporate360 
acquisition further bolsters our multimedia offering to 
Asian businesses, particularly for corporate webcasting.

During the year we strengthened PR Newswire 
by spending £14.3m on acquiring five complementary 
businesses, which contributed £2.9m of revenues 
to 2010, and would have contributed approximately 
a further £4.1m had we owned them since 
1 January 2010. 

Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring continued

£181.2m

Total TD&M revenue

Grew by 12.3% over the year.

£42.1m

TD&M adjusted operating profit**

Fell by 6.0% reflecting 

higher levels of investment 

in the business.

MultiVu

MultiVu’s broadcast and multimedia production and 

distribution services help customers communicate 

their key messages to their target audiences in the 

media, in the financial community and to the general 

public. MultiVu’s goal is to help customers maximise 

their return on investment in multimedia production 

by creating compelling content and distributing that 

content across a range of media platforms – reaching 

traditional radio and television media and online 

channels and encompassing emerging platforms 

such as social media and mobile devices. 

For more information go to www.multivu.com
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These acquisitions improve our international reach: 
Hors Antenne provides a high quality French 
database of contacts, Corporate360 is a Hong Kong 
based company which provides webcasting solutions 
for Asian businesses, DNA-13 allows our Canadian 
Newswire business to build upon its workflow 
solution for PR professionals, while the purchases of 
the remaining interests in PR Newswire do Brasil and 
PR Newswire Argentina enable us to capture the full 
upside of growth in these Emerging Markets.

Excluding these acquisitions and currency 
impact, total underlying revenues rose 5.6% during 
the year.

Adjusted operating profit** for TD&M fell 6.0% 
to £42.1m with a margin of 23.2% (2009: 27.8%). 
Our core US wire margins remain robust and this 
decline partially reflects the growth in our newer 
lower margin non-US wire products, the integration 
of our acquisitions which given their small scale are 
also currently lower margin, as well as a significant 
step up in investment in the business. During the year 
we enhanced our IT by outsourcing our significant 
(600+) server infrastructure to a third party provider. 

This has not only improved the robustness and 
reliability of the platform but has improved our 
IT flexibility, and we are beginning to create a 
virtualised infrastructure based on cloud technology. 
We have also invested in marketing – increasing the 
number of personnel at the management level, 
‘in the field’ and in our call centres not only to drive 
wire product sales but also promote sales of our 
newer products such as MultiVu and Vintage. 
Given the broadening product offering we are 
investing in further development of our sales force 
and improving the CRM and database tools used 
to support their activities. A number of new products 
have been launched – most notably iReach and 
ProfNet Connect. Higher levels of capital expenditure 
of £7.6m (2009: £5.6m) to support our flagship 
press release platform and various new product 
developments have resulted in increased depreciation.

Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring Performance

Full year
2009 

£m

Full year
2010 

£m
Change

%

CC 
change

%

Underlying
 change*

%

Revenue
 US wire products 73.3 75.4 2.9 1.3 1.3

 US non-wire products 43.4 52.7 21.4 19.6 12.7

 PR Newswire Europe 12.2 13.5 10.7 10.8 4.7

 Other 32.5 39.6 21.8 11.2 5.6

Total TD&M Revenue 161.4 181.2 12.3 9.0 5.6

Total TD&M Adjusted Operating Profit** 44.8 42.1 (6.0) (8.9) (9.0)

Total TD&M Adjusted Operating Profit** Margin 27.8% 23.2% (4.6)%pt

* Underlying growth rates exclude currency movements and portfolio changes.
**  Adjusted operating profit is operating profit excluding amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items and share of taxation on profit 

from joint ventures and associates. All references to margin are on this adjusted operating profit basis. See explanation of UBM’s business measures on page 51.
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Section 1: 2010 Review

The business model – 
UBM creates value by:

Targeting specialist communities exhibiting 
attractive characteristics

Creating unique high quality data sets which satisfy 
customer needs and are essential for their job

Commercialising the data to different end users 
through multiple products/delivery channels

Revenues:

The diversity of businesses within our Data Services 
division means there are different types of revenues 
and therefore different associated drivers

Broadly speaking the drivers are the number of clients 
and how much they are willing to pay to either be 
included in part of the data set or to use the data 
information and services we provide 

Attractions of the Data Services industry:

Profitability of a strong sector position

Growth prospects of targeted communities

Growth opportunities from innovating through 
new channels and into new geographies

Potential challenges:

Investment to support systems and processes 
for increasingly sophisticated digital products

Managing move from print to digital

Governments and other bodies making source 
data more readily available

Increased competition from low cost ‘new model’ 
competitors or significant new entrants

Operating and Financial Review

Segmental Performance continued

Data Services 

1  Emerging Markets constituents are the non-G10 countries – most notably 
for UBM: China, Brazil, India, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, 
Philippines, Mexico and UAE. 

UBM provides data and information products to support 
professionals in their decision making and day-to-day activities. 
We look to create unique market leading data sets that can be 
utilised by multiple end users in niche sectors.

1. N. America
2. Europe
3. UK
4. EM1

5. RoW

42.7
26.2
16.2
10.5

4.4

Geographic split %

1 

2

3

4

5 
 
 
 

1. Health
2. Technology & IP 
3. Trade & Transport

4. Paper
5. Other

38.1
23.7
23.3

7.3
7.6

Community split %

1 

2
3

4

5
 
 
 
 

05 06 07 08 09 10

168

143

91
73

179 185

Revenue £m 

05 06 07 08 09 10

Adjusted operating margins %

18.918.4

23.824.1

20.8
18.5
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The marketplace 

The continued growth in computing power and 
availability of broadband network access has allowed 
businesses and organisations to access, store, combine, 
manipulate and analyse ever larger amounts of 
digital information as part of their standard working 
practices. This trend creates substantial opportunities 
– for example providing ongoing validated 
subscription data sets to businesses and analytical 
services using that data or business decision support 
tools which professionals rely upon as indispensible 
workflow solutions.

PricewaterhouseCoopers provide an analysis of 
the ‘Business information’ segment of the ‘Business 
to Business’ marketplace. Covering a wide range of 
financial, marketing and industry data-based products 
and services, this forms the largest segment of the 
‘Business to Business’ marketplace and was valued 
at $70.8bn in 2010. Reflecting the challenging 
economic environment the report estimates there 
was an 11.1% decline in 2009 and a 5.2% decline 
in 2010 in the value of this segment. Going forward 
they estimate the market will reach $80.3bn in 
2014, with some further softness (–1.0%) in 2011 
subsequently replaced by strengthening single-digit 
growth in the following years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers also analyse the 
‘directory advertising’ marketplace which they 
estimate is worth $28.8bn in 2010, of which c.85% 
is generated through print directory advertising. 
Going forward the expectation is for a 0.4% decline 
in the ‘directory advertising’ segment between 2010 
and 2014 – although this masks 19.1% CAGR 
in digital directory advertising offset by 4.6% 
compounded annual contraction in the print 
directory advertising segment.

UBM’s offerings

UBM has targeted specific communities which 
offer attractive growth prospects. UBM’s competitive 
positioning is sector and geography specific. 
The paragraphs below give you a flavour for 
our key brands within each community.

Within the Health sector Vidal is our most high 
profile brand which provides drug information to 
several healthcare professional populations in France. 
We believe we are the market leader in the General 
Practitioner market and also have strong market 
positions in supplying private and public hospitals 
and retail pharmacies. Another strong brand of 
UBM is MIMS which is our drug information system 
used in Asia/Pacific.

Our most significant Technology brand is 
TechInsights which mainly provides intellectual 
property and technical intelligence data services 
for the semiconductor and portable electronics 
space. The sector is not tracked by analysts and is 
traditionally served by small, privately held 
competitors. Although not independently verifiable 
we believe we have 40-45% market share in our 
traditional services. 

We have two major Trade & Transport brands 
– PIERS and OAG. Piers provides data and analytics 
for import/export related industries. It is thought 
to be market leader in US import and export data, 
although the private ownership of the competition 
makes this difficult to verify. OAG provides data and 
analytics for the air transport industry – most notably 
the scheduling marketplace.

RISI is the umbrella brand servicing Forest 
products industries such as Paper, pulp & timber. 
Barbour ABI is our data brand for the UK 
construction industry and is the joint market 
leader in providing all information about planned 
construction projects in the UK.

$70.8bn

Business information

PwC estimate, in 2010, 

the marketplace is worth

+1.0%CAGR

Marketplace growth

PwC estimate the Business 

Information segment will grow 

between 2010 and 2014

UBM Data Services brands

+19.1%CAGR+19.1%CAGR

Directory advertising

PwC estimate, digital  

directory advertising will  

grow significantly between 

2010 and 2014.

+19.1%CAGR

� � � � � �

THE STANDARD IN TRADE INTELLIGENCE

PatentVista Enterprise
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Section 1: 2010 Review

Operating and Financial Review

Segmental Performance continued

2010 performance 

Data Services has seen improving performance during 
2010 with revenues up 3.1% to £184.7m (2009: 
£179.1m). Underlying revenues rose 3.5% overall. 
Our core products and services are progressing well, 
particularly the mix of revenues and managing the 
migration from print data to online, while investment 
in new products and our core data sets is positioning us 
for future growth. As the table on page 25 demonstrates 
there has been a significant variation in performance 
between the different types of revenue stream.

Subscription and listing fees grew 1.8% to 
£117.2m with the good performance of digital 
healthcare subscription products such as MIMS 
digital product in Asia/Pacific and Vidal Integrated 
Data Services (IDS), more than offsetting declines 
in the majority of print data products. It is worth 
noting that print related products now only account 
for 33.3% of total DS revenues, 5.3 percentage points 
less than in 2009. Consulting, content and training 
provide the second largest category of revenues 
and these rose 18.6% to £49.8m. This uplift was 
principally driven through our services to the 
Technology community, most notably by our UBM 
TechInsights business which is an increasingly high 
profile player in the electronics and semiconductor 
intellectual property market. Margins in this category 
tend to be somewhat below those in the pure data 
parts of the business and therefore its growth had 
a dilutive impact on the overall DS margin. 

Advertising revenues fell 19.2% to £17.7m with the 
majority of the shortfall in print advertising due to 
the Health and Trade & Transport communities, 
including the US rail print directories.

£1.5m of the total revenue growth is attributable 
to the five DS acquisitions made during the year 
which, if acquired at 1 January 2010, would have 
contributed approximately a further £2.3m of 
revenues. SharedVue provides marketing automation 
software for technology manufacturers, CenTradeX 
provides market intelligence tools for the global 
import/export community and has been fully 
integrated into the core PIERS offerings, the start-up 
JOC Exchange provides a trading platform for 
maritime transport container shipping capacity and 
has now signed its first customers, while Lead in 
Research provides a rich data set for our UK-based 
Built Environment business.

Geographically, DS activity remains weighted 
towards the North American and European 
markets – Emerging Markets currently account for 
only 10.5% of total DS revenues (2009: 10.6%). 
We continue to explore ways to increase this presence 
either through leveraging our current data sets 
(for example taking our Spanish and Portuguese 
healthcare services into Latin America) or acquiring 
complementary businesses in the region. In keeping 
with this strategy our fifth acquisition, UM Paper,  
is a Chinese paper pricing and intelligence business 
and we are working to expand our Data Services 
presence in these markets.

Data Services continued

£184.7m

Total DS revenue 

Grew by 3.1% over the year.

Vidal

Vidal is UBM’s leading Drug Information System (DIS) 

brand. Vidal products are used by GPs, hospital doctors 

and pharmacists to support their decision-making on 

drug prescription, dispensing and administration. Using 

Vidal helps clinicians avoid prescription and other errors 

and improves the quality of care they give their patients. 

Originally developed in the early 20th century as a 

printed drug information directory for the French 

healthcare market, Vidal’s content is now delivered via 

a variety of platforms including: integrated into GP and 

hospital electronic health record systems (EHRs), online 

subscription web services, smart phone applications as 

well as in its well-used print form. UBM Medica is now 

leveraging Vidal’s content, frameworks and systems to 

meet the needs of healthcare providers in other markets 

such as Spain, Portugal, the Middle East and Brazil.  

For more information go to www.vidal.fr
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The table below highlights how the performance of 
our DS products and services vary between different 
communities. The revenues from Health rose 1.4% to 
£70.4m reflecting growth in our online data products 
and Emerging Markets, partially offset by declines in 
our print directory businesses and negative currency 
movements. Our Technology & IP related revenues 
grew 18.1% to £43.7m with over half the increase 
attributable to growth in UBM TechInsights. 
This business has benefited from the ongoing mobile 
devices technology race and general improvements 
in the health of the electronics and semiconductor 
industry. The Trade & Transport community remains 
under economic pressure and this is reflected in the 
7.1% decline in revenues to £43.0m driven by the 
discontinuation of certain legacy rail print directories 
and general pressure in the rail and aviation markets. 
The performance of our Paper related products and 
services rose 3.8% to £13.5m helped by our pulp & 
paper economic analysis product and some currency 
appreciation. For the UK construction community 
although ABI has seen improvements during 2010 
this was largely offset by declines in Health and Safety 
and the decision to discontinue certain products 
serving the sector – revenues derived from products 
serving the Built Environment sector rose only 0.8% 
to £12.7m.

Adjusted operating profit** for Data Services 
fell 8.6% to £34.1m (2009: £37.3m) and there was a 
corresponding decline in the margin to 18.5% (2009: 
20.8%). As described in February, and reiterated by 
Henry Elkington at our Investor Day in November, 
we are investing in the DS business, to enhance the 
quality of the data sets, to develop new products and 
expand our geographic reach. We have been investing 
in new delivery channels and now have ten healthcare 
applications for smart phones in the market 
generating over 170,000 downloads and 15,000 
subscriptions. During the year we set up a RISI office 
in China, which has been enhanced with the UM 
Paper acquisition and we have been investing to 
enter the Middle Eastern and Latin American 
drug information markets by beginning to localise 
our existing content. We have also bolstered the 
patent brokerage business at UBM TechInsights 
and, following the Canon acquisition, are moving 
into IP related consultancy and data for the electronic 
medical devices industry.

£34.1m

DS Adjusted operating profit** 

Fell by 8.6% reflecting  

higher levels of investment  

in the business.

DS revenue performance by community

Full year 
2009 

£m

Full year 
2010 

£m

 
Change 

%

CC 
change 

%

Underlying
 change*

%

Revenue

 Health 69.4 70.4 1.4 5.3 3.2

 Technology & IP 37.0 43.7 18.1 16.6 14.6

 Trade & Transport 46.3 43.0 (7.1) (8.5) (5.1)

 Paper 13.0 13.5 3.8 2.4 2.1

 Built Environment 12.6 12.7 0.8 0.4 0.0

 Other 0.8 1.4 75.0 89.3 89.3

Total DS Revenue 179.1 184.7 3.1 3.8 3.5

* Underlying growth rates exclude currency movements and portfolio changes.
**  Adjusted operating profit is operating profit excluding amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items and share of taxation on profit 

from joint ventures and associates. All references to margin are on this adjusted operating profit basis. See explanation of UBM’s business measures on page 51.

Data Services Performance

Full year 
2009 

£m

Full year 
2010 

£m

 
Change 

%

CC 
change 

%

Underlying
 change*

%

Revenue

 Subscription and listing fees 115.1 117.2 1.8 2.8

 Consulting, content and training 42.0 49.8 18.6 17.3

 Advertising 21.9 17.7 (19.2) (17.6)

Total DS Revenue 179.1 184.7 3.1 3.8 3.5

Total DS Adjusted Operating Profit** 37.3 34.1 (8.6) (7.1) (5.8)

Total DS Adjusted Operating Profit** Margin 20.8% 18.5% (2.3)%pt
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Section 1: 2010 Review

The business model – 
UBM creates value by:

Having the best knowledge and understanding 
of specific communities

Having the ability to identify target audiences 
and market effectively

Having a variety of marketing services/channels 
so clients can choose the most appropriate for 
the campaign

Satisfying the clients’ needs and being able to 
demonstrate the effectiveness of the campaign

Revenues are driven by:

The number of clients and the price they are 
willing to pay for our marketing services 

Examples of price metrics include: 

Cost-per-thousand (how many view an advert)

Cost-per-lead (details of people who register)

Cost-per-click

Sponsorship

Virtual exhibitor or attendee revenue

Community website build and management fees

Attractions of the online marketing 
services industry:

Growth opportunities by innovating through 
new channels and into new geographies

Growth prospects given increased digital adoption

Growth prospects of targeted communities

The scalability of technology platforms

Potential challenges:

Speed of change within the digital environment

Influence of analytics and enhanced transparency

Competitive environment

We execute campaigns on behalf of clients looking to enhance 
their branding, customer awareness, reach and engagement 
or to generate sales leads with specific communities. 

In addition, UBM uses the online environment to extend 
the interaction generated at annual or infrequent ‘in person’ 
tradeshows throughout the year and to enrich that interaction with 
increasingly sophisticated online social networking capabilities.

Operating and Financial Review

Segmental Performance continued

Online – Marketing Services 

1  Emerging Markets constituents are the non-G10 countries – most notably 
for UBM: China, Brazil, India, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, 
Philippines, Mexico and UAE. 

1. N. America
2. Europe
3. UK
4. EM1

5. RoW

82.2
1.3
9.5
2.8
4.2

Geographic split %

1 

2
3

4 5 
 
 
 

1. Technology
2. Health
3. Built Environment
4. Lifestyle 

5. Other

78.9
10.2

3.2
1.8

5.9

Community split %

1 

2

3
54

 
 
 
 

Revenue growth £m

0605 07 08 09 10

69

43

30

42

57 54

Adjusted operating margins %

0605 07 08 09 10

1.9

(0.7)

(2.6)

(1.0)

1.11.3
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The marketplace 

Marketing techniques in the online environment 
continue to develop rapidly, with online being 
increasingly used as part of integrated marketing 
campaigns which take advantage of a range of 
media types in order to achieve active ‘engagement’ 
with target audiences, rather than passive ‘reach’. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers provide an analysis of 
the ‘Digital advertising – Trade magazine’ segment of 
the ‘Business to Business’ marketplace. Their analysis 
suggests the segment market was worth about $1.5bn 
in 2010 however it is forecast to grow at a 13.4% 
CAGR between 2010 and 2014. 

Marketers are increasingly sophisticated in their 
measurement of customer ‘engagement’, tracking 
campaign outcomes in terms of lead generation and 
involvement in ‘opt-in’ programmes, often using 
interactive social media. The development of the 
online environment, particularly social networking 
capabilities, are creating new forms of engagement 
between businesses and their audiences, and in doing 
so generating new opportunities for B2B media 
businesses. Forrester research forecast B2B social 
media marketing spend to hit $54m in 2014, 
compared to $11m in 2009.

A particular area of focus for UBM is to extend 
the face-to-face interaction of their ‘in person’ live 
events through the online environment to develop 
‘virtual’ events that provide highly innovative 
engagement techniques. AMR estimate that the 
virtual exhibitions market is currently worth $55m 
although it is expected to grow to $200m by 2014.

UBM’s market position

As for the other segments UBM’s market position is 
very community and geography specific. We operate 
in niche communities which offer attractive growth 
prospects. Our competitive positioning is hard to 
verify although we have some of the leading online 
brands for certain sectors (see above). During 2010 
we also received a number of awards in recognition 
of the strength of our online products including:

2010 Mins Best ‘Integration with print’ for 
InformationWeek Analytics

2010 Mins Best ‘Virtual Tradeshow’ for 
InformationWeek virtual Event

2010 Mins Best ‘Podcast/Video Cast’ for 
Internet Evolution

2010 Mins Best ‘Overall Use of Video’ for 
Internet Evolution

2010 Mins Best ‘Ad program/Partnership’ for 
Internet Evolution/IBM Partnership

2010 Mins Best ‘In-box’ (email) for NY Interop

2011 Mins ‘Best of the Web’ finalist for EBN

2010 Folio Eddie Award for Best website 
in B2B Energy/Utilities/Engineering for EETimes

2010 Media Power 50 award for best technology 
brands for EETimes

The virtual Events market is currently highly 
fragmented, much like the ‘live’ equivalent however 
we have hosted 103 virtual Events in 2010 and believe 
we are currently the market leader.

+13.4%CAGR

Digital trade advertising

PwC estimate digital 

advertising in trade magazines 

will grow significantly between 

2010 and 2014.

$54.0m

B2B social media

Forrester estimate B2B social 

media spending will be worth. 

$54m in 2014.

UBM Online – Marketing Services brands

Virtual events

AMR estimate the virtual 

exhibitions market is currently 

worth $55m but will grow to 

$200m by 2014.

$200.0m
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Section 1: 2010 Review

Operating and Financial Review

Segmental Performance continued

2010 performance

Our Online businesses have seen very strong top line 
growth with revenues up 28.6% to £69.2m, aided 
slightly by currency appreciation. On a constant 
currency basis revenues rose 27.6% with underlying 
growth of 20.2%. The profitability of the business is 
still inadequate although understated as a result of our 
significant investment into virtual events. Evidently 
the online marketing industry is still relatively new 
and the need to invest and innovate remains high.

The growth rates of different types of revenues 
have varied. Advertising revenues have increased 
26.7% to £45.5m driven largely by growth in our 
North American technology and semiconductor 
related businesses. As for Data Services this growth 
is indicative of the general improvements in the 
trading environment for these communities, although 
it has been aided by a number of important product 
innovations such as “EETimes Confidential” and 
“Internet Evolution”, increases in the number of 
digital issues we are publishing and incremental 
revenues from our Game Advertising Online (“GAO”) 
and Canon acquisitions. Our “Lead generation  
and other” revenues have increased by £5.3m to 
£21.8m, up 32.1%. 

This is largely driven by the significant increase 
in the number of virtual events we hosted in 2010 
(103 vs 38 in 2009) coupled with growing traction 
of new customised products which deliver higher 
audience engagement. The subscription element 
of the business grew 35.7% albeit off a small base 
of £1.4m in 2009. There is still a high degree of 
experimentation in the online subscription market 
and we are closely monitoring the trends and 
exploring new ways of generating revenues, although 
the largely controlled circulation legacy makes this 
transition quite complex.

As mentioned above some of the growth is 
attributable to the three online acquisitions made 
during the year, which have enhanced our offerings 
to the US Game Developer community (GAO), 
the US virtual recruitment industry (Astound) 
and the US healthcare community (OBGYN.net). 
Excluding these acquisitions, which in aggregate 
had contributed £5.6m of revenues in 2010 (including 
some additional Canon and Routes online revenues), 
underlying revenue growth was 20.2%.

As shown in the table on page 29 the main 
driver has been the Technology community where 
underlying growth was 22.6% reflecting general 
improvements in the trading environment for 
technology companies coupled with good take-up 
of UBM’s innovations. 

Online – Marketing Services continued

£69.2m

Total Online revenue 

Grew by 28.6% over the year.

COMDEXvirtual

COMDEXvirtual was the largest of UBM’s 103 virtual 

events held in 2010. The COMDEXvirtual event brought 

nearly 5,000 attendees from the worldwide technology 

sales channel together over two days to participate in 

more than 40 conference and panel sessions, featuring 

over 100 expert speakers, including Paul Otellini, 

CEO of Intel. 

COMDEXvirtual’s online environment included an 

Auditorium, an Expo Hall, Hospitality Suites, a Press 

Office and a Bar area. COMDEXvirtual took place 

during November 16-17 2010 – but its keynote speaker 

and panel session remains available on demand until 

May 2011 at www.comdexvirtual.com

For more information go to www.comdexvirtual.com
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During the year we ran 103 virtual events (2009: 38) 
and of the 65 additional virtual events, 30 were for 
the Technology community. The growth in Health 
revenues, although relatively modest is derived from 
a good online performance by health in the US. 
The declines in Built Environment are largely driven 
by the challenging economic conditions prevailing in 
the UK construction sector which led to the decision 
to discontinue several related online products. 
Stripping these out, the remaining Built Environment 
revenues have grown slightly, although from a small 
base. The Trade & Transport performance is flattered 
by the online revenues from the Routes acquisition 
– excluding these revenues have declined. The growth 

in Other is principally driven by good performances 
in Farmers Guardian and Daltonsbusiness.com

As referenced above the Online segment 
launched a number of new products during 2010. 
The business also made improvements in the existing 
product offering. For example Information Week, 
our largest brand, trebled the number of digital issues 
during the year to 27. Although adjusted operating 
profit** for Online more than doubled to £1.3m 
(2009: £0.6m) as a result of this continued investment 
into new products which deliver higher audience 
engagement, the margin was 1.9% (2009: 1.1%).

£1.3m

Online Adjusted Operating Profit** 

Reflects high levels of 

investment into innovations for 

this dynamic media segment.

Online – Marketing Services Performance

Full year 
2009 

£m

Full year 
2010 

£m

 
Change 

%

CC 
change 

%

Underlying
 change*

%

Revenue
 Advertising 35.9 45.5 26.7 25.3

 Lead Generation and other 16.5 21.8 32.1 33.5

 Subscriptions 1.4 1.9 35.7 32.0

Total Online Revenue 53.8 69.2 28.6 27.6 20.2

Total Online Adjusted Operating Profit** 0.6 1.3 nm nm nm

Total Online Adjusted Operating Profit** Margin 1.1% 1.9% 0.8%pt

Online revenues by community

Full year 
2009 

£m

Full year 
2010 

£m

 
Change 

%

CC 
change 

%

Underlying 
change*

%

Revenue
 Technology 41.1 54.6 32.9 30.9 22.6

 Health 5.9 7.0 18.6 24.1 23.5

 Built Environment 2.4 2.2 (8.3) (6.3) 10.9

 Trade & Transport 1.2 1.2 – 0.5 (71.4)

 Other 3.2 4.2 31.2 25.0 24.6

Total Online Revenue 53.8 69.2 28.6 27.6 20.2

**Underlying growth rates exclude currency movements and portfolio changes.
**  Adjusted operating profit is group operating profit excluding amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items and share of taxation 

on profit from joint ventures and associates. All references to margin are on this adjusted operating profit basis. See explanation of UBM’s business measures 
on page 51.
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Section 1: 2010 Review

The business model – 
UBM creates value by:

Having sector leading titles

Offering client flexibility to advertise 
in traditional print media as well as online

Revenues are driven by:

Number of adverts in publications

Price of space in publications

Number of editions published

Subscriptions

Attractions of print magazines:

For certain industries print media  
remains preferred media

Broad reach to generate awareness

Challenges:

Overcapacity in the market place

Migration away from print

The marketplace 

In common with other print-based media the B2B 
magazine market remains under severe pressure. 
Some residual economic weaknesses continues to add 
to the long term pressures created by the structural 
shift in marketing and advertising towards live and 
digital media across all markets. This structural 
decline will drive title closures in many markets as 
they become progressively more ‘over-published’. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers estimate “print 
advertising – Trade magazine” segment of the 
“Business to Business” marketplace at $12.4bn 
in 2010 having declined 9.9% during the year. 

Operating and Financial Review

Segmental Performance continued

Print – Magazines

1  Emerging Markets constituents are the non-G10 countries – most notably 
for UBM: China, Brazil, India, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, 
Philippines, Mexico and UAE. 

The publication of trade print titles which offer clients 
a traditional advertising platform.

1. N. America
2. Europe
3. UK
4. EM1

5. RoW

27.8
31.6
23.8

9.8
7.0

Geographic split %

1 

2

3

4

5

 
 
 

1. Health
2. Technology
3. Built Environment
4. Lifestyle

5. Other

57.7
16.7

7.0
5.9

12.7

Community split %

1 

2

3

5

4

 
 
 
 

Revenue growth £m

0605 07 08 09 10

144

256260
231

216

166

Adjusted operating margins %

0605 07 08 09 10

6.9
8.3

13.4
12.2

11.1

5.4
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UBM’s market position

UBM has a number of leading titles as highlighted 
on page above. As for the other segments UBM’s 
position is specific to certain communities and 
geographies. We believe the issue in the print industry 
is one of overcapacity and there will continue to be 
sufficient demand in mature markets to support one 
or two leading print titles. We will continue to review 
our portfolio systematically in light of this market 
view to ensure we have a commercially sustainable 
and profitable set of leading titles. 

2010 performance 

The significance of Print within the overall UBM 
business revenue mix continues to diminish and now 
accounts for 16.2% of total revenues (2009: 19.6%) and 
5.8% of total adjusted operating profit** (2009: 5.2%).

Revenues for the year fell by 13.1% to £144.1m. 
This decline was magnified by the negative impact 
of the shift in the Euro, such that on a constant 
currency basis revenues declined 11.5%. We continue 
to manage the portfolio actively in order to mitigate 
the impact of the long term structural shift away from 
print and during 2010 we closed or exited 13 titles, 
which contributed to some of the decline in revenues. 
On an underlying basis, excluding these titles and 
adjusting for currency, revenues fell 8.1%.

We believe print continues to suffer from 
overcapacity but that there will be sufficient demand 
in mature markets to support one, or perhaps two, 
leading print titles in most verticals. 

We continue to review our portfolio systematically 
in light of this market view. It is worth noting that 
as part of the Canon and Children-Baby-Maternity 
acquisitions we have inherited 26 titles which, had 
we owned these since 1 January 2010, would have 
contributed approximately a further £18.0m revenues 
but would have resulted in the underlying revenues 
falling by 12.9% in 2010. Our systematic review is 
being expanded to include these acquired titles.

We are managing our print portfolio to a smaller, 
more commercially sustainable and profitable set 
of leading titles. This is evidenced by a 12.4% rise in 
adjusted operating profit** to £10.0m (2009: £8.9m) 
with margins rising 1.5 percentage points to 6.9%. 
As we further rationalise our portfolio of titles 
we expect that it will form part of an integrated 
“Online and Print – Marketing Services” offering 
and growth will be driven by our ability to engage 
with an audience through a variety of channels 
including, more recently, mobile. It is worth noting 
that the combined revenues of Online and Print 
declined 2.9% in 2010 while combined margin 
improved to 5.3% (2009: 4.3%).

Print – Magazines performance

Full year 
2009 

£m

Full year 
2010 

£m

 
Change 

%

CC 
change 

%

Underlying 
change*

%

Total Print Revenue 165.8 144.1 (13.1) (11.5) (8.1)

Total Print Adjusted Operating Profit** 8.9 10.0 12.4 15.8 28.4

Total Print Adjusted Operating Profit** Margin 5.4% 6.9% 1.5%pt

**Underlying growth rates exclude currency movements and portfolio changes.
**  Adjusted operating profit is operating profit excluding amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items and share of taxation on profit 

from joint ventures and associates. All references to margin are on this adjusted operating profit basis. See explanation of UBM’s business measures on page 51.

UBM Print – Magazines brands

06 07 08 09 10

Number of publications

1231

182

155
140

109

1 Includes 26 titles acquired during 2010.

Print Adjusted Operating Profit** 

Thanks to our portfolio 

management although 

revenues fell 13.1% our profit 

increased +12.4%.

£10.0m
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Section 1: Overview

Financial summary*
Revenues in 2010 were £889.2m, 4.9% higher than 
in 2009 (2009: £847.6m) largely driven by robust 
underlying performance of the Events, TD&M, DS 
and Online businesses and the revenue contribution 
from acquisitions. Adjusted operating profit1 for 
2010 was 0.4% higher at £171.8m (2009: £171.2m). 
Lower margins1 reflected higher investment 
particularly in our TD&M, DS and Online 
businesses, coupled with higher net corporate costs 
due to lower offsetting income at the centre. Detailed 
commentary on the performance of our operating 
segments can be found on pages 14 to 31 of the 
Operational Review. Our balance sheet remains 
strong, with net debt at 31 December 2010 of 
£484.6m – the equivalent of 2.6 times our 2010 
adjusted EBITDA1 – an increase from net debt 
of £226.4m at the end of 2009 as a result of the 
significant investment in acquisitions during the year. 
On a pro forma basis, adjusted to include the results 
of businesses acquired during the year, net debt to 
adjusted EBITDA1 (over the last twelve months) 
would be approximately 2.3 times.

Corporate costs
Total corporate costs for 2010 were £15.6m (2009: 
£15.5m). These corporate costs are partially offset by 
internal cost recoveries from the Group’s operating 
businesses and by sundry income which is not 
attributable to any of the Group’s operations to give 
a net corporate cost figure of £9.2m (2009: £7.6m). 

Exceptional items

Impairment

We have reviewed the carrying value of our intangible 
assets (including goodwill) in light of current 
trading conditions and expectations and consider 
that no provision for impairment is required at 
31 December 2010. 

Restructuring and business 
reorganisation costs

During 2010 we continued to manage our product 
portfolio actively, closing or exiting 13 print magazine 
titles and reducing the frequency of two others. We 
also made further progress in planned restructuring of 
a number of our businesses, particularly within our 
Data Services segment. The exceptional charge of 
£5.8m includes £3.0m of redundancy costs, £1.7m 
relating to restructuring and business reorganisation 
costs and £1.1m relating to property costs. Of the 
amount charged, £3.2m has been incurred in 2010 
and the balance is committed to be incurred in 2011.

Operating and Financial Review
Financial Review

Chief Financial Officer’s review 

Robert Gray  
Chief Financial Officer

*  UBM uses a range of business performance 
indicators to help measure its development against 
strategy and financial objectives. All non-IFRS 
measures have been notated with a1 and additional 
information on these measures has been provided 
on page 51. 
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Summary of Income Statement

IFRS Measures As adjusted1

£m FY 2010 FY 2009 % Change FY 2010 FY 2009 % Change

Revenue 889.2 847.6 4.9 889.2 847.6 4.9
 Operating expenses (excluding (a) line items below) (701.0) (663.2) (701.0) (663.2)  
 Share of tax on profit in JV and associates(a) (0.8) (0.7) (b) (b)  
 Exceptional reorganisation and restructuring costs(a) (5.8) (16.5) (b) (b)  
 Exceptional items relating to acquisitions(a) (5.1) – (b) (b)  
 Impairment charges(a) – (153.0) (b) (b)  
EBITDA 188.2 184.4 2.1
 Depreciation(a) (16.4) (13.2) 24.2 (16.4) (13.2) 24.2
EBITA 160.1 1.0 n/a 171.8 171.2 0.4
 Amortisation – intangible assets arising on acquisition(a) (27.8) (26.8) (b) (b)  
Operating profit 132.3 (25.8) n/a 171.8 171.2 0.4
 Net interest expense (18.7) (13.0) (18.7) (13.0)  
 Financing income – pension schemes 3.2 2.2 3.2 2.2  
 Financing income – FX gain on forward contracts 0.1 4.7 0.1 4.7  
 Financing income – other 1.2 2.9 (b) (b)  
 Financing expense – other (2.6) (6.7) (b) (b)  
PBT 115.5 (35.7) n/a 156.4 165.1 (5.3)
 Taxation (16.1) (17.7) (23.5) (24.8)  
 Exceptional taxation net credit – 135.2 (b) (b)  
PAT 99.4 81.8 21.5 132.9 140.3 (5.3)
 Non-controlling interest (8.6) (6.6) (8.6) (6.6)  
 Attributable profit 90.8 75.2 124.3 133.7  
    
Weighted average no. of shares (million) 243.4 243.1 243.4 243.1  
Fully diluted weighted average no. of share (million) 247.6 246.5 247.6 246.5  
Earnings per share (pence) 37.3 30.9 20.7 51.0 55.1 (7.4)
Earnings per share (diluted) (pence) 36.7 30.5 20.3 50.2 54.2 (7.4)
Dividend per share (pence) 25.0 24.2 3.3 25.0 24.2 3.3
(a) Expenses not included within Operating expense figure.
(b)  The Group believe the adjusted measures assist investors in their assessment of our earnings and is also a measure commonly used by shareholders to measure our performance.  

All non-IFRS measures and business performance measures have been notated with a 1 and additional information on these measures has been provided on page 51.
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Section 1: Overview

Operating and Financial Review
Financial Review continued

Chief Financial Officer’s review continued
Exceptional items relating 
to acquisitions

Following the adoption of IFRS 3 (revised) from 
1 January 2010, acquisition costs of £6.1m were 
expensed as exceptional items, rather than included 
in the calculation of goodwill on acquisition as 
previously required by the standard. Of this cost, 
£3.3m relates to the costs incurred in respect 
of the acquisition of Canon. For the year ended 
31 December 2010 an exceptional credit of £1.0m 
has been recognised in respect of revisions made to 
the initial estimate of the contingent consideration 
payable on acquisitions made in 2010. 

Interest
Net interest expense represents interest payments 
on UBM’s bonds and bank loans, reduced by interest 
receipts on our cash holdings. Net interest expense 
in 2010 was £18.7m, compared with £13.0m in 
2009. This is mainly a result of a higher average 
debt for the year, higher costs from lengthening 
debt maturity and lower returns on cash balances. 
For further information relating to our capital 
structure see page 35.

Financing income includes an IAS 19 pension 
interest credit of £3.2m (2009: £2.2m). For further 
information on pensions refer to Note 24 of the 
consolidated financial statements. Financing income 
also includes a foreign exchange gain on forward 
contracts of £0.1m (2009: £4.7m).

Net financing expense – other includes a net charge 
of £1.4m (2009: £2.8m) taken in respect of ineffective 
fair value hedges and net investment hedges. 

See page 43 of Risks and Uncertainties for details 
on our exposure to interest rate risk.

Income tax
UBM’s effective rate of taxation1 for the year was 
15.0% (2009: 15.0%). 

In March 2010 UBM made a payment of £46.5m to 
the UK tax authorities in settlement of historic tax 
issues. Movements in our tax creditor balance during 
2010 were as follows:

£m

Current tax liability at 1 January 2010 109.0
Current tax charge 22.7
Tax paid (62.1)
Current tax liability at 31 December 2010 69.6

Overall our current tax liability decreased from 
£109.0m as at 31 December 2009 to £69.6m as 
at 31 December 2010. The tax creditor includes 
provisions for tax settlements in various jurisdictions 
in which UBM operates. Graphs showing the tax 
creditor by country and year is provided below:

1. Europe (incl UK)
2. US (incl state and local)
3. Other

45
42
13

Tax creditor by country %

1 

2

3

 
 
 
 

1. �rough 2006
2. 2007
3. 2008
4. 2009
5. 2010

9
19
19
21
32

Tax creditor by year %

1 
2

3

4

5

 
 
 

We have necessarily made judgements as to the 
outcome of tax matters not concluded. This creditor 
has been consistently classified as short term in line 
with our accounting policy. We do not expect the tax 
cash outflow in respect of this creditor in 2011 to 
exceed £10.0m. The total cash paid in respect of 
income taxes was £62.1m in 2010, including the 
settlement of £46.5m.
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Foreign currency
Our income statement exposure to foreign currency 
risk is shown (by way of sensitivity to changes in 
exchange rates) in the foreign currency risk table below.

31 December 
2010

Average  
exchange 

rate  
in 2010

Currency  
value 
rises/  

falls by

Effect on  
revenue  
+ / – £m

Effect on 
adjusted 

operating
profit1

+ / – £m

US dollar $1.54 1 cent 3.0 0.6
Euro €1.16 1 cent 1.3 0.4

The following table outlines the currency profile of 
our revenues and adjusted operating profits1 for 2010: 

2010 
Revenue  

%

2010 Adjusted
 operating profit1

% 

US dollar 51.8 52.7
Euro 17.0 23.5
UK Pound Sterling 15.8 5.8
Canadian Dollar 3.7 6.2
Japanese Yen 2.8 2.4
Renminbi 2.8 4.4
Indian Rupee 1.1 0.6
Brazilian Real 1.0 1.7
Other 4.0 2.7
Total 100 100

See page 43 of Risks and Uncertainties for details 
on our exposure to foreign exchange risk.

Capital structure

Balance sheet

UBM’s consolidated net debt at 31 December 2010 
stood at £484.6m, up from £226.4m at the end of 
2009. During 2010, cash generated from operations 
rose to £154.7m (2009: £142.7m). UBM paid 
£239.6m for acquisitions (net of cash acquired) 
and earnout payments in relation to acquisitions 
made in prior years, together with £58.9m of 
dividends to shareholders (excluding dividends paid 
to non-controlling interests) and a foreign exchange 
movement of £4.5m which mainly relates to exchange 
on cash, bonds and bank loans.

Pensions

UBM operates a number of defined benefit and 
defined contribution schemes, based primarily in the 
UK. The most recent actuarial funding valuations for 
the majority of the UK scheme liabilities were carried 
out in 2008, and updated to 31 December 2010 using 
the projected unit credit method. The next triennial 
valuation will take place in 2011.

At 31 December 2010, the aggregate deficit 
under IAS 19 was £12.7m, an improvement of 
£13.9m compared to the deficit of £26.6m at the 
previous year end. The movement reflects an increase 
in asset returns and a reduction in the inflation rate 
as a result of adopting a consumer price index (‘CPI’) 
inflationary assumption rather than retail price 
inflation (‘RPI’) (following the UK Government’s 
announcement of its intention to adopt CPI rather 
than RPI for statutory minimum pension 
revaluations/indexation from 1 January 2011) 
partially offset by an increase in assumed life 
expectancy. For US schemes, annual funding 
valuations are performed and therefore the results 
are based on the 2009 valuation.

The IAS 19 interest credit was £3.2m, 
representing the excess of expected asset growth 
during 2009 over the interest accretion on the 
scheme liabilities. Further details of our retirement 
benefit obligations are provided in Note 24 of the 
financial statements.

Debt and liquidity

In our funding strategy, our objective is to maintain 
a balance between continuity of funding and 
flexibility through the use of capital markets, bank 
loans and overdrafts. To facilitate access to these 
sources of funds we seek to maintain a long term 
investment grade credit rating with Moody’s (current 
rating Baa3 – stable outlook) and Standard & Poor’s 
(current rating BBB – stable outlook). 

At the end of 2010, we had a strong liquidity 
position including undrawn facilities of £304.7m 
and cash on hand of £125.9m. In November 2010 
we issued $350m of 5.75% bonds due November 
2020. We used the net proceeds from this issuance 
to refinance $287m of borrowings incurred under 
UBM’s senior credit facility to fund the acquisition 
of Canon and for general corporate purposes. 
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Chief Financial Officer’s review continued

We also have £250m of sterling bonds with a 
November 2016 maturity and an annual interest 
coupon of 6.5%. We maintain a £325m multi-
currency revolving credit facility from key 
relationship banks. The facility matures in July 2012 
and allows UBM to draw and repay up to £325m 
provided all conditions precedent are met. At 
31 December 2010, all conditions precedent were 
met and UBM had drawn £20.3m from the facility 
leaving £304.7m available. We have other long term 
debt and committed facilities totalling £120.5m of 
which UBM had drawn £120.5m at 31 December 
2010. 

Details of all net investment hedges, fair value 
hedges and cash flow hedges can be found in Note 21 
of the financial statements. 

UBM has issued two debt instruments which 
include put and call options:

In September 2008, UBM raised £75.0m through the 
issue of 20-year Floating Rate Reset Bonds which bear 
interest for the first three years at six month LIBOR 
plus 0.68% (currently 1.71%). Under the terms, the 
holder of the bonds has the option to put them back 
to UBM at Par (£75m) in September 2011 and every 
three years until maturity in September 2028.
In March 2009, UBM raised €53.1m through two 
Floating Rate Reset Loans. The loans bear interest 
for the first three years at six month EURIBOR 
plus 1.80% (currently 3.48%). Under the terms, the 
lender has the option to put them back to UBM at 
Par (€53.1m) in March 2012 and every three years 
until maturity in March 2024.

If the bond or loans are not put then one of two 
events will occur:

1.  The interest rate on the bond and loans are reset 
to 4.70% and 4.16%, respectively, plus UBM’s 
three-year credit spread until the next put date;

2.  UBM exercises its call option and pays the fair 
value of the instruments at date of exercise to the 
current holders. 

Since the onset of the 2008/2009 credit crisis, long 
term swap rates have fallen below the reset interest 
rates of 4.70% and 4.16%. This, combined with a 
material increase in market volatility, has increased the 
fair value of the bonds and loans as at 31 December 
2010 to £84.0m and €57.3m respectively. If UBM 
exercises its call options and repays the instrument, 
the early unwind at the current valuation would result 
in a loss of £9.0m crystallising on the bond and €4.2m 
crystallising on the loans. Under IAS 39 the losses 
would be recognised as a financial expense in the 
income statement.

From the 31 December 2010 valuation, 
assuming all other variables remain constant, the 
fair value of the bonds increases by approximately 
£0.8m for a 0.1% fall in the 17-year swap rate.

From the 31 December valuation, assuming 
all other variables remain constant, the fair value 
of the loans increases by approximately €0.5m for 
every 0.1% fall in the 12-year swap rate.

Further detail on these facilities, including 
maturity profile, can be found in Notes 20 and 21 
of the financial statements. 

£m
Facility 

£m
Drawn 

£m
Undrawn 

£m Maturity

LIBOR + 
Margin  

% Fair value hedges

Syndicated bank facility 325.0 20.3 304.7 Jul-12 0.325  
Bilateral loan 45.5 45.5 – Mar-12* 1.8  
Puttable bond 75.0 75.0 – Sept-11* 0.68  
£250m fixed rate  
sterling bond

250.0 250.0 – Nov-16 6.5% 
fixed 

Floating rate swap  
for £150m

GBP LIBOR + 2.9%
$350m fixed rate  
dollar bond

223.5 223.5 – Nov-20 5.75% 
fixed 

Floating rate swap 
for $150m

US$ LIBOR + 2.63%
Total 919.0 614.3 304.7    
* Minimum maturity, can be extended at option of bondholder.
Note: Amounts drawn exclude fair value movements on the debt instruments.
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The following table summarises our estimated 
payment profile for contractual obligations as of 
31 December 2010:

2011 
£m

2012 
£m

2013 
£m 

2014 
£m

Thereafter 
£m

Long term 
debt 75.3 65.8 – – 473.5
Interest 
payable* 32.5 30.1 29.1 29.1 109.7
Derivative 
financial 
liabilities 
(undiscounted) (2.0) 3.4 – – 30.3
Operating 
lease payments 34.9 27.3 21.0 18.8 11.2
Pension 
contributions** 3.1 3.1 3.1 – –
Trade and 
other payables 86.3 1.6 – – – 
Contingent 
and deferred 
consideration 21.6 11.6 6.7 0.4 0.7 
Put options 
over non-
controlling 
interests – 1.4 – – 7.1
Total 251.7 144.3 59.9 48.3 632.5
* Interest payable based on current year rates.
** Subject to renegotiation in 2013.

The table includes the bilateral loan and puttable 
bonds, redeemed at par on the earliest date the 
holders can redeem. The put and call option over 
these bonds and loans are explained on page 36.

Capital management

UBM maintains conservative capital ratios in order 
to support its businesses and maximise shareholder 
value. At the end of 2010, the net debt to adjusted 
earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and 
amortisation was 2.6 times as shown in the table:

2009  
£m

2010  
£m

Financial liabilities 385.3 610.5
Financial assets (158.9) (125.9)
Net debt1 226.4 484.6
Adjusted earnings before 
interest, taxation, depreciation 
and amortisation1 184.4 188.2
Net debt to EBITDA1 ratio 1.2  

times
2.6 

times
Net debt to EBITDA1 ratio 
at average rates*

1.2  
times

 2.6 
times

*  Adjusting EBITDA to include a full year of pro forma operating profit 
from acquisitions made during 2010 decreases the ratio to 2.3 times.

Our policy is to maintain investment grade ratings from 
each of Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. In assessing 
the leverage ratios of net debt to adjusted earnings 
before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation, 
both Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s take account of 
a number of other factors, including future operating 
lease obligations and any pension deficit.

Cash flow
Cash generated from operations rose to £154.7m 
from £142.7m in 2009, reflecting lower restructuring 
payments. Cash conversion1 was 97.9% of adjusted 
operating profit1 (2009: 102.0%). Free cash flow prior 
to cash invested in acquisitions was £51.0m, £47.7m 
behind 2009, reflecting the tax payment and higher 
interest costs in 2010. 

We expect to continue to generate significant 
free cash flow in 2011 because of our business model 
and believe that our cash on hand, cash from our 
operations and available credit facilities will be 
sufficient to fund our cash dividends, debt service 
and acquisitions in the normal course of business. 

Capital expenditure
Capital expenditure for the year was £19.1m, 
reflecting our continued investment in the business. 
The largest capital investments were to enhance 
Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring’s existing 
products and to upgrade its IT infrastructure. We do 
not expect that the capital expenditure levels for 2011 
will be significantly different to those of 2010. 
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Acquisitions
We invested £224.7m in the acquisition of 20 new 
businesses and acquired the remaining equity interest 
in two further businesses. These acquisitions were 
closely aligned to our strategic priorities and provide 
us with exposure to attractive communities and 
geographies, while being highly complementary to 
our existing segmental offering. Of the acquisitions 
made nine related to Events, five (including 
acquisitions of the remaining equity in two 
businesses) relates to Targeting, Distribution and 
Monitoring, five to Data Services and three to Online 
– Marketing Services. (For a full list of acquisitions 
please see page 12).

Our investment comprised cash of £224.7m 
(net of cash acquired) and expected contingent 
and deferred consideration of £33.3m. We also 
made payments in respect of earnouts relating to 
acquisitions made in prior years, totalling £9.4m. 

Contingent
2010 

£m

Deferred
 2010 

£m

Total 
2010
 £m

At 1 January 2010 24.6 0.5 25.1
Change in estimate – 
goodwill (2.0) – (2.0)
Change in estimate – 
exceptional items 
relating to acquisition (1.0) – (1.0)
Acquisitions during 
the year 32.0 1.3 33.3
Consideration paid (14.4) (0.5) (14.9)
Foreign exchange gain 0.5 – 0.5
At 31 December 2010 39.7 1.3 41.0

The 2010 acquisitions contributed adjusted operating 
profit1 of £7.5m since acquisition and achieved a 
pre-tax return on investment1 of 10.6% on a pro 
forma basis. The following table shows the 
performance of our acquisitions since 2008 relative 
to our target pre-tax cost of capital threshold of 10%: 

Chief Financial Officer’s review continued
 A reconciliation of net cash inflow from operating activities to free cash flow is shown below:

2009  
£m

2010  
£m

Adjusted cash generated from operations1 189.2 182.9
Restructuring payments (41.3) (24.5)
Other adjustments (5.2) (3.7)
Cash generated from operations 142.7 154.7
Dividends from JVs and associates 1.5 0.6
Net interest paid (14.5) (23.1)
Taxation paid (16.5) (62.1)
Capital expenditure (14.5) (19.1)

98.7 51.0
Acquisitions (34.3) (240.7)
Proceeds from sale of investments 3.4 1.7
Free cash flow1 67.8 (188.0)
Net share issues 0.2 1.9
Dividends (63.2) (64.8)

4.8 (250.9)
Year end net debt1 226.4 484.6 
Year end net debt/EBITDA1 1.2 times  2.6 times 
1 Refer to page 51 for additional information on these non-IFRS financial measures.
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Consideration
Pre tax

return on investment1 %

£m 2008 2009 2010

2008  
acquisitions 49.9 12.4 6.5 7.8
2009  
acquisitions 26.5  – 14.8 4.5*
2010  
acquisitions** 258.0 – – 10.6
Total 334.4 – – 10.0
*  Performance reflects reported results for The Fuel Team which was integrated 

into PR Newswire in 2010. Excluding it, the pre tax return on acquisition 
would have been 8.6% for 2009 acquisitions.

**  2010 return on investment calculated on a full year pro-forma basis.

Return on average capital employed

The return on average capital employed1 for 2010 
was 14.7% (2009: 15.8%). The reduction in returns 
reflects the initially dilutive effect on returns of the 
acquisitions. We expect the acquisition of Canon to 
deliver longer term returns well above UBM’s cost of 
borrowing. The table below shows our performance 
over time:

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Operating 
profit before 
exceptional 
items (£m) 133.3 145.7 146.7 143.7 143.2
Average capital 
employed (£m) 585.3 642.5 815.9 910.6 971.1
Return on 
average capital 
employed1 
(ROACE) (%) 22.8 22.7 18.0 15.8 14.7

The downward trend over the longer term reflects 
the dilutive effect of returns on acquisitions.

Dividends
The Board has announced a second interim dividend 
of 19.0p (2009: 18.2p), bringing the total dividend 
for the year to 25.0p (2009: 24.2p), representing an 
increase of 3.3% in the full year dividend. The second 
interim dividend on ordinary shares will be paid 
on 19 May 2011 to shareholders on the register on 
15 April 2011.

Going concern
After making enquiries, the directors have a 
reasonable expectation that UBM has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue 
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
financial statements.

In reaching this conclusion, the directors have 
had due regard to the following: 

After taking account of available cash resources, 
committed bank facilities, short term borrowings and 
proceeds from the sterling bond issue in November 
2009 and US dollar bond issue in November 2010, 
none of UBM’s borrowings fall due within the next 
two years that require refinancing from resources not 
already available.
The strong cash generated from operations, 
committed facilities and UBM’s ability to access debt 
capital markets, taken together, provide confidence 
that UBM will be able to meet its obligations as they 
fall due. 
Further information on the financial position of 
UBM, its cash flows, financial risk management 
policies and available debt facilities are described in 
the Financial Review on the preceeding pages. UBM’s 
business activities, together with the factors likely to 
impact its future growth and operating performance 
are set out in the Operational Review on pages 14 to 
31 and 40 to 43.
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Risks and uncertainties
Risk Potential impact How it is managed

Marketplace

Economic trends Advertising and other discretionary marketing spend 
tends to be cyclical. In times of economic slowdown 
or recession, some companies spend less, particularly 
on advertising. 

An economic downturn may also result in an increase 
in slow payments or bad debts. 

UBM’s strategy is to have a diversified set of products 
in its portfolio – some of which exhibit lower levels 
of cyclicality than others. Market trends are closely 
monitored at a divisional level and regularly reported 
upon. 

Each division closely manages credit risk monitoring 
collections performance and reviewing credit policies.

Sector trends Our businesses operate in highly competitive markets 
that continue to change in response to technological 
innovation and other factors. 

We cannot predict with certainty changes which 
may affect the competitiveness of the business, or 
whether technological innovation will render some 
of our existing products and services partially or wholly 
obsolete.

UBM’s strategy of creating a balanced portfolio of 
products improves our ability to meet the changing needs 
of our customers. We have responded to the continuing 
digital revolution by acquiring and developing innovative 
digital products, while at the same time actively managing 
the contraction of our print magazine portfolio. 

The divisions closely monitor trends within their sectors 
and regularly discuss with senior management.

Competitive 
environment

An increase in competitive pressure may result in 
loss of market share and consequently revenue.

Competitive trends are monitored through market focus 
groups, client satisfaction surveys and pricing reviews.

Force majeure A disaster or natural catastrophe, terrorism, 
political instability or disease could affect our ability 
to continue to do business if it renders offices 
unavailable. In addition any incident that curtails 
travel will have an impact on the running of an event. 
In 2008, the CPhI India and P-MEC India shows in 
Mumbai scheduled for November 2008, coincided 
with the terrorist attacks in the city, leading to the 
shows being postponed.

We have developed business continuity arrangements, 
including IT disaster recovery plans and back-up 
delivery systems, to minimise any business disruption 
in the event of a major disaster. Insurance coverage 
may reduce losses in certain circumstances. We also 
strengthen terms and conditions of contracts to 
minimise liabilities, plan for alternatives and diversify to 
reduce dependence on particular products or countries.

Mergers and acquisitions 

Acquisition 
identification 
and deal execution

Part of our strategy is acquiring companies which 
are accretive to UBMs performance. 

The availability of suitable acquisition candidates, 
obtaining regulatory approval for any acquisition and 
changes in the availability or cost of financing may affect 
our ability to execute on this strategy.

See page 12 for further details. 9

We mitigate these risks by applying strict financial criteria 
to any potential acquisition including the costs associated 
with financing the transaction, and subjecting the process 
to close monitoring and review by internal audit and 
the Board.

The liquidity profile of UBM is closely managed by 
Treasury (see liquidity risk on page 42).
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Risk Potential impact How it is managed

Mergers and 
acquisitions continued

Integration Delays in integration or unexpected costs or liabilities, 
as well as the risk of failing to realise operating benefits 
or synergies from completed transactions may mean 
that the financial impact is less beneficial than expected. 

Senior management and directors are involved in 
acquisitions on a regular basis and we apply strict 
processes to integration including a rigorous review 
process for major acquisitions which is designed to 
identify and rectify integration issues at an early stage. 
We also provide in-house integration training as part of 
career development for certain management positions.

People

Attracting and 
retaining key 
management 
personnel

We operate in a number of industry segments in which 
there is intense competition for experienced and highly 
qualified individuals. The ability of the Company to 
attract talent and retain highly skilled, experienced, 
and motivated personnel plays an important part in 
the continued successful execution of the strategy. 

We place significant emphasis on succession planning 
and developing and retaining management talent. We do 
this through a variety of means – including incentive 
schemes, by developing a more agile, entrepreneurial and 
innovative company culture and by running a number of 
talent management programmes to develop high calibre 
business leaders.

See page 44 for further details. 9

Operational

Geographic exposure As a result of acquisitions and organic growth, 
we have operations in many new geographic regions. 
Operations in these new territories may present 
logistical and management challenges due to 
different business cultures, laws and languages.

Expansion in geographical locations remote from 
the centres of management may affect control. 

We are addressing each of the control, operational and 
reputation risks by sending experienced employees into 
new regions to form part of local management teams 
and through review by internal audit, and close board 
monitoring.

Corporate and 
product brand 
management

A diminished corporate reputation or in UBM’s 
products brands may make UBM, its businesses 
and products less competitive.

We identify and monitor potential risks to corporate or 
product brands and take appropriate steps to mitigate 
those risks. For example we actively manage our portfolio 
of trademarks and copyright intellectual property.

Major project 
execution

Our businesses are, on occasion, engaged in significant 
projects – these may be required to secure future 
revenue streams and may involve significant capital 
investment (specifically IT and system development). 

The failure to manage and execute these projects 
successfully could lead to increased costs, delays in 
completion or erosion of UBM’s competitive position.

We seek to mitigate project-related risks through robust 
project management discipline, monitoring by internal 
audit and assigning responsibility for projects at an 
executive management level within UBM.

Key suppliers Failure of a key supplier at a critical time in the 
production process or conflict with a major supplier 
could result in loss of revenue or incremental costs.

Where possible UBM seeks to have a diversified 
supplier base. Contingency planning also forms 
part of the business processes and for certain important 
suppliers we evaluate their disaster recovery plans.

Sound risk management is an essential discipline for running the business efficiently and 
pursuing our strategy successfully. Our internal audit function manages a UBM-wide 
annual risk mapping exercise – reviewing with each division the risks they have identified 
and agreeing measures and controls to mitigate their risks wherever possible. 

This process is reviewed by the Audit Committee and then by the Board, to ensure 
a consistent and coherent approach to the principal risk factors and to those other risk 
factors that may arise or which may become material in the future.

The risks listed do not necessarily comprise all those associated with UBM.
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Operational continued

IT system failure/
weaknesses

There are negative implications if IT system failure 
impacts our ability to do business. 

Other specific risks include the attempted theft of data 
within our data-based businesses, access to confidential 
information and the reliance on third parties’ data 
security controls under ‘cloud computing’ or other 
IT outsourcing arrangements.

We have well-defined IT security standards within UBM, 
and reviews (including penetration tests) are undertaken 
by internal audit and third party specialist firms. Such 
reviews also cover key third party suppliers. 

We have ongoing maintenance programmes, back-up and 
contingency plans (which are subject to periodic testing).

Regulatory/Legal

Legislation changes The global nature of UBM means we are subject to laws 
in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. We are 
therefore exposed to the risk of unfavourable changes in 
applicable law and its interpretation. These risks include, 
among others, disputes over trade terms with customers 
and/or suppliers, customer losses resulting from our IT 
system delay or failure and violations of data protection 
and privacy laws. 
The initiation of a claim, proceedings or investigation 
could have a material effect on our reputation, business 
or financial position. 
New legislation changes may inhibit our ability to grow 
(e.g. requirements to maintain marketing data under 
data protection issues) or have an adverse effect on 
revenues (e.g. changes in government health policies 
on the use generic drugs may adversely affect the 
pharmaceutical companies’ advertising spend). 

We address these risks through legal reviews, operational 
reviews and staff training to raise awareness of the need 
for compliance in certain areas.

The divisions seek to monitor legislative changes and 
regularly discuss with senior management.

Financial

Liquidity UBM’s strategy of acquiring, coupled with the global 
nature of its business, means that liquidity management 
is recognised as an important area of focus. 

UBM liquidity issues may curtail the ability to make 
certain acquisitions, while local liquidity issues could 
have a negative reputational impact, particularly with 
suppliers. 

UBM’s central treasury is principally concerned with 
managing internal and external funding requirements and 
monitoring our working capital. The Head of Treasury is 
accountable to the Chief Financial Officer and the Board.

We maintain a balance between continuity of funding 
and flexibility through the use of capital markets, bank 
loans and overdrafts. We maintain a range of borrowing 
facilities to fund requirements at short notice and at 
competitive rates. To facilitate access to these sources of 
funds we seek to maintain a long term investment grade 
credit rating with both Moody’s (current rating: Baa3 – 
stable outlook) and Standard and Poor’s (current rating: 
BBB – stable outlook).

Risks and uncertainties continued
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Financial continued

Exchange rate 
fluctuations

UBM generates a substantial proportion of its revenue 
in foreign currencies particularly the US dollar, and 
foreign exchange rate fluctuations could adversely affect 
our earnings and the strength of our balance sheet. 

Translation exposures arise on the net assets of overseas 
business operations. These exposures are hedged under a 
policy of denominating borrowings in currencies where 
significant transaction exposure exists. Derivatives, in the 
form of cross currency contracts, can be used to maximise 
the hedging by increasing debt in these currencies. Details 
of all hedging contracts are provided in Note 21 to the 
financial statements. 

Interest rate 
fluctuations

UBM’s exposure to interest rate risk is shown (by way of 
sensitivity to changes in interest rates) in the interest rate 
risk table in Note 21 to the financial statements.

Our policy is to manage our cost of borrowing using 
a mix of fixed and variable rate debt. We enter into interest 
rate swaps agreed with other parties to generate the 
desired interest profile.

Credit We seek to limit interest rate and foreign exchange 
risk by the use of financial instruments. As a result 
we have an unsecured credit risk from the potential 
non-performance by counterparties to these 
financial instruments. 

The credit risk is normally limited to the amount of 
any mark to market gain on the instrument and not 
the notional amount being hedged. 

We also have credit exposure for the amount of cash and 
cash equivalents on the balance sheet.

Credit risk is controlled by Treasury policy which restricts 
the counterparties with whom funds can be invested 
and derivative contracts can be entered into, principally 
licensed commercial and investment banks with strong, 
long term credit ratings. The policy does not allow 
significant exposures with counterparties that are rated 
less than A by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or Fitch 
and we monitor the concentration of risk constantly.

Given our large and diverse customer base, there are no 
significant concentrations of credit risk with respect to 
trade receivables. No single customer accounts for more 
than 1% of UBM’s revenues.

Tax The management of tax liabilities are a matter of 
regulatory compliance and legal structure. Failure to 
comply with the necessary legislation could expose 
UBM to penalties or challenges to legal structures such 
that future tax payments may exceed recorded liabilities. 
Similarly changes to taxation legislation may result in 
higher levels of taxation than previously guided to.

We manage our tax affairs actively including monitoring 
tax developments, liaising with external advisors and 
regularly reviewing the tax planning schemes.

Pension The cost of providing pension benefits to existing and 
former employees is subject to changes in pension fund 
values and changing mortality. There is an exposure in 
the event that asset returns are insufficient to cover 
changes in the schemes’ liabilities over time.

This has been mitigated by active management of the 
investment portfolio and additional contributions have 
been made to the UK schemes. UBM has acted to close 
its defined benefit schemes to new members and neither 
the CEO nor the CFO belongs to such a scheme.
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Our highlights of 2010 include:
Expanding our flagship NGO Events to 
new countries.
Completing our first Global Employee 
Engagement Survey (see page 45).
Setting up a global environmental reporting system.
Further developing the UBM Online Community as 
the key communication and information sharing tool.
Enhancing our portfolio of leadership 
development programmes.

On page 13 you will have seen that one of our 
key strategic priorities is to deliver our business 
responsibly – this relates to how we engage, motivate 
and support our people, how we manage our 
environmental impact and how we support the 
communities in which we work. As we grow UBM, 
particularly in new countries, it is important that we 
do so in a positive way. I am pleased to report that 
in the feedback from our first global employment 
engagement survey our commitment to CR emerged 
as one of our key strengths as an employer. But we 
must continue to develop, innovate and progress 
to ensure we deliver our business responsibly.

We believe that, to be truly effective, corporate 
responsibility should be embedded in the business 
culture at all levels and each division is responsible 
for the development and implementation of CR 
initiatives in line with our core principles, their 
own business needs and in relation to the specific 
communities within which they operate. 

We also recognise that Board support and 
engagement is also crucial and remuneration policy 
for senior management is aligned with stakeholders’ 
interests. For example bonus targets for senior 
management include measures aimed at developing 
and progressing corporate responsibility activity and 
both myself and Bob Gray have bonus targets linked 
to improved CR performance1. 

David Levin 
Chief Executive Officer
United Business Media Limited

UBM and people
A key element to creating long term shareholder value 
is our ability to attract, develop and retain the most 
talented people at all levels. We do this in a variety of 
ways – the most important of which are detailed below. 

Diversity 

We are a global business with employees, customers, 
partners and suppliers from a wide range of cultures 
and backgrounds. On the ‘At a glance’ on page 3 you 
will have seen how international UBM is in terms 
of its revenues and offices locations. During 2010 we 
employed an average of 6,141 people around the world. 
The figures below highlight the diversity of our people. 

2009 
% 

 2010 
% 

Gender diversity
 Male employees 44.67 44.85
 Female employees 55.33 55.15
Manager breakdown
 Male 57.84 55.89
 Female 42.16 44.11
Ethnic diversity*
 Caucasian 55.2 57.7
 Asian 32.9 33.1
 Latin/Hispanic 6.6 4.9
 African/Caribbean 3.7 3.3
 Other 1.6 1.0
* Diversity change influenced by Canon Communications LLC acquisition.

Allowing diversity to flourish and recognising and 
harnessing the unique talents that every individual 
can bring to the business enables us to respond to the 
rapidly changing business environment, to meet the 
diverse needs of our customer base, and to enhance 
creativity and personal development. 

We seek to do this in a variety of ways:

We have equal opportunities policies and 
programmes in place to ensure employees are selected 
and promoted solely on the basis of their skills and 
ability to do the job.
Employees receive training on diversity (including 
an online test, on induction, for new employees), 
equality and anti-harassment issues. 

Corporate Responsibility (‘CR’)

77%

Global Engagement  
Survey, 2010

77% of our employees 
were impressed with our 
commitment to CR.

1 For more detail see the Directors’ remuneration report 
on pages 54-63.
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UBM Voice  
Everyone has the opportunity to be heard 
and make a difference... 

In July 2010, we invited 5,545 employees, approximately 
95% of employees, to participate in the Survey. 
The online questionnaire asked participants the extent to 
which they agreed with 56 statements – covering topics such 
as general employee satisfaction, internal communication, 
career development and CR. 

3,312 employees, approximately 60%, participated. 
Our ambition for 2011 is to increase the response rate 
and is even included within the senior management 
bonus objectives. 

Areas where UBM performed above the external norm were:

Commitment to social responsibility;

Recognition and respect within the workplace;

Commitment to supporting the environment;

 Encouragement to innovate; and

The sense that employee contributions are valued.

Areas where we need to improve mainly revolve around 
UBM’s identity and communicating what the future holds 
for UBM.

We offer a wide range of flexible working policies to 
enable employees to balance the demands of work 
and personal responsibility including working from 
home, flexible hours, sabbatical leave, enhanced 
parental leave, part-time working, job-sharing and 
compressed working week. 
We recognise the specific needs of individuals and, 
in particular, ensure that appropriate adjustments 
are made to enable the employment of disabled 
persons. Should employees become disabled 
during employment every effort is made, through 
appropriate training or other adjustments, to 
accommodate their disability and enable them to 
continue to pursue their career. 
Our Code of Core Labour Standards guides business 
relationships and sets high standards for ethical 
working practices.

Talent management

We place a particular emphasis on the development  
of our people to achieve their full potential, and in 
2010 we continued to develop and roll out targeted 
talent management initiatives and programmes. 
We have continued to embed strong succession 
planning and talent review processes into the fabric 
of business management practices, and across the 
Group our Divisional leadership teams engaged in 
the third cycle of a robust and systematic review of 
leadership roles and capability requirements in order 
to identify implications for succession planning and 
talent development.

Our 2010 achievements include:

The Business Leaders Programme (BLP), was 
refreshed and aligned with our strategic priorities, 
and was re-launched. 
2010 BLP had 16 high potential leaders drawn from 
seven countries who participated in modules in the 
UK, US and India. 
We introduced BLP mentoring to create a shared 
perspective on leadership talent across UBM. Each 
BLP participant was paired up with a UBM senior 
executive or Board director.
Two BLP alumni have been promoted into 
leadership roles in other parts of the Group since 
the programme finished in October 2010.
The European Leadership Development Programme 
(E-LDP) was also refreshed and re-launched.
Work is underway to launch our first China 
Leadership Development Programme (C-LDP) 
in 2011.
In association with our Leadership Capability Profile 
(to articulate the leadership capabilities and skills that 
will be critical to delivering business strategies across 
UBM) we have rolled-out an online 360 feedback 
tool to all those reporting to a divisional CEO.
We researched to create the Emerging Leaders 
Framework (to express the leadership capability 
requirements for the broader management 
population) which is now embedded in our E-LDP 
and an online 360 tool is being piloted in multiple 
languages. 
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Corporate Responsibility (‘CR’) continued
Communication 

UBM is looking to foster an open, entrepreneurial, 
innovative business culture which allows individuals to 
excel. We believe that clear and open communication 
with employees is fundamental to fostering a positive 
culture and achieving our business aims. 

The primary way in which we communicate and 
share ideas is via our online community, the UBM 
Wiki, which has developed significantly since its 
introduction two years ago, as highlighted below. 
We also use a variety of other tools to communicate 
with our employees.

In 2010, we undertook our first UBM-wide 
employee engagement survey – UBM Voice. This was 
the first time that we have undertaken a coordinated 
programme with employees across all businesses and 
in all countries. An ongoing dialogue with employees 
is also promoted through divisional staff surveys (with 
follow up action plans), appraisals, e-newsletters, town 
hall meetings, web chats, blogging, innovative use of 
webinars and wikis. The employee consultative forums 
such as town hall meetings offer a valuable vehicle for 
the exchange of information with management and 
also give employees the opportunity to meet and 
share views.

Regular UBM-wide updates from the CEO via the 
Wiki keep employees informed of business strategy 
and developments and enable them to share insights 
and provide feedback. 

Employment packages – Reward 
strategies, policies, health, welfare 
and benefits

We have developed policies on compensation, 
rewards and benefits that ensure that the best talent 
is recruited, retained and engaged. The objective is to 
ensure that all staff in all locations are treated fairly and 
we aim to follow best employment practices within 
the local markets in which we operate. We promote 
and reward based on merit and the individual’s 
contribution to the business. Reward arrangements 
include bonus and long term incentive schemes payable 
on the achievement of financial and personal objectives.

Detailed employment policies are in place across 
our businesses, covering areas such as recruitment, 
training, flexible working, paid leave (e.g. maternity, 
paternity, adoption, parental, carer and sabbatical 
leave), diversity, data protection, anti-malpractice 
(‘Whistle-blowing’) and other policies tailored to 
meet our core principles. 

“ I am impressed by the 
open culture we encourage 
within UBM.”

Becky Li  
UBM Conferences,  
Shanghai.

UBM’S Online Community 

Interacting and communicating in UBM’s online 
community allows individuals to identify and leverage 
the skills, knowledge, experience and business positions 
of peers and teams from across the business. UBM Wiki 
usage increased significantly in 2010 as our online community 
moved from the start-up phase into becoming the primary 
place where all of UBM connects, communicates and 
collaborates. These cross-UBM relationships are growing 
stronger and multiplying, connecting on all levels and pulling 
UBM tighter together. The graphs opposite, which include 
significant growth in usage in China and Asia, illustrate how 
the Wiki is growing in importance.

Canon integration

The Wiki facilitated coordination and collaboration among 
the globally dispersed integration team.

The 350 new employees found the UBM Wiki to 
be a “virtual welcome mat” from all of UBM – providing 
the information and resources to learn about their new 
employer and quickly become part of the UBM community.

Volcanic eruption

Employees used blogs, discussions and even created 
a new group to spontaneously share information, assess 
risks and identify opportunities

Within days, UBM launched a revenue-producing 
webinar about the volcanic ash crisis, drawing upon the 
expertise and connections of UBM staff across multiple 
divisions and countries.
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We are serious about taking care of our employees and 
offer a wide-range of initiatives to achieve this such as: 

Gym/health club reimbursement schemes
Cycle2Work schemes, secure parking for bikes 
and shower/changing facilities
Wellness clinics and programmes
Flu vaccinations
Private medical cover
Health checks-ups
Free eye tests 
Discounted prescriptions

A wide range of other benefits are also available, 
with local variations between markets. Benefits 
include Sharesave, encouraging employee saving 
and share ownership, Company pension schemes 
and life assurance. In the event of redundancies we 
ensure that proper procedures are followed with 
affected staff in accordance with Company policies 
and local laws, and that redundant staff are treated 
fairly in accordance with local best practices.

UBM and the environment 
UBM is focused on reducing energy usage/waste 
in the workplace and on improving recycling. 
Our employees are integral to achieving these aims 
and we continue to foster a culture of environmental 
awareness and responsibility. We do this through 
regular electronic communications and 
environmental awareness campaigns, the sharing 
of ideas and good practice on the UBM Wiki, and 
changes to the office environment, all of which have 
enhanced employee engagement to help us move 
towards a low carbon future.

UBM’s principal environmental issues are energy 
usage, waste recycling, transport, and paper sourcing 
and usage. Over the past few years we have made 
significant progress in measuring and reducing the 
environmental impact of our UK businesses. 
The graphs on the left show how we have improved 
over the period.

In 2010 the UBM Board set the objective of 
producing a global Carbon Report, championed by 
CFO Bob Gray, to measure environmental outputs 
for UBM as whole and implement initiatives 
to reduce negative impacts on the environment 
(see case study.) 

2010 environmental initiatives and  
successes include:

Achieving the Carbon Trust Standard in the UK.
Several of our US offices qualifying for the Energy 
Star Rating.
Signing up to the 10–10 worldwide initiative 
working towards a 10% reduction in carbon 
emissions for 2010.
Completing a server visualisation programme 
to reduce wasteful processing power.
Consolidation of various sites to maximise space 
and energy efficiency.
Significant work undertaken by UBM Live towards 
BS 8901 accreditation for sustainable events.
Recycling 91.5% of waste at Ludgate House our 
principal UK office (exceeding our 90% target).

As a leading organiser of events all around the 
world we promote practices that are environmentally 
responsible by running events to share best practice 
in environmental matters, by reducing event waste 
and driving improvements in sustainability across 
all our event activities. 
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Corporate Responsibility (‘CR’) continued
Some teams have run initiatives to improve the 
environmental impact including: 

No longer using any floor coverings or, where they 
are used, using only recyclable carpets.
Using recyclable PVC banners.
Reducing paper to a bare minimum by having 
online-only bookings, online post-event evaluations, 
online operations manuals and by having electronic 
Press Offices.
Using a ‘green’ fleet of company cars and where 
employees travel to events we encourage use of rail 
and car-sharing rather than flying.
Using vegetable inks and dyes in production.
Working with venues to reduce energy and water 
usage and to use more sustainable products.
Encouraging an awareness of, and a commitment 
to, improved environmental performance amongst 
suppliers, exhibitors and event sponsors.
Hosting ‘Green’ awards for event exhibitors 
or making charitable donations, such as at the 
Renewable Energy Show in Thailand where a 
donation was made to The Green World Foundation 
for every visitor. 

Some of our businesses are particularly close to many 
of the key environmental issues facing us today. 
For example, our Built Environment division runs 
‘Sustainability Now’, a free virtual event bringing 
together professionals working across architecture, 
engineering, quantity surveying, project management 
and construction to discuss, tackle and collaborate 
on sustainability issues in the built environment. 
Other parts of the business encourage environmental 
awareness, for example a tree was planted for the first 
5,000 downloads of each ‘Information Week’ digital 
issue, resulting in 60,000 trees being planted in 2010.

UBM in the community 
Over the past two years we have been shifting 
our community focus away from more passive 
philanthropic activities, such as simple cash 
donations, to more active engagement, looking 
to bring our expertise to bear in how we serve the 
communities in which we operate. Whilst we 
continue to make cash donations and recognise their 
value, our focus and energy is now in areas where 
we believe we can make a significant contribution. 
For example our flagship NGO Events allow us 
to harness our resources and the expertise of our 
employees to make a real difference (see case 
study opposite.)

1. Electricity 
2. Gas
3. Water
4. Waste

7,408
886
13
3

2010 carbon emissions tCO2e 

1 
2

34

 
 
 

Environmental reporting –  
Going global

The first phase of the reporting process has involved 
global data collection in relation to our 156 office locations in 35 
different countries. The process was led by the divisional CEOs 
and each business now has a dedicated Environmental 
Coordinator who works closely with the Global Environmental 
Coordinator. 

The 2010 Carbon Report has established a base line for 
future reporting on electricity, gas and water consumption, and 
recycling and waste. The table opposite shows the utility data 
collected for the global property portfolio as a % of total UBM 
headcount. 

Utility % of data

Electricity 81
Gas 78
Water 47
Waste 49
Total 64

Total environmental impact for UBM estimated at:

8,294 tonnes of CO2e from electricity & gas

44,475m3 of water used

320 tonnes of recycled waste.

The result of the project is that we can now begin to 
track our environmental performance over time – for example 
examining our carbon emissions per employee or per sq ft.
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We also offer complimentary or discounted services 
to not-for-profit entities – for example: 

PR Newswire offered free services for NGOs and 
corporations offering relief services during the Haiti 
earthquake, worth US$1.2m. 
PR Newswire also provided complimentary news 
releases to all NGOs declaring commitments at the 
2010 Clinton Global Initiative Conference, worth 
US$70,000. 
Via its partnership with CSRwire, PR Newswire 
provided the CSR members with expanded 
distribution to media, analysts and stakeholders 
that specifically have elected to track and follow 
the sustainability and CR market. 
We frequently donate Events stands to NGOs 
to enable them to get closer to specific industries.
Our Events in the US coordinate with venues 
and local not-for-profit agencies to organise food 
donations from Events to local soup kitchens and 
support centres. At many of our Events we raise 
money for charity and The Asian Awards in London 
raised £100,000 for Save The Children. In total our 
awards events raised £183,000 for charity in 2010.
As part of the Indian National Road Safety campaign 
UBM India partnered with the Mumbai Traffic 
Police, and created road signs for raising awareness 
of safety rules and regulations.

In 2008 our LDP participants visited five charities 
in Brazil. The LDP alumni have kept in touch with 
the charities and, to complement the initial cash 
donations made, they offer continuing support, 
advice and assistance. PROATA, a Brazilian charity 
tackling eating disorders, is one such charity which 
has benefited from our support. 

UBM employees are also encouraged to 
undertake volunteering activities and are given time 
off each year, with pay, to volunteer; we run reading 
schemes with local schools, and in Brazil the 
São Paulo office of PR Newswire is dedicating one 
day per month working with the charity ACER, to 
help raise the standards of living, through education, 
of the children of the city’s slums. 

We operate a matched giving scheme through 
which fundraising efforts by UBM’s employees are 
matched by the Company, together with a payroll 
giving scheme in the UK, whereby regular donations 
by employees are matched. The allocation of cash 
donations is based either on proposals generated by 
employees, or by reference to the level of volunteer 
work undertaken by employees. 

During 2010 we donated £437,971 
(2009: £564,200) to over 75 charities, which 
represents cash donations only and does not include 
donations-in-kind such as the NGO Events, employees’ 
time or services offered on a pro bono basis, nor does it 
include the donation of equipment such as computers. 

“ It has been amazing to see 
what four passionate people 
at PROATA have achieved in 
the past two years with our 
cash donation and some 
‘brain support’ from the UBM 
LDP alumni.”

Annemieke Timmers,  
UBM Live Amsterdam.

NGO Events – Making a difference 

Our NGO Events are unique, free events for the 
NGO community, bringing together NGOs and CR 
practitioners on a large scale. They enable NGOs to 
network, share best practice, raise their profile and build 
partnerships with business. Our second NGO Brazil 
event saw more than 500 exhibiting NGOs, (twice as many 
as in 2009), more than 1,100 conference delegates and 
almost 13,000 visitors (nearly five times that of 2009).

Work has already begun on NGO Brazil 2011, while 
NGO UK ‘Responsible Business 2011’, will take place in 
March 2011 working in conjunction with Business in the 
Community. Work is also underway for an NGO India Event. 

www.ongbrasil.com.br/enU
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Health and safety
We recognise that providing a safe working 
environment for our employees, and for the 
exhibitors and visitors to our many Events, is an 
essential responsibility of management and employees 
at all levels. Health and safety policy lies with the 
Board and each divisional CEO is responsible 
for making sure that their business operates in 
compliance with relevant health and safety legislation 
and procedures. Divisional CEOs also undertake 
health and safety awareness training. 

Our principal health and safety issues relate to 
our Events and, while local legal requirements may 
vary, our aim is to set benchmark standards for 
managing health and safety at our Events around the 
world. Contractors and exhibitors are made aware 
of our demanding requirements with detailed health 
and safety guidance, and the majority of contractors 
have either undertaken formal health and safety 
training or plan to do so because we demand it. 
We have continued to seek to apply the highest 
standards in each of our Events – taking account 
of local regulations and norms but also applying our 
own approach. Risk assessments are conducted at our 
events and a health and safety manager is on site for 
the duration of the event. 

UBM works closely with external health and safety 
experts to undertake regular independent health and 
safety audits of our Events and we continually seek to 
improve and share best practice. Our Internal Audit 
department reviews health and safety issues at Events, 
with particular emphasis on Emerging Markets. 

Office-based employees undertake annual online 
health and safety training courses and workplace 
risk assessments.

Suppliers
We aim to do business in a consistent, responsible and 
appropriate manner. By working closely with venues, 
suppliers and contractors we encourage sustainability 
and environmentally responsible activities and sound 
sourcing. Through regular communication we ensure 
that our partners meet the same high standards that 
we set for ourselves, including adherence to local laws 
and best practice.

We conduct surveys with suppliers, listen to their 
feedback and share our knowledge with them. Major 
suppliers and contractors are audited on their green 
initiatives, and wherever practicable we use locally 
sourced supplies. 

BSEC is UBM Built Environment’s largest event dedicated 
to the design and construction of educational spaces.
In 2010 we invited a small charity in Africa, HSK, to join us on 
a campaign to build a secondary school in Kekopey, Kenya 
with the help of our BSEC community. They exhibited at the 
show and we promoted the programme through our normal 

marketing channels, encouraging people to visit the stand 
and donate their time, expertise or products. We have so far 
helped to raise £14,000, building work has started on the 
school, and during 2011 we aim to take a team, drawn from 
across the BSEC community, to visit the project.
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Explanation of UBM’s business measures
Non-IFRS financial measure How we define it Why we use it 

Underlying revenue and 
underlying operating profit 

Underlying measures are adjusted for the estimated effects 
of acquisitions, discontinued products, foreign exchange 
and biennial events.

The Group believes underlying revenue and underlying 
operating profit assists investors in their assessment and 
understanding of our underlying business trends, without 
distortion from the effect of our acquisitions, discontinued 
products, biennial events and foreign currency movements 
during the period.

Adjusted operating profit 
and adjusted EBITDA

Margin

Group operating profit excluding amortisation of intangible 
assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items and share of 
taxation on joint ventures and associates. Adjusted EBITDA 
is adjusted Group operating profit before depreciation.

Margin refers to our adjusted operating margin. It is adjusted 
operating profit expressed as a percentage of revenues.

The Group believes adjusted operating profit, adjusted 
operating margins and adjusted EBITDA assists investors 
in their assessment and understanding of our earnings 
and is also a measure commonly used by shareholders 
to measure our performance.

Adjusted profit before  
tax and EPS

Before amortisation of intangible assets on acquisitions, 
exceptional items, share of taxation on profit from joint 
ventures and associates, net financing expense – other. EPS 
also excludes deferred tax on the amortisation of intangible 
assets. Diluted EPS includes the impact of share options.

The Group believes adjusted profit before tax and adjusted 
EPS assists investors in their assessment and understanding 
of our earnings and is also a measure commonly used by 
shareholders to measure our performance.

Net debt Net debt is current and non-current borrowings less cash 
and cash equivalents.

Provides a measure of indebtedness in excess of the current 
cash available to pay down debt.

Net debt to adjusted EBITDA

Net debt to LTM adjusted EBITDA

Net debt divided by adjusted EBITDA.

EBITDA adjusted to include a full year of pro forma 
adjusted operating profit from acquisitions made during 
2010.

Provides a measure of financial leverage.

Free cash flow Net cash provided by operating activities after meeting 
obligations for interest, tax, dividends paid to non-
controlling interests, capital expenditures and other 
investing activities.

Helps assess our ability, over the long term, to create value 
for our shareholders as it represents cash available to repay 
debt, pay dividends and fund future acquisitions. 

Adjusted operating cash flow Adjusted to exclude non-operating movements in 
working-capital, such as expenditure against reorganisation 
and restructuring provisions.

The Group believes adjusted operating cash flow assists 
investors in their assessment and understanding of our 
operating cash flows. 

Pre-tax return on investment Attributable operating profit divided by the cost of 
acquisitions. Calculated on a pro forma basis, as if the 
acquired businesses were owned throughout the year.

Helps us assess the performance of our acquisitions relative 
to our target pre-tax cost of capital threshold of 10%.

Estimated total consideration Estimated total consideration includes initial consideration 
(net of cash acquired), the latest estimate of expected 
earnouts and deferred consideration.

Provides a measure of total consideration for businesses 
acquired.

Return on average capital employed 
(ROACE)

ROACE is operating profit before exceptional items divided 
by average capital employed. Average capital employed is the 
average of opening and closing total assets less current 
liabilities for each period.

Provides a measure of the efficiency of profitability of our 
capital investment.

Effective tax rate The effective tax rate on adjusted profit before tax reflects 
the tax rate excluding movements on deferred tax balances 
on the amortisation of intangible assets.

Provides a more comparable basis to analyse our tax rate.
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1. John Botts  Age 70
Chairman

Appointed to the Board as a non-executive director 
in 1997, John Botts became Chairman in December 
2007. He is a Senior Advisor of Allen & Company 
in London and Chairman of Botts & Company. 
Other directorships include Euromoney Institutional 
Investor plc, Songbird Estates plc, Glyndebourne 
Arts Trust and Tate Foundation. He is a graduate 
of Williams. 

2. David Levin Age 49 
Group Chief Executive 

David Levin was appointed as Group Chief Executive 
in 2005, having previously been chief executive of 
Symbian, a mobile phone software licensing company, 
since April 2002. He joined Symbian from Psion plc, 
the handheld computing company, where he 
was chief executive from February 1999. Prior to 
that, he had various roles with the international 
business publishing group Euromoney Institutional 
Investor PLC, as Group COO, Group CFO and 
as President of Institutional Investor magazine and 
media group in New York. He also worked for the 
private equity group Apax Partners, based in the 
UK as MD of a number of engineering companies, 
and with the consultancy firm Bain and Company, 
mostly in Asia and the USA. David has an MBA 
from Stanford University and an MA from Oxford. 

3. Robert Gray  Age 54
Chief Financial Officer 

Robert Gray joined UBM’s Board as Chief Financial 
Officer in September 2009 from Codere S.A. where 
he was Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining 
Codere, he was Managing Director, Latin American 
Investment Banking with Deutsche Bank, based in 
New York from 1999 to 2004. He began his career 
at J.P. Morgan Co. where he served in a variety of 
roles with a particular focus on building investment 
banking businesses in international markets, 
notably Latin America and the former Soviet Union. 
He received a BA from Dartmouth College and 
an MBA from the Harvard Graduate School of 
Business Administration.

4. Jonathan Newcomb Age 64 
Non-Executive Director

Jonathan Newcomb was appointed to the Board 
in 2001. He is a board member of Journal 
Communications (NYSE) and the BNA 
Corporation, and is currently the managing director 
of the New York-based investment firm Coady 
Diemar. He was chairman and CEO of Simon & 
Schuster, one of the world’s largest book publishers 
and providers of educational and training materials, 
from 1994 until 2002, having been president and 
chief operating officer from 1991. From 2002 to 
2004 he was a principal with Leeds Equity Partners, 
a New York-based private equity firm, and in 2006 
and 2007 he was President and CEO of Cambium 
Learning, an educational services provider. 

Previous employment included McGraw Hill (where 
he was responsible for Standard & Poor’s and Data 
Resources) and Dun & Bradstreet. He is chairman 
of UBM’s Audit Committee.

5. Pradeep Kar  Age 52
Non-Executive Director 

Appointed to the Board in 2006, Pradeep Kar is 
the founder, chairman and managing director of 
Microland, India’s leading provider of outsourced 
IT infrastructure management services. Pradeep is 
the president of The Indus Entrepreneurs (TiE), 
Bangalore Chapter and Founder of the Bangalore 
Chapter of the Young Presidents Organization. 
Pradeep’s leadership acumen has been recognised 
with numerous accolades, notable among these are 
the ‘India Young Business Achiever Award’, ‘Global 
Leader for Tomorrow’ by the World Economic 
Forum ‘Stars of Asia’ by Newsweek and ‘Stars of India’ 
by Business India. He sits on the Advisory Board 
of Leaders’ Quest, an international social enterprise 
based in London, on the South Asia Initiative Board 
of Trinity College, Dublin and on the National 
Council of the Confederation of Indian Industry. 
Pradeep holds a degree in mechanical engineering 
and a post-graduate degree in management.

3

321

1



United Business Media Annual Report and Accounts 2010 53

S
ection 1: 2010 R

eview

„

S
ection 2: G

overnance

„

S
ection 3: Financial statem

ents

„

6

7

8 9

6. Karen Thomson Age 49 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed to the Board in 2006, Karen Thomson 
is an experienced executive, with a particular focus 
on the transformational power of the Internet. 
She launched AOL in the UK in 1995 and served 
as CEO of AOL UK and President of AOL Europe, 
developing both the telecoms and advertising lines 
of business. As a Director of Vodafone UK she was 
responsible for developing Vodafone UK’s Internet 
operations and fixed line telecoms business. Since 
2009 she has been an active investor in early stage 
Internet-focused businesses such as MT Mobility Ltd 
– a company supplying mobility products and 
services to customers with mobility problems. 
She holds an MA (hons) in Philosophy from 
Aberdeen University and an MBA from Middlesex 
University. She has also been awarded an honorary 
doctorate from Middlesex University.

7. Alan Gillespie Age 60
Non-Executive Director

Alan Gillespie CBE was appointed to the Board 
in April 2008. He is chairman of the Economic 
and Social Research Council (ESRC) and also 
the chairman of the International Finance Facility 
for Immunization (IFFIm), an intergovernmental 
organisation established to fund vaccination 
programmes for children in many of the world’s 
poorest countries, and a non-executive director 
of Old Mutual plc. 

He has previously held posts in both the public and 
private sectors, including as chairman of Ulster Bank 
Group, partner at Goldman Sachs & Co, chief 
executive of the Commonwealth Development 
Corporation, and chairman of the Northern Ireland 
Industrial Development Board. He is chairman of 
UBM’s Remuneration Committee and the Senior 
Independent Director.

8. Terry Neill Age 65
Non-Executive Director

Terry Neill was appointed to the Board in September 
2009. He is based in Ireland, where UBM has its 
corporate headquarters. He is a Governor of London 
Business School, where he is chair of the Finance 
committee. He held a range of senior roles in 
Accenture – variously based in Dublin, Chicago and 
London. He was the worldwide Managing Partner of 
Andersen/Accenture’s Change Management Practice 
and a senior partner in Accenture until August 2001, 
when he was part of the team that successfully 
developed and executed the strategy for transforming 
Accenture into a public company. Terry was 
Chairman of Accenture/Andersen Consulting’s 
board and served four terms as Chairman of 
Andersen Worldwide. In 2010 he completed his 
terms as a non-executive director of Bank of Ireland 
Group and CRH plc. He is a member of the board of 
Trinity Foundation and chair of the external advisory 
board for the humanities in Trinity College Dublin.

9. Greg Lock  Age 63
Non-Executive Director 

Greg Lock was appointed to the Board in February 
2010. Greg is Chairman of Computacenter plc, the 
IT services business, and Chairman of Kofax Plc, 
the leading provider of document-driven business 
process automation solutions. He has more than 
38 years’ experience in the software and computer 
services industry, including four years as Chairman 
of technology company SurfControl Plc. He is also 
a non-executive director of technology company 
Target Group. Greg spent 30 years at IBM in a 
variety of senior roles including General Manager 
of IBM’s Global Industrial sector from 1998 to 2000, 
a member of IBM’s Worldwide Management Council 
and Governor of the IBM Academy of Technology. 
Greg has an MA in Natural Sciences from Churchill 
College, Cambridge. During his career at IBM he 
lived and worked in the United States, France 
and Germany.
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Directors’ remuneration report 

Introduction from Remuneration 
Committee Chairman 

Alan Gillespie  
 

Dear Shareholder, 

I am pleased to present the remuneration report for the 2010 financial year. 
You will note that we have made some changes to the structure of the report with 
the aim of improving disclosure and making it easier to read and understand. 

Business context 

In 2010 UBM performed well in a difficult economic environment. Against the 
background of a mixed global recovery UBM’s revenues grew by 4.9%, reflecting 
underlying revenue growth of 5.6%. Management continued to consolidate and 
reshape the business for continuing growth, both organically and through 
acquisitions. In addition investment in new product development, sales and     
IT was increased. 2010 was a year of operational progress as well as building    
and investing in UBM to support our objective of creating long term value for 
our shareholders. 

As David Levin has described on pages 8 and 9 the sector is going through  
many changes, with the two main dynamics of digitalisation and globalisation 
continuing to evolve. UBM recognises the need to stay agile to take full 
advantage of the opportunities for growth arising from these changes.                
We continue to explore opportunities for acquisition and consolidation, 
particularly in emerging markets, which play a key part in our strategy and now 
account for a quarter of UBM’s profits. This continuing development creates 
challenges for the Committee to ensure that the remuneration structure and 
associated performance targets remain appropriate in the evolving environment.  

2010 outcomes 

Corporate outcomes 

EPS (adjusted)  51.0 p 

TSR  1.7% above median of peer group 

ROACE  14.7% 

Remuneration outcomes  

 CEO CFO

 Salary for 2010  No increase No increase

Annual bonus 93% of max 100% of max

Long term incentive plans – 2010 vesting 

David Levin 
(Awarded 2007) 

(no. of shares) 
Vested 

(no. of shares) 
Lapsed

(no. of shares)

BIP Matching 72,570 20,319 52,251

PSP 107,573 0 107,573

BIP matching awards in 2007 were subject to a performance condition based on 
adjusted EPS (‘EPS’), described in more detail on page 51. EPS grew by 21.09% 
over the period from 2007 to 2009, resulting in 0.56 matching shares vesting for 
every bonus share held. 

PSP awards in 2007 were subject to relative TSR performance against a selected 
comparator group, as described on page 58. During the period 2007 to 2009 
UBM’s average TSR of 12% per annum under-performed the comparator group 
and consequently none of the PSP awards vested in 2010. 

Long term incentive plans – 2010 awards 

BIP  
Bonus options
(no. of shares)

BIP  
Matching options 

(no. of shares) 
PSP

(no. of shares)

CEO 69,938 139,876 176,305

CFO – – 38,973

Awards were made under the Performance Share Plan to executive directors in 
2010. David Levin received an award equal to 1.5 times base salary, while Robert 
Gray received an award which, when combined with an award made when he 
joined UBM in September 2009, was equal to 1.64 times salary. David Levin also 
received part of his bonus for 2009 in the form of shares under the Bonus 
Investment Plan. 

Remuneration policy 

In 2010 the Committee reviewed the performance conditions for UBM’s     
long term incentive plans and concluded that, given the uncertain economic 
environment and the resulting difficulty in calibrating three-year targets, relative 
outperformance against peers was the most appropriate way to reflect true 
increases in shareholder value. Accordingly it was decided to employ TSR as the 
performance measure for awards made under both the Bonus Investment Plan 
and the Performance Share Plan in 2010. 

The Committee has spent considerable time reviewing performance conditions 
to be used for these plans in 2011 and beyond, having regard to the need to 
adopt measures that align performance to shareholders’ interests by driving 
structural growth and represent a challenging set of targets. The Committee also 
took into account shareholder feedback regarding the desirability of using more 
than one performance measure. The Committee therefore proposes to retain  
the TSR performance measure for the PSP and to re-introduce appropriately 
stretching EPS growth targets as the performance measure under the Bonus 
Investment Plan in 2011. Further information about these targets will be 
included in the circular accompanying the Notice of Annual General Meeting 
which will be sent to shareholders together with this Annual Report.  

 

 

 

Alan Gillespie  
Chairman, Remuneration Committee 
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Contents of the report 
The information in the Directors’ remuneration report has been prepared in 
accordance with paragraph 11 and Schedule 8 of The Large and Medium-sized 
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008. 

This report on directors’ remuneration includes the following:  

– A description of UBM’s policy on executive remuneration for 2011 and 
subsequent years. 

– Details of each director’s remuneration earned in 2010 and awards under long 
term incentive plans. 

– Information regarding the constitution and duties of the Remuneration 
Committee (the Committee) and its activities during 2010. 

– A summary of the terms of executive directors’ contracts and non-executive 
directors’ letters of appointment. 

– Directors’ interests in UBM shares. 

– Graph illustrating UBM’s total shareholder return (TSR) performance.  

While it is not a requirement of Jersey law to prepare a report on directors’ 
remuneration, the Board consider that as a matter of good governance it is 
appropriate to do so, and to invite shareholders to approve it. Accordingly, 
a resolution to approve this report will be put to shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting to be held on 10 May 2011. 

Remuneration at a glance 

Key principles of UBM’s executive remuneration policy  

UBM recognises the need to attract, retain and incentivise executives with the 
appropriate skills and talent to manage and develop the Group’s businesses in 
such a way as to drive the Group’s strategy and deliver shareholder value. 
The main principles of UBM’s executive remuneration policy are:  

– To achieve total remuneration packages that are competitive in the sector and 
countries within which the Group operates and with the market in general. 

– To provide an appropriate balance between fixed and variable remuneration 
that rewards high levels of performance. Base salary levels are designed to be 
at median while variable remuneration is linked to key measures of both 
corporate and personal performance and rewards significant outperformance 
of targets. 

– To incentivise and retain management and to align their interests with those 
of shareholders. 

The policy aims to ensure that executives are rewarded for a combination 
of absolute and relative performance and share-based incentive plans are an 
important element of variable remuneration, linking reward to share 
price performance.  

Executive directors’ remuneration payments for 2010 

Element 

David Levin 

£ 

Robert Gray

£

Base salary  603,160 425,000

Bonus 956,009 510,000

Benefits 646 107,749 

Pension allowance 120,632 –

Total 1,680,447 1,042,749

2010 annual bonus outcomes 

The table below sets out the range of performance criteria that were applied to 
assess the executive directors’ 2010 bonus eligibility and the level of bonus 
achieved against each criterion: 

At least 25% of the bonus earned for 2010 will be paid in the form of deferred 
shares to be awarded in 2011 under the Bonus Investment Plan, which is 
described in more detail on page 58.  

The results reflected UBM’s solid financial performance, while achievement of 
personal objectives included considerable achievements in strategic goals; growth 
in emerging markets; transition and recruitment of senior executives at divisional 
level; corporate responsibility; financial reporting; and capital structure. 

For 2011, the maximum bonus opportunity for both executive directors will 
remain unchanged.  

Performance measures for 2010 

 CEO CFO

 

Max  
bonus 

% 

Actual 
bonus

% 

Max 
bonus

%

Actual 
bonus

% 

Financial objectives1      

Earnings per share  60 60 40 40

Revenues  30 30 20 20

Total   90 90 60 60

Personal objectives2   

Strategy  50 46 15 15

Talent management and 
succession  15 12 – –

Corporate responsibility  10 8 5 5

Businesses development  5 2.5 – –

Financial reporting 

and efficiency  – – 20 20

Capital structure  – – 20 20

Total  80 68.5 60 60

Grand Total (as % of salary)  170 158.5 120 120

1. The Company’s financial performance is measured against budgets, comprising both EPS and 
revenue measures. 

2. Performance is measured annually against agreed personal objectives aimed at the achievement 
of the business’s goals. 
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UBM’s executive remuneration policy summary – 2011 

Fixed remuneration  Variable remuneration 

  Short term incentives  Long term incentives 

  Annual bonus  

Base salary  Based on a basket of 
financial, individual and 
strategic measures 

Awards of up to 1.5 x 
salary under the 
Performance Share Plan 

Pension  

20% of salary  
allowance 

 Up to 75% paid in cash, 
at least 25% deferred 
into shares (see opposite) 

At least 25% of bonus 
deferred into shares under 
the Bonus Investment 
Plan for three years with 
the possibility to earn 
matching shares subject to 
performance conditions 
being met 

Benefits   Capped at 170% and 
120% of salary for CEO 
and CFO respectively 

 

2011 Annual Bonus Performance measures 

Executive directors are eligible for an annual bonus dependent on the 
achievement of targets which take account of corporate performance as well as 
individual objectives. These targets are reviewed annually and new objectives 
set by the Committee for each director at the start of the financial year.  

David Levin has a maximum bonus opportunity of 170% of base salary and 
Robert Gray has a maximum opportunity of 120% of base salary.  

In 2011, for David Levin, a bonus of up to 90% of salary will be linked to specific 
financial targets (principally performance against budgeted earnings and revenue 
growth) and up to 80% of salary will be linked to a balanced scorecard of 
measures which include strategy, talent management and succession planning, 
and corporate responsibility.  

The equivalent percentages for Robert Gray are 60% of salary linked to financial 
targets (principally performance against budgeted earnings and revenue growth 
as well as capital structure and taxation) and 60% of salary linked to a balanced 
scorecard of measures which include financial reporting, risk management, 
internal business processes and corporate responsibility. 

A substantial element of the bonus is usually paid in the form of deferred shares 
under the Bonus Investment Plan, which is described in more detail on page 58. 

Balance of UBM’s executive remuneration policy – 2011 

The following charts show the expected value as a percentage of executive 
director’s total remuneration based on UBM’s policy for 2011. The expected 
value of the annual bonus (cash and deferred elements) is assumed to be 60% 
of the maximum bonus. 

% Variable% Fixed

David Levin Robert Gray

Composition of remuneration 

(expected value basis)

%
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59%

41%

64%

36%
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The Remuneration Committee: role and activities 

Pradeep Kar Alan Gillespie Jonathan Newcomb
 

The Committee is chaired by Alan Gillespie, and its other members are 
Pradeep Kar and Jonathan Newcomb. All members of the Committee are 
(and were throughout 2010) independent non-executive directors.  

The Committee is responsible for formulating and recommending policy on 
executive remuneration. It sets the individual remuneration packages of the 
executive directors and Chairman and also reviews the general remuneration 
framework for senior executives of the Group. This includes overseeing the 
design and operation of the Group’s long term incentive plans and determining 
the basis on which awards are made under these plans. The Committee also has 
regard to wider economic conditions, remuneration trends and the general levels 
of salary increases around the Group in determining remuneration for executive 
directors. 

Non-executive remuneration is considered and approved by the Board as a whole. 

The Chairman, John Botts, and CEO, David Levin, usually attend meetings by 
invitation, but are not present when matters relating to their own remuneration 
are discussed. The Committee met formally on three occasions during 2010; 
details of attendance by Committee members are shown in the Corporate 
Governance statement on page 65.  

The principal activities carried out by the Committee during 2010 were:  

– Reviewing executive directors’ performance during 2009 and determining 
awards under the 2009 bonus plan. 

– Setting maximum bonus award levels and targets for executive directors 
for 2010. 

– Reviewing and confirming achievement of performance conditions for PSP, 
BIP and share option awards vesting in 2010. 

– Review of executive directors’ incentive arrangements design and structure 
for 2011, including performance conditions. 

– Review of 2010 executive remuneration trends, including market practice and 
latest developments. 

– Reviewing the composition of the TSR comparator group for PSP and BIP 
awards made in 2010. 

– Review of reward policy for the wider employee population. 

During 2010 the Committee was advised by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
(PwC), who were appointed by the Committee. Kepler Associates conducted 
interim valuations of the Performance Share Plan (TSR-based). Kepler 
Associates provide no other services to the Company; PwC also advise the 
Group in relation to taxation and HR matters.  

The Committee was also advised by the Company Secretary, Anne Siddell, 
who is secretary to the Committee, and Jane Allen, Head of Reward.  

The Committee has written terms of reference which may be viewed on the 
Group’s website at www.ubm.com. Copies may be obtained from the 
Company Secretary.  

As part of the Board effectiveness review completed during 2010 the 
Committee’s performance was reviewed. Overall performance was found to be 
generally satisfactory; however, it was felt that consideration should be given to 
increasing the amount of time available for meetings.  

Remuneration components  

The various elements of executive directors’ remuneration packages are 
described below: 

Base salary  

In determining base salaries, the Committee customarily benchmarks salary 
levels for comparable roles at companies within UBM’s 2010 TSR peer 
group as well as other companies of similar size to UBM and the FTSE 250, 
and considers matters such as inflation, the individual’s responsibilities, the 
Company’s performance and the salary policy throughout the Group as 
a whole. Salary levels are reviewed annually.  

In line with a general pay freeze for UBM employees, David Levin’s salary was 
not increased in 2009 or 2010. Robert Gray joined the Board in September 2009 
and his salary was not reviewed in 2010. Both executive directors were awarded a 
3% salary increase in 2011. In agreeing this increase the Committee took note of 
the fact that the average salary increase across the Group’s general employee 
population in 2011 was 3%. 

Therefore for 2011 David Levin’s salary is £621,255 and Robert Gray’s 
is £437,750. 

Bonuses  

Executive directors are eligible for an annual bonus dependent on the 
achievement of targets which take account of corporate performance as well as 
individual objectives. These targets are reviewed annually and new objectives set 
by the Committee for each director at the start of the financial year.  

In 2010 David Levin had a maximum bonus opportunity of 170% of base salary 
and Robert Gray had a maximum opportunity of 120% of base salary.  

Details of 2010 Bonus outcomes and 2011 Bonus performance measures are set 
out on pages 55 and 56. 

Long term incentive awards 

In 2010 executive directors received awards under the Performance Share Plan. 
David Levin also received an award under the Bonus Investment Plan in respect 
of his bonus for 2009; Robert Gray did not participate in the Bonus Investment 
plan in respect of his bonus for 2009, having only joined the Board in September 
2009. 

Performance Share Plan  

The Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) requires UBM’s TSR to outperform, over a 
three-year period, that of a peer group of companies selected by the Committee.  

For awards made prior to 2008 

Relative TSR v peer group 

Top decile – 100% of award vests 

Median – 25% of award vests 

Below median – 0% vests 

In between these positions, the award vests on a straight-line basis. 

In 2008 the Committee reviewed the TSR measurement process and, following 
shareholder consultation, determined that with effect from 2008 awards made 
under the PSP will be calibrated using a percentage outperformance rather than 
a ranking.  
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For awards made from 2008 

Relative TSR v peer group 

Outperform median by 10% pa – 100% of award vests 

Median – 25% of award vests 

Below median – 0% vests 

In between these positions, the award vests on a straight-line basis. 

The comparator group for awards made in 2010 comprised the following 17 
companies, which were selected for their mix of business and geographic 
representation:  

Aegis Group McGraw-Hill 

WebMD DMGT 

Euromoney Wolters Kluwer 

Pearson Lagardere 

Reed Elsevier APN News & Media 

Informa Global Sources 

Tech Target Thomson Reuters 

Axel Springer WPP 

S  

The Committee reviews the peer group at least once a year, to confirm that it 
continues to represent an appropriate benchmark. There were no changes to the 
peer group during 2010. 

The Committee must also satisfy itself that the reported TSR is a genuine 
reflection of the Company’s underlying financial performance over the three-year 
performance period before releasing any awards. The maximum award allowed 
under the PSP in any financial year is 2 times salary, although awards normally do 
not exceed 1.5 times base salary in any financial year. In 2010 the Committee 
made an award of 1.5 times salary to the Chief Executive. The Company also 
made an award to the Chief Financial Officer, Robert Gray, which when 
combined with his award on joining the Company in September 2009 provided 
an incentive of 1.64 times salary. 

Details of awards held by directors under the PSP are set out on page 62.  

2010 PSP outcome and likely outcome of outstanding awards 

Performance period 
TSR 

performance/estimate Vesting/estimate

2007–2009 (matured 2010) 11th out of 17 Zero vesting

2008–2010 (maturing 2011) 1.7% above median 37.8%

2009–2011 (maturing 2012) 8.9% below median Zero vesting
 

Bonus Investment Plan 

The Bonus Investment Plan (‘BIP’) was operated in 2010 and enables part of 
participants’ annual bonus to be deferred into UBM shares, which must be held 
for three years. The plan also provides the opportunity to earn matching shares 
based on performance against stretching targets. The Committee reviewed the 
performance conditions to be used in 2010 and felt that, given the degree of 
uncertainty in the economy and the resulting difficulty in calibrating three-year 
earnings targets, relative outperformance against peers was the most appropriate 
way to ensure that reward outcomes are a true reflection of increases in 
shareholder value. Accordingly for 2010 the Committee adopted the same TSR 
based performance condition for the BIP as was used for the PSP. The same 
comparator group (as set out above) was used for both plans. 

The key features of the awards made in 2010 were: 

Automatic bonus 
deferral – 25% 

2:1 matching Relative TSR v peer group 

  Outperform median by 10% p.a. –  
2:1 matching 

  Median – 0.5:1 matching 

  Below median – 0 matching 

  In between these positions, the award 
vests on a straight-line basis 

Elected bonus 
deferral – 25% 

2:1 matching Relative TSR v peer group 

  Outperform median by 10% p.a. –  
2:1 matching 

  Median – 0.5:1 matching 

  Below median – 0 matching 

  In between these positions, the award 
vests on a straight-line basis 

Cash bonus – 50%   

The outstanding BIP awards granted in 2008 and 2009 have targets based on the 
growth of the Company’s EPS: 

Automatic bonus 
deferral – 25% 

2:1 matching EPS growth of at least 8% p.a. above  
RPI – 2:1matching  

  EPS growth of 3% or less p.a. above  
RPI – 0 matching  

  In between these positions, the award 
vests on a straight-line basis 

Elected bonus 
deferral – 25% 

2:1 matching EPS growth of at least 8% p.a. above  
RPI – 2:1 matching  

  EPS growth of 3% or less p.a. above  
RPI – 0 matching  

  In between these positions, the award 
vests on a straight-line basis 

Cash bonus – 50%   

2010 BIP outcome and likely outcome of outstanding awards 

Performance period 
EPS/TSR 

performance/estimate Vesting/estimate

2007–2009 (matured 2010) 21.09% growth 28%

2008–2010 (maturing 2011) Nil growth Zero vesting

2009–2011 (outstanding) Nil growth Zero vesting

Details of awards held by directors under the BIP are set out on page 62.  

IH
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Under the rules of the BIP participants have the potential to receive up to three 
matching shares for every bonus share held, subject to the performance 
conditions being met. For BIP awards made in 2010 the Committee decided, as 
in previous years, to limit the match to a maximum of two matching shares per 
bonus share held. Shares that vest under the BIP accrue dividends.  

Participation in the BIP is at the discretion of the Committee which may, from 
time to time, choose to make alternative incentive awards which it considers are 
of an equivalent nature. 

Executive Share Option Scheme  

The Company operates a shareholder approved Executive Share Option Scheme 
(the ‘ESOS’) under which options are awarded to senior employees, including 
executive directors, to reward past performance and to incentivise future 
performance. Options are granted at market value. The Committee determines 
the appropriate level of each grant having regard to corporate objectives, market 
forces and individual circumstances. The maximum face value of options 
awarded will generally not exceed 3.5 times base salary in any financial year.  

Options made to the executive directors are subject to a performance condition 
which requires growth in earnings per share to exceed the increase in the UK 
Retail Price Index (RPI) by an average of at least 3% per annum over the period 
of three years from the date of grant.  

For awards made in 2008 the EPS growth target must exceed the increase in RPI 
by an average of at least 8% per annum over the performance period for the 
whole award to vest. 25% of the award will vest at growth of 3% per annum 
above RPI with straight-line vesting between these performance levels. 

EPS for 2010 was 51.0p, below the 2007 base figure of 53.4p, and therefore none 
of the awards made in 2008 will vest. 

No retesting is permitted of options granted under the ESOS.  

Awards were made under the ESOS in 2009 and 2010 to executives below Board 
level. These awards have a performance condition based on achievement against 
budgeted EPS over a 12-month period and will vest on the third anniversary of 
grant, subject to continued employment by the participants.  

Executive directors did not receive any awards under the ESOS in 2009 or 2010. 

2010 ESOS outcome 

Performance period EPS performance/estimate Vesting/estimate

2008–2010 (maturing 2011) Nil growth Zero vesting

2009 (maturing 2012) Target achieved 100%

2010 (maturing 2013) Target achieved 100%

Executive Retention Plan 

The Company grants restricted share awards in special circumstances to 
individuals, as a recruitment or retention tool. The Company awarded restricted 
shares with a value of £100,000 to the Chief Financial Officer, Robert Gray, 
when he joined the Company in September 2009. The award will vest in 
September 2011 provided that at the vesting date Mr Gray is still employed by 
the Group and the Committee is satisfied as to the Group’s underlying financial 
performance. It is not subject to any other performance conditions.  

No awards were made to executive directors under the Executive Retention Plan 
in 2010. 

Sharesave  

Executive directors are also entitled to participate in the Sharesave scheme, 
under which all eligible employees around the Group may acquire options over 
ordinary shares of the Company at a discount of up to 20% of their market 
price, using the proceeds of a related SAYE contract.  

Pensions  

All UBM’s defined benefit schemes are closed to new employees joining the 
Group. For new recruits (including executive directors) it is UBM’s policy to 
offer defined contribution pension provision, or an alternative cash allowance. 
During the year David Levin was a member of the defined contribution section 
of the United Group Pension Scheme, while Robert Gray received a cash 
allowance. In each case the pension contribution/allowance was 20% of salary. 

In 2010 UBM operated an Employer Financed Retirement Benefit Scheme 
(‘EFRBS’) as an alternative vehicle for pension provision. 

Performance conditions  

In 2005, UBM started reporting its results in line with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). In order to achieve consistency of measurement, 
the Committee retained UK GAAP as the basis for measuring performance 
conditions for awards maturing since 2005, up to and including 2010. IFRS will 
be used as the measurement basis for awards maturing in 2011 and beyond.  

Dilution limits  

The use of newly issued or treasury shares to satisfy awards under the Group’s 
long term incentive plans is limited to 10% of UBM’s issued share capital.  

Awards made under the Performance Share Plan, Bonus Investment Plan and the 
Restricted Share Plan are expected to be satisfied with market-purchased shares 
held by an employee benefit trust. Outstanding options under UBM’s other long 
term incentive plans which could require shares to be issued currently account for 
approximately 4.2% of UBM’s issued share capital.  

Executive directors’ service contracts  

It is the Company’s policy that all executive directors should have service 
contracts that are terminable on no more than one year’s notice and that 
contracts should not have a fixed term. Any payments on early termination by 
the Company would be by reference to the unexpired period of notice, subject to 
a duty to mitigate.  

Executive directors’ contracts provide for automatic termination at age 65.  

The dates on which each executive director’s current service contract 
commenced are as follows:  

David Levin – 5 April 2005  

Robert Gray – 14 September 2009 

Policy on external appointments  

The Company considers that by permitting executive directors to hold office as a 
non-executive director of another company, they will increase their knowledge 
and experience, thereby benefiting UBM. The policy allows executive directors 
to accept not more than one outside corporate directorship, subject to Board 
approval. Directors are entitled to retain the fees earned.  

Robert Gray is an advisory board member of Codere S.A. and received fees of  
€ 38,654 during 2010 (2009: £2,712). 
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Directors’ remuneration report continued 

Non-executive directors  

Policy on non-executive directors’ remuneration  

The Board’s policy on non-executive directors’ remuneration is to pay fees which 
reflect their responsibilities, are competitive with those of other FTSE 250 
companies, and which align directors’ interests with those of shareholders.  

The Board as a whole considers and approves the fees of the non-executive 
directors, with the exception of the Chairman whose fees are approved by the 
Committee.  

Non-executive directors’ fees are paid partly in cash and partly in UBM shares. 
These shares are reflected in the table of directors’ interests in shares on page 63. 
Additional fees are paid to the Chairmen of the Remuneration and Audit 
Committees and to the Senior Independent Director. 

The fees for the Chairman and non-executive directors are denominated in 
Euros and paid at the annual rates shown below: 

 
Cash  

€ 
Shares 

€

Chairman 190,380 126,920

Non-executive director 38,076 19,038

Additional fee for Remuneration Committee 
Chairman and Senior Independent Director 25,384 

Additional fee for Audit Committee Chairman  12,692 

There was no increase in these fees during 2010 and no additional fees were paid 
in respect of membership of Board Committees, nor in respect of undertaking 
foreign travel to meetings. Following a review of non-executive directors’ fee 
levels the Board agreed that with effect from 1 January 2011 non-executive 
directors will receive a fee of € 4,000 per annum in respect of membership of the 
Audit and Remuneration Committees, and that travel allowances will be paid in 
respect of attendance at Board meetings requiring an overnight stay outside the 
individual’s country of residence. 

Non-executive directors’ contracts  

Upon his appointment as Chairman in December 2007, John Botts entered into 
a three-year contract which is terminable by either party on not less than 12 
months’ notice. Following a review in 2010, the Chairman’s contract has been 
extended for 18 months until May 2012 and his fee increased to a total of 
€ 340,000 of which €190,000 is paid in cash and € 150,000 is paid in UBM 
shares. 

Other non-executive directors do not have a service contract with the Company 
but are engaged under a letter of appointment which provides for an initial term 
of three years, unless terminated earlier by either party on not less than three 
months’ notice. None of the non-executive directors’ terms of appointment 
contain any provision for payment of compensation on early termination.  

Non-executive directors are not entitled to participate in the Company’s share 
incentive plans or pension schemes.  

Each director’s appointment (including that of the Chairman) is reviewed every 
three years. Set out below are the dates on which each non-executive director 
was first appointed to the Board and the year in which he or she was last re-
elected by shareholders.  

John Botts 8 July 1997 2010 

Alan Gillespie 13 April 2008 2008 

Pradeep Kar 1 August 2006 2010 

Jonathan Newcomb 27 September 2001 2008 

Karen Thomson 1 August 2006 2010 

Terry Neill 24 September 2009 2010

Greg Lock 22 February 2010 2010

TSR Graph 

The graph below shows UBM’s total shareholder return performance over the 
last five years since 31 December 2005 as compared to the FTSE Media Index, 
which has been chosen as UBM is a constituent of that index.  
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Directors’ remuneration  

The following information in this report has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP.  

Directors 
Basic salary  

£ 
Fees(1)

£ 
Benefits(2)

£ 
Allowances(3)

£ 
Bonus(4) 

£  

Total in 
2010 

£ 

Total in 
2009(5)

£ 

David Levin 603,160 646 956,009 1,559,815  1,358,951 

Robert Gray 425,000 107,749 510,000 1,042,749  401,133 

John Botts  277,003 50,688  327,691  313,451 

Alan Gillespie  71,550  71,550 73,687 

Pradeep Kar  49,732 7,428  57,160 60,563 

Greg Lock  37,901  37,901 – 

Jonathan Newcomb  60,641 4,827  65,468 62,366 

Terry Neill  50,061  50,061 9,296 

Karen Thomson  49,732  49,732 51,045 

Past directors    

Nigel Wilson    291,335

Total emoluments 1,028,160 596,620 108,395 62,943 1,466,009 3,262,127 2,621,827 

Notes to directors’ remuneration table  

1. The fees of the Chairman and non-executive directors are denominated in Euros and include an element which is paid in the form of ordinary shares as described on page 60. The table reflects the 
sterling equivalent of those fees; there was no change in 2010. The difference between the fees shown and the comparative figures for 2009 is the result of foreign exchange movements and/or changes 
in allowances (see note 3 below). The exchange rate used was the actual rate at the date of each monthly payment. 

2. The executive directors receive the benefit of private medical insurance. The figure for Robert Gray includes both UK and US private medical cover of £22,749 and a cash allowance in lieu of pension 
contribution of £85,000 (previously disclosed in the separate pension provision table). 

3. John Botts, Pradeep Kar and Jonathan Newcomb received payments in respect of applicable Irish PRSI and health contribution levies of £50,688, £7,428 and £4,827 respectively for the period to 
31 December 2010, to ensure that the effect of the change of domicile of UBM during 2008 was tax neutral. 

4. The bonus column reflects the cash value of bonus earned in respect of 2010. At least 25% of the total bonus earned will be converted into ordinary shares based on a share price of 450.07p (which was 
the average share price in December 2009) and David Levin and Robert Gray will be given provisional awards over these shares in 2011.  

Before its award, David Levin sacrificed part of his cash bonus entitlement. A pension contribution equal to the amount given up will be made into an EFRBS. The amount shown in the bonus 
column reflects the full bonus earned. 

5. The total comparative figure for 2009 includes an increase of £29,747 to Robert Gray’s 2009 total, being an adjustment of £4,247 to the medical cover component for 2009 and a cash allowance of 
£25,500 in lieu of pension (previously disclosed in the separate pension provision table). Robert Gray was appointed on 14 September 2009 and his remuneration for 2009 is included from that date. 

Directors’ pension provision 

The table below provides relevant disclosure in respect of contributions which have been paid by the Company to defined contribution schemes for David Levin. 
Robert Gray currently receives his pension contributions as a cash allowance, which is shown in the Directors’ remuneration table above as a benefit. 
 

Name Normal retirement age Pension contribution

Company pension  
contribution in  

respect of 2010  
£000 

Company pension 
contribution in 

respect of 2009 
£000

David Levin 65 20% of basic salary 121 121

Past directors   

Nigel Wilson   58
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Directors’ remuneration report continued 

Awards under long term incentive plans  

The table below show details of outstanding awards held by and awards granted to executive directors in 2010 under the Group’s long term incentive plans.  

 Date of grant 
Held at  

01.01.10 

Exercised 
during 

2010 

Granted 
during

2010

Lapsed 
during 

2010 
Held at 

31.12.10 
Exercise 

period from
Exercise 
period to 

Exercise 
price (p) 

Market price 
at date of 
award (p)

Total gain 
on exercise

David Levin      

Bonus Investment Plan      

Bonus options 13.03.06 – – – – – 13.03.09 13.03.16  663.50

 07.03.07 36,285 – – – 36,285 07.03.10 07.03.17  781.50 –

 20.03.08 58,327 – – – 58,327 20.03.11 20.03.18  505.83 –

 13.03.09 34,722 – – – 34,722 13.03.12 13.03.19  430.00 –

 17.03.10 – – 69,938 – 69,938 17.03.13 17.03.20  534.00 –

Matching options 13.03.06 12,000 – – – 12,000 13.03.09 13.03.16  663.50

 07.03.07 72,570 – – 52,2511 20,319 07.03.10 07.03.17  781.50 –

 20.03.08 116,654 – – – 116,6542 20.03.11 20.03.18  505.83 –

 13.03.09 69,444 – – – 69,444 13.03.12 13.03.19  430.00 –

 17.03.10 – – 139,876 – 139,876 17.03.13 17.03.20  534.00 –

Performance Share Plan 07.03.07 107,573 – – 107,5733 – – –  –

 20.03.08 89,431 – – – 89,4314 20.03.11 20.03.18  505.83 –

 13.03.09 286,421 – – – 286,421 13.03.12 13.03.19  430.00 –

 17.03.10 – – 176,305 – 176,305 17.03.13 17.03.20  534.00 –

Executive share options 20.03.08 327,914 – – – 327,9145 20.03.11 20.03.18 505.83 –

 06.04.05 157,500 – – – 157,500 06.04.08 06.04.15 532.17 –

SAYE Scheme 17.04.08 2,293 – – – 2,293 01.06.11 30.11.11 409.86 –

Robert Gray      

Executive Retention Plan 14.09.09 20,788 – – – 20,788 14.09.11 14.09.11  481.03 –

Performance Share Plan 14.09.09 103,943 – – – 103,943 14.09.12 14.09.12  481.03 –

 17.03.10 – – 38,973 – 38,973 17.03.13 17.03.13  534.00 –

SAYE Scheme 16.04.10 – – 3,803 – 3,803 01.06.17 30.11.17 428.53 –

BIP awards are in the form of nil cost options over the Company’s shares, the number of shares in respect of the mandatory element to be calculated using the average 
share price for the month preceding the start of the relevant financial year. Participants may also elect to receive up to a further 25% of their bonus in the form of 
shares, the number of shares to be calculated by reference to the market value as at the date such award is made. Awards will vest on the third anniversary of the date of 
grant, provided the director remains in the Group’s employment. Vesting of the matching shares is dependent on the performance targets being met, as described on 
page 58. Awards may also vest in part, subject to the performance conditions being met, if employment ceases due to redundancy, disability, injury, death, retirement 
or in other circumstances at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee. The Bonus Investment Plan is described on page 58. 

The cash value of the bonus option shares, calculated in accordance with the rules of the BIP, was included in the directors’ remuneration table in respect of the year 
in which they were earned. The aggregate amount of gains made by directors on the exercise of BIP options in 2010 was £nil (2009: £869,783). Robert Gray did not 
participate in the Bonus Investment plan in respect of his bonus for 2009, having only joined the Board in September 2009. 

The Executive Retention Plan award made to Robert Gray is described on page 59.  

PSP awards are in the form of nil cost options over the Company’s shares or restricted shares. Awards will vest in whole or in part on the third anniversary of the date 
of grant, provided the director remains in the Group’s employment, and subject to the performance conditions being met, as described on page 57. Awards may also 
vest in part, subject to the performance conditions being met, if employment ceases due to redundancy, disability, injury, death, retirement or in other circumstances 
at the discretion of the Committee. The Performance Share Plan is described on page 57. The aggregate amount of gains made by directors on the exercise of PSP 
options in 2010 was £nil (2009: £1,468,227). 
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Executive Share Option awards will vest in whole or in part on the third anniversary of the date of grant, provided the director remains in the Group’s employment, 
and subject to the performance conditions being met, as described on page 59. Awards may also vest, subject to the performance conditions being met, if employment 
ceases due to redundancy, disability, injury, death, retirement or in other circumstances at the discretion of the Committee. The aggregate amount of gains made by 
directors on the exercise of ESOS options in 2010 was £nil (2009: £nil). 

1. In respect of the BIP Matching option awarded on 07.03.2007, the performance condition was not achieved in full and accordingly only 28% of the award vested. The remaining 72% of the option 
lapsed. 

2. In respect of the BIP Matching option awarded on 20.03.2008, the performance condition was not achieved and, accordingly, none of the award due to mature in 2011 will vest. 

3. In respect of the Performance Share Plan awarded on 07.03.2007, the performance condition was not achieved and accordingly none of the award vested. 

4. In respect of the Performance Share Plan awarded on 20.03.2008, the performance condition was not achieved in full and accordingly only 37.8% of the award will vest in 2011. The remaining 62.2% 
of the option will lapse. 

5. In respect of the Executive Share Options awarded on 20.03.2008, the performance condition was not achieved and accordingly none of the award due to mature in 2011 will vest. 

Directors’ interests in shares  

The interests of the directors in ordinary shares (all of which are beneficial) are shown as at 1 January 2010 (or date of joining if later) and at 31 December 2010. 
The following information constitutes part of the unaudited section of the remuneration report. 

Director 

Ordinary shares 
at 01.01.10 

(or date of 
appointment 

if later)

Ordinary shares 
at 31.12.10 

(or date 
of leaving 

if earlier)

BIP Bonus  
shares at  
01.01.10  

BIP Bonus 
shares at 
31.12.10 

(or date
 of leaving 

if earlier)

David Levin 28,932 28,932 129,334 199,272

Robert Gray – – – –

John Botts 33,474 43,510 – –

Alan Gillespie 2,958 4,520 – –

Pradeep Kar 4,956 6,518 – –

Greg Lock – 10,941 – –

Terry Neill 3,000 10,714 – –

Jonathan Newcomb 16,663 18,225 – –

Karen Thomson 5,133 6,695 – –

The BIP Bonus shares represent interests in shares acquired by David Levin through surrender of cash bonuses. These interests are also shown as BIP Bonus options 
in the table on page 62. 

As at 31 December 2010 the Trustees of the United Business Media ESOP Trust held 1,352,273 ordinary shares (2009: 667,047).  

Changes in directors’ interests since 31 December 2010 

There have been no changes to the interests of directors in UBM shares or in options over UBM shares between 31 December 2010 and 1 March 2011.  

The minimum price of ordinary shares during the year was 409.7p and the maximum price was 692.5p. 

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf. 

 

 

 

Alan Gillespie 
1 March 2011 
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Corporate governance statement 

Chairman’s introduction 

John Botts
 

2010 was a year in which, more than ever, governance considerations for 
companies listed in the UK focused on sustainability and the need to promote 
the long term success of companies. The Walker Review of corporate 
governance, while not directly applicable to UBM, laid the groundwork for the 
Financial Reporting Council ’s review of the Combined Code which places 
increased emphasis on the management of risk and on the role of the Board and 
its chairman in providing leadership and rigorous challenge. 

As a Board, we are ultimately responsible for framing and executing UBM’s 
strategy and for overseeing risk management. We consider the practice of good 
governance to be integral to that role and we are committed to maintaining high 
standards of financial reporting, transparency and business integrity in all UBM’s 
undertakings. As UBM’s businesses evolve into new areas and expand into new 
geographical markets, the issues become more complex and the Board's role 
becomes ever more challenging. In order to ensure that we are fully equipped to 
perform our role effectively, in 2010 we concentrated our attention on the 
following areas: 

– We undertook an ongoing and in-depth review of strategy, including 
assessment and consideration of risk management. 

– We reviewed Board composition to ensure we have the appropriate mix of 
experience and personality around the boardroom table. 

– We increased our non-executive directors’ access to and engagement with the 
businesses, through site visits (the Board visited two of our largest exhibitions 
in Brazil and India during the year), management presentations and the 
development of mentoring programmes. 

– We reviewed talent management and succession planning to ensure we have 
the necessary management resource to continue to build on UBM’s success. 

The following report describes in more detail how we seek to embed good 
governance in the Board’s activities. 

 

 

 

 

John Botts 
Chairman                          

 

 

Compliance statement 
The Board of UBM is responsible for the Group’s policy on corporate 
governance. As a company with a premium listing of equity shares on the 
London Stock Exchange, UBM is subject to the Listing Rules of the Financial 
Services Authority and the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 
(previously known as the Combined Code on Corporate Governance (‘the 
Code’)). Prior to April 2010, UBM was not subject to the Code but complied 
voluntarily with its provisions. 

The directors consider that throughout 2010 UBM complied with all provisions 
set out in Section 1 of the 2008 Combined Code except for the composition of 
the Audit Committee, which is discussed in more detail on page 68. 

The Board has taken note of the changes to the Code introduced by the 
Financial Reporting Council, which take effect for accounting periods beginning 
on or after 29 June 2010. The Board will determine its response to these changes 
during the course of 2011 and will report on this in its annual report for 2011. 

As a non-UK registered company, UBM is not subject to UK companies 
legislation. However, the Board considers it appropriate to provide shareholder 
safeguards which are similar to those that are consistent with the relevant 
provisions of the UK Companies Acts. Specifically, provisions such as pre-
emption rights and shareholder information rights are contained in the 
Company’s Articles of Association.  

The Board  

A formal schedule of matters to be considered by the Board is in place and is 
reviewed annually.  

Responsibilities reserved to the Board include: 

– Approval of the annual budget (including capital expenditure) and 
Treasury policy. 

– Approval of the interim and annual financial statements. 

– Succession planning. 

– Dividend policy. 

– Major acquisitions and disposals and substantial property transactions. 

– The Group’s system of internal controls. 

Decisions on operational matters are delegated to the executive directors and to 
divisional boards under formally documented authorities. 

The agenda for Board meetings includes standing items on strategy and 
governance as well the Group’s finances and operations. The Board also considers 
matters such as acquisitions, borrowing facilities and major capital projects as 
appropriate, and receives regular presentations from divisional management on 
the Group’s businesses.  

 

  United Business Media Limited                         
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During 2010 the Board’s activities included the following: 

– In-depth review of strategy, having regard to the opportunities and challenges 
faced by the Group’s businesses. This included consideration of capital 
structure and liquidity, leadership talent development, and management 
structure below board level. 

– Concluded the settlement of a longstanding tax dispute with HMRC. 

– Approved the full year and interim financial results. 

– Approved the Group’s budget for 2011. 

– Approved the Group’s dividend policy. 

– Approved the acquisition of Canon Communications Inc for $287m. 

– Undertook a US$ bond issue to raise $375m. 

– Reviewed pensions risk. 

– Reviewed the Group’s risk mapping process. 

– Received management presentations from eight divisional heads and visited 
the Food Ingredients Exhibition in São Paulo and the CPhI exhibition in 
Mumbai. 

The approximate apportionment of Board time was as follows: 

1. Strategy

2. Finance

3. Risk management

4. Talent management and succession planning

5. Presentations from operational management

6. Governance

42%

18%

5%

6%

24%

5%

Board allocation of time

1 

2
3

4

5

6 

 

 

 

 

The Board has six scheduled meetings per annum and meetings may be 
convened at other times as and when necessary. Eight Board meetings were held 
during 2010, including two ad hoc meetings which were convened to consider 
specific acquisition opportunities. Board and committee meetings are generally 
held in Ireland, with at least one Board meeting per annum held overseas to 
enable Board members to visit the Group’s business locations. During 2010 two 
overseas Board meetings were held, in Brazil and India. 

Details of individual attendance by directors at Board and committee meetings 
in 2010 are set out below.  

 
Board 

(scheduled) 
Board 

(ad hoc)
Audit 

Committee 
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination
Committee

Director  (attendance is shown only for committee members) 

John Botts 6 2 1 (of 1) 1*

David Levin 6 2  

Robert Gray 6 2  

Alan Gillespie 6 1^  2** 2

Pradeep Kar 6 2  3

Greg Lock 6 1^ 2 (of 2) 

Terry Neill 5*** 1^ 3 

Jonathan Newcomb 6 1^ 3 3 2

Karen Thomson 6 1^ 3 

 

*John Botts did not attend the Nomination Committee meeting which dealt 
with his own contract. 

**Alan Gillespie was unable to attend the July Remuneration Committee 
meeting owing to family illness. 

***Terry Neill was unable to attend the September Board meeting as he had a 
prior commitment which predated his appointment to the UBM Board. 

^A number of directors were unable to attend one of the ad hoc meetings which 
was convened at short notice. 

Board size and composition 

The Board has placed particular emphasis over the last three years on progress 
towards achieving the optimum number of directors with an appropriate balance 
of skills and experience. The appointment of new non-executive directors in 
September 2009 and February 2010 brings the total number of directors to nine, 
with the Board now comprising the Chairman (part-time), two executive and six 
non-executive directors. The Board considers this to be an appropriate size to 
enable it to carry out its responsibilities effectively. 

Non-executive directors 

The Board believes that a strong presence of non-executive directors is a key 
aspect of effective corporate governance. Their role is to provide constructive 
input and challenge to management; in order to do so it is important that they 
have adequate access to the businesses to allow for a deeper insight into the 
opportunities and challenges for the businesses, which in turn informs the debate 
at Board meetings. Non-executive directors are encouraged to meet with 
divisional executives and to visit the Group’s operations around the world; during 
2010 John Botts, Greg Lock, Karen Thomson and Pradeep Kar attended the 
Business Leadership Development programme and a separate initiative was 
introduced whereby individual non-executive directors offer mentoring on 
general management issues to selected business leaders across the Group. 
Examples of this include Jonathan Newcomb working with Ninan Chacko, 
CEO of PRNewswire, and Pradeep Kar working with Sanjeev Khaira, Managing 
Director of UBM India. 

In reviewing the independence of its non-executive directors, the Board 
principally has regard to factors such as the character and personality of the 
individual concerned and the quality of his or her contribution at Board 
meetings. The Board also takes note of those matters listed in the Code as factors 
which may be relevant in determining independence. The Board considers all of 
its non-executive directors to be independent. Non-executive directors’ 
appointments are reviewed every three years.  

Jonathan Newcomb has served as a non-executive director of the Company 
for nine years, and under the terms of the Code will cease to be independent 
following the next Annual General Meeting. The Board values his contribution 
and experience highly, and wishes to retain Mr Newcomb’s services; it considers 
this appropriate having regard to the number of independent non-executive 
directors on the Board and the varying length of tenure of those directors. 
Mr Newcomb will be proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting and, annually thereafter. 
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Corporate governance statement continued 

 

The length of tenure of independent non-executive directors as at the date of this 
report is illustrated below. 

1. 1 year – Greg Lock

2. 1–2 years – Terry Neill

3. 2–3 years – Alan Gillespie

4. 4–5 years – Pradeep Kar, Karen Thomson

5. 8–9 years – Jonathan Newcomb

1

1

1

2

1

Length of tenure of non-executive directors

1 

2

3

4

5

 

 

 

 

 
Biographies of all the directors currently in office are set out on pages 52 and 53 
and illustrate their range of experience.  

1. USA

2. UK

3. Asia

4. Europe (excluding UK)

4

5

2

4

Geographic range of experience of non-executive directors

1 

2

3

4

 

 

 

 

 
Alan Gillespie is the Senior Independent Director. 

Chairman and CEO  

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate, and a summary of 
their respective responsibilities is set out in writing and has been approved by 
the Board.  

The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the operation of the Board but takes 
no part in the day-to-day running of the business. John Botts is also a managing 
director of Allen & Company in London. During 2010 he joined the board of 
Songbird Estates plc. 

Election of directors 

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, at each Annual General Meeting 
any director then in office who has been appointed by the Board since the 
previous Annual General Meeting and any director who at the date of the notice 
convening the meeting had held office for more than 30 months since he was last 
appointed or re-appointed by the Company in general meeting shall retire from 
office but is eligible for re-appointment.  

The Board has noted the new Code requirement for directors to submit 
themselves for annual re-election by shareholders, which applies for financial 
periods starting on or after 29 June 2010. The Board does not propose to adopt 
this requirement at its Annual General Meeting in 2011 but will keep the matter 
under review during the year, having regard to shareholder opinion and evolving 
best practice. 

Conflicts of interest 

The Board has established a process to address possible conflicts of interest of 
directors. Any relevant conflicts and potential conflicts that arise are required to 
be disclosed at the next Board meeting for consideration and, if appropriate, 
approval by relevant Board members. 

Board committees  
The Board is assisted in fulfilling its responsibilities by three principal 
committees, the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees. Details of 
the activities of the Audit Committee are set out in a separate report on page 68 
while those of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report on pages 54 to 63.  

The terms of reference for all committees may be viewed on the Company’s 
website at www.ubm.com and copies can be obtained from the Company 
Secretary, who acts as secretary to all three committees. 

Nomination Committee  

John Botts Jonathan Newcomb Alan Gillespie
 

The Nomination Committee is chaired by John Botts and its other members are 
Jonathan Newcomb and Alan Gillespie. The Company Secretary and Chief 
Executive customarily attend meetings and the Committee is also supported by 
the Group People and Culture Director. 

The Committee met formally twice during 2010. The principal activity 
undertaken during the year was: 

– To recommend the appointment of an additional non-executive director, 
Greg Lock , to the Board (Mr Lock having been identified via an external 
selection process conducted during 2009). 

– To consider Board succession planning, specifically for the roles of Chairman 
and CEO. 

The role of the Nomination Committee is to ensure an appropriate balance of 
experience and abilities on the Board, by reviewing the size and composition of 
the Board and recommending proposed changes. The Committee also reviews 
performance evaluations of individual non-executive directors and makes 
recommendations as to their proposed re-election to the Board following 
retirement in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.  

The process of succession planning for the Chairman’s role was led by the Senior 
Independent Director, as described below under the section entitled Board 
Performance, and reviewed by the Committee. 

Board performance  

A formal review of Board and committee performance and effectiveness was 
conducted by means of an internal process in 2010. This was carried out by 
means of confidential questionnaires which were completed by all Board 
directors, followed by one-to-one interviews with the Group People and Culture 
Director, who then collated the results for discussion by the Board as a whole. 

Areas covered by the review included the roles and processes of the Board and its 
main committees; Board composition and meetings; dynamics and culture; 
accountability; and risk management and control. The review concluded that, 
overall, the Board and its committees continue to operate effectively, with a 
positive and engaged climate within the Board, and that directors are generally 
content with the information provided to them, the quality of debate and the 
culture of transparency and constructive challenge. The review also identified a 
number of areas which will be given more detailed consideration during 2011, 
including structuring of meetings and prioritisation of agenda items, risk profile 
and management and ongoing professional development. 

It is proposed to conduct an external review of Board and committee 
performance in 2011. 
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Separately, the Board considered the issue of the Chairman’s succession in light of 
the impending expiry of his contract in December 2010. The Chairman’s 
performance was evaluated by means of a questionnaire which was completed by 
all directors and the results collated by the Senior Independent Director. A meeting 
was then convened, led by the Senior Independent Director and attended only 
by independent non-executive directors and the Company Secretary, at which the 
results were discussed and it was agreed to recommend that the Chairman’s 
contract be extended for a further 18 months. This recommendation was 
formally confirmed by the Nomination Committee (which for this purpose met 
without John Botts in attendance and was chaired by Alan Gillespie). 

Evaluation of the performance of individual non-executive directors is carried 
out by the Chairman with input from the Senior Independent Director and 
Chief Executive, and is reviewed by the Nomination Committee; the Chief 
Executive’s performance is evaluated by the Chairman and the Chief Financial 
Officer’s performance is evaluated by the Chief Executive. 

During 2010 the Chairman and non-executive directors also met without 
executives present to discuss management succession. 

Information and professional development  

All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, 
who has primary responsibility for keeping directors updated and informed of 
general developments which may be of relevance to their responsibilities. The 
Company Secretary is not a Board director.  

All directors are offered the opportunity to further their professional 
development by means of attendance at seminars and briefings. A tailored 
induction process is established for all directors on appointment; this includes 
discussions with the Chairman and executive directors as well as one to one 
briefings and presentations from other directors and senior management at 
corporate and divisional level and, where possible, site visits. 

A procedure exists to allow directors to seek independent professional advice if 
they consider it appropriate to do so in the furtherance of their duties. No use 
was made of that procedure in 2010. 

Relations with shareholders  

Ownership of the Company’s shares is heavily concentrated in the hands of 
institutional investors, with less than 2.5% of issued equity held by individuals. 
The Company maintains an ongoing dialogue with its major institutional 
shareholders by means of a scheduled programme of meetings, which are 
generally undertaken by the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer. 
Separate meetings are arranged where appropriate with the Chairman or Senior 
Independent Director to discuss specific issues. During 2010 the Senior 
Independent Director (who also chairs the Remuneration Committee) met with 
several investors to discuss remuneration policy: the Chairman also met with 
investors to discuss the Group’s strategy. A report on investor relations, including 
feedback from investor meetings, is a standing agenda item for Board meetings, 
and analysts’ and brokers’ reports are circulated to all directors upon publication. 

The Company does not formally offer shareholders the opportunity to meet 
with new non-executive directors or vice versa, but is willing to facilitate such 
engagement upon request from a director or shareholder. The Company 
welcomes the introduction of the UK Stewardship Code, which it considers will 
promote closer engagement between companies and their shareholders. 

The Company’s shareholders as a whole are kept informed about the activities 
and progress of the Group primarily via its website, www.ubm.com, and by 
means of the annual and interim reports and interim management statements. 
During 2010 the format of the interim management statement was revised so as 
to include more quantitative financial information, intended to provide greater 
clarity and transparency on the Group’s financial position. 

All shareholders are welcome at the Annual General Meeting where they are able 
to ask questions of all the directors, including the Chairman, as well as the 
chairmen of the Audit and Remuneration Committees.  

Voting at the Annual General Meeting takes place by poll and the results are 
notified via a regulatory information service and displayed on the Company’s 
website as soon as practicable following the meeting. Votes were cast at the 2010 
Annual General Meeting in respect of approximately 70 percent of issued equity, 
and voting was over 97% in favour of all resolutions. 

Internal control  

The Board is responsible for maintaining the effectiveness of the Group’s system 
of internal controls and for reviewing the effectiveness of such systems. The 
system is intended to enable the Group to identify and manage the risks inherent 
in its business and accordingly can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material mis-statement or loss. 

A formal process is in place for identifying, evaluating and managing the key 
financial, operating, compliance and other significant risks faced by the Group. 
This risk mapping process, which was in place throughout 2010 and continues in 
force, accords with the Turnbull guidance issued in September 1999 and is 
reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Board.  

The process aims to identify and evaluate risks which are specific to each of the 
Group’s businesses. Each business prepares its own analysis of the major 
commercial, regulatory and financial risks which it faces and of the controls in 
place to mitigate those risks. The risk maps and associated action plans are 
compiled by the respective management teams, reviewed centrally by UBM 
executive management, and considered by the Audit Committee, which in turn 
reports to the Board.  

The Group’s system of internal controls includes the following:  

– All staff are required to comply with a formal system of delegated authorities 
which is in place for all divisions and head office. 

– Further guidance on Group policies and procedures is set out in various 
manuals including the financial policies and procedures manual, Group policy 
manual and employee handbooks. 

–  An anti-malpractice policy is in place throughout the Group which provides a 
mechanism for confidential reporting by staff of possible concerns about 
financial or other matters.  

– The Group has a comprehensive financial reporting system, with the annual 
budget being approved by the Board and monthly trading results, balance 
sheets and cashflow summaries recorded against corresponding figures for the 
budget and the previous year.  

– Established procedures are in place for the evaluation of potential acquisitions 
and their integration into the Group. Monitoring of post-acquisition 
performance against detailed business plans is conducted on an ongoing basis 
by the internal audit department and reviewed regularly by the Audit 
Committee.  

– Major IT and other projects are reviewed periodically by the internal audit 
department to assess their status and their reports are reviewed by the Audit 
Committee. 

– The internal audit department undertakes periodic reviews of individual 
businesses to assess their control status and makes recommendations to the 
Audit Committee. The work of the internal audit department is prioritised to 
concentrate on the areas of greatest risk as identified through the Group risk 
management process. The Head of Internal Audit attends meetings of the 
Audit Committee, which oversees the role and structure of the internal audit 
department and makes recommendations to management.  

A particular area of focus during the year was pensions risk; to assist in evaluating 
and managing this risk a working group was set up with representation from 
management, pension trustees and advisors, to formulate a risk management 
programme and to report to the Board on a regular basis. 
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Corporate governance statement continued 

 

The Board will continue to review and reinforce its procedures for identifying, 
managing and monitoring risk during 2011 and beyond. 

Audit Committee  

Greg Lock

Jonathan Newcomb

Terry Neil

Karen Thomson

 

The Audit Committee is chaired by Jonathan Newcomb and its other members 
are Karen Thomson, Terry Neill and (since May 2010) Greg Lock. All 
committee members serving on the Committee as at 31 December 2010 are 
considered by the Company to be independent. 

The Chairman of the Board, John Botts, was a member of the Committee until 
May 2010. This was not in compliance with Provision C.3 .1 of the Code as he is 
not considered to be independent. However, in view of his financial skills and 
experience and the fact that Terry Neill only joined the Committee in September 
2009, it was considered appropriate that Mr Botts should remain a member of the 
Committee pending the outcome of the review which the Board had undertaken 
to carry out in early 2010. As a result of that review, Greg Lock joined the 
Committee and John Botts ceased to be a member of the Committee in May 2010.  

The Board takes into account each Committee member’s qualifications and 
experience in their executive roles (details of which can be found in their 
biographies on pages 52 to 53) and is satisfied that all members have recent and 
relevant financial experience which is adequate to enable them to carry out their 
responsibilities.  

The Committee met on three occasions during 2010 and details of individual 
attendance are set out in the table on page 65. The Chairman of the Audit 
Committee provides a verbal report to the Board following each Committee 
meeting and the minutes of Committee meetings are available to other Board 
members. 

The Company Secretary is secretary to the Committee and others invited to 
attend Committee meetings include the Chief Financial Officer, Deputy CFO, 
Head of Internal Audit, Head of Taxation, Treasurer and external auditors. 
Although no longer a member of the Committee, John Botts also attends 
meetings by invitation. There is a standing agenda item at each Committee 
meeting for the external auditors to discuss matters with the Committee without 
management present. 

The Committee operates within written terms of reference, which are reviewed 
periodically. These terms of reference may be viewed on the Company’s website.  

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are:  

Finance and Accounting:  

– To monitor the integrity of the group's account, ensuring that they meet 
statutory and associated legal and regulatory requirements. This includes 
reviewing significant financial reporting judgements contained in them, 
reports on compliance with accounting standards, appropriate accounting 
policies and practices and any changes to these, accounting and reporting 
issues, going concern assumptions and anti-fraud programmes and controls. 

– To monitor announcements relating to the groups' financial performance.  

Internal controls  

– To monitor the effectiveness of internal financial controls. 

– To review the operation of the Group's risk management process. 

– To monitor the control environment mitigating compliance and quality 
management systems risk. 

Audit  

– To monitor and review the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit 
functions  

– To monitor and review the external auditors' performance, the effectiveness of 
the audit process and their independence, approving their terms of 
engagements, remuneration and ability to supply non-audit services and 
recommending for shareholder approval the appointment, re-appointment or 
removal of the external auditors, as appropriate.  

Whistleblowing  

– To review the arrangements by which staff may raise complaints against the 
Group regarding financial reporting or other matters.  

To assist in ensuring auditor objectivity and independence, the Audit 
Committee has established a formal policy governing the conduct of non-audit 
work by the external auditors. This prohibits the auditors from performing 
services which would result in the auditing of their own work, participating in 
activities normally undertaken by management, acting as advocate for the Group 
and creating a mutuality of interest between the auditors and the Group, for 
example being remunerated through a success fee structure. All services provided 
by the independent auditors during the year were pre-approved by an individual 
nominated by the Audit Committee, and reviewed by the Audit Committee at 
the first Audit Committee meeting subsequent to their approval. A financial 
threshold is set above which pre-approval is required by the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee, however no such pre-approvals were required in 2010.  

The Audit Committee has a structured schedule of matters for consideration 
which is aligned with the Group’s financial calendar.  

During 2010 the Committee’s work included the following: 

– Reviewed the preliminary results announcement and considered in particular 
the requirement for an impairment charge to be made in the financial 
statements for 2009. 

– Noted and considered proposed changes to the manner in which segmental 
reporting is carried out by the Group for the purpose of recording and 
allocating goodwill in the most appropriate manner among the Group’s 
businesses. 

– Reviewed the Operating and Financial Review section of the 2009 annual 
report. 

– Reviewed the half-yearly results announcement and considered reports from 
the external auditors identifying any significant financial reporting issues or 
matters of judgemental difference requiring its attention. 

– Reviewed the Group’s risk mapping process and considered specific areas of 
risk identified through that process and the action plans proposed. 

– Considered and approved audit plans from internal and external auditors. 

– Reviewed the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and the 
effectiveness of the audit process. 

– Reviewed the composition of the Committee and its own performance. 

– Received reports from the internal audit department on the outcome of 
reviews conducted by it. 

– Considered post-acquisition reviews conducted in respect of businesses 
acquired by the Group. 

– Reviewed the performance of a number of major projects being implemented 
within the Group’s divisions. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of 
United Business Media Limited 

We have audited the Group financial statements of United Business Media 
Limited for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise the 
Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the Consolidated statement of financial position, the Consolidated 
statement of changes in equity, the Consolidated statement of cash flows, and 
the related notes 1 to 33. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the IASB (International Auditing 
Standards Board). 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance 
with Article 113A of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and our engagement 
letter dated 28 February 2011. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.  

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out 
on page 70, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the Group 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the Group financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

In addition the Company has also instructed us to: 

– Review the directors' statement in relation to going concern as set out on page 
39, which for a premium listed UK incorporated company is specified for 
review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority;  

– Review certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on 
directors' remuneration, which for a premium listed UK incorporated 
company is specified for review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services 
Authority; and 

– Report to you our opinion on whether the information given in the Directors’ 
report for the financial year for which the Group financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the Group financial statements. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate 
to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion the Group financial statements: 

– Give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 
2010 and of its profit for the year then ended; 

– Have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as issued by the IASB; 
and 

– Have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
(Jersey) Law 1991. 

Opinion on other matters 

In our opinion

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters: 

Where the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 requires us to report to you if, in 
our opinion: 

– proper accounting records have not been kept, or proper returns adequate for 
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

– the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or 

– we have not received all the information and explanations we require for 
our audit. 

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

– the part of the Corporate governance statement relating to the Company’s 
compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008 Combined Code 
specified for our review. 

The Company has also instructed us to:  

–

–

Other matters 

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of 
United Business Media Limited for the year ended 31 December 2010 and on 
the information in the Directors’ remuneration report that is described as having 
been audited.  

 
Les Clifford  
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP,  
London 
1 March 2011 
 

 

 

Notes: 

1. The maintenance and integrity of the United Business Media Limited website is the 
responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve 
consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any 
changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on 
the website. 

2. Legislation in Jersey governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.  

– report to you if, in our opinion a Corporate Governance Statement 
has not been prepared by the company

:

–

–

the information given in the Directors' Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the group 
financial statements.

the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement set  
out on page 67 with respect to internal control and risk management 
systems in relation to financial reporting processes and about share     
capital structures is consistent with the financial statemetns.

review the directors' statement in relation to going concern; 

review certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on
directors' remuneration; and  
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Report of the directors 

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2010. 

Business review 

During 2010 the Group’s principal activities were in the areas of Events; Data 
Services; Online; Print – Magazines; and Targeting, Distribution and 
Monitoring. The review of the Group’s business and the description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group comprises the sections entitled 
‘Strategy and Performance’, ‘Segmental Commentary’ and ‘Risks and Uncertainties’ 
which form part of the Operating and Financial Review on pages 6 to 43.  

Results for the year and dividends  

The results for the year are set out in the Group consolidated income statement 
on page 72. The balance to be transferred to reserves is £99.4m. The directors 
have announced a second interim dividend (in lieu of a final dividend) of 19p per 
share for the year ended 31 December 2010 to be paid on 19 May 2011 to those 
shareholders on the register on 15 April 2011. An interim dividend of 6.0p  
per share was paid on 14 October 2010, making a total for the year of 25p  
(2009: 24.2p). 

Pursuant to the Dividend Access Plan put in place by the Company as part of the 
Scheme, the second interim dividend will be paid by United Business Media 
(GP) No.2 Limited, a UK subsidiary of UBM to those members who have 
elected (or who are deemed to have elected) to be paid dividends from a UK 
source in accordance with the rules of the Dividend Access Plan. 

Directors and their interests  

Biographical details of the directors in office as at1 March 2011 are set out on 
pages 52 and 53. The following directors held office during the year:  

John Botts, David Levin, Alan Gillespie, Robert Gray, Pradeep Kar, Greg Lock 
(appointed on 22 February 2010), Terry Neill, Jonathan Newcomb, Karen 
Thomson. 

David Levin, Alan Gillespie and Jonathan Newcomb will retire from the Board 
in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association at the Annual General 
Meeting and, being eligible to do so, will stand for re-election. David Levin has a 
service contract which is subject to 12 months’ notice on either side. Alan 
Gillespie does not have a service contract and is considered by the Company to 
be independent. Jonathan Newcomb does not have a service contract; he has 
served on the Board since September 2001 and accordingly, pursuant to the UK 
Governance Code, when he stands for re-election he may no longer be 
considered as independent for the purposes of the Code. Nevertheless, the 
Company considers Mr Newcomb to be independent in character and 
judgement and values his experience.  

The interests of the directors in office at 1 March 2011 in the shares of the 
Company and its subsidiary undertakings are set out in the Directors’ 
remuneration report on pages 54 to 63.  

No director had a material interest in any contract other than a service contract 
with the Company or any subsidiary at any time during the year. 

Share capital  

Details of the Company’s authorised and issued share capital are set out in Note 
25 on page 123. 

As at 31 December 2010, the Company held a valid authority from shareholders 
to make market purchases of up to 24,417,501 ordinary shares. During the year 
the Company did not repurchase any ordinary shares . As at 31 December 2010 
the Company also held valid authorities from shareholders to allot ordinary 
shares up to a nominal value of £8,136,119. During the year shares with a 
nominal value of £37,912 were allotted on the exercise of share options under the 
Company’s employee share plans. 

These authorities will expire at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting to 
be held on 10 May 2011. Resolutions to renew them will be put to shareholders 
at that meeting. 

The Company is not aware of any agreement between shareholders that restrict 
the transfer of shares or of voting interests attached to shares. 

E-communications  

Shareholders have previously passed a resolution to enable the Company to send 
documents or information to members by making them available on the website 
or by electronic means. 

If any shareholder who has received a printed copy of this Annual Report would 
prefer to receive future communications by electronic means, they may elect to 
do so by contacting the Company’s Registrars, Equiniti (Jersey) Limited (contact 
details can be found in the Shareholder information section at the back of this 
report) or by registering at www.shareview.co.uk. 

Employee share plans  

The Company operates a number of all-employee share plans and discretionary 
share plans. Details of these plans can be found in Note 27 on pages 123 to 128.  

Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the 
financial statements  

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

The Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 requires the directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial period in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles prescribed for the purposes of the Law for market traded 
companies, and to specify the generally accepted accounting principles that have 
been adopted in their preparation. The financial statements of the Company are 
required by law to give a true and fair view of, or be presented fairly in all material 
respects so as to show, the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the period 
covered by the accounts and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. 
In preparing these financial statements, the directors should: 

– Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently. 

– Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent. 

– State whether applicable accounting principles have been followed in their 
preparation, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the 
financial statements. 

– Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping accounting records which are sufficient 
to show and explain the Company’s transactions and are such as to disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and 
enable them to ensure that the financial statements prepared by the Company 
comply with the requirements of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate 
and financial information included on the Company’s website. 

Legislation in Jersey governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.  

Directors’ responsibility statement pursuant to DTR4 

Each of the directors at the date of this report, whose names and functions are 
listed on pages 52 to 53 confirm that, to the best of their knowledge: 
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– the Group financial statements in this report, which have been prepared 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and IFRIC 
interpretations, and the Company financial statements in this report, which 
have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom generally accepted 
accounting principles, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and result of the Company and the undertakings included in the 
consolidation taken as a whole. 

– the management report contained in this report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and the position of the 
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a 
whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that 
they face. 

Disclosure of information to the auditor  

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report 
confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no relevant audit information 
of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and each director has taken all the 
steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are 
aware of that information. 

Substantial shareholdings  

As at 1 March 2011 the Company had been notified of the following significant 
interests in voting rights in its ordinary share capital in accordance with Chapter 
5 of the FSA’s Disclosure Rules and Transparency Rules:  

 
Ordinary  

shares 
% of  

share capital 
Nature 

of holding 

Black Rock, Inc (08.02.2011) 38,980,036 15.94% Indirect interest

FMR LLC (18.08.2010)  12,879,489 5.27% Indirect interest

Standard Life (24.02.2011) 12,249,815 5.01% Indirect interest

Aviva plc (18.02.2011) 12,184,377 4.98% Indirect interest

FIL Limited (06.09.2010) 12,054,253 4.93% Indirect interest

Lloyds Banking Group plc 
(11.02.2011)  11,727,687 4.80% Indirect interest 

Creditor payment policy  

In view of the diversity of its businesses the Group does not offer or operate a 
uniform timetable for payment of suppliers. Each operating company is 
responsible for agreeing with its own suppliers the terms and conditions on 
which it will transact business with them, including payment terms. The Group’s 
policy is to pay suppliers in accordance with these agreed terms. The Company 
has no trade creditors.  

Donations  

In 2010 the Group donated £437,971to charitable organisations (2009: £564,200). 
The Group made no political donations during 2010 (2009: £nil). 

Annual General Meeting  

The Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held on 10 May 2011. 
The notice of meeting and a description of the business to be transacted is 
contained in the accompanying document. It is also available on the Company’s 
website at www.ubm.com.  

Auditors  

Ernst & Young LLP have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a 
resolution for their re-appointment and on their remuneration will be proposed 
at the Annual General Meeting. 

Takeover directive  

The Company’s Articles of Association may only be amended by a special resolution at 
a general meeting of the shareholders. Directors are re-appointed by ordinary 
resolution at a general meeting of the shareholders. Under the Company’s Articles 
of Association, at each Annual General Meeting any director then in office who 
has been appointed by the Board since the previous Annual General Meeting 
and any director who at the date of the notice convening the meeting had held 
office for more than 30 months since they were last appointed or re-appointed by 
the Company in general meeting shall retire from office but are eligible for re-
appointment. Non-executive directors’ appointments are reviewed every three years.  

There are no restrictions on the transfer of ordinary shares in the Company 
other than: 

– Certain restrictions may from time to time be imposed by laws and 
regulations (for example, insider trading laws and market requirements 
relating to close periods).  

– Pursuant to the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority whereby 
certain employees of the Company require the approval of the Company to 
deal in the Company’s securities. 

The Company is not aware of any agreements between shareholders that may 
result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights.  

Change of control  

The Company is not party to any significant agreements which take effect, alter 
or terminate upon a change of control of the Company following a takeover bid. 
There are no agreements between the Company and its directors or employees 
providing for compensation for loss of office or employment (whether through 
resignation, purported redundancy or otherwise) that occurs because of a 
takeover bid. The Company is party to a number of banking arrangements 
which upon a change of control of the Company are terminable by the bank 
upon the provision of 28 days’ notice.  

Other information 

Other information relevant to and forming part of the Directors’ Report is to be 
found in the following sections of the Annual Report:  

Information Location in Annual Report

Business Review Operating and Financial Review – 
Strategy and Performance (pages 4 to 13) 

Segmental Performance (pages 14 to 31) 

Risks and Uncertainties (pages 40 to 43)

Corporate Responsibility Operating and Financial Review (pages 44 to 50) 

Corporate Governance Statement (pages 6  to 68)

Events since  
31 December 2010 

Note 33 to the Financial Statements (page 139) 

Treasury Policy  Operating and Financial Review (pages 42 to 43)

The Directors’ Report of United Business Media Limited for the year ended 
31 December 2010 comprises pages 70 to 71 of this Annual Report and the 
other sections listed above, which are incorporated into the Directors’ Report 
by reference. 

By order of the Board  

Anne Siddell  
Company Secretary 
1 March 2011 

Registered office: 
Ogier House, The Esplanade, St. Helier, Jersey JE4 9WG 
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Consolidated income statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 

   

 Notes 

Before 
exceptional 

items
2010

£m 

Exceptional 
items
2010

£m 

Total
2010

£m 

Before 
exceptional 

items 
2009 

£m 

Exceptional 
items
2009

£m 

Total
2009

£m 

Continuing operations      

Revenue 3 889.2 – 889.2 847.6 – 847.6

Other operating income 4 7.0 – 7.0 9.7 – 9.7

Operating expenses  5 (728.0) – (728.0) (688.8) – (688.8)

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions 13 (27.8) – (27.8) (26.8) – (26.8)

Exceptional reorganisation and restructuring costs 7 – (5.8) (5.8) – (16.5) (16.5)

Exceptional items relating to acquisitions 7 – (5.1) (5.1) – – –

Impairment charge 7 – – – – (153.0) (153.0)

Share of results from joint ventures and associates (after tax) 15 2.8 – 2.8 2.0 – 2.0

Group operating profit/(loss)  143.2 (10.9) 132.3 143.7 (169.5) 25.8

      

Finance income/(expense)      

Interest income 8 0.7 – 0.7 1.8 – 1.8

Interest expense 8 (19.4) – (19.4) (14.8) – (14.8)

Financing income 8 3.3 – 3.3 6.9 – 6.9

Financing income – other 8 1.2 – 1.2 2.9 – 2.9

Financing expense – other  8 (2.6) – (2.6) – (6.7) (6.7)

Profit/(loss) before tax  126.4 (10.9) 115.5 140.5 (176.2) (35.7)

Taxation 9 (16.1) – (16.1) (17.7) – (17.7)

Exceptional taxation net credit 7 – – – – 135.2 135.2

  (16.1) – (16.1) (17.7) 135.2 117.5

Profit for the year  110.3 (10.9) 99.4 122.8 (41.0) 81.8

Attributable to:      

Equity holders of the parent entity – ordinary shares    90.8  75.2

Non-controlling interests    8.6  6.6

    99.4  81.8

Earnings per share (pence)      

– basic 10   37.3p  30.9p

– diluted 10   36.7p  30.5p

      

    £m  £m 

Adjusted Group operating profit1    171.8  171.2

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions 13   (27.8)  (26.8)

Exceptional reorganisation and restructuring costs  7   (5.8)  (16.5)

Exceptional items relating to acquisitions 7   (5.1)  –

Impairment charge 7   –  (153.0)

Share of taxation on profit in joint ventures and associates    (0.8)  (0.7)

Group operating profit/(loss)    132.3   (25.8)

      

    £m  £m 

Dividends       

– Interim dividend of 6.00p (6.00p) 11   14.6  14.6

– Proposed second interim dividend of 19.00p (18.20p) 11   46.2  44.3

1. Adjusted Group operating profit represents Group operating profit excluding amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items, impairment charges and share of taxation on 
profit in joint ventures and associates. 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 

 

     Notes 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Profit for the year      99.4 81.8

Other comprehensive (losses)/income:       

Currency translation differences on foreign operations – Group    6.6 (45.3)

Net investment hedge   28 (14.6) (5.0)

Cash flow hedges:       

Gains on cash flow hedges arising during the year     28 – 0.2

Add reclassification adjustments for losses included in profit or loss    28 – 7.7

      – 7.9

       

Actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in the pension schemes     24 9.0 (63.9)

Irrecoverable element of pension surplus   24 (2.4) 13.8

       

Share of other comprehensive income of joint ventures and associates:      

Currency translation differences on foreign operations   15 0.4 (1.5)

Movement recognised in the pension schemes of associates     – (3.9)

    0.4 (5.4)

       

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income  9 – – 

Other comprehensive losses for the year net of tax     (1.0) (97.9)

       

Total comprehensive income/(losses) for the year net of tax      98.4 (16.1)

       

Attributable to:       

Equity holders of the parent entity – ordinary shares       89.3 (22.6)

Non-controlling interests      9.1 6.5

      98.4 (16.1)
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Consolidated statement of financial position  
at 31 December 2010 
  

 

Notes 

31 December
2010

£m 

As restated
31 December 

2009
£m 

Assets  

Non-current assets  

Goodwill 12 1,044.1 820.7

Intangible assets 13 177.4 110.6

Property, plant and equipment 14 41.2 38.2

Investments in joint ventures and associates 15 19.8 17.0

Retirement benefit surplus 24 9.1 –

Other investments 16, 19 0.6 0.6

Derivative financial instruments 19 6.8 –

  1,299.0 987.1

Current assets   

Inventories 17 7.8 7.7

Trade and other receivables 18 208.6 169.8

Derivative financial instruments 19 0.1 0.3

Cash and cash equivalents 19 125.9 158.9

  342.4 336.7

Total assets  1,641.4 1,323.8

Liabilities   

Current liabilities   

Borrowings 20 75.3 0.3

Derivative financial instruments 20 0.1 0.4

Trade and other payables 22 378.4 315.6

Provisions 23 12.9 23.4

Current tax liabilities 9 69.6 109.0

  536.3 448.7

Non-current liabilities   

Borrowings 20 535.2 385.0

Derivative financial instruments 20 34.7 10.5

Trade and other payables 22 22.3 12.9

Provisions 23 22.2 26.6

Retirement benefit obligation 24 21.8 26.6

Deferred tax liabilities 9 49.7 27.7

  685.9 489.3

Total liabilities  1,222.2 938.0

Equity attributable to owners of the parent entity    

Share capital 25 24.4 24.4

Share premium  26 3.1 1.2

Other reserves 28 (608.7) (597.7)

Retained earnings  986.7 948.4

Put options over non-controlling interests  (8.5) –

Total equity attributable to owners of the parent entity  397.0 376.3

Non-controlling interests  22.2 9.5

Total equity  419.2 385.8

Total equity and liabilities  1,323.8

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and were signed on its behalf on 1 March 2011 by:  

Robert Gray 
Director 

1,641.4 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 

 
 

 

Notes 

Share
capital

£m 

Share
premium

£m 

Other
reserves

£m 

Retained
earnings

£m 

Put options 
over non-

controlling 
interests 

£m 

Non-
controlling 

interests
£m 

Total
equity

£m 

At 1 January 2010  24.4 1.2 (597.7) 948.4 – 9.5 385.8 

Profit for the year  – – – 90.8 – 8.6 99.4 

Other comprehensive (losses)/income  – – (8.1) 6.6 – 0.5 (1.0)

Total comprehensive (losses)/income for the year 28 – – (8.1) 97.4 – 9.1 98.4 

Equity dividends 11 – – – (58.9) – – (58.9)

Non-controlling interest dividends  – – – – – (5.9) (5.9)

Non-controlling interest arising on business 
combinations 29 – – – – (8.5) 9.5 1.0 

Issued in respect of share option schemes 
and other entitlements 25, 26 – 1.9 – – – – 1.9 

Share-based payments 27 – – – 3.2 – – 3.2 

Shares awarded by ESOP 28 – – 3.4 (3.4) – – – 

Own shares purchased by the company 28 – – (6.3) – – – (6.3)

At 31 December 2010  24.4 3.1 (608.7) 986.7 (8.5) 22.2 419.2 

         

At 1 January 2009   24.4 1.0 (567.5) 1,005.7 – 7.6 471.2

Profit for the year  – – – 75.2 – 6.6 81.8

Other comprehensive losses  – – (43.8) (54.0) – (0.1) (97.9)

Total comprehensive (losses)/income for the year 28 – – (43.8) 21.2 – 6.5 (16.1)

Equity dividends 11 – – – (58.8) – – (58.8)

Non-controlling interest dividends  – – – – – (4.4) (4.4)

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 29 – – – (8.5) – (0.2) (8.7)

Issued in respect of share option schemes 
and other entitlements 25, 26 – 0.2 – – – – 0.2

Share-based payments 27 – – – 2.4 – – 2.4

Shares awarded by ESOP 28 – – 13.6 (13.6) – – –

At 31 December 2009  24.4 1.2 (597.7) 948.4 – 9.5 385.8
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Consolidated statement of cash flows  
for the year ended 31 December 2010 

 
Notes 

2010 

£m  

2009 

£m  

Cash flows from operating activities   

Reconciliation of profit to operating cash flows   

Profit for the year  99.4 81.8

Add back:   

Taxation  9 16.1 (117.5)

Depreciation 14 15.6 12.3

Amortisation of website development costs 13 0.8 0.9

Amortisation of intangibles arising on acquisitions 13 27.8 26.8

Interest income 8 (0.7) (1.8)

Interest expense 8 19.4 14.8

Financing income 8 (3.3) (6.9)

Financing income – other  8 (1.2) (2.9)

Financing expense – other  8 2.6 6.7

Share of results from joint ventures and associates (after tax) 15 (2.8) (2.0)

Exceptional items and charges to provisions 7 11.9 169.5

Fair value adjustments of contingent considerations 7, 29 (1.0) –

Other non-cash items  3.5 2.9

  188.1 184.6

Payments against provisions  (24.5) (41.3)

Pension deficit contributions 24 (3.1) (3.7)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories  (0.3) 0.9

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (14.0) 25.5

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  8.5 (23.3)

Cash generated from operations  154.7 142.7

Interest and finance income received  0.8 7.8

Interest and finance costs paid  (23.9) (22.3)

Taxation paid  (62.1) (16.5)

Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 15 0.6 1.5

Net cash flows from operating activities  70.1 113.2

Cash flows from investing activities   

Acquisition of interests in subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 29 (239.6) (25.6)

Purchase of interests in joint ventures and associates 15 (1.1) –

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangibles 14 (19.1) (14.5)

Proceeds from sale of investments  – 3.4

Proceeds from sale of joint ventures and associates 15 1.7 –

Net cash flows from investing activities  (258.1) (36.7)

Cash flows from financing activities   

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary share capital 26 1.9 0.2

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 29 – (8.7)

Dividends paid to shareholders  (58.9) (58.8)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (5.9) (4.4)

Investment in own shares – ESOP  (6.3) –

Increase/(decrease) in borrowings  4.4 (254.5)

Issue of £250m fixed rate sterling bonds 2016  – 247.1

Issue of $350m fixed rate dollar bonds 2020  214.2 –

Net cash flows from financing activities  149.4 (79.1)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (38.6) (2.6)

Net foreign exchange difference  5.6 (7.3)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 19 158.8 168.7

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 19 125.8 158.8
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
at 31 December 2010  

   
1. General information 

United Business Media Limited (‘UBML’) is a company incorporated in Jersey under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. The address of the registered office is Ogier 
House, The Esplanade, St. Helier, JE4 9WG, Jersey. UBML is tax resident in the Republic of Ireland. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are set 
out in Note 3. 

The Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 were authorised for issue on behalf of the Board of Directors and signed on the Board’s behalf by 
Robert Gray on 1 March 2011. 

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, the functional currency of the parent company, UBML. All amounts are rounded to the nearest £0.1m. 
Foreign operations are included in accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 2. 

The comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2009 has been restated for acquisition accounting adjustments which have been finalised in relation 
to certain acquisitions made in 2009. The comparative information has been restated in accordance with IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations. The impact of this restatement 
is to decrease goodwill and accruals and deferred income by £0.2m. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Management continually evaluate these estimates, 
assumptions and judgements based on available information and experience, as detailed in Note 2.  

2. Significant accounting policies 

Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and IFRIC 
interpretations. The financial statements are prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments that have been measured at fair value. The 
carrying values of recognised assets and liabilities that are designated as hedged items in fair value hedges that would otherwise be carried at amortised cost are adjusted to 
record changes in the fair values attributable to the risks that are being hedged in effective hedge relationships.  

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
The Group therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010. Refer to page 39 
of the Financial Review for further details.  

Basis of consolidation  

(a) Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of UBML and its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year. The financial statements of subsidiaries 
are prepared to the same reporting date as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group by virtue of the Group holding the power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally resulting from a shareholding of more than one 
half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.  

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated in full. Losses incurred within 
a subsidiary from 1 January 2010 are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance. 

The Group uses the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values 
of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is classified as a financial liability that is 
within the scope of IAS 39 is recognised in profit or loss. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  

Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and are included in exceptional items related to acquisitions. 

The excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and (in the case of business combinations achieved 
in stages) the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in 
profit or loss. 

If a business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at 
the acquisition date through profit or loss. When a disposal results in the Group ceasing to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. Where there is a change in ownership of a subsidiary without a change in 
control held by the Group, the difference between the consideration paid/received and the relevant share of the carrying value of net assets acquired/disposed of the 
subsidiary is recorded in equity. 



United Business Media Annual Report and Accounts 2010

Section 3: Financial statements

78

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

2. Significant accounting policies continued 

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 
The basis of consolidation for subsidiaries described above has been applied by the Group to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after 1 January 
2010. Prior to this date (before the adoption or IFRS 3 (revised 2008)), the following elements were different: 

– Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The cost of an acquisition was measured as the fair value of the assets given, 
equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The non-controlling interest 
(formerly minority interest) was measured as the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  

– Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the economic outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate 
is determinable. Subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration affected the recorded goodwill. 

– Acquisitions of an additional interest in a subsidiary, where control was already held by the Group, were accounted for under the entity concept method. 
The difference between the cost of the additional interest and the carrying value of the non-controlling interest’s share of net assets on the date of acquisition 
was reflected in equity as a transaction between owners and did not affect previously recognised goodwill. 

– Where there is a loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group accounted for the investment retained at its proportionate share of net asset value at the date control was 
lost. The carrying values of such investments at 1 January 2010 have not been restated. 

– Losses incurred within a subsidiary were attributed to the non-controlling interest until the balance was reduced to nil. Any additional losses were attributed to the 
parent, unless the non-controlling interest had a binding obligation to cover these. Further losses incurred during 2010 within subsidiaries acquired prior 
to 1 January 2010 have been allocated to the non-controlling interest. Losses prior to 1 January 2010 have not been reallocated to the non-controlling interest. 

(b) Joint ventures 
The Group’s interests in its joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. These are entities over which the Group has entered into a contractual 
agreement with a third party to share control. The reporting dates of the joint ventures and the Group are identical and the accounts are prepared on the basis of the 
Group’s accounting policies. 

Under the equity method, the income statement reflects the Group’s aggregate share of the results of operations of the joint ventures. Where there has been a change 
recognised directly in the joint ventures’ other comprehensive income or equity, the Group recognises its share of any such changes. The investments in joint ventures are 
carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the joint ventures. 

When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture, including any other unsecured receivables that form part of the net 
investment in the joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture. 

(c) Associates 
The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. These are entities in which the Group has significant influence through 
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee and which are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures. The financial statements of the 
associates are used by the Group to apply the equity method. The reporting dates of the associates and the Group are identical and the accounts are prepared on the basis of 
the Group’s accounting policies. 

Under the equity method, the income statement reflects the share of the results of operations of the associates. Where there has been a change recognised directly in the 
associates’ other comprehensive income or equity, the Group recognises its share of any such changes. The investments in associates are carried in the statement of financial 
position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates. 

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables that form part of the net investment 
in the associate, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retaining investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying 
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retaining investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit and loss. 

Changes in accounting policies 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the adoption from 1 January 2010 of the following revised and 
improved IASs, IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations:  

IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ (revised 2008) – which makes significant changes to the treatment of acquisition costs and performance-related consideration 
and other contingent consideration relating to an acquisition and provides an option (the ‘full goodwill method’) to recognise 100% of the goodwill of an acquired entity, 
rather than just the entity’s acquired portion of goodwill, with corresponding increases to goodwill and non-controlling interests. The revised standard has been adopted 
prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after 1 January 2010. The adoption of this revised standard has resulted in acquisition costs 
on such business combinations being expensed in the income statement and classified as cash flows from operations in the statement of cash flows. Contingent 
consideration relating to acquisitions made in the year ended 31 December 2010 has been estimated at the date of acquisition; any subsequent revisions to these estimates 
will be recorded in the income statement. The Group policy is to present acquisition costs and changes in contingent consideration as exceptional items relating to 
acquisitions as they do not relate to underlying business operations. Further details of business combinations made in the year ended 31 December 2010 are given in 
Note 29.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued 

IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ (revised 2008) – which requires non-controlling interests (formerly minority interests) to be 
presented within equity which has been Group policy for several years. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted for as a 
transaction with owners in their capacity as owners and will not impact goodwill or give rise to any gain or loss. When there is loss of control of a subsidiary, any retained 
interest is remeasured to fair value, which will impact the gain or loss recognised on disposal. The revised standard also no longer restricts the allocation to non-controlling 
interests of losses incurred by a subsidiary to the amount of the non-controlling equity investment. The changes by the revised standard affect transactions with non-
controlling interests after 1 January 2010. It has had no effect on the financial position or performance of the Group, but it may lead to changes in accounting for 
subsidiaries in the future. 

Consequential amendments to IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates’ and IAS 31 ‘Interests in Joint Ventures’ resulting from the above amendments to IFRS 3 have also been 
adopted by the Group from 1 January 2010. 

Improvements to IFRSs 2009 – in April 2009, the IASB issued its second omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily to remove inconsistencies and to clarify 
wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each standard. The adoption of the following improvements resulted in changes to accounting policies but did not 
have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group: 

– The improvement to IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ states that only expenditure that results in the recognition of an asset can be classified as a cash flow from 
investing activities. As a result of this change (adopted from 1 January 2010) and the adoption of IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ (revised 2008), acquisition costs 
and payments of changes in contingent consideration on business combinations will be classified as operating cash flows, within ‘Exceptional items and charges to 
provisions’ and ‘Fair value adjustments of contingent considerations’ respectively. These transactions are detailed in Note 29. 

– The amendment to IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ clarifies that the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill acquired in a business combination is the 
operating segment as defined in IFRS 8 before aggregation for reporting purposes. The amendment, adopted from 1 January 2010, has no impact on the Group 
as the annual impairment test is performed before aggregation. 

Other amendments resulting from Improvements to IFRSs 2009 to the following standards did not have any impact on the accounting policies, financial position 
or performance of the Group: 

– IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’. 

– IFRS 5 ‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’. 

– IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’. 

– IAS 17 ‘Leases’. 

– IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’. 

– IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. 

– IFRIC 9 ‘Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives’. 

– IFRIC 16 ‘Hedge of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation’. 

The following standards and interpretations have also been adopted in the year ended 31 December 2010, but have had no impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group or presentation of the financial statements: 

– IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ – Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions (amendment), effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2010. The amendment clarifies the scope and accounting for group settled share-based payment transactions. 

– IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ – Eligible hedged items (amendment), effective for financial years beginning on or after 
1 July 2009. The amendment clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow variability of a financial instrument as 
a hedged item. This also covers the designation of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular situations. The Group has not entered into any such hedges. 

– IFRIC 17 ‘Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners’, effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The interpretation provides guidance 
on accounting for arrangements whereby an entity distributes non-cash assets to shareholders either as a distribution of reserves or as dividends. 

Foreign currencies  

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the income statement, 
except where hedge accounting is applied and for differences on monetary assets and liabilities that form part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation. These 
are taken directly to other comprehensive income until the disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognised in profit or loss. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Income and expenses are translated at 
the prevailing monthly exchange rate throughout the year. The resulting exchange differences are taken directly to a separate component of equity, which was reset to zero 
on first time adoption of IFRS. On disposal of a foreign operation, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is 
recognised in the income statement. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

2. Significant accounting policies continued 

Revenue  

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services, net of trade discounts, VAT, other sales related taxes, and after eliminating sales within the 
Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:  

For sales of services, revenue is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered by reference to stage of completion of the specific transaction assessed 
on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided. 

For sales of goods, revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and the amount of revenue can be 
measured reliably. Where sales consist of two or more independent components whose value can be reliably measured, revenue is recognised on each component as it is 
completed by performance, based on attribution of relative value. 

Events: Revenue is recognised upon event completion. Advance deposits are recorded as deferred income on the balance sheet. 

Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring: Revenue from news releases is recognised on message delivery. Revenue from subscriptions is recognised over the life of 
the subscription. 

Data Services: 
– Directories: Linage and advertising revenue is recognised on delivery of the directory and copy sales revenue is recognised on the sale of the directory.  

– Data services: Revenue from data subscriptions is recognised over the life of the subscription. Revenue from data projects for immediate delivery is recognised 
on delivery of the data. Revenue from data projects is recognised on a percentage completion basis over the life of the project.  

Online – Marketing Services: Revenue is recognised at the point of delivery or fulfilment for single/discrete services and over the life of subscriptions 
for subscription services. 

Print – Magazines: Advertising revenue is recognised on publication. Revenue from subscriptions is recognised over the life of the subscription. 

Interest and other income 

(a) Interest income 
Income is recognised as the interest accrues using the effective interest rate method; that is, the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through 
the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.  

(b) Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the payment is established. 

(c) Rental income 
Rental income arising from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term on ongoing leases. 

Goodwill and intangible assets 

(a) Goodwill 
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured as described in the subsidiaries section of the above basis of consolidation. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured 
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated 
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units. 

Details of the Group’s CGUs are provided in Note 12. 

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. The impairment 
review requires management to undertake certain judgements, including estimating the recoverable value of the CGU to which the goodwill relates, based on either fair 
value less costs to sell or the value in use, in order to reach a conclusion on whether it deems the goodwill to be recoverable. Estimating the fair value less costs to sell is based 
on the best information available, and refers to the amount at which the CGU could be sold in a current transaction between willing parties. The valuation methods are 
based on an earnings multiple approach. The earnings multiple approach uses transaction multiples, obtained from comparable businesses in the professional media sector. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects management’s estimate of return on 
capital employed required in each CGU which is subject to a value in use calculation. Management is assisted by the work of external advisors in calculating the fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use of its CGUs. Further details are given in Note 12. 

Any impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement and is not subsequently reversed.  

Where goodwill forms part of a CGU and part of the CGU is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. 
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2. Significant accounting policies continued 

(b) Intangible assets 
Website development costs relating to the application and infrastructure development, graphical design and content development stages incurred with third parties are 
recognised as assets and measured at cost. All other internally generated intangible assets, including internally generated software, are recognised as an expense in the year in 
which the expenditure is incurred. 

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.  

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are measured at cost or fair value at the date of acquisition less any amortisation and any impairment losses. Intangible assets 
are amortised over their useful lives as follows: 

 Useful Lives Method 

Brands 10 years Straight line 

Software 5–6 years Straight line 

Customer contracts and relationships 1–10 years Straight line 

Subscription lists 2–5 years Straight line 

Trademarks 10 years Straight line 

Databases 2–10 years Straight line 

Website development costs 3 years Straight line 

Useful lives are also examined on an annual basis and adjustments, where applicable are made on a prospective basis. The Group does not have any intangible assets with 
indefinite lives.  

Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less any depreciation and any impairment losses. Depreciation is provided on all items except freehold land. Depreciation 
rates are calculated so that assets are written down to the residual value in equal annual instalments over their expected useful lives, which are as follows: 

Freehold buildings and long leasehold property Up to 70 years 

Leasehold improvements Term of lease 

General plant, machinery and equipment 5–20 years 

Computer equipment 3–5 years 

Motor vehicles 3–5 years 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising 
on derecognition of the asset is included in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised. The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of the 
assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end. 

Impairment of assets 

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investments in joint ventures and associates and other investments are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For purposes of assessing impairment, assets 
that do not individually generate cash flows are assessed as part of the cash-generating unit to which they belong. Cash-generating units are the lowest levels for which there 
are cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets or groups of assets.  

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. Further details are 
given in Note 12. 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs (as calculated under the effective interest method) directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes 
a substantial period of time to prepare for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense 
when incurred.  

Inventories  

Inventories and work in progress are valued on the first in first out basis at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises materials and directly attributable 
production costs. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

2. Significant accounting policies continued 

Leases 

The Group does not have any finance leases. Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. 

(a) Group as a lessee 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(b) Group as a lessor 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as 
rental income. 

Financial instruments 

Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or 
available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
(derivative financial liabilities) or financial liabilities at amortised cost (borrowings and trade and other payables). 

When financial instruments are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, and in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, after taking 
account of directly attributable transaction costs. 

(a) Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An estimate 
for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off when there is no expectation of recovery. For more details 
refer to Note 18. 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, deposits and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Cash equivalents are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts 
which are shown within borrowings. 

(c) Trade and other payables 
Trade and other payables are recognised at original cost. 

(d) Borrowings  
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with the borrowings. After initial 
recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, and any difference between the proceeds and the redemption value is recognised in the 
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any 
discount or premium on settlement. 

(e) Other investments 
The Group classifies its investments at initial recognition as available-for-sale financial assets. Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated 
in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 
12 months of the balance sheet date. Listed and unlisted investments are stated at fair value except in respect of unquoted equity investments where there is no active 
market and where the fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case they are measured at cost less any impairment. Gains and losses on remeasurement to fair value 
are included in other comprehensive income until the investment is disposed of. 

(f) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities 
Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value at each balance sheet date. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current 
forward exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by reference to market rates of interest. 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments for hedge accounting, as either fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised 
asset or liability; cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or 
liability or a forecast transaction; or as a hedge of net investment in foreign operations. More details on the Group’s hedges are given in Note 21. 

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and 
the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. Such hedges are expected at inception to be highly effective and are assessed on an ongoing basis to 
determine that they have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated. 

For fair value hedges which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised in the 
income statement. Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and recognised in the 
income statement. 
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2. Significant accounting policies continued 

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as cash flow hedges of forecast transactions are recognised directly as other 
comprehensive income in the cash flow hedge reserve. Amounts deferred in this way are recognised in the income statement in the same period in which the hedged firm 
commitments or forecast transactions are recognised in the income statement.  

Net investment hedges take the form of foreign currency borrowings and forward currency contracts. All foreign exchange gains or losses arising on translation of net 
investments are recorded in other comprehensive income and included in cumulative translation differences. Borrowings and forward currency contracts used as hedging 
instruments in a net investment hedge are revalued at closing exchange rates. The resulting gains or losses are taken to other comprehensive income to the extent that they 
are effective, with any ineffectiveness recognised in the income statement.  

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that point in 
time, any cumulative gains or losses on the hedging instrument recognised in other comprehensive income are retained until the forecast transaction occurs, when they are 
transferred to profit or loss. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is transferred 
to profit or loss.  

Changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement as they arise.  

(g) Put option arrangements 
Put option agreements that allow non-controlling interest shareholders to require the Group to purchase the non-controlling interest are treated as derivatives over equity 
instruments in accordance with IAS 39. The options are initially recognised at fair value within derivative financial liabilities, with a corresponding charge directly to 
equity, recognised separately as put options over non-controlling interests.  

The fair value is based on the present value of expected cash outflows on forecasted future earnings, which would be payable on exercise of the option. Subsequent changes 
in the fair value of the liability are recognised as movements in the income statement within financing income/expense – other. 

(h) Equity instruments 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the fair value of the proceeds received net of direct issue costs. 

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income 
taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the owners of the Company until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently sold or 
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the 
owners of the Company. 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets 
A financial asset is derecognised where: 

– the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

– the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; or 

– the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

Where the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor 
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could 
be required to pay. 

Financial liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as derecognition of the original liability and recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the carrying 
amounts of the original liability and the fair value of the new liability is recognised in the income statement.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

2. Significant accounting policies continued 

Taxation  

Income tax represents both current tax based on taxable profits, and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent it arises from a 
transaction or event recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity or a business combination. Tax relating to transactions or events recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 

The calculation of the Group’s total tax charge necessarily involves a degree of estimation and judgement in respect of certain items whose tax treatment cannot be finally 
determined until resolution has been reached with the relevant tax authority or, as appropriate, through a formal legal process. The final resolution of certain of these items 
may give rise to material profit and loss and/or cash flow variances. 

The Group is a multinational Group with tax matters in many geographical locations. This inherently leads to complexity to the Group’s tax structure and requires 
estimation and judgement. The timing of resolution of issues is not always within the control of the Group and issues can, and often do, take many years to resolve. 
Payments in respect of tax liabilities for an accounting period result from payments on account and on the final resolution of open items. As a result, there can be 
substantial differences between the tax charge in the income statement and tax payments. 

The Group has an accrual for tax liabilities which is measured at the directors’ estimate of tax that may become payable. These tax accruals are estimates and the actual 
amounts and timing of future cash flows are dependent on future events. Any difference between expectations and the actual future liability will be accounted for in the 
period such determination is made.  

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements. However, if the deferred tax arises from initial recognition of goodwill (for deferred tax liabilities) or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for. Deferred tax is 
calculated using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. 

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by 
the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Retirement benefit obligations 

The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes and defined contribution schemes.  

For the defined contribution schemes, the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of employee service rendered during the accounting period are recognised as an 
expense in that period. 

For the defined benefit pension schemes, the liability for the benefits earned by employees in return for service rendered in the current and prior periods is determined 
using the projected unit credit method as determined annually by independent qualified actuaries. This is based upon a number of financial assumptions, the 
determination of which is significant to the balance sheet valuation. These are set out and discussed in Note 24.  

The following are charged to operating profit: 

– The increase in the present value of pension scheme liabilities arising from employee service in the current period. 

– The increase in the present value of pension scheme liabilities as a result of benefit improvements over the period during which such improvements vest; and 

– Gains and losses arising on settlements/curtailments. 

A credit in respect of the expected return on the schemes' assets and a charge in respect of the increase during the period in the present value of the schemes' liabilities 
because the benefits are one period closer to settlement are shown in the income statement as ‘financing income – pension schemes’.  

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they occur. They are recognised outside profit or loss and presented in other comprehensive income. 

Defined benefit pension surpluses are recognised where scheme rules indicate that such surpluses are recoverable by the Group in the form of either an unconditional right 
to refund if the scheme were to be wound up or reductions in future contributions. Surpluses are expected to be recoverable under all of the UK defined benefit pension 
schemes. The minimum funding requirement of the UK defined benefit schemes is included in the assessment of whether an IAS 19 surplus is expected to emerge. Future 
tax payable on surplus refunds is shown as an irrecoverable surplus. Adjustments to the amount of irrecoverable surplus are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
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2. Significant accounting policies continued 

Share-based payments 

Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for 
shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’). 

Equity-settled transactions 
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ to all grants of equity instruments made after 7 November 2002 that were unvested at 1 January 
2005. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the grant date of the equity instruments granted. The fair value is 
determined by an external advisor using the Black Scholes or Monte Carlo methods as appropriate, and takes into account any market vesting conditions or non-vesting 
conditions.  

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the periods in which the vesting conditions are fulfilled, ending 
on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (‘vesting date’). At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is 
calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period has expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions and 
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or, in the case of an instrument subject to a market condition or a non-vesting condition, be treated as vesting 
as described below. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date is recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity. 

No expense or increase in equity is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest. Awards where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition are 
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions (ie. vesting 
conditions) are satisfied.  

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. 
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of the entity or the employees are not met. 

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect is material, expected future cash 
flows are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, as appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

Provisions are estimates and the actual cost and timing of future cash flows are dependent on future events. Management reassesses the amounts of these provisions at each 
balance sheet date in order to ensure that they are measured at the current best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date. Any 
difference between the amounts previously recognised and the current estimates is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement. Further details are given 
in Note 23. 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities. Management continually evaluate these judgements, estimates and assumptions based on available 
information and experience.  

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity in order to apply the Group’s accounting policies are:  

– Unrecognised deferred tax assets – Note 9. 

– Identification of cash-generating units and assumptions used in annual impairment testing of goodwill – Note 12. 

– Assumptions used in determining retirement benefit obligations – Note 24. 

– Identification of intangible assets arising on business combinations – Note 29. 

The areas requiring management estimates are: 

– Current tax liabilities – Taxation accounting policy, Note 2. 

– Forecast EBITA used in annual impairment testing of goodwill – Note 12. 

– Provision estimation – Note 23. 

– Contingent consideration valuations – Note 29. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

2. Significant accounting policies continued 

Future changes in accounting policies 

The following revised IFRSs and IASs have been issued but are not effective for the year ended 31 December 2010 and are expected to impact the Group’s financial 
statements upon adoption: 

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ – the requirements of IFRS 9 complete the classification and measurement phase of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. Financial assets will be classified using a single approach to determine whether measured at amortised cost or fair value, 
replacing the many different rules under IAS 39. Liabilities will be measured in accordance with the existing requirements of IAS 39, but with a change for measuring own 
credit: an entity choosing to measure a liability at fair value will present the portion of the change in its fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk in other 
comprehensive income, rather than in the income statement. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of this new standard on the financial statements of the Group. 
The new standard becomes effective from 1 January 2013.  

Improvements to IFRSs 2010 – a further collection of minor amendments to a number or standards. Those which are considered to have a reasonable possible 
impact on the Group, although no impact on the financial position or performance, are: 

– IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’. 

– IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’. 

– IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Instruments’. 

– IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’. 

The following IASs and IFRICs have been issued but are not effective for the year ended 31 December 2010 and are not expected to impact the Group’s financial 
statements upon adoption: 

– IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ (amended) – transfer transactions of financial assets, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. 

– IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ (amended), effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. 

– IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ (revised), effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. 

– IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ – classification of rights issues (amended), effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010. 

– IFRIC 14 ‘The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction’ (amended), effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2011. 

– IFRIC 19 ‘Extinguishing Liabilities with Equity Instruments’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. 

3. Segment information  

Operating segments 

The chief operating decision maker (‘CODM’) for the purpose of IFRS 8 reporting is the executive management team – the Group Chief Executive Officer and 
the Group Chief Financial Officer. The Group operates in a number of different markets and communities and considers that presentation of financial results on 
a products and services basis is the most appropriate way to demonstrate the performance of the Group. For the purpose of resource allocation and assessment 
of performance, the CODM regularly reviews information based on the products and services at a revenue and adjusted operating profit (as defined in the footnote to the 
income statement) level. 

During 2010, UBM continued to reshape the business towards opportunities and attractive growth prospects – creating a range of quality products and services which 
help specific communities to do business effectively. As a result, the Data Services and Online reportable segment has been split into two separate operating and reportable 
segments: ‘Data Services’ and ‘Online – Marketing Services’. Decisions regarding resource allocation, strategy and financial performance for the Online – Marketing 
Services business are now distinct from those made for the Data Services business. Discrete financial information for each of Data Services and Online – Marketing 
Services is now regularly provided and reviewed by the CODM. The comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2009 has been restated to reflect the new 
operating and reportable segments. 

The Group considers there to be five reportable operating segments organised around products and services:  

– Events which provide face-to-face interaction in the form of exhibitions, trade shows, conferences and other live events. 

– Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring which operates in the targeting and distribution of company information and the evaluation of its impact 
on targeted audiences. 

– Data Services which provide a range of services including data-based workflow products, intellectual property consultancy and analytical services and sales 
lead generation programmes. 

– Online – Marketing Services which provides website sponsorships and banner advertising as well as online directory products; and 

– Print – Magazines which publishes magazines and trade press to specialist markets. 

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable segments. The Group’s management reporting and controlling systems use the accounting 
policies that are the same as those referred to in Note 2. 
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3. Segment information continued 

Segment measures 

The Group measures the performance of its operating segments through a measure of segment profit or loss which is referred to as adjusted operating profit. Adjusted 
operating profit represents operating profit excluding amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items, impairment charges and share of taxation 
on results of joint ventures and associates. This measure is reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of performance. 

Interest income, interest expense and income tax expense are not included in the adjusted operating profit measure which is reviewed by the CODM. Tax and treasury 
balances are managed centrally.  

Segment assets and liabilities are not regularly provided to the CODM. The Group has elected, as provided under IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ (amended 2009) not to 
disclose a measure of segment assets or liabilities where these amounts are not regularly provided to the CODM. 

Intersegment revenue is recorded at values that represent estimated third-party selling prices. 

With respect to geographical regions, revenue is generally allocated to countries based on the location where the products and services are provided. Non-current assets are 
disclosed according to the location of the businesses to which the assets relate. 

Year ended 31 December 2010 

 

External 
revenue

£m 

Intersegment 
revenue

£m 

Total
revenue

£m 

Depreciation 
(including 

amortisation  
of website 

development  
costs) 

£m 

Share of 
pre-tax 

results from 
JVs and 

associates
£m 

Segment 
adjusted 

operating 
profit/(loss)

£m 

Events 310.0 0.5 310.5 (4.5) 2.0 93.5 

Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring 181.2 0.4 181.6 (5.7) 1.0 42.1 

Data Services 184.7 – 184.7 (2.7) 0.3 34.1 

Online – Marketing Services 69.2 – 69.2 (1.0) – 1.3 

Print – Magazines  144.1 – 144.1 (2.1) – 10.0 

Total segments 889.2 0.9 890.1 (16.0) 3.3 181.0 

       

Corporate costs – – – (0.4) 0.3 (15.6)

Internal cost recoveries and sundry income – – – – – 6.4 

Eliminations – (0.9) (0.9)     – 

 889.2 – 889.2 (16.4) 3.6 171.8 

  

Amortisation of intangibles arising on acquisitions    (27.8)

Exceptional reorganisation and restructuring costs    (5.8)

Exceptional items relating to acquisitions    (5.1)

Share of taxation on profit in joint ventures and associates    (0.8)

Group operating profit      132.3 

Interest income      0.7 

Interest expense      (19.4)

Financing income      3.3 

Financing income – other      1.2 

Financing expense – other      (2.6)

Profit before tax      115.5 

Total corporate costs for 2010 were £15.6m (2009: £15.5m). The corporate costs are offset by internal cost recoveries from the Group’s operating businesses and by sundry 
income which is not attributable to any of the Group’s operations. 
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3. Segment information continued 

Year ended 31 December 2009 

 

External 
revenue

£m 

Intersegment 
revenue

£m 

Total
revenue

£m 

Depreciation 
(including 

amortisation of 
website 

development 
costs) 

£m 

Share of 
pre-tax results 
from JVs and 

associates
£m 

Segment 
adjusted 

operating 
profit/(loss)

£m 

Events 287.5 0.4 287.9 (3.6) 0.8 87.2

Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring 161.4 0.5 161.9 (4.2) 1.1 44.8

Data Services 179.1 – 179.1 (2.2) 0.1 37.3

Online – Marketing Services 53.8 – 53.8 (0.7) – 0.6

Print – Magazines  165.8 – 165.8 (2.1) 0.2 8.9

Total segments 847.6 0.9 848.5 (12.8) 2.2 178.8

  

Corporate costs – – – (0.4) 0.5 (15.5)

Internal cost recoveries and sundry income – – – – – 7.9

Eliminations – (0.9) (0.9) – – –

 847.6 – 847.6 (13.2) 2.7 171.2

  

Amortisation of intangibles arising on acquisitions    (26.8)

Exceptional reorganisation and restructuring costs    (16.5)

Impairment charge    (153.0)

Share of taxation on profit in joint ventures and associates    (0.7)

Group operating loss      (25.8)

Interest income      1.8

Interest expense      (14.8)

Financing income      6.9

Financing income – other      2.9

Financing expense – other      (6.7)

Loss before tax      (35.7)

Revenue by products and services 

Revenue from external customers analysed by products and services is given in the above segment tables. The Group’s reportable segments are organised around products 
and services provided to external customers. There are no revenues derived from a single external customer which are significant. 

Geographic information 

Revenues from external customers 

 

Year ended
31 December

2010
£m 

Year ended
31 December

2009
£m 

United Kingdom 129.4 129.6 

Foreign countries  

United States and Canada 413.8 386.7 

Europe 145.7 159.4 

China 112.2 101.4 

Emerging markets 54.4 40.3

Rest of the world 33.7 30.2

 759.8 718.0 

Total revenue 889.2 847.6 
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3. Segment information continued 

Non-current assets 

 
2010

£m 

As restated
2009

£m 

United Kingdom 262.3 236.6 

Foreign countries  

United States and Canada 684.3 437.9 

Europe 244.0 248.7 

China 29.1 15.2

Emerging markets 56.5 42.1

Rest of the world 6.9 6.6

 1,020.8 750.5 

Total non-current assets 1,283.1 987.1 

Non-current assets for this purpose consist of goodwill, intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, investments in joint ventures and associates and other investments. 

4. Other operating income 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Rental income 4.1 3.8

Other income 2.9 5.9

 7.0 9.7

5. Operating expenses 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Amortisation of website development costs (Note 13) 0.8 0.9

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 15.6 12.3

Employee costs (Note 6) 313.7 308.8 

Cost of inventories recognised as expense (Note 17) 14.2 8.1

Minimum lease payments recognised as an operating lease expense 29.4 24.8

Auditor’s remuneration 1.4 1.5

Publishing direct costs 89.2 86.8

Event production costs 123.9 109.1 

Cost of advertising and promotion 56.8 44.4

Other cost of sales and administration costs 83.0 92.1

 728.0 688.8 

Included within other cost of sales and administration costs is a charge of £4.9m (2009: £4.0m) in relation to the provisions for irrecoverability of trade receivables. 

Auditor’s remuneration 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0.3 0.3

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:  

Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 0.7 0.6

Other services pursuant to legislation 0.2 0.2

Tax services 0.2 0.4

 1.4 1.5

Details of the Group policy on non-audit work undertaken by the Group’s auditor is given in the Corporate Governance Report on page 68. 
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6. Employee costs 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Wages and salaries 257.3 257.2 

Social security costs 45.6 43.3

Directors and employees share-based payments 3.5 2.9

Pension costs – defined contribution plans 6.4 4.4

Pension costs – defined benefit plans (Note 24) 0.9 1.0

 313.7 308.8 

Employees  
The number of persons employed in the Group, including directors, was as follows: 

 
2010

Average 
2010 

Year end  
2009

Average 
2009

Year end 

Location     

United Kingdom 1,281 1,299 1,415 1,239

Americas 2,485 2,812 2,423 2,328

Europe and Middle East 729 723 747 736

Asia/Pacific 1,646 1,756 1,509 1,512

 6,141 6,590 6,094 5,815

Operating segments   

Events 1,320 1,463 1,099 1,058

Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring 1,057 1,084 1,062 1,051

Data Services 1,779 1,817 1,906 1,773

Online – Marketing Services 539 566 503 478

Print – Magazines  1,352 1,559 1,433 1,363

Corporate operations 94 101 91 92

 6,141 6,590 6,094 5,815

Directors’ remuneration 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Fees 0.6 0.6

Remuneration and benefits in kind 1.1 1.1

Bonuses  1.5 0.9

Contributions to pension schemes 0.1 0.2

 3.3 2.8

Details of executive and non-executive directors’ remuneration and their interest in shares and options of the Company are shown within the directors’ remuneration 
report in the sections ‘Directors’ remuneration’, ‘Directors’ pension provision’, ‘Awards under long term incentive plans’ and ‘Directors’ interests in shares’. 
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7. Exceptional items 

Exceptional items are presented separately as, due to their nature or for the infrequency of the events giving rise to them, this allows shareholders to understand better the 
elements of financial performance for the year, to facilitate comparison with prior periods, and to assess better the trends of financial performance. 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

(Charged)/credited to operating profit/(loss)   

Vacant property costs (1.1) (3.9)

Redundancy (3.0) (10.5)

Restructuring and business reorganisation costs (1.7) (2.1)

Exceptional reorganisation and restructuring costs (5.8) (16.5)

Acquisition costs on business combinations (6.1) –

Changes in estimates of contingent consideration 1.0 –

Exceptional items relating to acquisitions (5.1) –

Impairment of goodwill (Note 12) – (149.8)

Impairment of joint ventures and associates (Note 15) – (1.9)

Impairment of other investments (Note 16) – (1.3)

Impairment charge – (153.0)

Total charged to operating profit/(loss) (10.9) (169.5)

Charged to profit/(loss) before tax  

Fair value adjustment – early settlement of interest rate swap contracts – (6.7)

Credited to profit after tax  

Exceptional taxation net credit – 135.2 

Total credited to profit after tax – 135.2 

  

Total charged to profit for the year (10.9) (41.0)

(Charged)/credited to operating profit/(loss) 

Year ended 31 December 2010 
During 2010 the Group continued to manage its product portfolio actively, closing or exiting 13 print magazine titles and reducing the frequency of two others. 
The Group also made further progress in the restructuring of a number of its businesses, particularly within the Data Services business. The exceptional charge of £5.8m 
includes £3.0m relating to redundancy, £1.7m relating to restructuring and business reorganisation costs and £1.1m relating to vacant property. Of the redundancy and 
restructuring costs charged, £3.2m has been incurred in 2010 and the balance is committed to be incurred in 2011. The property costs of £1.1m relate to vacant property 
and other property costs, which will be incurred over the remainder of the lease terms. 

Following the adoption of IFRS 3 (revised 2008) from 1 January 2010, acquisition costs of £6.1m have been expensed, rather than included in the calculation of goodwill 
on acquisition as previously required by the standard. Of this cost, £3.3m relates to the costs incurred in respect of the acquisition of Canon Communications LLC. For 
the year ended 31 December 2010 a further exceptional credit of £1.0m has been recognised. This is a net credit relating to the revision of the contingent consideration 
estimates for acquisitions made in 2010. Details of the acquisitions made in the year ended 31 December 2010 are given in Note 29. 

Year ended 31 December 2009 
During 2009, UBM actively managed its product portfolio. This included the closure and merging of a number of print titles, and a headcount reduction of approximately 
500 people. The exceptional charge of £16.5m includes £10.5m relating to redundancy, £2.1m relating to restructuring and business reorganisation costs and £3.9m 
relating to vacant property. The redundancy and restructuring and business reorganisation costs were substantially incurred by 31 December 2010, and the amount 
relating to vacant property will be incurred over the remainder of the lease terms.  

Total impairment losses of £153.0m were recognised during the year, of which £149.8m relates to goodwill; details are given in Note 12. The carrying value of investments 
in joint ventures and associates and other investments were impaired by £1.9m and £1.3m respectively. 

Charged to profit/(loss) before tax 

Year ended 31 December 2009 
The fair value adjustment relates to early settlement of six interest rate swap contracts which were previously designated as cash flow hedges of expected payments under 
$300m of borrowing from the Group’s £325m variable rate multi option facility. Further details are given in Note 8. 
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7. Exceptional items continued 

Credited to profit after tax 

Year ended 31 December 2009 
As a consequence of the resolution of a large number of outstanding taxation items, in various jurisdictions, there was a net exceptional tax credit of £135.2m. Further 
details are given in Note 9. 

8. Finance income/(expense) 

 

2010
Before

 exceptional
£m 

2010
Exceptional

£m 

2010
Total

£m 

2009 
Before 

 exceptional 
£m 

2009
Exceptional

£m 

2009
Total
£m 

Interest income       

Cash and cash equivalents 0.7 – 0.7 1.8 – 1.8

     

Interest expense     

Borrowings and loans (18.2) – (18.2) (13.2) – (13.2)

Other (1.2) – (1.2) (1.6) – (1.6)

Total interest expense for financial liabilities not classified at fair value through 
profit or loss (19.4) – (19.4) (14.8) – (14.8)

Financing income     

Pension schemes 3.2 – 3.2 2.2 – 2.2

Foreign exchange gain on forward contracts 0.1 – 0.1 4.7 – 4.7

 3.3 – 3.3 6.9 – 6.9

Financing income – other      

Foreign exchange gain on forward contracts – – – 1.0 – 1.0

Ineffectiveness on net investment hedges (Note 21) – – – 1.6 – 1.6

Ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges (Note 21) – – – 0.1 – 0.1

Fair value movement on interest rate swaps 8.9 – 8.9 (1.1) – (1.1)

Fair value movement on £250m bond (7.9) – (7.9) 1.3 – 1.3

Ineffectiveness on fair value hedges (Note 21) 1.0 – 1.0 0.2 – 0.2

Other fair value adjustments 0.2 – 0.2 –  – –

 1.2 – 1.2 2.9 – 2.9

Financing expense – other     

Foreign exchange loss on forward contracts (0.2) – (0.2) – – –

Ineffectiveness on net investment hedges (Note 21) (2.3) – (2.3) – – –

Fair value movement on interest rate swaps (3.0) – (3.0) – – –

Fair value movement on $350m bond 2.9 – 2.9 – – –

Ineffectiveness on fair value hedges (Note 21) (0.1) – (0.1) – – –

Fair value adjustments – early settlement of interest rate swap contracts  
– – – – (6.7) (6.7)

 (2.6) – (2.6) – (6.7) (6.7)

     

Net finance expense (16.8) – (16.8) (3.2) (6.7) (9.9)

Foreign exchange gain on forward contracts within financing income represents realised gains on foreign currency contracts against profits of the overseas operations. 

The ineffectiveness on fair value hedges represents the difference between the fair value movement of the interest rate swaps designated as hedge instruments and the fair 
value movement of the hedged portions of the £250m fixed rate sterling bonds and the $350m fixed rate dollar bonds (Note 21). 

In December 2009, the Group settled early six interest rate swap contracts which were previously designated as cash flow hedges of expected payments under $300m of 
borrowing from the Group’s £325m variable rate multi option facility. Following the issue of the £250m fixed rate sterling bonds in November 2009, that $300m of 
borrowings was repaid. Three of the swap contracts totalling $150m were due to mature in January 2011 with the other three contracts totalling $150m were due to 
mature in July 2012. The early settlement resulted in a loss of £6.7m which has been included as an exceptional item. 

(Note 21) 
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9. Taxation 

Major components of income tax charge for the year ended 31 December 2010 are: 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Consolidated income statement  

Current tax:  

Current tax charge (22.7) (24.2)

Exceptional taxation net credit – 135.2

  

Deferred tax:  

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 6.6 6.5

Income tax (charge)/credit in the consolidated income statement (16.1) 117.5

  

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income  

Current tax – –

Deferred tax – –

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income – –

The amounts relating to current tax recognised in the statement of financial position are: 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

At 1 January 109.0 237.2 

Current tax charge 22.7 24.2

Exceptional tax net credit – (135.2)

Tax paid (62.1) (16.5)

Foreign exchange and other movements – (0.7)

At 31 December 69.6 109.0 

The Group does not expect the tax cash outflow in respect of this creditor in 2011 to exceed £10.0m. 

At 1 January 2009 the current tax liability of £237.2m included an assessment of the Group’s uncertain tax positions in various jurisdictions, including the dispute with 
HMRC in relation to the sale of the Regional Newspapers business in 1998 where the tax in dispute was estimated at £80m. During 2009 the Group resolved a large 
number of outstanding items in various jurisdictions. This included: 

(i) the dispute in relation to the sale of the Regional Newspapers business, for which a payment (including interest) of £36.4m was paid in March 2010; 

(ii) other UK issues for accounting periods up to 31 December 2007 for which a payment (including interest) of £10.1m was paid in March 2010; and  

(iii) other non-UK issues for which a payment of £3.0m was made during 2009. 

The £46.5m paid in March 2010 was included in the current tax liabilities at 31 December 2009.  

The amounts included in the current tax liability at 1 January 2009 in relation to these issues, over and above the amounts paid and payable above, were therefore released 
in 2009. As a consequence there was a net exceptional tax credit of £135.2m. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

9. Taxation continued 

Factors affecting tax charge/(credit) for the year 

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory tax rate to tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2010 is as follows: 

2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Profit/(loss) before tax 115.5 (35.7)

  

Profit/(loss) before tax multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in Republic of Ireland of 12.5% (2009: 12.5%) 14.4 (4.5)

Effect of:   

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 10.3 23.7

Tax effect of items not recognised in consolidated financial statements (11.5) (9.1)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences not recognised (20.0) (9.5)

Different tax rates on overseas earnings 25.3 19.3

Share of results from associates and joint ventures (after tax) (0.7) (0.6)

Non-taxable income (1.7) (1.6)

Exceptional taxation net credit – (135.2)

Income tax charge/(credit) reported in the consolidated income statement 16.1 (117.5)

The Group has assessed the impact of changes in tax rates in various jurisdictions in which it operates and has determined that the changes do not have a significant impact 
on the current or future tax charges. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax at 31 December 2010 relates to the following: 

 
Consolidated statement  

of financial position 
Consolidated 

income statement 

 
2010

£m 
2009 

£m 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Intangible assets acquired 48.2 26.0 (6.6) (6.4)

Other temporary differences 1.5 1.7 – (0.1)

 49.7 27.7 (6.6) (6.5)

At 31 December 2010, there was no recognised deferred tax liability for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries as the 
Group has determined that undistributed profits of its subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable future. 

The temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which a deferred tax liability has not been recognised amount in aggregate to £5.6bn (2009: 
£5.3bn). There are no income tax consequences to the Group arising from the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.  

The movement in the net deferred tax liability was as follows: 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Net liability at 1 January 27.7 35.2

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 29) 28.9 1.3

Amounts credited to net profit (6.6) (6.5)

Currency translation (0.3) (2.3)

Net liability at 31 December 49.7 27.7

The Group has unrecognised deferred tax assets of £76.8m relating to deductible temporary differences and £134.9m (of which £90.5m will expire between 2019 and 
2030) relating to unused tax losses (2009: £59.2m and £105.5m (of which £63.9m will expire between 2019 and 2029) respectively). No deferred tax asset has been 
recognised in respect of these amounts due to the unpredictability of future taxable profit streams. The Group also has unrecognised deferred tax assets of £55.4m (2009: 
£52.3m) relating to unused capital losses which can only be utilised against future capital gains. 
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10. Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the parent by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (reflecting the movements set out in Note 25). 

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the year (adjusted for the effects of dilutive options). 

The Group has one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares: those share options granted to employees where the exercise price is less than the average market 
price of the Company’s ordinary shares during the year. The impact of dilutive securities in 2010 would be to increase weighted average shares by 4.2 million shares 
(2009: 3.4 million shares) for employee share options. 

The weighted average number of shares excludes ordinary shares held by the Employee Share Ownership Plan (the ‘ESOP’) and the Qualifying Employee Share 
Ownership Trust (the ‘QUEST’).  

Adjusted earnings per share is calculated on adjusted Group operating profit (net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity shareholders, less amortisation of 
intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items, impairment charges, deferred tax on amortisation of intangible assets, taxation relating to exceptional items and 
net financing expense – other) divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Exceptional items, net financing expense – other, 
taxation related to exceptional items and deferred tax on amortisation of intangible assets are excluded from this calculation, as due to their nature and the infrequency of 
the events giving rise to them, separate presentation allows shareholders to understand better the elements of financial performance for the year, so as to facilitate 
comparison with prior periods and to assess better the trends of financial performance. 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations: 

 

2010
Earnings

£m 

2010
Weighted

average 
no. of shares

million 

2010
Earnings
per share

pence 

2009 
Earnings 

£m 

2009
Weighted

average 
no. of shares

million 

2009
Earnings
per share

pence 

Adjusted Group operating profit 171.8   171.2 

Net interest expense (18.7)   (13.0) 

Financing income 3.3   6.9 

Adjusted profit before tax 156.4   165.1 

Taxation (23.5)   (24.8) 

Non-controlling interests (8.6)   (6.6) 

Adjusted earnings per share 124.3 243.4 51.0 133.7 243.1 55.1

Adjustments     

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions   (27.8)  (11.4) (26.8) (11.0)

Deferred tax on amortisation of intangible assets 6.6  2.8 6.4 2.6

Adjustments in respect of non-tax exceptional items (10.9)  (4.6) (169.5) (69.8)

Tax exceptional item –  – 135.2 55.6

Net financing expense – other (1.4)  (0.5) (3.8) (1.6)

Basic earnings per share 90.8 243.4 37.3 75.2 243.1 30.9

Dilution     

Options – 4.2 (0.6) – 3.4 (0.4)

Diluted earnings per share 90.8 247.6 36.7 75.2 246.5 30.5

     

Adjusted earnings per share (as above) 124.3 243.4 51.0 133.7 243.1 55.1

Options – 4.2 (0.8) – 3.4 (0.9)

Diluted adjusted earnings per share 124.3 247.6 50.2 133.7 246.5 54.2
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

11. Dividends   

2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Declared and paid during the year  

Equity dividends on ordinary shares  

Second interim dividend for 2009 of 18.20p (2008 of 18.20p) 44.3 44.2

Interim dividend for 2010 of 6.00p (2009: 6.00p)  14.6 14.6

 58.9 58.8

  

Proposed (not recognised as a liability at 31 December)  

Equity dividends on ordinary shares  

Second interim dividend for 2010 of 19.00p (2009: 18.20p) 46.2 44.3

The proposed second interim dividend has not been recognised as a liability in these financial statements. 

Pursuant to the Dividend Access Plan (‘DAP’) arrangements put in place as part of the Scheme of Arrangement, shareholders in the Company are able to elect to receive 
their dividends from a UK source (the ‘DAP election’). Shareholders who held 50,000 or fewer shares (i) on the date of admission of the Company’s shares to the London 
Stock Exchange and (ii) in the case of shareholders who did not own the shares at that time, on the first dividend record date after they become shareholders in the 
Company, unless they elect otherwise, will be deemed to have elected to receive their dividends under the DAP arrangements. Shareholders who hold more than 50,000 
shares and who wish to receive their dividends from a UK source must make a DAP election. All elections remain in force indefinitely unless revoked. Unless shareholders 
have made a DAP election, or are deemed to have made a DAP election, dividends will be received from an Irish source and will be taxed accordingly. 

12. Goodwill 

Goodwill was historically recorded under the seven business units (UBM Technology, UBM Medica, UBM Asia, UBM Information, Commonwealth Business Media, 
RISI and Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring), which have comprised the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs), and represented the lowest level within the Group 
at which goodwill was monitored for internal management purposes.  

During 2008 and 2009, UBM reorganised the operations of UBM Technology, UBM Information and Commonwealth Business Media into a number of smaller 
business units, resulting in UBM Technology being restructured into four business units, UBM Information into three business units and Commonwealth Business Media 
into two. As a consequence of these actions, the Group identified 13 separate business units, of which 12 operate in a combination of Events, Data Services, Online – 
Marketing Services and Print – Magazines, with PR Newswire being the sole business unit involved in the Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring segment. However, 
during 2009, the seven historical business units remained the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill was monitored for management purposes. Goodwill was not 
sub-allocated to the three of the then reportable segments, being Events, Data Services and Online, and Print – Magazines. Accordingly the impairment review in 2009 
was performed at the level of the seven historical business units.  

During 2010, following further segregation of cash flows, each of the 13 business units was considered to comprise several individual CGUs to which goodwill is allocated 
and monitored by management. The goodwill previously recorded under the seven CGUs was allocated into 31 separate CGUs such that for each of the 12 business units 
(excluding PR Newswire), there is an allocation of goodwill across the relevant operating segments of Events, Data Services, Online – Marketing Services and Print – 
Magazines. It should be noted that not all business units are active in all segments. The allocation was based on an assessment of the relative fair values of the 31 CGUs to 
which the goodwill relates, determined using forecasted EBITA multiples that were considered appropriate for each sector and segment. 

For reporting purposes, the CGUs have been aggregated into the reportable segments, as shown in the table on the next page. The 31 CGUs have been individually tested 
for impairment in 2010. 

Goodwill and other assets held at 31 December 2009 have not been realigned to the Group’s reportable segments. 
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12. Goodwill continued 

31 December 2010 

 
Events

£m 

Targeting, 
Distribution 

and 
Monitoring

£m 

Data 
Services 

£m 

Online – 
Marketing 

Services 
£m 

Print – 
Magazines

£m 
Total

£m 

Cost       

At 1 January 2010 412.9 72.4 305.5 22.3 157.4 970.5 

Acquisitions (Note 29) 141.9 15.4 4.9 40.7 16.5 219.4 

Currency translation 5.7 1.7 (3.0) 0.7 0.7 5.8 

At 31 December 2010 560.5 89.5 307.4 63.7 174.6 1,195.7 

Impairment        

At 1 January 2010 13.7 – 11.1 – 125.0 149.8 

Currency translation 0.4 – 0.2 – 1.2 1.8 

At 31 December 2010 14.1 – 11.3 – 126.2 151.6 

Carrying value       

At 1 January 2010 399.2 72.4 294.4 22.3 32.4 820.7

At 31 December 2010 546.4 89.5 296.1 63.7 48.4 1,044.1 

31 December 2009 (as restated) 

 

UBM 
Technology 

£m 

UBM 
Medica

£m 

UBM 
Asia
£m 

UBM 
Information

£m 

Commonwealth
Business 

Media
£m 

RISI 
£m 

Targeting, 
Distribution 

and 
Monitoring

£m 
Total
£m 

Cost         

At 1 January 2009 300.3 321.5 19.7 212.9 104.1 5.0 75.7 1,039.2

Acquisitions (Note 29) (1.5) 3.4 2.5 0.4 (0.5) – 4.1 8.4

Transfer to joint venture (Note 29) – – (2.5) – – – – (2.5)

Transfers (0.2) – (4.6) 4.8 – – – –

Currency translation (29.9) (25.0) (1.9) (1.5) (8.9) – (7.4) (74.6)

At 31 December 2009 268.7 299.9 13.2 216.6 94.7 5.0 72.4 970.5

Impairment    

At 1 January 2009 – – – – – – – –

Charge for the year 47.0 67.0 – – 35.8 – – 149.8

At 31 December 2009 47.0 67.0 – – 35.8 – – 149.8

Carrying value   

At 1 January 2009 300.3 321.5 19.7 212.9 104.1 5.0 75.7 1,039.2

At 31 December 2009 221.7 232.9 13.2 216.6 58.9 5.0 72.4 820.7

The amounts shown for the year ended 31 December 2009 have been restated to reflect the finalisation of acquisition accounting adjustments relating to certain 
acquisitions made in 2009 (Note 1). 

Within the aggregate Events goodwill above, the Group considers the UBM TechWeb Events and UBM Live Events CGUs to be significant. The carrying value of 
goodwill attributed to these CGUs at 31 December 2010 was £168.9m and £292.5m respectively. Within the aggregate Data Services goodwill above, the Group 
considers the UBM Medica Data Services CGU to be significant. The carrying value of UBM Medica Data Services goodwill at 31 December 2010 was £196.0m.  
The Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring CGU as reported above is also considered to be significant. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

12. Goodwill continued 

Impairment tests for goodwill 

A summary of the goodwill allocation to the Group’s CGUs is given in the above tables. 

Management tests goodwill annually for impairment as at 30 September each year or more frequently if there are indicators that goodwill may be impaired. 
The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of a CGUs fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In calculating the fair value less costs to sell and value in use of its 
CGUs, management is assisted by the work of external advisors. 

The recoverable amount of a CGU is not re-computed annually by management if all of the following criteria are met: 

– the component assets and liabilities of the CGU have not changed significantly since the last recoverable amount calculation; 

– the previous assessment of recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount of the CGU by a substantial margin; and 

– based on an analysis of events that have occurred and circumstances that have changed since the most recent recoverable amount calculation, the likelihood that a 
current recoverable amount determination of the CGU would be less than its carrying value is remote. 

31 December 2010 

31 December 2009 
In 2009, management considered that three CGUs – Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring, UBM Asia and RISI – met all three of the carry forward criteria, and the 
results of prior year calculations of the recoverable amounts of these CGUs, based on fair value less costs to sell, were rolled forward for the purpose of the 2009 impairment 
test. Fair value less costs to sell testing was performed in 2009 for all other CGUs, with additional value in use testing performed for UBM Technology, UBM Medica and 
Commonwealth Business Media. 

Impairment charges recognised 

The impairment charges in respect of goodwill recognised in the consolidated income statement as a separate line item within operating profit/(loss) are as follows: 

Cash generating unit Segment 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

UBM Technology Print – Magazines – 47.0

UBM Medica Print – Magazines – 53.3

UBM Medica Events – 13.7

  – 67.0

Commonwealth Business Media Print – Magazines – 24.7

Commonwealth Business Media Data Services – 11.1

  – 35.8

  – 149.8

In 2010, the impairment charges recognised in the year ended 31 December 2009 have been allocated to each of the reportable segments. 

UBM Technology 
During the year ended 31 December 2009, the goodwill in relation to UBM Technology was impaired by £47.0m, mainly due to the continued decline in print revenue 
and operating profit within the technology sector. Over the past few years, UBM has actively managed the print magazine portfolio to adapt to the long term structural 
shifts in the media environment. A number of titles had either been discontinued, consolidated or the frequency of publication reduced, resulting in a significant decline in 
print-based revenue and operating profit, further accelerated in 2009 by the difficult economic climate. 

UBM Medica 
The goodwill in relation to UBM Medica was impaired by £67.0m during the year ended 31 December 2009. This was primarily due to reduced print magazine revenue 
and operating profit. A number of UBM Medica titles were discontinued in 2009, resulting in a significant decline in print-based revenue and operating profit, further 
accelerated by the reduction in General Practitioner advertising revenue reflecting the difficult economic climate. In addition, regulatory change in the US resulted in 
reduced spending by the pharmaceutical companies for Continuing Medical Education, which resulted in the cancellation of a number of planned meeting series.  

Due to the changes in the CGUs used to determine impairment losses detailed on the previous page, the above criteria have not been applied to the financial performance 
and position of the new CGUs at 30 September 2010. Fair value less costs to sell testing has been performed for all of the Group’s CGUs for the 2010 goodwill impairment 
test. Additional value in use testing has also been performed for three of the CGUs: UBM Medica Data Services, UBM TechWeb Events and UBM Aviation Data Services. 

Following the completion of the fair value exercise ('the acquisition accounting'), goodwill of £150.4m recognised on acquisition of Canon Communications LLC has 
been allocated to three CGUs: UBM Live Events (£97.3m), UBM Electronics Online – Marketing Services (£37.0m) and UBM Electronics Print – Magazines (£16.1m). 
The acquisition completed on 21 October 2010 and the acquisition accounting was performed subsequent to the annual impairment testing date. A further impairment 
review was not performed on these three CGUs as there was significant headroom on each CGU at 30 September 2010, and there are no indicators of impairment on the 
goodwill attributable to Canon. 
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12. Goodwill continued 

Commonwealth Business Media 
During the year ended 31 December 2009, the goodwill in relation to Commonwealth Business Media was impaired by £35.8m. As with UBM Technology and UBM 
Medica, the charge was mainly attributable to the decline in print magazine and print directory revenue and operating profit. Both magazines and directories within the 
trade and transportation sector were impacted by the long term structural shift away from print media towards digital and face-to-face media. This decline was accelerated 
in 2009 as a result of the difficult economic environment, particularly in the US.  

Financial results of cash generating units 

The table below shows the revenue and adjusted operating profit measures of each CGU tested for impairment in the prior year. The amounts are shown to provide 
additional financial information in respect of the financial performance of those CGUs and as a context for the reasons for impairment in 2009. The same measures for 
the Group’s reportable segments of Events, Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring, Data Services, Online – Marketing Services and Print – Magazines and are set out in 
Note 3. 

31 December 2009 

 

UBM 
Technology 

£m 

UBM 
Medica

£m 

UBM 
Asia
£m 

UBM 
Information

£m 

Business 
Media

£m 
RISI 
£m 

Targeting, 
Distribution 

and
Monitoring

£m 
Total
£m 

External revenue 162.2 178.7 117.6 154.1 58.2 15.4 161.4 847.6

Inter-CGU revenue – – 0.4 – – – 0.5 0.9

Total CGU revenue 162.2 178.7 118.0 154.1 58.2 15.4 161.9 848.5

Eliminations   (0.9)

Total revenue   847.6

   

CGU Adjusted operating profit1 15.1 28.4 39.7 38.5 10.5 1.8 44.8 178.8

Other corporate   (7.6)

Total adjusted operating profit1   171.2

1  Adjusted operating profit represents operating profit excluding amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items, impairment charges and share of taxation on profit in joint ventures 
and associates. 

Value in use impairment test 

The following key assumptions used by management for the value in use calculation for the above mentioned CGUs are considered to be most sensitive: 

Forecast EBITA 
Forecast EBITA used in the 2010 and 2009 tests is based upon the financial projections approved by management covering a five year period. The projections are 
determined by using a combination of past experience, long term trends, industry forecasts and management estimates. Management’s estimates and long term trends 
reflect the following factors: 

– The continued rebalancing of the product portfolio, away from print to digital and face-to-face media.  

– Margin improvements due to restructuring and business reorganisation plans, that have taken place during 2009 and 2010 within each CGU. Each restructuring 
programme aims to either rebalance the product portfolios to better meet the future needs of customers and audiences, or to ensure the support platforms and 
divisional structures are cost efficient. This was undertaken by a combination of cost reductions and investment in organic product development and acquisitions. 
The EBITA projections take into account these margin improvements and do not include any cash flows relating to restructuring not provided at the time of the 
annual impairment test. 

– Margin improvements due to significant investment upgrading the IT infrastructure within the Data Services business during 2010. 

Management has considered industry specific growth rates in their calculation of the five year EBITA forecast, together with expectations specific to the healthcare, trade 
and transportation, technology and aviation industries. 

Commonwealth 

The recoverable amounts for UBM Medica Data Services, UBM TechWeb Events and UBM Aviation Data Services were determined using value in use during 2010. 
The value in use tests for each CGU have been based on the estimated future cash flows which are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects management’s estimate of the CGUs weighted average cost of capital. Equivalent testing was performed in 2009 for UBM Technology, UBM Medica and 
Commonwealth Business Media. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

12. Goodwill continued 

Discount rate 
The discount rate for each CGU in 2010 is based on the risk-free rate for 20 year government bonds in the respective market, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect the 
increased risk of investing in equities, the systematic risk of the specific CGU and taking into account the specific territories in which the CGU operates. The increased risk 
of investing in equities is assessed using an equity market risk premium which reflects the increased return required over and above a risk free rate by an investor who is 
investing in the whole market. Management has used an equity market risk premium based on studies by independent economists and historic equity market risk 
premiums.  

The risk adjustment for the systematic risk, beta, of each CGU reflects the specific risk relating to that CGU relative to the market as a whole. This has been determined by 
management using an average of the betas of comparable companies within respective sectors. 

The discount rates used in the 2009 testing were determined as above but also adjusted to reflect the relative size of each CGU. In 2010, no adjustment has been made as 
this is already reflected in the cash flow forecasts.  

Perpetuity growth rates 
The cash flows for each specific CGU subsequent to the approved budget period are based upon the weighted average projected real gross domestic product growth rate in 
2014 of each of the territories in which the CGUs operate (2009: 2013). Growth rates for each territory have been weighted based on contribution to 2011 budgeted 
revenue (2009: contribution to 2010 budgeted revenue).  

The key assumptions for discount rate and perpetuity growth rate used in the value in use calculations are as follows: 

 2010 2009 

 
Pre-tax

discount rate 
Perpetuity 

growth rate 
Pre-tax

discount rate 
Perpetuity

growth rate 

  

10.5% 3.5% n/a n/a

11.5% 3.5% n/a n/a

11.9% 2.8% n/a n/a

UBM Technology n/a n/a 12.0% 2.5%

UBM Medica n/a n/a 12.6% 2.6%

Commonwealth Business Media n/a n/a 13.3% 2.3%

2010 sensitivities 
The table below shows the goodwill in each CGU tested under value in use, the headroom determined and the reasonably possible changes needed in isolation in each of 
the above assumptions that would cause the recoverable amount of each CGU to be reduced to a level comparable with its carrying value. Other than the changes in the 
table below, management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the above assumptions would reduce the headroom to nil.  

   
Change needed in assumption to reduce 

recoverable amount to carrying value 

 

Goodwill
30 

September
2010 

£m 

Headroom 
above 

carrying 
amount

£m 

EBITA  
five year 
forecast  

% 

Pre-tax 
discount rate 

percentage 
points 

Perpetuity 
growth rate 
percentage 

points 

196.3 36.2 (15.0) 2.1 (1.5)

167.9 16.5 (9.0) 1.5 (2.0)

 26.9 18.0 n/a n/a n/a 

 

UBM Medica Data Services 
UBM TechWeb Events 
UBM Aviation Data Services 

UBM Medica Data Services 
UBM TechWeb Events 
UBM Aviation Data Services
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12. Goodwill continued 

2009 sensitivities 
Following the impairment charge recognised in 2009, the estimated recoverable amount of the UBM Technology, UBM Medica and Commonwealth Business Media 
CGUs were equal to their carrying value at 31 December 2009. Consequently, any adverse change in key assumption would, in isolation, cause a further impairment loss to 
be recognised. The table below shows the (increase)/decrease in the aggregate impairment loss of a reasonably possible change in each assumption: 

 

UBM  
Technology 

£m 

UBM  
Medica 

£m 

Commonwealth 
Business Media

£m 

EBITA forecasts   

Decrease by 10% (19.0) (22.9) (7.5)

Increase by 10% 19.0 22.9 7.5

Pre-tax discount rate   

Increase by 20 basis points (3.8) (4.1) (1.3)

Decrease by 20 basis points 3.9 4.3 1.3

Perpetuity growth rate   

Increase by 0.5 percentage point  7.0 7.5 2.2

Decrease by 0.5 percentage point  (6.3) (6.8) (2.0)

Fair value less costs to sell impairment test 

The recoverable amounts of all CGUs have been determined using fair value less costs to sell. The estimate of fair value less costs to sell is based on the best information 
available and refers to the amount at which the CGU could be sold in a current transaction between willing parties. The valuation method is based on an earnings multiple 
approach using revenue and EBITA multiples obtained from comparable businesses and transactions in comparable businesses in the professional media sector. A discount 
to the multiples from the peer group has been applied due to the smaller size of the CGUs compared to the peer group. The multiples range from 0.1 to 3.3 for revenue 
and 0.7 to 12.3 for EBITA. 

The calculation uses actual sales and EBITA results for 2010 and forecast sales and EBITA for 2011, based upon financial budgets approved by management. Costs to sell 
are estimated to be 3% of the value of a CGU, based on experience of prior disposals by the Group. 

In the determination of fair value less costs to sell, the calculations of fair value are most sensitive to the precedent transaction multiples used. Based on the conditions at the 
balance sheet date, management determined that a reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would not cause an impairment to be recognised in respect of 
each CGU. 

In 2009, an impairment test for the UBM Information CGU was performed under the fair value less costs to sell methodology, as described above. The multiples ranged 
from 1.6 to 2.2 for revenue and 7.5 to 9.5 for EBITA. The calculation used actual sales and EBITA results for 2009 and forecast sales and EBITA for 2010, based upon 
financial budgets approved by management. Costs to sell were estimated to be 3% of the value of a CGU, based on experience of prior disposals by the Group. 

In the determination of fair value less costs to sell in 2009, the calculations of fair value were most sensitive to the precedent transaction multiples used. Based on the 
conditions at the balance sheet date, management determined that a reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would not cause an impairment to be 
recognised in respect of UBM Information. 
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13. Intangible assets 

31 December 2010 

 
Brands 

£m 
Software

£m 

Customer
contracts 

and
relationships

£m 

Subscription
lists
£m 

Trade
marks

£m 
Databases 

£m 

Website
development

costs
£m 

Total
£m 

Cost         

At 1 January 2010 115.9 5.9 80.8 1.9 1.8 18.9 3.4 228.6 

Additions – – – – – – 3.1 3.1 

Acquisitions (Note 29) 44.5 3.6 30.2 0.3 – 13.4 – 92.0 

Currency translation (0.3) (0.1) (0.5) – – 0.4 (0.1) (0.6)

At 31 December 2010 160.1 9.4 110.5 2.2 1.8 32.7 6.4 323.1 

Amortisation          

At 1 January 2010 47.6 2.7 55.4 1.7 1.0 6.9 2.7 118.0 

Charge for the year 12.9 1.3 10.7 0.2 0.2 2.5 0.8 28.6 

Currency translation (0.5) – (0.5) – – 0.1 – (0.9)

At 31 December 2010 60.0 4.0 65.6 1.9 1.2 9.5 3.5 145.7 

Carrying value         

At 1 January 2010 68.3 3.2 25.4 0.2 0.8 12.0 0.7 110.6

At 31 December 2010 100.1 5.4 44.9 0.3 0.6 23.2 2.9 177.4 

31 December 2009 (as restated) 

 
Brands 

£m 
Software

£m 

Customer
contracts 

and
relationships

£m 

Subscription
lists
£m 

Trade
marks

£m 
Databases 

£m 

Website
development

costs
£m 

Total
£m 

Cost   

At 1 January 2009 122.9 5.6 85.5 1.7 1.8 19.9 3.4 240.8

Acquisitions (Note 29) 2.8 1.0 1.7 0.3 – 0.5 – 6.3

Transfer to joint venture (Note 29) (0.6) (0.2) – – – (0.1) – (0.9)

Currency translation (9.2) (0.5) (6.4) (0.1) – (1.4) – (17.6)

At 31 December 2009 115.9 5.9 80.8 1.9 1.8 18.9 3.4 228.6

Amortisation    

At 1 January 2009 39.2 1.9 47.2 1.6 0.8 4.9 1.8 97.4

Charge for the year 11.4 1.0 11.7 0.2 0.2 2.3 0.9 27.7

Transfer to joint venture (Note 29) – – – – – – – –

Currency translation (3.0) (0.2) (3.5) (0.1) – (0.3) – (7.1)

At 31 December 2009 47.6 2.7 55.4 1.7 1.0 6.9 2.7 118.0

Carrying value   

At 1 January 2009 83.7 3.7 38.3 0.1 1.0 15.0 1.6 143.4

At 31 December 2009 68.3 3.2 25.4 0.2 0.8 12.0 0.7 110.6

Amortisation charges in relation to website development costs have been charged through operating expenses (Note 5). For intangible assets arising on acquisitions, the 
associated amortisation charge is included in a separate line item in the income statement since these charges do not form part of adjusted Group operating profit (as 
defined below the income statement). 

The average remaining useful lives for the brands and customer contracts and relationships intangible assets is seven years and five years respectively (2009: seven years and 
four years respectively). The average remaining useful lives for the other classes of intangible assets is seven years (2009: six years). 

The acquisitions amounts shown for the year ended 31 December 2009 have been restated to reflect the finalisation of acquisition accounting adjustments relating to 
certain acquisitions made in 2009 (Note 1). 
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14. Property, plant and equipment 

31 December 2010 

 

Land and 
buildings 

£m 

Plant,
machinery

and vehicles
£m 

Total
£m 

Cost    

At 1 January 2010 40.6 113.0 153.6 

Additions 5.3 10.7 16.0 

Acquisitions (Note 29) 0.3 1.8 2.1 

Disposals (0.1) (1.1) (1.2)

Currency translation (1.2) 2.8 1.6 

At 31 December 2010 44.9 127.2 172.1 

Depreciation    

At 1 January 2010 25.3 90.1 115.4 

Charge for the year 1.5 14.1 15.6 

Disposals 0.2 (1.0) (0.8)

Currency translation (1.4) 2.1 0.7 

At 31 December 2010 25.6 105.3 130.9 

Carrying value    

At 1 January 2010 15.3 22.9 38.2

At 31 December 2010 19.3 21.9 41.2 

31 December 2009 

 

Land and 
buildings 

£m 

Plant,
machinery

and vehicles
£m 

Total
£m 

Cost  

At 1 January 2009 43.2 113.5 156.7 

Additions 1.4 13.1 14.5

Acquisitions (Note 29) – 0.1 0.1

Disposals (2.3) (5.4) (7.7)

Currency translation (1.7) (8.3) (10.0)

At 31 December 2009 40.6 113.0 153.6 

Depreciation  

At 1 January 2009 27.2 89.4 116.6 

Charge for the year 1.6 10.7 12.3

Disposals (2.2) (4.8) (7.0)

Currency translation (1.3) (5.2) (6.5)

At 31 December 2009 25.3 90.1 115.4 

Carrying value  

At 1 January 2009 16.0 24.1 40.1

At 31 December 2009 15.3 22.9 38.2

Land and buildings at net book amount comprise: 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Freehold 0.7 0.7

Long leasehold 1.1 0.9

Leasehold improvements 17.5 13.7

Carrying value 19.3 15.3
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15. Investments in joint ventures and associates  

(a) Carrying amount 

 

 

Joint 
ventures

2010
£m 

Associates
2010

£m 

Total
2010

£m 

Joint  
ventures 

2009 
£m 

Associates
2009

£m 

Total
2009

£m 

At 1 January  12.9 4.1 17.0 14.7 9.1 23.8

Additions – 1.1 1.1 – – –

Acquisition of controlling interest (Note 29) – (0.3) (0.3) – – –

Share of profit after tax 2.5 0.3 2.8 1.9 0.1 2.0

Share of items taken to other comprehensive income – – – – (3.9) (3.9)

Dividends received (0.6) – (0.6) (1.5) – (1.5)

Impairment charge (Note 7) – – – (1.0) (0.9) (1.9)

Disposals (0.6) – (0.6) – – –

Currency translation 0.4 – 0.4 (1.2) (0.3) (1.5)

At 31 December  14.6 5.2 19.8 12.9 4.1 17.0

On 1 January 2010, the Group entered into joint venture arrangement with GML Enterprise (Thailand) Co., Limited to own a 49.0% interest in GML Exhibition 
(Thailand) Co., Limited, an events business in the defence and securities industries operating in Thailand. 

On 15 September 2010, the Group acquired a 36% equity holding in Beijing Zhong Wen Fa International Cultural Exchange Co., Limited, an industry events business, 
for cash consideration of $1.6m (£1.0m). Events organised include the China International Digital Content Expo (DigiChina). The Group accounts for Beijing Zhong 
Wen Fa International Cultural Exchange Co., Limited as an associate as it exercises significant influence through representation of two out of five members on the Board of 
Directors, participates in policy-making processes and provides essential technical information. 

On 29 November 2010, the Group disposed of the CMP Weka Verlag GmbH joint venture for total consideration of €2.0m (£1.7m). Profit on disposal of £1.1m has 
been recognised within Other operating income. 

Investments in joint ventures and associates at 31 December 2010 include goodwill of £7.6m and £6.8m respectively (2009: £8.3m and £6.0m respectively). Investments in 
joint ventures and associates include amortisation of intangible assets of nil (2009: nil).  

(b) Joint ventures 

The following represents the aggregate amount of the Group’s interests in joint ventures’ assets, liabilities, income and expenses: 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Current assets 7.1 7.5

Non-current assets 3.3 0.2

Current liabilities 2.6 3.2

Non-current liabilities 1.1 –

Income 8.8 11.5

Expenses 6.2 9.6

The principal joint ventures at 31 December 2010 are as follows: 

 Company Segment 
Type of

business 

Country of
incorporation
and operation 

Class of 
shares held 

Share 
holding/ 
interest 

Accounting
year end 

ANP Pers Support BV Targeting, Distribution 
and Monitoring 

News 
Distribution

Netherlands Ordinary 50.0% 31 December 

eMedia Asia Limited Events, Online – 
Marketing Services, 

and Print – Magazines

Exhibitions, 
publications 

and online

Barbados/Asia Ordinary 39.9% 31 December 

GML (Exhibitions) Thailand Co Ltd Events Exhibitions Thailand Ordinary 49.0% 31 December 

Guangzhou Beauty Fair Events Exhibitions China Ordinary 27.5% 31 December

Securex Events Exhibitions South Africa Ordinary 50.0% 31 December
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15. Investments in joint ventures and associates continued 

(c) Associates 

The following represents the aggregate amount of the Group’s interests in associates’ assets, liabilities, income and expenses: 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Current assets 8.9 10.0

Non-current assets 9.5 7.1

Current liabilities 9.1 10.3

Non-current liabilities 11.6 8.8

Income 35.6 36.8

Expenses 35.3 36.7

The following represents the summarised total financial information of the Group’s associates’ assets, liabilities, income and expenses: 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Current assets 46.0 52.8

Non-current assets 53.4 39.2

Current liabilities 48.3 54.8

Non-current liabilities 60.3 45.9

Income 187.5 195.9

Expenses 187.1 196.0

Details of the Group’s associates at 31 December 2010 are as follows: 

 Company Segment 
Type of

business 

Country of
incorporation/

Registration 

Class 
of shares 

held 

Share 
holding/ 
 interest  

Accounting
year end 

Axilog S.A. Data Services Publications France Ordinary 25.1% 31 December

Beijing Zhong Wen Fa International Cultural 
Exchange Co., Limited 

Events Exhibitions China Ordinary 36.0% 31 December

eXalt Solutions Inc Data Services Web-based 
sales services 

United States ‘A’ preferred 25.0% 31 December

Independent Television News Limited Corporate Operations Broadcasting Great Britain Ordinary 20.0% 31 December

PA Group Limited Corporate Operations News distribution Great Britain Ordinary 17.0% 31 December

16. Other Investments 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Unlisted shares 0.6 0.6

The unlisted shares are measured at cost less any provision for impairment as there is no active market for these investments and their fair values cannot be reliably 
measured. The Group classifies its other investments as available for sale. During 2009, other investments were impaired by £1.3m. 

17. Inventories 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Raw materials and consumables – paper stock 2.2 2.3

Work in progress 5.4 5.1

Finished goods and goods for resale 0.2 0.3

Total inventories  7.8 7.7

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to £14.2m (2009: £8.1m). 

The total write-down of inventories included in cost of sales is nil (2009: nil). 
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18. Trade and other receivables 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Trade receivables 143.5 121.9 

Less: provision for impairment on receivables (6.0) (4.7)

Trade receivables – net 137.5 117.2 

Other receivables 32.4 21.9

Prepayments and accrued income 34.2 27.2

Pension prepayments – defined contribution schemes 4.5 3.5

 208.6 169.8 

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows: 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

At 1 January (4.7) (6.9)

Provision for receivables impairment  (4.9) (4.0)

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible 3.7 4.3

Acquisitions – (0.4)

Currency translation (0.1) 2.3

At 31 December  (6.0) (4.7)

The creation of provision for impaired trade receivables have been included in ‘other cost of sales and administration costs’ in the income statement (Note 5). Amounts 
charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash. There is no provision for other receivables.  

As of 31 December 2010, trade receivables of £6.2m (2009: £4.7m) were impaired. The amount of the provision was £6.0m at the balance sheet date (2009: £4.7m). 
The ageing of these receivables is as follows: 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Under three months 2.2 1.4

Three to six months 4.0 3.3

 6.2 4.7

As of 31 December 2010, trade receivables of £29.2m (2009: £31.2m) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers for whom 
there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows: 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Under three months 20.5 25.9

Three to six months 8.7 5.3

 29.2 31.2

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. 

19. Financial assets 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Financial assets – non current  

Available for sale financial assets 0.6 0.6

Interest rate swaps 6.8 –

 7.4 0.6

  

Financial assets – current  

Forward currency contracts 0.1 0.3

 0.1 0.3
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19. Financial assets continued 

The Group classifies all its derivative financial instruments as fair value through profit and loss. The Group designates certain derivatives as either hedges of a particular 
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge) or hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net 
investment hedge). Further details are given in Note 21. The values of the derivatives are calculated by the external counterparties to the contracts and verified using present 
value of future cash flows at discount rates implied by the forward curve. The Group only enters into derivative contracts with major banks of high quality credit standing 
and with which it has a lending relationship. 

Cash and short term deposits 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Cash at bank and in hand 37.7  61.9 

Short term deposits 88.2  97.0 

 125.9  158.9 

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months and 
earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates. The Group classifies all its cash and short term deposits as loans and receivables. 

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2010 is £125.9m (2009: £158.9m). 

The majority of the Group’s surplus cash is deposited with major banks with rating of A (Standard and Poor’s) or A2 (Moody’s). 

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at 31 December: 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Cash at bank and in hand 37.7 61.9

Short term deposits 88.2 97.0

 125.9 158.9 

Bank overdrafts (Note 21) (0.1) (0.1)

 125.8 158.8 

20. Financial liabilities 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Current  

Forward currency contracts (Note 21) 0.1 0.4

Bank overdrafts 0.1 0.1

£75m floating rate reset bonds  75.0 –

Current instalments due on bank loans 0.2 0.2

 75.4 0.7

  

Non-current  

Interest rate swaps (Note 21) 3.0 2.1

Forward currency contracts (Note 21) 23.2 8.4

Put options over non-controlling interests (Note 21) 8.5 –

$350m fixed rate dollar bonds 2020 215.4 –

£250m fixed rate sterling bonds 2016 254.0 245.8 

£75m floating rate reset bonds – 75.0

Non-current instalments due on bank loans 65.8 64.2

 569.9 395.5 

The Group classifies all its derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss and its bank overdrafts, bank loans, fixed rate bonds and floating rate reset 
bonds as financial liabilities at amortised cost. The Group designates certain derivatives as either hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability 
(fair value hedge) or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge) or hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge). Further details 
are given in Note 21. The values of the derivatives are calculated by the external counterparties to the contracts and verified using the present value of future cash flows at 
discount rates implied by the forward curve. The Group enters into derivative contracts only with major banks of high quality credit standing. 
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20. Financial liabilities continued 

Put options over non-controlling interests 

Put option agreements that allow non-controlling interest shareholders to require the Group to purchase the non-controlling interest are treated as derivatives over equity 
instruments in accordance with IAS 39. They are recorded at fair value based on discounted cash flows models as no observable market data is available. The terms of the 
put options over non-controlling interests granted during 2010 in relation to Navalshore and Sienna Interlink are detailed in Note 29.  

Bonds 

$350m fixed rate dollar bonds due 2020 
On 3 November 2010, the Group issued $350m fixed rate dollar bonds at 98.295% of par. The bonds pay a 5.75% coupon on a semi annual basis on 3 May and 
3 November until maturity in 2020. The coupon of 5.75% would be increased in the event the Group’s long term credit rating were to be reduced below investment grade 
by either Standard and Poor’s (below BBB-) or Moody’s (below Baa3). The increase to the coupon would be 0.25% per ‘ratings notch’ per agency. The proceeds were 
primarily used to repay outstanding bank debt drawn to finance the acquisition of Canon. The Group entered into interest rates swaps so that $150m of the bonds has 
been swapped into floating rate US dollars, at a rate of US LIBOR plus 2.63% (further details in Note 21).  

£250m fixed rate sterling bonds due 2016 
On 23 November 2009 the Group issued £250m fixed rate sterling bonds at 99.384% of par. The bonds pay an annual interest coupon of 6.5% on 23 November until 
maturity in 2016. The coupon of 6.5% would be increased by 1.25% in the event the Group’s long term credit rating were to be reduced below investment grade by either 
Standard and Poor’s (below BBB-) or Moody’s (below Baa3). The proceeds were used to repay outstanding bank debt. The Group entered into currency and interest rate 
swaps so that approximately £150m has been swapped into floating rate US dollars, at a rate of US LIBOR plus 3.14% (further details in Note 21). The Group also 
entered into currency swaps so that approximately £100m has been swapped into fixed rate US dollars, at a rate of 6.34% (further details in Note 21). 

£75m floating rate reset bonds 
The bonds bear interest at six month LIBOR plus 0.68% until 26 September 2011. Thereafter the interest rate will be 4.70% plus a credit spread which will be reset every 
three years by auction. Bondholders may put the bonds back to the issuer, at par, on 26 September 2011 and on each triennial interest reset date thereafter. The Group may 
call the bonds at fair market value on interest payment dates from September 2011. If not put or called, the bonds will mature in 2028. Further details of the fair value of 
the bonds at 31 December 2010 are provided in Note 21. 

Bank loans 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

€53.1m floating rate reset loans 2012 45.5 47.2

£325m variable rate multi option facility 2012 20.3 16.8

Other 0.2 0.4

 66.0 64.4

€53.1m floating rate reset loans due 2012 
These loans bear interest at six month LIBOR plus 1.80% until 16 March 2012. Thereafter the interest rate will be 4.16% plus a credit spread which will be reset every 
three years by auction. Lenders may put the loans back to the Group, at par, on 16 March 2012 and on each triennial interest reset date thereafter. The Group may call the 
loans at fair market value on interest payment dates from March 2012. If not put or called, the loans will mature in 2024. Further details of the fair value of the loan at 
31 December 2010 are provided in Note 21. 

£325m variable rate multi option facility due 2012 
This £325m multi-currency unsecured revolving facility is repayable on 27 July 2012 and bears interest at LIBOR plus 0.325%. Drawings under the facility are as follows: 

Currency of borrowing 
2010

m 
2010 

£m 
2009

m 
2009

£m 

Canadian dollar 31.5 20.3 – –

Japanese yen – – 2,530.0 16.8

  20.3 16.8

The undrawn portion of this facility is £304.7m (2009: £308.2m). 
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21. Financial instruments 

An explanation of the Group’s financial instrument risk management objectives, policies and strategies and the Group’s policies on capital management are set out in the 
discussion of Treasury policies on pages 42 to 43 in the Financial Review.  

Fair values 

The table below compares the carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group’s financial instruments. 

 

Carrying 
amount

2010
£m 

Fair value 
2010 

£m 

Carrying 
amount

2009
£m 

Fair value
2009

£m 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 125.9 125.9 158.9 158.9

Available for sale investments 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6

Interest rate swaps 6.8 6.8 – –

Forward currency contracts 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.3

 133.4 133.4 159.8 159.8

Financial liabilities   

Interest rate swaps (3.0) (3.0) (2.1) (2.1)

Forward currency contracts (23.3) (23.3) (8.8) (8.8)

Put options over non-controlling interests (8.5) (8.5) – –

Bank overdrafts (0.1) (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)

$350m fixed rate dollar bonds due 2020 (215.4) (213.7) – –

£250m fixed rate sterling bonds 2016 (254.0) (268.6) (245.8) (255.0)

£75m floating rate reset bonds (75.0) (84.0) (75.0) (78.9)

€53.1m floating rate reset loans 2012 (45.5) (49.2) (47.2) (49.1)

£325m variable rate multi option facility 2012 (20.3) (20.3) (16.8) (16.8)

Other (0.2) (0.2) (0.4) (0.4)

Contingent consideration on post 1 January 2010 acquisitions (26.5) (26.5) – –

 (671.8) (697.4) (396.2) (411.2)

The variable rate multi option facility due 2012, the £250m fixed rate sterling bonds due 2016 and the $350m fixed rate dollar bonds due 2020 are subject to the hedging 
disclosed below. 

The fair values of interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts are calculated by the external counterparties to the contracts and verified using present value of future 
cash flows at discount rates implied by the forward curve. The fair values of put options over non-controlling interests and contingent considerations on post 1 January 
2010 acquisitions are based on discounted cash flows models as no observable market data is available. 

Market values have been used to calculate the fair value of the $350m fixed rate dollar bonds due 2020 and the £250m fixed rate sterling bonds due 2016. The fair values of 
the £75m floating rate reset bonds and the €53.1m floating rate reset loans are calculated by external counterparties to the debt. The fair value of cash at bank and deposits 
approximates to their book value due to their short maturity. For all other financial assets and liabilities the carrying amount has been used. 

The £75m floating rate reset bonds and €53.1m floating rate reset loans 2012 are subject to put and call options, as detailed in Note 20. Since the onset of the 2008/2009 
credit crisis, long term swap rates have fallen below the reset interest rates of 4.70% and 4.16%. This, combined with a material increase in market volatility, has increased 
the fair value of the bonds and loans as at 31 December 2010 to £84.0m and €57.3m respectively. If UBM exercises its call options and repays the instrument, the early 
unwind at the current valuation would result in a loss of £9.0m crystallising on the bond and €4.2m crystallising on the loans. Under IAS 39 the losses would be recognised 
as a financial expense in the income statement. 

From the 31 December 2010 valuation, assuming all other variables remain constant the fair value of the bonds increases by approximately £0.8m for a 0.1% fall in the 
17 year swap rate. 

From the 31 December 2010 valuation, assuming all other variables remain constant, the fair value of the loans increases by approximately €0.5m for every 0.1% fall in the 
12 year swap rate.  
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21. Financial instruments continued 

Fair value hierarchy 

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the 
degree to which the fair value is observable. 

Level 1:  quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2:  other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly (e.g. prices) or indirectly 
(e.g. derived from prices). 

Level 3:  techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data. 

31 December 2010 

 
2010

£m 
Level 1 

£m 
Level 2

£m 
Level 3

£m 

Assets measured at fair value   

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   

Interest rate swaps – hedged  6.8 – 6.8 –

Forward currency contracts – not hedged 0.1 – 0.1 –

 6.9 – 6.9 –

Liabilities measured at fair value   

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss   

Interest rate swaps – hedged  (3.0) – (3.0) –

Forward currency contracts – hedged  (23.2) – (23.2)

Forward currency contracts – not hedged (0.1) – (0.1) –

Put options over non-controlling interests (8.5) – – (8.5)

Contingent consideration on post 1 January 2010 acquisitions (26.5) – – (26.5)

 (61.3) – (26.3) (35.0)

During the reporting period ended 31 December 2010, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of 
Level 3 measurements.  

The fair value of interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts are determined by using valuation techniques as they are not traded in an active market. 
These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. As all the significant 
inputs required to fair value these instruments are observable, the instruments are included in Level 2. 

The fair values of put options over non-controlling interests and contingent considerations on post 1 January 2010 acquisitions are based on discounted cash flows models 
as no observable market data is available. The terms of the put options over non-controlling interests granted during 2010 in relation to Navalshore and Sienna Interlink are 
detailed in Note 29. The fair values of post 1 January 2010 acquisitions have been determined by reference to the projected financial performance in relation to the specific 
contingent consideration criteria for each acquisition (Note 29).  

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements:  

   

Put options 
over non-

controlling 
interests

£m 

Contingent 
consideration 

on post 
1 January 

2010 
acquisitions

£m 

At 1 January 2010   – –

Additions   (8.5) (26.5)

At 31 December 2010   (8.5) (26.5)
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21. Financial instruments continued 

31 December 2009 

 
2009

£m 
Level 1 

£m 
Level 2

£m 
Level 3

£m 

Assets measured at fair value  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  

Forward currency contracts 0.3 – 0.3 –

 0.3 – 0.3 –

  

Liabilities measured at fair value  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  

Interest rate swaps (2.1) – (2.1) –

Forward currency contracts (8.8) – (8.8) –

 (10.9) – (10.9) –

During the reporting period ending 31 December 2009, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of 
Level 3 measurements. 

Hedges 

Cash flow hedges 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Interest rate swaps – derivative financial liabilities – –

Forward currency contracts – –

 – –

Interest rate swaps 
At 31 December 2010 the Group had no interest rate swap contracts held as cash flow hedges. Cash flow hedges existing at 2009 had no material impact on other 
comprehensive income or profit and loss during 2010. 

At 31 December 2009, the Group held an interest swap contract designated as a hedge of expected payments under ¥2,100m of borrowing from the Group's £325m 
variable rate multi option facility. Under this swap contract, the Group will receive three month yen LIBOR and pay 1.13% until March 2010. This hedge was assessed to 
be highly effective at 31 December 2009 with the ineffective portion of the hedging contracts of £0.1m transferred to financing expense – other. The fair value of this 
derivative at 31 December 2009 was less than £0.1m.  

During 2009, six interest rate swap contacts which were previously designated as hedges of expected payments under $300m of borrowing from the Group’s £325m 
variable rate multi option facility were settled early in December 2009 following the issue of the £250m fixed rate sterling bonds and repayment of $300m of floating rate 
debt. The loss on early settlement is included within financing expense – other (Note 8). 

Forward currency contracts 
At 31 December 2010 the Group had no forward currency hedging contracts held as cash flow hedges. Cash flow hedges existing at 2009 had no material impact on other 
comprehensive income or profit and loss during 2010. 

At 31 December 2009, the Group had one forward currency hedging contract designated as a hedge of £0.6m of sterling equivalent customer receipts in US dollar. This 
hedge was assessed to be highly effective at 31 December 2009. The fair value of this derivative at 31 December 2009 was less than £0.1m. 
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21. Financial instruments continued 

Net investment in foreign operations 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Forward currency contracts – derivative financial assets 0.1 0.1

Forward currency contracts – derivative financial liabilities (23.3) (8.4)

 (23.2) (8.3)

At 31 December 2010 the Group held one forward currency contract of ¥1,940.0m (2009: nil) of which ¥700.0m (2009: nil) has been designated as a hedge of net 
investment in the Group’s UBM Japan business. Upon maturity of these forward exchange contracts in January 2011, the Group received £15.4m and paid ¥1,940.0m. 
These forward currency contracts were being used to hedge the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk on these investments. 

At 31 December 2010 the Group held four cross currency interest rate swaps designated as hedges of the net investment in the Group US Technology and Global Trade 
and PR Newswire businesses. Under two of the contracts totalling $166.7m the Group will pay annual interest of 6.336% and receive annual interest of 6.5% on £100.0m 
until 23 November 2016. Under the other two contracts totalling $250.1m the Group will pay annual interest of US LIBOR plus 3.14% and receive sterling LIBOR plus 
2.90% on £150m until 23 November 2016. 

Included in borrowings at 31 December 2010 was a borrowing of $350.0m (2009: nil) with a fair value of $334.6m (2009: nil) of which $318.2m (2009: nil) has been 
designated as a hedge of the net investment in UBM Asia and UBM Canon businesses and is being used to hedge the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk on these 
investments.  

Included in borrowings at 31 December 2009 was a borrowing of ¥2,100.0m with a fair value of ¥2,100.0m of which ¥1,100.0m has been designated as a hedge of the net 
investment in the Japanese subsidiaries and is being used to hedge the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk on this investment.  

At 31 December 2009 the Group held two forward currency contracts designated as hedges of $43m of net investment in the United States operations within the Group’s 
PR Newswire business. Upon maturity of these forward exchange contracts in January 2010, the Group received £26.7m and paid $43.0m. These forward currency 
contracts were being used to hedge the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk on these investments. 

At 31 December 2009 the Group held four cross currency interest rate swaps designated as hedges of the net investment in the Group US Technology and Global Trade 
businesses. Under two of the contracts totalling $166.7m the Group will pay annual interest of 6.336% and receive annual interest of 6.5% on £100.0m until 23 November 
2016. Under the other two contracts totalling $250.1m the Group will pay annual interest of US LIBOR plus 3.14% and receive sterling LIBOR plus 2.90% on £150m 
until 23 November 2016. 

Gains or losses on the retranslation of these borrowings and the mark to market of the forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps are transferred to other 
comprehensive income to offset any gains or losses on translation of the net investment in these subsidiaries. These hedges were assessed to be highly effective at 31 
December 2010 and 2009 with the ineffective portion of the hedging contracts transferred to financing expense – other (Note 8). 

Fair value hedges 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Interest rate swaps – derivative financial assets 6.8 –

Interest rate swaps – derivative financial liabilities (3.0) (2.1)

 3.8 (2.1)

Interest rate swap valuations at 31 December 2010 include floating rate swaps for £150m matched against £150m of the £250m fixed rate sterling bonds 2016 and $150m 
matched against $150m of the $350m fixed rate dollar bonds 2020. Under these swaps the Group receives 6.50% and 5.75% respectively to match the bond coupons and 
pays six month sterling LIBOR plus 2.90% and six month US LIBOR plus an average of 2.63% respectively. The interest rate swaps are used to increase the Group’s 
exposure to interest rates to maintain a balance of fixed and floating interest rate cost. The hedges were assessed to be highly effective at 31 December 2010 with the 
ineffective portions of the hedging contracts transferred to financing income – other and financing expense – other respectively.  
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21. Financial instruments continued 

Interest rate risk 

The following tables set out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk: 

31 December 2010 

 

Within
1 year

£m 

Between
1 – 2 years

£m 

Between
2 – 3 years

£m 

Between 
3 – 4 years 

£m 

Between 
4 – 5 years 

£m 

Over
5 years

£m 
Total

£m 

Fixed rate        

Forward exchange contracts – – – – – (9.1) (9.1)

$350m fixed rate dollar bonds 2020 – – – – – (124.7) (124.7)

£250m fixed rate sterling bonds 2016 – – – – – (99.0) (99.0)

 – – – – – (232.8) (232.8)

        

Floating rate        

Cash 125.9 – – – – – 125.9 

Bank overdraft (0.1) – – – – – (0.1)

Interest rate swaps – – – – – 3.8 3.8 

Forward exchange contracts – – – – – (14.1) (14.1)

$350m fixed rate dollar bonds 2020 – – – – – (90.7) (90.7)

£250m fixed rate sterling bonds 2016 – – – – – (155.0) (155.0)

£75m floating rate reset bonds (75.0) – – – – – (75.0)

€53.1m floating rate reset loans 2012 – (45.5) – – – – (45.5)

£325m variable rate multi option facility 2012 – (20.3) – – – – (20.3)

Other (0.2) – – – – – (0.2)

 50.6 (65.8) – – – (256.0) (271.2)

Interest on financial instruments classified as floating rate is repriced at set intervals of less than one year. The effect of the interest rate swaps is discussed below. 

31 December 2009 

 

Within
1 year

£m 

Between
1 – 2 years

£m 

Between
2 – 3 years

£m 

Between 
3 – 4 years 

£m 

Between 
4 – 5 years 

£m 

Over
5 years

£m 
Total
£m 

Fixed rate   

Forward exchange contracts – – – – – (3.5) (3.5)

£250m fixed rate sterling bonds 2016 – – – – – (98.8) (98.8)

 – – – – – (102.3) (102.3)

   

Floating rate   

Cash 158.9 – – – – – 158.9

Bank overdraft (0.1) – – – – – (0.1)

Interest rate swaps – – – – – (2.1) (2.1)

Forward exchange contracts – – – – – (4.9) (4.9)

£250m fixed rate sterling bonds 2016 – – – – – (147.0) (147.0)

£75m floating rate reset bonds – (75.0) – – – – (75.0)

€53.1m floating rate reset loans 2012 – – (47.2) – – – (47.2)

£325m variable rate multi option facility 2012 – – (16.8) – – – (16.8)

Other (0.2) (0.2) – – – – (0.4)

 158.6 (75.2) (64.0) – – (154.0) (134.6)
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21. Financial instruments continued 

The following table demonstrates the impact on the Group’s profit before tax to possible changes in interest rates, with all other variables held constant.  

 

2010 

 

Increase in 
basis points 

Effect on 
profit 

before tax
£m 

Gains/(losses)
recorded in

equity
£m 

Sterling 100 (0.7) – 

US dollar 100 0.6 – 

Euro 100 (0.4) – 

Japanese yen 100 – – 

Canadian dollar 100 (0.2) – 

A decrease in equivalent basis points would result in the exact opposite effect on profit before tax. In 2009 the Group put in place £150m of fair value interest rate swaps to 
increase the exposure to interest rates following the issuance of the £250m fixed rate sterling bonds. In 2010 the Group put in place $150m of fair value interest rate swaps 
to increase the exposure to interest rates following the issuance of the $350m fixed rate US dollar bonds. Fair value swaps do not impact gains/(losses) recorded in equity. 

2009 

 

Increase in  
basis points 

 

Effect on loss 
before tax

£m 

Gains/(losses)
recorded in

equity
£m 

Sterling 100 0.2 –

US dollar 100 1.1 –

Euro 100 0.4 –

Japanese yen 100 – –

Canadian dollar 100 – –

Cash flow interest rate hedges remove some of the exposure to interest rates from the floating rate borrowings. During 2009, the Group had cash flow hedges averaging 
£188.9m of the amount borrowed from the £325m revolving credit facility. The impact of the cash flow hedges was to fix floating rate borrowings at an average of 2.96%, 
excluding borrowing margin. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group 
manages its credit risk in relation to its operating activities (trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions 
and other financial instruments. 

Credit risk related to financial instruments and cash deposits 
The following financial instruments and cash deposits are exposed to credit risk: 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Cash at bank and in hand 37.7 61.9

Short term deposits 88.2 97.0

Interest rate swaps 6.8 –

Forward currency contracts 0.1 0.3

 132.8 159.2 

The Group deposits surplus cash only with major banks of high quality credit standing. The Group enters into derivative contracts only with major banks of high quality 
credit standing. The maximum credit risk associated with the Group’s financial instruments and cash deposits is equal to their carrying value as set out in Note 19. 

Trade receivables 
Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures and controls relating to customer credit management. Credit 
limits are established for all customers and are based inter alia on bank references and credit checks. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored. 

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group’s customer base being large and unrelated. The maximum credit risk associated 
with the Group’s trade receivables is equal to their carrying value as set out in Note 18. 



S
e
c
tio

n
 1

: 2
0
1
0
 R

e
v
ie

w

„

S
e
c
tio

n
 2

: G
o

v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

„

S
e
c
tio

n
 3

: F
in

a
n
c
ia

l s
ta

te
m

e
n
ts

„

United Business Media Annual Report and Accounts 2010 115

 

21. Financial instruments continued 

Foreign currency risk 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a possible change in the US dollar, euro, Japanese yen and Canadian dollar exchange rates, with all other variables held 
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities and forward currency contracts and the Group’s equity due to 
changes in the fair value of forward currency hedges and net investment hedges. 

31 December 2010 

 

Currency 
value 

falls by 

Effect on
profit

before tax
£m 

Gains
recorded
in equity

£m 

US dollar 10% (1.9) 44.8 

Euro 10% 0.3 – 

Japanese yen 10% (1.1) 0.5 

Canadian dollar 10% (0.1) 0.3 

31 December 2009 

 

Currency 
value 

falls by 

Effect on
loss

before tax
£m 

Gains
recorded
in equity

£m 

US dollar 10% – 28.7

Euro 10% 1.1 –

Japanese yen 10% (0.9) 1.0

Canadian dollar 10% – –

Liquidity risk 

The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009. 

31 December 2010 

 

 

On
demand

£m 

Due within
1 year

£m 

Due between 
1 and 5 years  

£m 

Due 5 years
and beyond

£m 

 

Total
£m 

Bank overdrafts (0.1) – – – (0.1)

Derivative financial liabilities – 2.0 (3.4) (30.3) (31.7)

Put options over non-controlling interests – – (1.4) (7.1) (8.5)

$350m fixed rate dollar bonds 2020 – (12.8) (51.4) (287.8) (352.0)

£250m fixed rate sterling bonds 2016 – (16.3) (65.0) (266.3) (347.6)

£75m floating rate reset bonds – (76.5) –  – (76.5)

€53.1m floating rate reset loans 2012 – (1.4) (46.3) – (47.7)

£325m variable rate multi option facility 2012 – (0.5) (20.4) – (20.9)

Other – (0.2) – – (0.2)

Trade payables – (51.3) – – (51.3)

Other payables – (35.0) (1.6) – (36.6)

Contingent and deferred consideration – (21.6) (19.4) – (41.0)

 (0.1) (213.6) (208.9) (591.5) (1,014.1)
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21. Financial instruments continued 

31 December 2009 

 

 

On
demand

£m 

Due within
1 year

£m 

Due between 
1 and 5 years  

£m 

Due 5 years
and beyond

£m 

 

Total
£m 

Bank overdrafts (0.1) – – – (0.1)

Derivative financial liabilities – 1.7 (3.8) (8.3) (10.4)

£250m fixed rate sterling bonds 2016 – (16.3) (65.0) (280.9) (362.2)

£75m floating rate reset bonds – (1.6) (76.6) – (78.2)

€53.1m floating rate reset loans 2012 – (1.5) (49.7) – (51.2)

£325m variable rate multi option facility 2012 – (0.2) (17.0) – (17.2)

Other – (0.2) (0.2) – (0.4)

Trade payables – (52.4) – – (52.4)

Other payables – (33.5) (2.0) – (35.5)

Contingent and deferred consideration – (14.3) (10.8) – (25.1)

 (0.1) (118.3) (225.1) (289.2) (632.7)

The above tables include an estimate of interest on the Group’s financial liabilities based on the forward interest rate curve and assume the liabilities are in place until their 
maturity dates.  

 

The table below is an analysis of movement in net debt: 

 

1 January
2010

£m 

Non-cash
items

£m 
Cash flow 

£m 

Exchange
movement

£m 

31 December
2010

£m 

Cash and cash equivalents 158.9 – (38.6) 5.6 125.9 

Bank overdrafts (0.1) – – – (0.1)

Net cash 158.8 – (38.6) 5.6 125.8 

Bank loans due in less than one year (0.2) – – – (0.2)

Loan notes due in less than one year – (75.0) – – (75.0)

Bank loans due in more than one year (64.2) – (4.4) 2.8 (65.8)

Loan notes due in more than one year (320.8) 69.5 (214.2) (3.9) (469.4)

Net debt (226.4) (5.5) (257.2) 4.5 (484.6)

 

 

1 January
2009

£m 

Non-cash
items

£m 
Cash flow 

£m 

Exchange
movement

£m 

 31 December 
2009

£m 

Cash and cash equivalents 172.4 – (6.2) (7.3) 158.9

Bank overdrafts (3.7) – 3.6 – (0.1)

Net cash 168.7 – (2.6) (7.3) 158.8

Bank loans due in less than one year (50.9) – 47.0 3.7 (0.2)

Loan notes due in less than one year (3.9) – 3.5 0.4 –

Bank loans due in more than one year (299.3) – 204.0 31.1 (64.2)

Loan notes due in more than one year (75.0) 1.3 (247.1) – (320.8)

Net debt (260.4) 1.3 4.8 27.9 (226.4)
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22. Trade and other payables 

 
2010

£m 

As restated
2009

£m 

Current  

Trade payables 51.3 52.4

Other payables 35.0 33.5

Contingent and deferred consideration (Note 29) 21.6 14.3

Other taxes and social security 13.2 12.5

Accruals and deferred income 257.3 202.9

 378.4 315.6

Non-current  

Other payables 1.6 2.0

Contingent and deferred consideration (Note 29) 19.4 10.8

Accruals and deferred income 1.3 0.1

 22.3 12.9

Trade payables and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade 
payables approximates to their fair value. 

The amounts shown for the year ended 31 December 2009 have been restated to reflect the finalisation of acquisition accounting adjustments relating to certain 
acquisitions made in 2009 (Note 1). 
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23. Provisions  

 

Reorganisation
and

restructuring
£m 

Properties
£m 

Former 
financial 
services 

£m 

Prior
period

disposals
£m 

Total
£m 

At 1 January 2010 9.8 35.1 0.1 5.0 50.0 

Arising during the year 4.6 1.2 – – 5.8 

Acquisitions (Note 29) 0.5 1.3 – – 1.8 

Utilised in the year (12.6) (11.2) (0.1) (0.5) (24.4)

Net present value accretion – 1.0 – – 1.0 

Currency translation 0.3 0.6 – – 0.9 

At 31 December 2010 2.6 28.0 – 4.5 35.1 

      

Current 2.6 10.3 – – 12.9 

Non-current – 17.7 – 4.5 22.2 

At 31 December 2010 2.6 28.0 – 4.5 35.1 

 

 

Reorganisation
and

restructuring
£m 

Properties
£m 

Former 
financial 
services 

£m 

Prior
period

disposals
£m 

Total
£m 

At 1 January 2009 20.6 46.5 0.7 10.8 78.6

Arising during the year 12.5 3.7 – – 16.2

Utilised in the year (22.0) (12.9) (0.6) (5.8) (41.3)

Net present value accretion – 1.2 – – 1.2

Currency translation (1.3) (3.4) – – (4.7)

At 31 December 2009 9.8 35.1 0.1 5.0 50.0

  

Current 9.8 12.5 0.1 1.0 23.4

Non-current – 22.6 –  4.0 26.6

At 31 December 2009 9.8 35.1 0.1 5.0 50.0

Provisions recognised by the Group are based on reliable estimates determined by management of the amounts payable based on available information. The amounts 
recorded in the above tables are continually evaluated by management. 

Liabilities for reorganisation and restructuring 

As discussed in Note 7, the Group has implemented a number of restructuring and reorganisation projects. With the exception of amounts relating to vacant 
properties (see liabilities on properties below), the provision is expected to be substantially utilised within one year. 

Liabilities on properties 

The Group has lease obligations in respect of the continuing costs of vacant property, the quantification of which depends upon the ability to exit the leases early or 
sublet the properties, and for dilapidations on certain leasehold properties which are dependent principally on actual reinstatement costs on expiry of the leases. 
The provision in respect of these obligations at 31 December 2010 has been determined following external professional advice and will be utilised over the period of 
the leases in question, which range from one to five years. The provision is discounted at an appropriate cost of capital. 

The amounts discussed under liabilities for reorganisation and restructuring relating to vacant property have been included within liabilities on property. 

Liabilities arising from former financial services activities 

A subsidiary of the Group was formerly engaged in the selling of personal pensions prior to 1996. As a result of the industry-wide review into pension mis-selling 
by the Personal Investment Authority, the Group was exposed to actual and potential future claims by investors in respect of policies found to have been mis-sold. 
The provision was been fully utilised during the year. 

Liabilities relating to disposals in prior periods 

The Group has made a number of disposals of businesses in prior years. Warranty and other claims may be brought against the Group in relation to these disposed 
businesses generally over periods of up to seven years after the date of disposal. The provision in respect of these items has been determined based upon the contract 
terms of each disposal and are reassessed on an annual basis over the period during which claims may be brought against the Group. 
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24. Retirement benefit obligations 

The Group operates a number of funded defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes in the UK and overseas. The charge for the year in relation to 
defined contribution schemes was £6.4m (2009: £4.4m).  

The defined benefit pension schemes included in the following disclosures are: 

(i) UK schemes: the United Pension Plan, the United Magazines Final Salary Scheme, the defined benefit section of the United Group Pension Scheme 
(‘UGPS’), the United Newspapers Executive Pension Scheme and the OAG Pension Scheme (which was transferred to the UGPS on 8 September 2010); 

(ii) US schemes: the CMP Media LLC Cash Balance Retirement Plan and the CMP Post Retirement Medical Plan; and  

(iii) Retirement Indemnity Plans in France. 

The most recent actuarial funding valuations for the majority of the UK scheme liabilities were carried out in 2008 and updated to 31 December 2010 by independent 
qualified actuaries using the projected unit credit method. 

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows: 

 

UK 
Schemes 

2010
£m 

Other 
Schemes

2010
£m 

Total
2010

£m 

UK  
Schemes 

2009 
£m 

Other 
Schemes

2009
£m 

Total
2009

£m 

Fair value of plan assets 440.8 26.0 466.8 415.6 23.6 439.2

Benefit obligation (441.7) (32.9) (474.6) (431.1) (32.2) (463.3)

Irrecoverable element of pension surplus (4.9) – (4.9) (2.5) – (2.5)

Liability in the statement of financial position (5.8) (6.9) (12.7) (18.0) (8.6) (26.6)

Any surplus on the UK schemes ultimately repaid by the Trustees would currently be subject to a 35% tax charge prior to being repaid. The application of IFRIC 14 is such 
that this tax is shown as irrecoverable surplus. Two of the UK schemes are in surplus at 31 December 2010, with an aggregate surplus position of £9.1m.  

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows: 

 

UK 
Schemes

2010
£m 

Other
Schemes

2010
£m 

Total
2010

£m 

UK  
Schemes 

2009 
£m 

Other
Schemes

2009
£m 

Total
2009

£m 

Current service cost 0.6 0.3 0.9 0.7 0.3 1.0

Past service cost – – – – – –

Curtailments – – – – – –

 0.6 0.3 0.9 0.7 0.3 1.0

Interest cost 23.9 1.7 25.6 21.9 1.8 23.7

Expected return on plan assets (27.1) (1.7) (28.8) (24.4) (1.5) (25.9)

 (3.2) – (3.2) (2.5) 0.3 (2.2)

Total pension (credit)/charge (2.6) 0.3 (2.3) (1.8) 0.6 (1.2)

Of the total pension (credit)/charge, a £0.9m charge and a £3.2m credit (2009: £1.0m charge and £2.2m credit) were included in ‘Operating expenses’ and ‘Financing 
income’ respectively. The total pension credit for 2011 is currently expected to be £2.1m. 

The main UK schemes are closed to new members, hence under the projected unit credit method, the current service cost (expressed as a percentage of the salaries 
of the remaining members) will increase as the remaining active members of the scheme approach retirement. 

Following finalisation of the 2008 funding valuations in 2009, the Group agreed to make special contributions to the UK pension schemes over the next five years of 
£3.1m per annum plus a one-off contribution in 2009 of £1.3m. The Group also agreed, as part of merger agreements for several of the pension schemes, to arrange 
letters of credit to be issued to the scheme trustees from one or more of the Company’s bankers. The value of the letters of credit issued to the scheme trustees in 2010 
is £17.0m (2009: £13.0m). The main conditions under which these letters of credit could be drawn relate to events which would imperil the interests of the scheme, 
such as insolvency, or the Group failing to make agreed payments. 

Pension deficit contributions of £3.1m (2009: £3.7m) were made to the UK schemes during the year and nil (2009: nil) were made to other schemes during the year.  

The Group expects to contribute £3.1m to its defined benefit pension plans in 2011. 
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24. Retirement benefit obligations continued 

The movement in the asset and liability recognised in the statement of financial position is as follows: 

 

UK 
Schemes

2010
£m 

Other
Schemes

2010
£m 

Total
2010

£m 

UK 
Schemes 

2009 
£m 

Other 
Schemes

2009
£m 

Total
2009

£m 

At 1 January  (18.0) (8.6) (26.6) 30.2 (15.6) 14.6

Total income/(expenses) recognised in the income statement 2.6 (0.3) 2.3 1.8 (0.6) 1.2

Net actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in the year 8.4 0.6 9.0 (67.8) 3.9 (63.9)

Irrecoverable element of pension surplus (2.4) – (2.4) 13.8 – 13.8

Contributions paid by UBM 3.6 1.5 5.1 4.0 2.5 6.5

Currency translation – (0.1) (0.1) – 1.2 1.2

At 31 December (5.8) (6.9) (12.7) (18.0) (8.6) (26.6)

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining pension obligations for the Group’s schemes are shown below: 

 

UK 
Schemes

2010
% 

Other  
Schemes 

2010 
% 

UK
Schemes

2009
% 

Other
Schemes

2009
% 

Discount rate 5.60 5.10 5.70 5.39

Future salary increases 3.75 2.00 3.75 2.00

Weighted average pension increases 2.88 n/a 2.96 n/a

Retail price inflation 3.30 2.45 3.30 2.45

Consumer price inflation 2.55 n/a n/a n/a

Expected return on scheme assets:   

Equities 8.70 9.50 8.90 9.50

Bonds 5.60 5.50 5.70 5.50

Gilts 4.20 n/a 4.40 n/a

Property 8.70 n/a n/a n/a

Other 0.50 3.00 0.50 3.00

The UK Government announced in 2010 its intention to adopt consumer price inflation (CPI) rather than retail price inflation (RPI) for statutory minimum pension 
revaluations/indexation from 1 January 2011. This change impacts the UK schemes where pension revaluation is linked to the statutory minimum. The reduction in 
liability at 31 December 2010 from applying the CPI assumption where relevant was £8.0m. 

The mortality assumptions used at 31 December 2010 for UK schemes have been updated. The death rates used are 130% of the ‘2000 series’ standard tables based 
on the year of birth of scheme members, which is currently on average 1939 for pensioners (2009: 1939) and 1956 for non-pensioners (2009: 1956). Allowances for 
future reductions in death rates were assumed to be in line with the ‘medium cohort’ standard actuarial projection with a 1% underpin (2009: medium cohort). 
These projections allow for life expectancy to improve over time due to improvements in medical treatments and other lifestyle factors such that younger members 
who have not yet reached pensionable age are expected to live longer than current pensioner members.  

The assumed average life expectancy of current pensioner members at 65 is 20.2 years for males and 22.7 years for females (2009: 19.4 years and 21.8 years 
respectively). For current non-pensioner members who have not yet reached pensionable age, the assumed average life expectancy at 65 is 22.1 years for males and 
24.5 years for females (2009: 20.6 years and 22.9 years respectively). The average rate of improvement underlying the standard tables is an increase of approximately 
0.9 years’ life expectancy in every 10 years. 

For the valuation of US scheme liabilities, RP 2000 tables are used in both years for all members. The life expectancy for a 65-year-old male is 18.8 years 
(2009: 18.8 years) and a 65-year-old female is 20.8 years (2009: 20.8 years). 

Additional assumptions used for valuing the UK scheme liabilities are an allowance for all non-pensioners to take 15% of pension as tax free cash upon retirement. 
The equivalent assumption used for the 31 December 2009 valuation was 60–80% of non-pensioners to exchange 32% of pension for tax-free cash on retirement. 
The net impact of this change in assumption is not material.  

Plan assets mainly consist of equity instruments and fixed income investments. The expected rate of return on equities at 31 December 2010 is based on an expected 
long term out-performance of equities over government bonds of 4.5% p.a. (2009: 4.5%). 
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24. Retirement benefit obligations continued 

Management has used judgement to determine the assumptions used in calculating the pension obligations. The assumed discount rate, salary increases and mortality all 
have a significant effect on the IAS 19 accounting valuation. The following table shows the sensitivity of the valuation to changes in these assumptions. 

 

Impact on
 deficit

2010
£m 

Impact on 
deficit
2009

£m 

0.25 percentage point decrease to discount rate +20.0 +16.0

0.25 percentage point increase to inflation (including pension increases linked to inflation) +15.0 +8.0

Additional one year increase to life expectancy +20.0 +15.0

The reconciliation of the defined benefit obligation is as follows: 

 

UK 
Schemes

2010
£m 

Other 
Schemes

2010
£m 

Total
2010

£m 

UK 
Schemes 

2009 
£m 

Other 
Schemes

2009
£m 

Total
2009

£m 

Defined benefit obligation at 1 January 431.1 32.2 463.3 335.6 38.8 374.4

Service cost 0.6 0.3 0.9 0.7 0.3 1.0

Interest cost 23.9 1.7 25.6 21.9 1.8 23.7

Employee contributions 0.3 – 0.3 0.3 – 0.3

Curtailment gain – – – – – –

Benefit payments (22.2) (3.2) (25.4) (20.2) (5.4) (25.6)

Past service cost – – – – – –

Actuarial loss on liabilities 8.0 1.0 9.0 92.8 0.1 92.9

Exchange rate loss/(gain) – 0.9 0.9 – (3.4) (3.4)

Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 441.7 32.9 474.6 431.1 32.2 463.3

The reconciliation of the plan assets is as follows: 

UK 
Schemes

2010
£m 

Other 
Schemes

2010
£m 

Total
2010

£m 

UK 
Schemes 

2009 
£m 

Other 
Schemes

2009
£m 

Total
2009

£m 

Assets at 1 January 415.6 23.6 439.2 382.1 23.2 405.3

Employer contributions 3.6 1.5 5.1 4.0 2.5 6.5

Employee contributions 0.3 –  0.3 0.3 – 0.3

Benefit payments (22.2) (3.2) (25.4) (20.2) (5.4) (25.6)

Actual return on assets 43.5 3.3 46.8 49.4 5.5 54.9

Exchange rate gain/(loss) – 0.8 0.8 – (2.2) (2.2)

Assets at 31 December 440.8 26.0 466.8 415.6 23.6 439.2

The assets held in the schemes are as follows, split by asset category: 

 

UK 
Schemes

2010
% 

Other 
Schemes

2010
% 

Total
2010

% 

UK  
Schemes 

2009 
% 

Other 
Schemes

2009
% 

Total
2009

% 

Equity 52.0 44.0 52.0 55.0 44.0 55.0

Bonds 7.0 32.0 8.0 13.0 32.0 14.0

Gilts 30.0 17.0 29.0 29.0 17.0 28.0

Property 9.0 – 8.0 – – –

Cash – 7.0 1.0 1.0 7.0 1.0

Annuity contracts 2.0 – 2.0 2.0 – 2.0

 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

The plan assets do not include any shares in UBM or any property occupied by the Group. 
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24. Retirement benefit obligations continued 

Actuarial gains and losses recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income: 

 

UK 
Schemes

2010
£m 

Other
Schemes

2010
£m 

Total
2010

£m 

UK  
Schemes 

2009 

£m 

Other 
Schemes 

2009
£m 

Total
2009

£m 

Experience losses/(gains) on plan liabilities 1.2 0.5 1.7 3.3 (0.3) 3.0

Actuarial losses on plan liabilities due to assumptions 6.8 0.5 7.3 89.5 0.4 89.9

Experience gains on plan assets (16.4) (1.6) (18.0) (25.0) (4.0) (29.0)

Effect of irrecoverable element of pension surplus 2.4 – 2.4 (13.8) – (13.8)

Total (gain)/loss (6.0) (0.6) (6.6) 54.0 (3.9) 50.1

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is £27.7m (2009: £21.1m). 

 

UK 
Schemes

2010
% 

Other 
Schemes

2010
% 

Total
2010

% 

UK  
Schemes 

2009 
% 

Other 
Schemes

2009
% 

Total
2009

% 

Experience losses/(gains) on plan liabilities 0.3 1.5 0.4 0.8 (0.9) 0.6

Experience gains on plan assets (3.7) (6.2) (3.9) (6.0) (16.9) (6.6)

History of experience gains and losses: 

 

UK 
Schemes

2010
£m 

UK
Schemes

2009
£m 

UK 
Schemes 

2008 
£m 

UK
Schemes

2007
£m 

UK
Schemes

2006
£m 

Defined benefit obligation (441.7) (431.1) (335.6) (415.6) (445.2)

Plan assets 440.8 415.6 382.1 455.9 445.0

Irrecoverable element of pension surplus (4.9) (2.5) (16.3) (14.1) –

(Deficit)/surplus in statement of financial position (5.8) (18.0) 30.2 26.2 (0.2)

Experience (losses)/gains on plan liabilities (1.2) (3.3) 11.5 (4.2) (2.2)

Experience gains/(losses) on plan assets 16.4 25.0 (83.5) 1.5 7.9

 

 

Other 
Schemes

2010
£m 

Other
Schemes

2009
£m 

Other 
Schemes 

2008 
£m 

Other
Schemes

2007
£m 

Other
Schemes

2006
£m 

Defined benefit obligation (32.9) (32.2) (38.8) (29.0) (31.9)

Plan assets 26.0 23.6 23.2 24.9 28.3

Irrecoverable element of pension surplus – – – – –

Deficit in statement of financial position (6.9) (8.6) (15.6) (4.1) (3.6)

Experience (losses)/gains on plan liabilities (0.5) 0.3 (0.5) 0.7 (2.0)

Experience gains/(losses) on plan assets 1.6 4.0 (10.1) (0.4) 1.1

Experience gains on plan assets: 

 

UK 
Schemes

2010
£m 

Other 
Schemes

2010
£m 

Total
2010

£m 

UK 
Schemes 

2009 
£m 

Other
Schemes

2009
£m 

Total
2009

£m 

Expected return on assets (27.1) (1.7) (28.8) (24.4) (1.5) (25.9)

Actual return on assets 43.5 3.3 46.8 49.4 5.5 54.9

 16.4 1.6 18.0 25.0 4.0 29.0
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25. Share capital 

 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Authorised   

1,217,124,740 (2009: 1,217,124,740) ordinary shares of 10 pence each 121.7 121.7

 

 

Ordinary
Shares

Number 

Ordinary
Shares

£m 

Issued and fully paid 

At 1 January 2009 244,082,372 24.4

Issued in respect of share option schemes and other entitlements 92,116 –

At 31 December 2009 244,174,488 24.4

Issued in respect of share option schemes and other entitlements 379,118 – 

At 31 December 2010 244,553,606 24.4 

Share repurchases 

The Group did not repurchase nor cancel any of its own ordinary shares during the year (2009: nil).  

Company share schemes 

The ESOP Trust and QUEST Trust (Note 27) own 0.55% (2009: 0.27%) of the issued share capital of the Company in trust for the benefit of employees of the 
Group and their dependants. The voting rights in relation to these shares are exercised by the trustees. 

26. Share premium 

 2010
£m 

2009
£m 

In issue at 1 January 1.2 1.0

Premium on shares issued, net of costs 1.9 0.2

In issue at 31 December 3.1 1.2

The Company received £1.9m (2009: £0.2m) on the issue of shares in respect of the exercise of options awarded under various share option plans. 

27. Share-based payments 

The Group has an Employee Share Ownership Plan (the ‘ESOP’). The ESOP has purchased in the open market Company shares which are held on trust for 
employees participating in the plans listed below. The purchase of shares in the open market is financed through contributions in cash by the Company and, for 
awards under the Bonus Investment Plan, through bonuses sacrificed by senior executives. The Group also has a Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust (the 
‘QUEST’), which is a discretionary trust for the benefit of UK employees (including executive directors) of the Group in connection with the exercise of SAYE 
options. 

As at 31 December the holdings over the ESOP and the QUEST were as follows: 

2010
Number of 

 shares 

2010 
Market value 

£m 

2009
Number of 

 shares 

2009
Market value

£m 

ESOP  

Ordinary shares 1,352,273 9.3 667,047 3.1

QUEST  

Ordinary shares – – – –

The Group maintains eight share-based payment arrangements: 2000 Executive Share Option Scheme, 2008 Executive Share Option Scheme, Executive Retention Plan, 
2000 Senior Executive Equity Participation Plan, UK Save As You Earn Option Scheme, International Save As You Earn Scheme, Medium Term Incentive Plan, 
Performance Share Plan and Bonus Investment Plan. 
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27. Share-based payments continued 

Executive share option scheme 
On 18 April 2000 the Group established a share option programme for full-time directors and certain employees. Grants are no longer made under the 2000 Executive 
Scheme. 

Options may be exercised after the third anniversary of the grant date subject to satisfactory completion of performance conditions. Options must normally be exercised 
before the expiry of ten years from the date of the grant. Options may be exercised earlier in the event of death. 

On 2 June 2008 the Group adopted the 2008 Executive Share Option Scheme (the ‘2008 Executive scheme’) for full-time directors and certain employees. All participants 
in the 2008 Executive scheme must be employed by United Business Media Limited or one of its subsidiaries at the time of granting the options. 

Options were granted for the first time under the 2008 Executive scheme in 2009. 

The number of options granted to a participant under the 2008 Executive scheme is at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee. 

The number of shares that may be allocated under the 2008 Executive scheme on any day cannot, when added to the aggregate of the number of shares allocated in the 
previous ten years under the 2008 Executive scheme and any other discretionary share plan adopted by the Company, exceed 5% of the ordinary share capital of the 
Company in issue immediately before that day.  

The exercise price to be paid by a participant when exercising options granted will be determined by the Remuneration Committee. The price shall not be lower than the 
closing middle market price of shares of that class as listed on the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List on the day prior to the grant date or the average closing 
middle market price of shares of that class on the three days prior to the grant date (if so decided by the Remuneration Committee). 

Options may be exercised after the third anniversary of the grant date subject to satisfactory completion of performance conditions. Options must normally be exercised 
before the expiry of ten years from the date of the grant. Options may be exercised earlier in the event of death. 

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following exercise prices: 

 

 

Exercise price (p) 

2010
Weighted 

average
exercise 

price
(p) 

2010
Weighted 

average 
remaining life

(years) 

2010
Number of 

shares 

2009 
Weighted 

average 
exercise price 

(p)  

2009
Weighted

average
remaining life

(years) 

2009
Number

of shares 

247.3 – 277.2 262.1 2.0 253,045 261.4 3.0 265,045

410.0 – 665.5 485.2 7.5 8,170,741 478.8 7.5 6,514,364

724.8 – 867.2 727.6 1.9 585,000 767.8 2.2 946,211

Executive Retention Plan 
In 2005 the Group established the Executive Retention Plan (ERP), for certain directors and employees. All participants in the ERP must be employed by United Business 
Media Limited or one of its subsidiaries at the time of granting the awards. The value of awards granted to a participant under the ERP is at the discretion of the 
Remuneration Committee. Awards are made in special circumstances to individuals as a recruitment or retention tool. 

The awards are made in the form of options exercisable on payment of a nominal value of £1, or conditional share awards for employees in the US. Options must normally 
be exercised before the expiry of ten years from the date of the grant. Options may be exercised earlier in the event of death.  

Awards will generally vest after three years subject to continued employment and are generally not subject to any other performance condition. 

Where awards are granted as a monetary value rather than as a number of shares, the number of ordinary shares over which a monetary award is made is calculated by 
dividing the monetary value of the award by the price of UBM ordinary shares at the time of grant. 

Awards outstanding at the end of the year expiring on 1 November 2011, 14 September 2011, 27 March 2014, 11 March 2015, 27 May 2015, 31 August 2015, 
27 October 2010 and 11 November 2020 were under 0.1m (2009: under 0.1m), under 0.1m (2009: under 0.1m), under 0.1m (2009: nil), 0.2m (2009: nil), under 
0.1m (2009: nil), under 0.1m (2009: nil), 0.1m (2009: nil) and under 0.1m (2009: nil) respectively. 

2000 Senior Executive Equity Participation Plan 
In April 2000 the Group established the Senior Executive Equity Participation Plan (‘SEEPP’) for certain directors and employees. Shares are purchased on the open 
market and financed through bonuses sacrificed by senior executives (the ‘Bonus Option’) under the terms of SEEPP.  

The SEEPP has now been closed and no further grants will be made under the scheme. 

Matching options may be exercised after the fourth anniversary of the grant date subject to satisfactory completion of performance conditions. One-third of Matching 
options vest subject to adjusted earnings per share (‘EPS’) – see Note 10 – growth exceeding retail price index (‘RPI’) growth plus 3%; one-third of options vest subject to 
adjusted EPS growth exceeding RPI growth plus 5% per annum over four years; the final third is not subject to performance criteria.  

Options must normally be exercised before the expiry of ten years from the date of the grant.  

Share options outstanding at the end of the year were 0.1m which have an exercise price of nil, and an average weighted remaining life of three years. 
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27. Share-based payments continued 

Save As You Earn Option Schemes 
In May 2004, the Group established the 2004 Sharesave Scheme (‘2004 SAYE’) for directors and employees. Grants are no longer made under the 2004 SAYE. 

Options may be exercised after either the third, fifth or seventh anniversary of the grant date in accordance with each employee’s Savings Contract. Options must normally 
be exercised within six months of the date the options are exercisable or within 12 months in the case of death. Options may be exercised earlier in the event of death, or 
ceasing to be employed due to retirement, injury, disability or redundancy. 

In June 2008 the Company adopted the 2008 Sharesave Scheme (‘2008 SAYE’) for directors and employees. Under the 2008 SAYE scheme participants must be 
employed by United Business Media Limited or one of its subsidiaries at the time of granting the options. 

Options were granted for the first time under the 2008 SAYE in 2009. 

The number of shares that may be allocated under the 2008 SAYE scheme on any day cannot, when added to the aggregate of the number of shares allocated in the 
previous ten years under the 2008 SAYE scheme and any other share plan adopted by the Company, exceed 10% of the ordinary share capital of the Company in issue 
immediately before that day. 

Options may be exercised after either the third, fifth or seventh anniversary of the grant date in accordance with each employee’s Savings Contract. Options must normally 
be exercised within six months of the date the options are exercisable or within 12 months in the case of death. Options may be exercised earlier in the event of death, or 
ceasing to be employed due to retirement, injury, disability or redundancy. 

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following exercise prices: 

 

 

Exercise price (p) 

2010
Weighted

average
exercise 

price
(p) 

2010
Weighted
 average

remaining life
(years) 

2010
Number 

of shares 

2009 
Weighted  

average 
exercise price 

(p)  

2009
Weighted 

average 
remaining life

(years) 

2009
Number

of shares 

160.5 – – – 160.5 0.9 22,120

367.0 – 497.2 386.2 2.3 1,548,923 381.0 2.6 1,527,250

640.1 640.1 1.0 37,372 640.1 1.2 139,948

Medium Term Incentive Plan 
Only market-purchased shares may be used for awards under the Medium Term Incentive Plan (‘MTIP’).  

The value of the MTIP award is based on a percentage of salary as determined by the Remuneration Committee each year, following assessment of the employee/company 
performance over the prior financial year (the performance year).  

Grants are no longer made under the MTIP. 

Options may be exercised in two stages: 50% of options may be exercised in January of the second financial year after the year in which they were granted; the remaining 
50% may be exercised in January of the third financial year after the options were granted. Options may only be granted subject to satisfactory completion of performance 
conditions. Options must normally be exercised before the expiry of seven years from the date of the grant. Options may be exercised earlier in the event of death or ceasing 
to be employed due to retirement, injury, disability or redundancy. 

The exercise price of the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2010 is nil (2009: nil), and the weighted average life of the share options is four years. 

Awards outstanding at the end of the year expiring on 31 March 2012, 3 April 2013, 4 April 2014 and 20 March 2015 were nil (2009: under 0.1m), under 0.1m 
(2009: under 0.1m), under 0.1m (2009: under 0.1m) and under 0.1m (2009: under 0.1m) respectively. 

Performance Share Plan 
In 2005 the Group established an incentive plan for full-time directors and senior executives. All participants in the Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) must be employed by 
United Business Media Limited or one of its subsidiaries at the time of granting the awards. The value of awards granted to a participant under the PSP is at the discretion 
of the Remuneration Committee, but may not exceed 1.5 times base salary, save that in exceptional circumstances awards of up to two times base salary may be made. 

Grants were made during the year under the PSP to full-time directors and senior executives, which requires United Business Media’s total shareholder return (‘TSR’) to 
outperform a comparator group of companies over a three year period. 25% of the award will vest if TSR is at median position (subject to a maximum value of 25% of base 
salary) and 100% if TSR is in the top decile. In between these positions, the award will vest on a straight-line basis. 

The awards are made in the form of options exercisable on payment of a nominal value of £1, or conditional share awards for employees in the US. Options must be 
exercised before the expiry of ten years from the date of the grant.  

The number of ordinary shares over which an award is made is calculated by dividing the monetary value of the award by the price of UBM ordinary shares at the time 
of grant. 
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27. Share-based payments continued 

The number of ordinary shares over which awards may be granted under the Performance Plan may not result in more than 10% of the ordinary share capital being issued 
or issuable under the Company’s incentive plans in any ten year period. It is expected that market purchased shares will generally be used to satisfy awards under the PSP. 

Awards outstanding at the end of the year expiring on 12 October 2015, 7 November 2015, 13 March 2016, 31 July 2016, 7 March 2017, 27 March 2017, 
20 March 2018, 13 March 2019, 14 September 2019 and 17 March 2020 were nil (2009: 0.1m), under 0.1m (2009: nil), under 0.1m (2009: 0.1m), 0.1m (2009: 0.2m), 
nil (2009: 0.4m), under 0.1m (2009: 0.4m), 0.2m (2009: 0.2m), 0.4m (2009: 0.4m), 0.1m (2009: 0.1m) and 0.3m (2009: nil) respectively. 

Bonus Investment Plan 
In 2005 the Group established the Bonus Investment Plan (BIP), which replaced the SEEPP. This enables participants to defer part of their annual bonus into United 
Business Media Limited ordinary shares and provides the opportunity to earn further shares. 25% of any annual bonus award will be automatically be deferred into shares 
to be held for three years, and the participant may also elect to defer up to a further 25% into shares for the same period.  

For BIP awards made prior to 2010, at the end of three years if the employee remains in service with the Company then the participant could receive a matching award of 
up to two additional shares for every share held if the Company’s adjusted earnings per share have grown by more than an average of at least 8% per annum above UK retail 
price index growth over the three-year period. A lower ratio of matching shares may be earned if earnings per share have grown by between 3% and 8% per annum above 
UK retail price index growth. 

BIP awards made in 2010 require United Business Media’s total shareholder return (‘TSR’) to outperform a comparator group of companies over a three year period. 25% 
of the award will vest if TSR is at median position (subject to a maximum value of 25% of base salary) and 100% if TSR is in the top decile. In between these positions, the 
award will vest on a straight-line basis. 

The number of ordinary shares which may be placed under option under the BIP depends on the monetary value of the bonus awarded to an employee during the year. 
The amount of bonus depends upon employee/Company performance over the prior financial year (the year of performance measurement). For the element which is 
mandatorily paid in shares, the number is calculated by dividing 25% of the monetary value of the bonus by the average December share price in the year proceeding the 
year of performance measurement. For any further element which the employee elects to defer into shares, the number is calculated by dividing the relevant monetary value 
by the share price at the time of the award. 

Awards are made in the form of options which are exercisable on payment of a nominal £1, or conditional awards for employees in the US. Options, once vested, must 
normally be exercised before the expiry of ten years from the date of grant. Options may be exercised earlier in the event of death, or ceasing to be employed due to 
retirement, injury, disability or redundancy. 

The number of ordinary shares over which awards may be granted under the BIP may not result in more than 10% of the ordinary share capital being issued or issuable 
under the Company’s incentive plans in any ten year period. It is expected that market purchased shares will generally be used to satisfy awards under the BIP. 

Awards outstanding at the end of the year expiring on 13 March 2016, 7 March 2017, 20 March 2018, 13 March 2019 and 17 March 2020 were 0.1m (2009: 0.1m), 0.1m 
(2009: 0.3m), 0.3m (2009: 0.3m), 0.2m (2009: 0.2m) and 0.4m (2009: nil) respectively.  

Option movements 

A reconciliation of option movements over the year for all plans is as follows: 

 2010
ESOS 

2010
ERP 

2010 
2000 SEEPP 

2010
SAYE 

 

Number 
of options 

m 

Weighted
average
exercise

price
(p) 

Number
of options

m 

Weighted
average
exercise

price
(p) 

Number
of options

m 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
(p) 

Number
of options

m 

Weighted
average
exercise

price
(p) 

At 1 January 2010 7.7  506.8  –  –  0.1  –  1.7  399.6  

Granted 2.5  508.4  0.3  –  – –  0.3  428.5  

Forfeited –  – –  –  – –  –  –  

Exercised (0.3) 535.8  (0.1) –  – –  –  –  

Expired (0.9) 620.4  –  –  – –  (0.4) 471.3  

At 31 December 2010 9.0  494.7  0.2  –  0.1  –  1.6  392.2  

         

Exercisable at 31 December 2010 2.5  558.7  –  –  0.1  –  –  –  
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27. Share-based payments continued 

  
2010
MTIP 

2010 
PSP 

2010
BIP 

   

Number
of options

m 

Weighted
average
exercise

price
(p) 

Number
of options

m 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
(p) 

Number
of options

m 

Weighted
average
exercise

price
(p) 

At 1 January 2010   0.1 – 1.9 – 1.0 – 

Granted   – – 0.3 – 0.4 – 

Forfeited   – – – – – – 

Exercised   – – (0.3) – (0.1) – 

Expired   – – (0.7) – (0.2) – 

At 31 December 2010   0.1 – 1.2 – 1.1 – 

         

Exercisable at 31 December 2010   0.1 – 0.6 – 0.2 – 

There are periodic share option exercises throughout the year and the average UBM share price in 2010 was 553.3p (2009: 445.8p). 

 2009
ESOS 

2009
ERP 

2009 
2000 SEEPP 

2009
SAYE 

 

Number 
of options 

m 

Weighted
average
exercise

price
(p) 

Number
of options

m 

Weighted
average
exercise

price
(p) 

Number
of options

m 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
(p) 

Number
of options

m 

Weighted
average
exercise

price
(p) 

At 1 January 2009 6.0 556.5 0.1 – 0.2 – 1.3 453.4 

Granted 2.7 410.8 – – – – 1.2 367.0 

Forfeited – – – – – – – –

Exercised (0.1) 247.2 – – (0.1) – – –

Expired (0.9) 569.0 (0.1) – – – (0.8) 435.2 

At 31 December 2009 7.7 506.8 – – 0.1 – 1.7 399.6 

   

Exercisable at 31 December 2009 3.3 585.0 – – 0.1 – – –

 

  2009
MTIP 

2009 
PSP 

2009
BIP 

   

Number
of options

m 

Weighted
average
exercise

price
(p) 

Number
of options

m 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
(p) 

Number
of options

m 

Weighted
average
exercise

price
(p) 

At 1 January 2009   0.3 – 2.7 – 1.4 –

Granted   – – 0.9 – 0.3 –

Forfeited   – – – – – –

Exercised   (0.2) – (1.1) – (0.4) –

Expired   – – (0.6) – (0.3) –

At 31 December 2009   0.1 – 1.9 – 1.0 –

    

Exercisable at 31 December 2009   – – 0.4 – – –
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27. Share-based payments continued 

Valuation of share-based payments 

Options granted under the 2008 Executive Share Option Scheme and the SAYE plans were valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing models. Nil cost options 
and restricted shares (excluding the PSP awards and the 2010 BIP match awards with TSR-based performance conditions) were valued based on the share price at 
grant date less the value of any dividends foregone during the period to exercise. The following table provides the weighted averages of the assumptions used to value 
options granted during the year ended 31 December 2010: 

 
2010 2009 

Dividend yield  5.0% 5.0%

Expected volatility  30.0% 20.0%

Risk-free rate 1.9% 1.9%

Forfeiture assumptions (% per year):  

All plans excluding SAYE  5.0% 5.0%

 SAYE  10.0% 10.0%

Weighted average share price at grant date:  

 Options 516p 430p

 Nil cost options/share awards without TSR condition 544p 434p

 Nil cost options/share awards with TSR condition 534p 438p

Weighted average fair value at grant date:  

Options 82p 51p

 Nil cost options/share awards without TSR condition 457p 514p

 Nil cost options/share awards with TSR condition 309p 256p

Expected life  Equal to vesting period Equal to vesting period

The expected volatility is based on management’s view of future expectations and consideration of the Group’s historic average volatility.  

A Monte Carlo simulation model was used for valuing PSP awards and 2010 BIP awards which have a performance condition based on the ranking of UBM TSR growth 
relative to a group of media-related comparator companies. The additional assumptions made for this purpose are that the average correlation of TSR growth between 
companies is 23% (2009: 19%) and the average of the individual volatility assumptions used for each comparator company is 48% (2009: 46%). 

The total charge for the year relating to the employee share-based payment plans was £3.5m (2009: £2.9m). Of this amount, £3.2m (2009: £2.4m) related to equity-settled 
share-based payment transactions. The remaining £0.3m (2009: £0.5m) relates to that 25% of cash bonus earned which may be deferred for shares under the BIP at the 
option of the employee, which is treated as cash-settled liability at 31 December 2010 until the actual deferral amount is known. At 31 December 2010, the cash-settled 
liability was £0.3m (2009: £0.5m).  

The total charge for the year includes an amount in relation to 0.4 million nil cost BIP options that are expected to be issued in 2011 based on services provided and 
performance over 2010. The weighted average fair value for these awards is 289p and the awards are expensed over four years starting in January 2010. The expense will be 
adjusted in 2011 where appropriate to allow for the actual number of awards granted and fair value at grant date. In the 2009 total charge for the year, it was expected that 
0.6 million nil cost BIP options were to be issued in 2010 with a weighted average fair value of 387p and the awards are expensed over four years starting in January 2009. 

The Group has adopted the exemption in IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payments’ to fair value options granted from 7 November 2002 onwards. 
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28. Other reserves 

 

Merger 
reserve

£m 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

£m 

ESOP 
reserve 

£m 
Other reserve

£m 

Total
 other 

reserves
£m 

Balance at 1 January 2009 (732.2) 66.8 (19.5) 117.4 (567.5)

Total comprehensive losses for the year1 – (51.7) – 7.9 (43.8)

Shares awarded by ESOP – – 13.6 – 13.6

Balance at 31 December 2009 (732.2) 15.1 (5.9) 125.3 (597.7)

Total comprehensive losses for the year2 – (8.1) – – (8.1)

Shares awarded by ESOP – – 3.4 – 3.4 

Own shares purchased by the Company – – (6.3) – (6.3)

Balance at 31 December 2010 (732.2) 7.0 (8.8) 125.3 (608.7)

1 The amount included in the foreign currency translation reserve for 2009 represents the currency translation difference on foreign operations on Group subsidiaries of £(45.2)m (excluding £(0.1)m relating 
to non-controlling interests), net investment hedges of £(5.0)m and on joint ventures and associates of £(1.5)m. The amount recognised in the other reserve represents the gains on cash flow hedges arising 
during the year of £0.2m and reclassification adjustments for amounts included in profit or loss of £7.7m.  

2  The amount included in the foreign currency translation reserve for 2010 represents the currency translation difference on foreign operations on Group subsidiaries of £6.1m (excluding £0.5m relating to 
non-controlling interests), on net investment hedges of £(14.6)m and on joint ventures and associates of £0.4m. 

Merger reserve 

The merger reserve is used to record entries in relation to certain reorganisations that took place in previous accounting periods. The majority of the balance on the 
reserve relates to the capital reorganisation that took place in 2008 which created a new holding company which is UK-listed, incorporated in Jersey and with its tax 
residence in the Republic of Ireland. 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries. It is also 
used to record the effect of hedging net investments of foreign operations. 

ESOP reserve 

The ESOP reserve records ordinary shares held by the ESOP to satisfy future share awards. The shares are recorded at cost. During the year ended 31 December 
2010, 1,200,000 shares were purchased by the ESOP (2009: nil). 

Other reserve 

This reserve includes the unrealised gains and losses reserve which records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is 
determined to be an effective hedge. 
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29. Acquisitions  

The Group completed 22 acquisitions during 2010 of which Canon Communications LLC (‘Canon’) was particularly significant. Details of all other acquisitions 
have been provided below by reportable segment. 

The following table sets out the carrying amounts of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in respect of acquisitions made in 2010: 

     

Canon 
2010 
Fair 

value 
to Group 

£m 

Other 
acquisitions

2010
Fair

value
to Group

£m 

All 
acquisitions

2010 
Fair

value
to Group

£m 

Intangible assets     67.8 24.2 92.0 

Property, plant and equipment     1.3 0.8 2.1 

Cash and cash equivalents     1.8 3.4 5.2 

Trade and other receivables     13.9 11.1 25.0 

     84.8 39.5 124.3 

Trade and other payables     (23.7) (18.3) (42.0)

Provisions     (1.8) – (1.8)

Deferred tax liability     (23.7) (5.2) (28.9)

     (49.2) (23.5) (72.7)

Identifiable net assets     35.6 16.0 51.6 

Goodwill arising on acquisition (net of changes in estimates of pre 1 January 2010 contingent consideration  
of £2.0m within Other acquisitions) 150.4 69.0 219.4 

Non-controlling interests     – (9.5) (9.5)

     186.0  75.5 261.5 

Trade and other receivables acquired have been recognised at fair value which equates to the gross contractual amounts receivable. All amounts recognised are expected to 
be collected. 

The total consideration paid and payable after working capital adjustments on acquisitions is shown below:  

     

Canon 
2010 

£m 

Other 
acquisitions

2010
£m 

All 
acquisitions

2010 
£m 

Consideration:        

Cash paid to acquire subsidiaries     186.0 43.9 229.9 

Contingent consideration on acquisitions     – 32.0 32.0 

Deferred consideration on acquisitions     – 1.3 1.3 

Contingent consideration adjustments on pre 1 January 2010 acquisitions   – (2.0) (2.0)

Total consideration transferred     186.0 75.2 261.2 

Fair value of previously held interests     – 0.3 0.3 

     186.0 75.5 261.5 

The Group has acquired 100% of the voting rights in all cases where acquisitions involved the purchase of companies unless otherwise stated below. All acquisitions where 
less than 100% of the voting rights of a company were purchased have been accounted for using the full goodwill method, as permitted by IFRS 3 (revised 2008). As none 
of these companies are listed, no market information is available. Therefore, the fair value of the non-controlling interest for each acquisition has been estimated using a 
multiples approach with assumed adjustments for the lack of control that market participants would have by reference to the purchase price paid by the Group. 

Acquisition costs of £6.1m have been expensed as exceptional items in the income statement (Note 7) and are included in operating cash flows in the statement of 
cash flows. £3.3m of these costs relate to the acquisition of Canon. 
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29. Acquisitions continued 

Canon Communications LLC 

On 21 October 2010, the Group acquired Canon, a leading provider of tradeshows and related media products serving the global advanced manufacturing sector, 
for cash consideration of $287.0m (£183.2m). The acquisition of Canon will complement three of the Group’s reportable segments: 

– Events: Canon brings UBM event leadership in the attractive, growing medical device design and manufacturing market. The Company’s US events expertise, 
databases and marketing services capabilities will augment and advance the Group’s existing US tradeshows in markets such as packaging, ingredients and 
speciality chemicals. It will also provide the Group with the opportunity to geo-clone events in fast growing economies such as China, India and Brazil.  

– Online – Marketing Services: Canon’s Online – Marketing Services product portfolio complements the Group’s existing position in the electronic engineering 
market, broadening the Group’s portfolio of information products and services for the electronic design and engineering community. 

– Print – Magazines: Canon’s print product portfolio complements the Group’s existing position in the electronic engineering market, broadening the Group’s 
portfolio of information products and services for the electronic design and engineering community. 

The goodwill of £150.4m arising from the acquisition of Canon relates to the following factors: 

– The acquisition provides UBM with a market leading position in the growing medical devices events market and provides growth opportunities, particularly in 
emerging markets, through leveraging the Group’s international tradeshow infrastructure and expertise on Canon’s existing business. 

– Management expects a high proportion of new customers; the revenue streams associated with new customers have been reflected in goodwill. The value of 
existing Canon customers is included in the intangible asset detailed below. 

– Buyer specific tax shields reflecting net operating losses and unrecognised deferred tax assets which are expected to remain within the combined UBM and 
Canon business. 

– Acquired skilled workforce. 

None of the goodwill recognised on acquisition of Canon is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

Other acquisitions 

The goodwill of £69.0m recognised above for other acquisitions relates to certain intangible assets that cannot be individually separated. These include items such 
as customer loyalty, market share, skilled workforce and synergies expected to arise after the acquisition completion. Of the goodwill arising, an amount of £2.3m is 
expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

Events acquisitions 
On 12 February 2010, the Group acquired 70% of Sign China, an international tradeshow serving the rapidly growing Chinese outdoor advertising sign industry, 
for initial cash consideration of $10.7m (£7.1m) with further performance-related consideration of up to $3.9m (£2.6m) payable over the next three years. 
The acquisition of Sign China will add another industry leading event to the Group’s portfolio, as well as provide a springboard for expansion into South China for 
the Events segment.  

On 3 March 2010, the Group acquired E Commerce Expo Limited for initial cash consideration of £0.6m with further performance-related consideration of  
up to £1.2m payable after the October 2010 event. E Commerce Expo is a two-day exhibition with an associated conference and awards ceremony dedicated to  
e-commerce and online retailing. The acquisition advances the presence of the Events segment in the e-commerce, internet retailing and digital marketing sectors, 
which are identified as offering sustainable long-term growth potential. 

On 9 April 2010, the Group acquired DesignCon, an exhibition and conference serving the electronic design and semiconductor industry, for cash consideration of 
$1.4m (£0.9m). DesignCon will strengthen international presence of the Events segment in the electronic design and semiconductor industry.  

On 21 May 2010, the Group made the following acquisitions: 

– 60% interest in Navalshore, a Brazilian shipbuilding industry tradeshow and conference for cash consideration of R$2.9m (£1.1m). The acquisition of a majority 
stake in Navalshore within the Events segment gives UBM greater exposure to the Brazilian maritime industry, one of the fastest growing markets in the world. 
The Group has two call options, both priced at 7x EBITA, over a further 30% of the equity: 20% exercisable after 31 December 2014 (capped at R$6m (£2.3m)) 
and 10% exercisable after 31 December 2018 (capped at R$4m (£1.5m)). The vendors also have a put option over their 40% interest exercisable after 
31 December 2012 and priced at 7x EBITA (capped at R$10m (£3.8m)). The carrying value of the put option at 31 December 2010 is £1.4m, reported within 
non-current borrowings.  

– 75% interest in Sienna Interlink, a Brazilian exhibition company based in Sao Paulo for initial cash consideration of R$19.8m (£7.6m) with further performance-
related consideration of up to R$20.2m (£7.7m) payable over the next year. In addition to contributing profitable revenue growth and expanding the Events 
segment’s presence in Brazil, the acquisition provides exposure to the fast-growing South American concrete market which is benefiting from significant 
construction activity taking place ahead of the 2014 FIFA World Cup in Brazil and the 2016 Rio de Janeiro Olympics. The Group has a call option exercisable 
after 31 December 2014, priced at 7x EBITA. The vendor also has a put option over their 25% interest exercisable after 31 December 2016 and priced at 
7x EBITA. The carrying value of the put option at 31 December 2010 is £7.1m, reported within non-current borrowings.  
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29. Acquisitions continued 

On 20 July 2010, the Group acquired the Shanghai International Children-Baby-Maternity Products Expo and related businesses for initial cash consideration of 
$9.7m (£6.3m) and further performance-related consideration of up to $6.4m (£4.2m) payable over the next two years. The acquisition, mainly comprising an 
annual exhibition for the Chinese child and baby products market, will enable the Group to enter a dynamic new business sector within the Events segment by 
obtaining a profitable platform. 

On 12 August 2010, the Group acquired The Route Development Group Limited for initial cash consideration of £8.0m and further performance-related 
consideration of up to £1.3m payable over the next two years. The acquisition provides the Group’s Events segment with a face-to-face networking event serving the 
Group’s airline and airport customers, which is highly complementary to the Group’s existing airline data and schedules business. 

On 10 November 2010, the Group acquired the Publishing Expo business, a tradeshow serving the UK publishing industry, for cash consideration of £0.3m. 
The acquisition adds a further industry leading event to the Group and the March 2011 edition will be co-located with the Group’s existing Technology For 
Marketing & Advertising and Online Advertising and Affiliate Expo events. 

Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring acquisitions 
On 26 April 2010 the following transactions took place: 

– The Group acquired the remaining 62.03% equity interest in PR Newswire do Brasil for initial cash consideration of $1.0m (£0.7m) with further performance-
related consideration of up to $0.2m (£0.1m), payable over the next two years. PR Newswire do Brasil was previously accounted for as an associate; no gain or loss 
has been recognised as a result of remeasuring the previous equity interest to fair value.  

– The Group purchased the remaining 10% equity interest in PR Newswire Argentina for cash consideration of $40,000 (£27,000). The transaction has been 
accounted for as an equity transaction in accordance with IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ (revised 2008) since control was held by the 
Group prior to the acquisition of the remaining 10% interest. Transaction balances are not included in the above tables.  

On 28 April 2010, a Group subsidiary, CNW Group Limited, acquired dna13 for initial cash consideration of CAD6.1m (£4.0m) and further performance-related 
consideration of up to CAD0.9m (£0.6m). dna13 owns unique software allowing public relations practitioners to manage, monitor and measure the success of their 
communications campaigns.  

On 25 June 2010, the Group acquired Corporate360, a Hong Kong based corporate communications solution provider, for initial cash consideration of $0.4m 
(£0.2m) with further performance-based consideration of up to $1.0m (£0.7m) payable over the next three years. The acquisition of Corporate360 will allow 
expansion of the Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring segment in Asia, by expanding service delivery capability and by offering a more sophisticated and engaging 
set of communication tools. 

On 18 October 2010, the Group acquired Hors Antenne, a leading provider of media targeting information to the European French-speaking markets, for initial 
cash consideration of €6.0m (£5.3m) and further performance-related consideration of up to €3.0m (£2.7m) payable over the next two years. In addition to adding 
profitable revenue to the Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring segment’s successful European targeting business, the acquisition will enhance and expand the 
range of targeting and monitoring services Hors Antenne is able to offer its customers. 

Data Services acquisitions 
On 20 April 2010, the Group acquired SharedVue, a web-based marketing business, for initial cash consideration of $0.4m (£0.2m), with further performance-
related consideration of up to $30.0m (£19.5m) payable over the next three years. The acquisition within the Data Services segment will enhance and expand 
presence in the fast growing web-based marketing space. 

On 5 May 2010, the Group acquired selected assets of CenTradeX Inc., a provider of market intelligence tools, for initial cash consideration of $0.5m (£0.3m) with 
further performance-related consideration of up to $0.1m (£0.1m) payable over the next two years. The acquisition will enable the Data Services segment to enhance 
the user interface and analytical tools for its market leading PIERS Global Intelligence product portfolio.  

On 10 September 2010, the Group acquired Shanghai Leadway E-Commerce Co. Limited, trading as UM Paper, for initial cash consideration $0.4m (£0.3m) and 
further performance-related consideration of up to $0.4m (£0.3m) payable over the next two years. The information and analytical services business will assist the 
Group in fulfilling its ambition to become the leading provider for the paper and board industry in China. 

On 7 October 2010, the Group acquired certain software and intellectual property assets of Triton Works LLC (‘Triton’) (‘JOC Exchange’) for initial cash payment 
of $0.5m (£0.3m) and further performance-related consideration of up to $36.0m (£23.0m), payable in each of the years 2011–15. Triton is a launch business with 
an objective to create electronic market places for the trading of container slots on ships. The Group intends to use the industry position, access to carrier industry 
companies and media assets within the Data Services segment to grow the Triton business.  

On 1 November 2010, the Group acquired Lead-In Research Limited, a boutique sales lead business, for initial cash consideration of £1.2m and further 
performance-related consideration of up to £0.3m payable at the end of 2010. The acquisition will enhance the current product offering of the Group’s ABI business 
within the Data Services segment. 
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29. Acquisitions continued 

Online – Marketing Services acquisitions 
On 23 February 2010, the Group acquired Game Advertising Online (‘GAO’), a banner advertising agency serving advertising publishers in the online video game 
industry, for initial cash consideration of $0.9m (£0.6m), deferred consideration of $0.1m (£0.1m) and further performance-related consideration of up to $7.0m 
(£4.4m) payable over the next year. GAO will diversify the games industry revenue stream within the Online – Marketing Services segment and deepen business 
relationships with online game publishers.  

On 31 August 2010, the Group acquired Astound LLC, a US virtual career fairs business, for initial cash consideration of $0.1m (£0.1m) and further 
performance-related consideration of up to $3.0m (£1.9m) payable over the next three years. Astound LLC is a highly complimentary acquisition to the virtual 
events business, providing a new customer base and further exposure to an emerging market. 

On 15 October 2010, the Group acquired OBGYN.net, a women’s health website for obstetrics and gynaecology professionals and consumers, for cash 
consideration of $0.8m (£0.4m). OBGYN.net has strong brand recognition as one of the leading sites focusing on women’s health issues. Within the Online – 
Marketing Services segment, it will add to the Group’s online resources for healthcare professionals. 

31 December 2009 acquisitions 

The Group completed five acquisitions during 2009.  

On 3 July 2009, the Group acquired Iasist S.A. for a total cash consideration of €6.4m (£5.5m). Iasist S.A. is a provider of benchmarking data and software to 
regional health authorities, hospitals and other health service providers, principally in Spain and Portugal. Iasist S.A. is reported within the Data Services segment. 

On 3 July 2009, the Group acquired the remaining 48% of the voting rights of RISI Inc. for a total cash consideration of $14.3m (£8.7m). This equity purchase 
brings UBM’s total shareholding in RISI Inc. to 79% (2008: 52%), although 100% of the voting rights are now owned (2008: 52%). RISI Inc. provides online and 
printed market, pricing, news and analysis and benchmarking products and services on the forest product industry. RISI Inc is reported within the Data Services 
segment. 

On 31 July 2009, the Group acquired The Fuel Team for an initial cash consideration of $2.5m (£1.5m), with a further performance-related consideration of up to 
$4.5m (£2.8m) payable over the next three years. The Fuel Team builds and hosts specialist website modules (or, microsites) for communications professional 
working in businesses, healthcare and not-for-profit organisations. The Fuel Team is reported within the Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring segment. 

On 27 August 2009, the Group acquired a 70% interest in the China International Optoelectronic Expo (‘CIOE’) for a total cash consideration of $5.0m (£3.0m). 
CIOE is the world’s largest optoelectronics event held annually in Shenzhen. The event covers all aspects of the market, including laser and infrared applications, 
precision optics, optical communications and LEDs. CIOE was allocated to the Events segment and was subsequently transferred at cost to the joint venture eMedia 
Asia Limited on 30 December 2009. 

On 14 December 2009, the Group acquired Virtual Press Office for an initial cash consideration of $6.5m (£4.0m), with a further performance-related 
consideration of up to $3.5m (£2.2m) payable over the next three years. Virtual Press Office is the market-leading provider of communications and marketing 
services to live event organisers, exhibitors and attendees. Virtual Press Office is reported within the Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring segment. 

The Group acquired 100% of the voting rights in all cases where acquisitions involved the purchase of companies unless where otherwise stated.  

The following table sets out the carrying amounts of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired and their fair value in respect of the acquisition of businesses (excluding 
RISI Inc.) during 2009: 

      

2009
Fair

value
to Group

£m 

2009
Acquiree’s

Carrying
Amount

£m 

Intangible assets      6.3 0.1

Property, plant and equipment      0.1 0.1

Cash and cash equivalents      2.8 2.8

Trade and other receivables      4.5 4.5

      13.7 7.5

Trade and other payables      (3.3) (4.1)

Deferred tax liability      (1.3) –

      (4.6) (4.1)

Fair value of net assets      9.1

Goodwill arising on acquisition (net of changes in estimates of contingent consideration of £5.7m)  8.4

      17.5
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29. Acquisitions continued 

The total consideration paid and payable on acquisitions is shown below:  

       2009
£m 

Consideration:       

Cash paid       18.3

Contingent consideration on acquisitions       4.9

Contingent consideration adjustments       (5.7)

Total consideration       17.5

As disclosed in Note 1, the acquisition accounting adjustments have been finalised in relation to certain acquisitions which were made in 2009. The amounts disclosed 
above have been restated in accordance with IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’. The goodwill of £8.4m recognised above for 2009 acquisitions relates to certain intangible 
assets that cannot be individually separated. These include items such as customer loyalty, market share and a skilled workforce.  

The acquisition of RISI Inc. was accounted for using the entity concept method as control was already held by the Group on the date of the acquisition: 

      2009
£m 

Cash paid      8.7

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest on acquisition date      (0.4)

Remaining non-controlling interest after 3 July 2009      0.2

Recognised in equity (Note 28)      8.5

Intangible assets 

The intangible assets acquired as part of the acquisitions are detailed in the following table: 

   

Canon
2010

£m 

Other 
acquisitions 

2010 
£m 

Total
2010

£m 

As restated 
Total
2009 

£m 

Brands   34.2 10.3 44.5 2.8

Software   –  3.6 3.6 1.0

Order backlog   3.0 0.1 3.1 0.7

Customer relationships   17.9 9.2 27.1 1.0

Customer contracts and relationships   20.9 9.3 30.2 1.7

Subscription lists   – 0.3 0.3 0.3

Databases   12.7 0.7 13.4 0.5

Total   67.8 24.2 92.0 6.3

The intangible assets acquired in the year ended 31 December 2009 have been restated to reflect the finalisation of acquisition accounting adjustments relating to certain 
acquisitions made in 2009. 

Identification and measurement of intangible assets acquired as part of business combinations requires the use of judgements by management. For significant 
acquisitions, management is assisted by the work of external advisors in identifying and calculating the valuation of any intangible assets. 

Contingent and deferred consideration 

The potential undiscounted amount for all future payments that the Group could be required to make under the contingent consideration arrangements are between 
nil and the maximum amounts disclosed by acquisition on the previous pages; £70.6m in aggregate (2009: £5.0m). The contingent consideration for each 
acquisition made during the year is based on the terms set out in the relevant purchase agreements. The amounts recognised in the above consideration tables as the 
fair values of contingent considerations have been determined by reference to the projected financial performance in relation to the specific contingent consideration 
criteria for each acquisition. 
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29. Acquisitions continued 

The movement in the contingent and deferred consideration payable during the year was:  

 

2010
Contingent

£m 

2010
Deferred

£m 

2010
Total

£m 

2009 
Contingent 

£m 

2009
Deferred

£m 

2009
Total
£m 

Balance at 1 January 24.6 0.5 25.1 37.0 1.6 38.6

Acquisitions 32.0 1.3 33.3 4.9 – 4.9

Consideration paid  (14.4) (0.5) (14.9) (9.1) (1.0) (10.1)

Changes in estimates (goodwill) (2.0) – (2.0) (5.7) – (5.7)

Changes in estimates (income statement) (1.0) – (1.0) – – –

Currency translation 0.5 – 0.5 (2.5) (0.1) (2.6)

Balance at 31 December 39.7 1.3 41.0 24.6 0.5 25.1

Acquisition performance 

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2010, Canon has contributed £(0.2)m to operating profit of the Group, £(0.2)m to profit after tax of the Group and 
£8.1m to revenue of the Group. From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2010, the other acquisitions made in 2010 have contributed £7.7m to operating profit 
of the Group and £23.4m to revenue of the Group. If all acquisitions had taken place at the beginning of the year, the acquisitions would have contributed £28.0m to 
operating profit and £100.2m to revenue of the Group.  

Acquisitions made in 2009 contributed £2.6m of profit to operating loss and £4.8m to revenue of the Group from the date of acquisition to 31 December 2009. If 
the acquisitions had taken place at the beginning of that year, the acquisitions would have contributed £2.8m of profit to operating loss and £9.6m to revenue of the 
Group. 

Cash flow effect of acquisitions 

The aggregate cash flow effect of acquisitions was as follows:  

     2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Net cash acquired with the subsidiaries     (5.2) (2.8)

Cash paid to acquire subsidiaries     229.9 18.3

Contingent consideration on 2006 acquisitions     0.9 0.8

Contingent consideration on 2007 acquisitions     5.1 1.2

Contingent consideration on 2008 acquisitions     1.9 7.1

Contingent consideration on 2009 acquisitions     1.0 –

Contingent consideration on 2010 acquisitions     5.5 –

Deferred consideration on 2006 acquisitions     – 0.9

Deferred consideration on 2008 acquisitions     0.5 0.1

Net cash outflow on acquisitions     239.6 25.6

The Group paid £14.4m of contingent consideration during 2010 in relation to the 2006 acquisition of MediReach Healthcare Communication, the 2007 acquisitions of 
Vintage Filings LLC, Semiconductor Insights Inc and Notilog, the 2008 acquisitions of Global Games Media and Exposure Events UK Limited, the 2009 acquisition of 
The Fuel Team and the 2010 acquisitions of Sign China, E Commerce Expo Limited and Sienna Interlink. The Group also paid £0.5m of deferred consideration during 
2010 in relation to the 2008 acquisition of Sanguine Microelectronics. 

The Group paid £9.1m of contingent consideration during 2009 in relation to the 2006 acquisition of MediReach Healthcare Communication, the 2007 
acquisitions of Energy Solutions Expo, Semiconductor Insights Inc, How Machines Work Corporation and Portelligent Inc and the 2008 acquisitions of Mass Event 
Labs, Exposure Events UK Limited, Aerostrategy’s aviation data business, Next Level, Sanguine Microelectronics, the Sleep Event and the Arc Show.  

The Group also paid £1.0m of deferred consideration during 2009 in relation to the 2006 acquisitions of Aviation Industry Group and Thames Gateway Forum and 
the 2008 acquisition of Sleep Event and the Arc Show. 

Under the terms of the relevant sale and purchase agreements, additional consideration was payable if certain revenue and profit targets were met. None of the 
contingent or deferred consideration balances are individually material. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

30. Commitments 

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee 

The Group has entered into commercial property and machinery leases under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have varying terms, escalation 
clauses and renewal rights. 

The future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable property operating leases are as follows: 

 

Land & 
Buildings

2010
£m 

Other 
2010 

£m 

Land & 
Buildings

2009
£m 

Other
2009

£m 

Within 1 year 29.8 5.1 30.9 –

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 61.0 14.1 67.1 –

Later than 5 years 3.2 6.0 –

 94.0 19.2 104.0 –

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessor 

The Group has entered into commercial property leases under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have remaining terms of between one and six 
years, with varying escalation clauses and renewal rights. 

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

   2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Within 1 year   6.1 7.8

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   14.7 19.8

Later than 5 years   0.9 0.8

   21.7 28.4

Capital commitments 

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the financial statements amounts to £2.7m (2009: £6.8m). 

– 
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31. Principal subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of United Business Media Limited and the principal subsidiaries listed on the table below. 

The directors consider that to give full particulars of all subsidiaries would lead to a statement of excessive length. The following information relates to those 
subsidiaries’ results or financial position of which, in the opinion of the directors, principally contribute to the Group. 

 Country of incorporation 
and operation 

Percentage equity interest at
31 December 2010 

Canon Communications LLC USA 100

CNW Group Limited Canada  50

Maypond Holdings Limited Republic of Ireland 100

PR Newswire Association, LLC. USA 100

PR Newswire Europe Limited Great Britain 100

RISI, Inc USA  79

Société d’Editions Scientifiques et Culturelles SA  France 100

UBM Asia Limited Hong Kong 100

UBM Aviation Group Limited Great Britain 100

UBM Global Trade, Inc USA 100

UBM Information Limited  Great Britain 100

UBM Medica Asia Pte Limited1 Singapore 100

UBMi B.V. Netherlands 100

United Business Media Great Britain 100

United Business Media Finance Sarl Luxembourg 100

United Business Media Finance, Inc. USA 100

United Business Media Group Limited Great Britain 100

United Business Media, LLC USA 100

United Finance Limited Great Britain 100

Vidal S.A. France 100

Wenport Limited Republic of Ireland 100

1 Formerly CMPMedica Asia Pte Limited 

All companies stated as being incorporated in Great Britain are registered in England and Wales. None of the above subsidiaries are held directly by the Company, 
with the exception of Maypond Holdings Limited. 

32. Related party transactions  

The Group entered into the following transactions with related parties during the year: 

Transactions with related parties 
Nature of 
relationship 

Nature of 
transactions 

Balances 
(owed by)/
due to the 

Group at
31 December

2010
£m 

Value of 
transactions 

2010 
£m 

Balances 
(owed by)/
due to the 
Group at

31 December 
2009

£m 

Value of
transactions

2009
£m 

CMP Weka Verlag GmbH1 Joint Venture Licensing revenue – 0.2 0.2 0.2

PR Newswire do Brasil2 Associate Newswire service – – (0.2) (0.3)

Guangzhou Beauty Fair Joint Venture 
Commission and 
management fees 0.1 0.1 – 0.1

GML (Exhibitions) Thailand Co Limited Joint Venture Advances 0.3 – – –

Shanghai Tekview IC Analysis Technology Co Limited Investment IT services 0.1 –* – –

1 The CMP Weka Verlag GmbH joint venture was sold on 29 November 2010. The related party transactions between the Group and CMP Weka Verlag GmbH disclosed above represent transactions until 
this date. 

2  The remaining 62.03% of PR Newswire do Brasil was acquired by the Group on 26 April 2010 (full details given in Note 29). After this date, as the Group owned 100% of the company it is not required to 
disclose related party transactions. The disclosures given above represent related party transactions with PR Newswire do Brasil until 26 April 2010.  

*  Transactions and balances (owed by)/due to the Group less than £0.1m.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

32. Related party transactions continued 

John Botts, Chairman of the Group, was a director of Convera Inc., an IT consultancy specialising in search technologies, until 8 February 2010. Convera Inc. is party 
to a five-year contract with the Group under which it is entitled to receive a share of revenues from certain related products. Payments under this contract in the year until 
8 February 2010 were nil (full year 2009: £39,204). The Group also provided services to Convera Inc. during this period for fees of £1,680 (full year 2009: £2,094). 

The Group has provided services to Euromoney Institutional Investor Plc, an international publishing, events and electronic information group, during the year for 
fees of £3,916 (2009: £3,569). John Botts is a director of Euromoney Institutional Investor Plc. 

Allen & Company, a US investment bank, provided services to the Group during the year for fees of £2.0m (2009: nil). John Botts is a senior advisor of Allen & 
Company. 

John Botts was a director of SpinVox Limited until 31 December 2009. The Group provided services to SpinVox Limited, a voice-to-text conversion application 
company, during 2009 for fees of £124. Additionally, Spinvox Limited provided services to the Group during 2009 at a cost of £300.  

David Levin, Chief Executive Officer of the Group, was a member of Oxford University Press Finance Committee until 30 September 2009. The Group has 
provided services to Oxford University Press, a university publisher, during 2009 of £3,058. 

Leaders Quest, a non-profit organisation, organised various management conferences for the Group during the year for fees of £15,000 (2009: £7,000). Lindsay 
Levin, wife of David Levin, is a partner of Leaders Quest.  

IQ Resource, a strategic outsourcing company specialising in business media and information services, provides services to the Group for which the Group paid fees 
of nil (2009: £137,788). At 31 December 2010, the Group had a trade payable with IQ Resource of nil (2009: £2,356). Jonathan Newcomb, a non-executive 
director of the Group, holds an option over equity shares in IQ Resource. 

Microland, an IT infrastructure management outsourcing services provider, has provided services to the Group for fees of £64,170 (2009: £162,048) during the year. 
During 2010, the Group provided advertising services and event sponsorship to Microland for £3,226 (2009: £14,936). At 31 December 2010, the Group had a 
trade payable with Microland of nil (2009: £39,339). Pradeep Kar, a non-executive director of the Group, is founder, chairman and managing director of Microland. 

The Group has provided services to the Bank of Ireland, a financial services provider, during the year for fees of nil (2009: £12,000). Terry Neill, a non-executive director of 
the Group, was a non-executive director of the Bank of Ireland until 19 May 2010. 

Computacenter plc, a provider of IT infrastructure services, provided services to the Group during the year for fees of £146,000 (2009: nil). Greg Lock, a non-executive 
director of the Group, is the chairman of Computacenter plc.  

During the year, the Group has provided services to Target Group, a provider of software and servicing solutions, for fees of £16,568 (2009: nil). At 31 December 2010, 
the Group had a trade receivable with Target Group of £8,687 (2009: nil). Greg Lock is a non-executive director of Target Group. 

Nigel Wilson was Chief Financial Officer of the Group until 7 May 2009. He was the Senior Independent Director of Halfords Group Plc, a leading retailer. The Group 
provided services to Halfords Group Plc, during 2009 for fees of £8,000. Also, during 2009, the Group participated in the Cycle to Work scheme operated by Halfords 
Group Plc, with total transactions of £33,243. Transactions are made on behalf of employees and are recharged in full to employees through monthly payroll. 

Transactions with related parties are made at arm’s length. Outstanding balances at year-end are unsecured and settlement occurs in cash. There are no bad debt 
provisions for related party balances as at 31 December 2010, and no related party transactions have been written off during the year. Unless otherwise stated above 
there are no amounts owed by or due to related parties by the Group as at 31 December 2010 and 2009. 

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group 

Key management personnel are the Group’s Executive directors and the following is the aggregate compensation of these directors: 

 2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Short-term employee benefits 2.6 2.0

Post-employment benefits 0.1 0.2

Share-based payments 1.3 2.4

 4.0 4.6
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33. Events after the reporting period 

On 24 January 2011, the Group completed the acquisition of a 65% stake in Rotaforte International Trade Fairs & Media (‘Rotaforte’), the owner of Turkey’s largest 
jewellery exhibitions, for initial cash consideration of $1.7m (£1.1m) and further performance-related consideration of up to $8.1m (£5.2m) payable over the next two 
years. The acquisition of Rotaforte adds a further industry-leading exhibition to the Group’s jewellery portfolio within the Events segment, and is in line with the Group’s 
strategy to enhance and expand its international presence in geographic regions of significant growth. 

On 6 February 2011, the Group acquired SATTE, India’s largest travel and tourism exhibition, for initial cash consideration of $4.0m (£2.5m) and further performance 
related consideration of up to $3.7m (£2.3m) payable over the next three years. The SATTE event provides the Group with a leading position in the rapidly-growing 
Indian travel and tourism industry. The event is also supported by T3, a controlled circulation monthly publication which will be reported in the Group’s Print – 
Magazines division. 

On 25 February 2011, the Group entered into a framework agreement to acquire 60% of the Famdent dental exhibition and conference for initial cash consideration of 
INR 35m (£0.5m) and further performance-related consideration of up to INR43m (£0.6m) payable over the next three years. The transaction is expected to complete in 
the next three months, subject to regulatory approvals, and will enable the Group to expand its offering in the Indian medical exhibition and conference market. 

On 25 February 2011, the Group signed an agreement to dispose of its UK licensed trade portfolio for initial cash consideration of £1.5m and further performance-related 
consideration of up to £0.2m, payable over the next year. The sale of the portfolio, expected to complete within the next month, comprises The Publican print magazine 
title, websites and awards event, together with the Theme and Bar Show brands.  

On 28 February 2011, the Group sold its French medical newspaper and magazine business, retaining a 37.1% equity share, for initial cash consideration of €4.4m 
(£3.7m) and extended vendor finance of €6.0m (£5.1m) to the management buy out team. The business publishes weekly, bi-weekly, monthly and other subscription and 
controlled circulation titles for the French healthcare professional community. The transaction further rationalises the Group’s print portfolio and continues its progression 
towards a portfolio of integrated cross-media marketing services designed to serve specific commercial and professional communities. 
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Additional information 
 

Five year summary 

   
2010

£m 
2009

£m 
2008 

£m 
2007

£m 
2006

£m 

Profit and loss account     

Revenue1   889.2 847.6 887.0 801.6 758.9

Adjusted profit before tax2   156.4 165.1 171.5 170.0 160.5

Profit/(loss) before tax1   116.3 (35.0) 102.0 135.9 135.4

Profit for the year   99.4 81.8 82.7 114.0 146.4

     

Earnings per share     

Adjusted3   51.0p 55.1p 57.0p 53.4p 45.5p

Basic   37.3p 30.9p 31.5p 42.7p 50.7p

     

Ordinary dividends (paid and proposed)   25.0p 24.2p 23.8p 21.6p 18.0p

1 Including continuing and discontinued operations. 

2 Before amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items, impairment charges , share of taxation on profit from joint ventures and associates, net financing expense – other and 
including discontinued operations. 

3 Adjusted Group operating profit (net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity shareholders, less amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items, impairment charges , 
deferred tax on amortisation of intangible assets, taxation relating to exceptional items and net financing expense – other) divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year. 

Exchange rates 

The most significant exchange rates to UK sterling for the Group that have been used in the Group consolidated financial statements are: 

    
2010

Closing rate 
2010 

Average rate 
2009

Closing rate 
2009

Average rate 

US dollar    1.5657  1.5444  1.6149 1.5681

Canadian dollar    1.5557  1.5951  1.6930 1.7797

Euro    1.1671  1.1649  1.1255 1.1207
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of  
United Business Media Limited 
 

 

We have audited the parent company financial statements of United Business Media Limited for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise the parent 
company profit and loss account, the parent company balance sheet and the related notes 1 to 17. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards.  

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Article 113A of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and our engagement letter 
dated 28 February 2011. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and 
the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 70, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.  

In addition the Company has also instructed us to report to you our opinion on: 

– Whether the section of the Directors' Remuneration Report that is described as audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the basis of preparation 
described therein. 

– Whether the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the parent 
company financial statements. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the Company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion the parent company financial statements: 

– Give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2010 and of its loss for the year then ended.  

– Have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards.  

– Have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. 

Opinion on other matters 

In our opinion:  

– The part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report that has been described as audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the basis of preparation 
as described therein. 

– The information given in the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the parent company 
financial statements.  

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

– Proper accounting records have not been kept, or proper returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us. 

– The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. 

– We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Other matters 

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of United Business Media Limited for the year ended 31 December 2010. 

 

Les Clifford  
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP,  
London 

1 March 2011 

 
Notes: 

1. The maintenance and integrity of the United Business Media Limited website is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of        
these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the website. 

2. Legislation in Jersey governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.  
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Parent company profit and loss account 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 

   
  

Notes 
2010

£m 
2009

£m 

Other income  0.2 0.3

Administrative expenses (pre-exceptional items)  (4.7) (3.1)

Exceptional items 3 – (138.6)

Operating loss 4 (4.5) (141.4)

Net finance (expense)/income 5 (25.8) 6.6

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation  (30.3) (134.8)

Tax on loss on ordinary activities 6 – –

Loss for the financial year 15 (30.3) (134.8)
 

The Company has no recognised gains and losses other than those included in the profit and loss account and therefore no separate statement of total recognised 
gains and losses has been presented. 
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Parent company balance sheet 
as at 31 December 2010 

 
  

 
Notes 

31 December
2010

£m 

31 December
2009

£m 

Fixed assets   

Tangible assets 8 0.2 –

Investments in subsidiaries 9 1,568.5 1,565.3 

  1,568.7 1,565.3 

   

Current assets   

Debtors 10 383.3 214.1 

Cash at bank and in hand  0.2 –

  383.5 214.1 

   

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 11 (286.8) (292.0)

Net current assets/(liabilities)  96.7 (77.9)

   

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year   

Bank and other loans 12 (540.7) (322.1)

Other creditors 13 (84.2) (87.3)

  (624.9) (409.4)

Net assets  1,040.5 1,078.0 

   

Capital and reserves   

Called up share capital 14 24.4 24.4

Share premium account 15 3.1 1.2

ESOP reserve 15 (6.3) –

Profit and loss account 15 1,019.3 1,052.4 

Total equity shareholders’ funds  1,040.5 1,078.0 

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and were signed on its behalf on 1 March 2011 by: 

 

 

Robert Gray 
Director 
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Notes to the parent company financial statements 
at 31 December 2010 

1. Corporate information 

United Business Media Limited (‘the Company’) is registered in Jersey under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and is a public company limited by shares. 
The address of the registered office is Ogier House, The Esplanade, St. Helier, JE4 9WG, Jersey.  The principal legislation under which the Company operates is Jersey 
law and regulations made thereunder, although the Company has its tax residence in the Republic of Ireland and therefore operates under Irish tax laws. 

The principal activity of the Company is to act as the ultimate holding company of the United Business Media group (‘the Group’). The Group is organised into 
five operating segments, as detailed in Note 3 of the Group financial statements of United Business Media Limited. Each of the segments operations are: 

– Events which provide face-to-face interaction in the form of exhibitions, trade shows, conferences and other live events. 

– Targeting, Distribution and Monitoring which operates in the targeting and distribution of company information and the evaluation of its impact on 
targeted audiences. 

– Data Services which provide a range of services including data-based workflow products, intellectual property consultancy and analytical services and sales lead 
generation programmes. 

– Online – Marketing Services which provides website sponsorships and banner advertising as well as online directory products. 

– Print – Magazines which publishes magazines and trade press to specialist markets. 

The shares of the Company are listed on the London Stock Exchange’s market for listed securities (the ‘London Stock Exchange’). 

2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies 

Basis of preparation 

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented in compliance with the requirements for companies whose shares are listed on the London Stock 
Exchange. They were approved by the Board of Directors for issue on 1 March 2011. They are presented in pounds sterling being the Company’s functional currency. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention and in accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 
1991 and United Kingdom accounting standards. 

These separately presented Company financial statements comprise the profit and loss account, balance sheet and related notes. The Company has utilised the 
exemptions provided under FRS 1 (Revised) and has not presented a cash flow statement. A consolidated cash flow statement has been presented in the Group 
financial statements of United Business Media Limited.  

The United Business Media Limited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 contain financial instrument disclosures required by 
IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ and these would also comply with the disclosures required by FRS 29 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’. Accordingly, 
the Company has taken advantage of the exemptions provided in paragraph 2D of FRS 29 not to present separate financial instrument disclosures for the Company. 

Changes in accounting policies 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial period, except as detailed below. The Company adopted the following 
amendments to Financial Reporting Standards as of 1 January 2010: 

FRS 20 ‘Share-based payments’ (amendment) – Group Cash-settled Share-based payment transactions 
The amendment to FRS 20 has been adopted from 1 January 2010. It clarifies the accounting for group cash-settled share-based payment transactions in the separate 
or individual financial statements of the entity receiving the goods or services when that entity has no obligation to settle the share-based payment transaction. 
Adoption of this amendment does not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Company, but will be considered for future share-based 
payment transactions. 

FRS 25 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ – Puttable Financial Instruments 
The amendment changes the classification from liabilities to equity of certain puttable financial instruments. The amendments affect those financial instruments that 
impose on the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation. The amendment has been adopted 
from 1 January 2010 and has no current impact on the financial position or performance of the Company. 

FRS 26 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ – Eligible Hedged Items (amendment) 
The amendment clarifies how the existing principles underlying hedge accounting should be applied in two particular situations, namely the designation of a one-
sided risk in a hedged item and inflation in a financial hedged item. The Company adopted the amendment from 1 January 2010; it had no impact on the financial 
position, performance, presentation or disclosures of the Company. 

Improvements to FRSs 
The 2009 improvements to FRS’s were issued as a collection of minor amendments to standards, primarily to remove inconsistencies and to clarify wording. 
The Company has adopted these amendments from 1 January 2010; none of the improvements have impacted the financial position or performance 
of the Company. 
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2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies continued 

Significant accounting policies 

Investments 
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any provision for impairment. The Company reviews investments for impairment if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. The Company assesses whether such indicators exist at each reporting date. If any such 
indication of impairment exists, the Company makes an estimate of the recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount of the investment is less than the 
carrying amount, an impairment is recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.  

Foreign currencies 
Foreign currency transactions arising from operating activities are translated from local currency into pounds sterling at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the year end are translated at the period end exchange rate. Foreign currency gains 
or losses are credited or charged to the profit and loss account as they arise. 

Financial instruments 
Financial instruments in the scope of FRS 26 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 
investments, or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. Financial liabilities in the scope of FRS 26 are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost 
(borrowings, amounts owed to subsidiaries and other creditors). When financial instruments are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, and in the case 
of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, after taking account of directly attributable transaction costs.  

All bank and other loans are initially recognised at fair value, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with the loans. After initial 
recognition, bank and other loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost and any difference between the proceeds and redemption value is recognised in the 
income statement using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs and any discount or premium on settlement. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions or events have 
occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay more, or a right to pay less or to receive more, tax, with the following exceptions: 

– Provision is made for taxable gains arising from the revaluation (and similar fair value adjustments) of fixed assets that have been rolled over into replacement 
assets, only to the extent that there is a binding agreement to dispose of the assets concerned. However, no provision is made where, on the basis of all available 
evidence at the balance sheet date, it is more likely than not that the taxable gain will be rolled over into replacement assets and charged to tax only where the 
replacement assets are sold. 

– Provision is made for deferred tax that would arise on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only to the extent 
that, at the balance sheet date, dividends have been accrued as receivable. 

– Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the directors consider that it is more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which 
the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted. 

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period on which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and 
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Share-based payments 
Where a parent company grants rights to its equity instruments to employees of a subsidiary, and such share-based compensation is accounted for as equity-settled 
in the consolidated financial statements of the parent, the subsidiary is required to record an expense for such compensation in accordance with FRS 20 ‘Share-based 
payments’, with a corresponding increase recognised in equity as a contribution from the parent. Consequently, in the financial statements of the parent 
(United Business Media Limited), the Company has recognised an addition to fixed asset investments of the aggregate amount of these contributions that accrued 
in the year of £3.2m (2009: £2.4m) with a corresponding credit to equity shareholders’ funds. Full details of share-based payments transactions are given in Note 27 
of the Group financial statements. 

3. Exceptional items 

      2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Impairment of investments      – 138.6

      – 138.6

Investments in subsidiaries are reviewed annually for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired, as detailed in 
Note 2. During 2009, investments in subsidiaries were impaired by £138.6m, following the goodwill impairment review undertaken at Group level. 
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Notes to the parent company financial statements continued 
 

4. Operating loss 

Operating loss is stated after charging:  

(i) Staff costs 

      2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Directors’ fees 0.8 0.7

Wages and salaries 0.1 0.1

      0.9 0.8

The Company employed an average of three employees during the year (2009: one employee). Executive directors of the Company are employed by other companies 
within the Group.  

Details of the remuneration of directors are given in the audited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 54 to 63. 

Details of executive and non-executive directors’ remuneration and their interest in shares and options of the company are shown within the directors’ remuneration 
report in the sections ‘Directors’ remuneration’, ‘Directors’ pension provision’, ‘Awards under long term incentive plans’ and ‘Directors’ interests in shares’. 

(ii) Auditor’s remuneration 

The auditor’s remuneration for audit services to the Company was £16,000 (2009: £16,000).  Fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP and its associates for non-audit 
services to the company are disclosed in the United Business Media Limited consolidated financial statements.  

5. Net finance (expense)/income 

      2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Interest (expense)/income:       

Bank and other loans      (20.3) (4.9)

Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain      (5.5) 11.5

      (25.8) 6.6

6. Tax on loss for the year 

The reconciliation of the current tax charge for the year is as follows: 

      2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation      (30.3) (134.8)

Loss on ordinary activities before tax multiplied by the applicable rate of Corporation tax in the Republic of Ireland of 12.5% (3.8) (16.9)

Effects of: 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3.6 15.9

Origination and reversal of timing differences      0.2 1.0

      – –

The Company has unrecognised deferred tax assets of £0.3m (2009: £0.6m) relating to unused tax losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these 
amounts due to the unpredictability of future taxable profit streams. 

In the foreseeable future, the Company’s tax charge will continue to be influenced by the nature of its income and expenditure in the subsequent accounting periods.  

7. Dividends 

      2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Declared and paid during the year       

Equity dividends on ordinary shares 

Second interim dividend for 2009 of 18.20p (2008: 18.20p)  4.6 7.5

Interim dividend for 2010 of 6.00p (2009: 6.00p)      1.4 3.2

      6.0 10.7

The directors propose a further dividend of 19.00p (2009: 18.20p) per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2010. This dividend is not included as a 
liability in the current year financial statements as it was not announced before 31 December 2010. Further details of payment arrangements are given in Note 11 
in the United Business Media Limited’s consolidated financial statements. 
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8. Tangible assets 

      

Plant,
machinery 

and vehicles
£m 

Total
£m 

Cost        

At 1 January 2010 – –

Additions 0.2 0.2

At 31 December 2010 0.2 0.2

Depreciation 

At 1 January 2010 – –

Charge for the year – –

At 31 December 2010 – –

Carrying value 

At 1 January 2010      – –

At 31 December 2010      0.2 0.2 

9. Investments in subsidiaries 

      

Shares in 
group

companies
2010

£m 

Shares in 
group 

companies
2009

£m 

Cost       

At 1 January 1,703.9 1,701.5

Additions 3.2 2.4

At 31 December  1,707.1 1,703.9

Impairment 

At 1 January  138.6 –

Charge for the year – 138.6

At 31 December  138.6 138.6

Carrying value 

At 1 January       1,565.3 1,701.5

At 31 December       1,568.5 1,565.3

At 31 December 2010, the investment in subsidiaries comprises a 100% interest in the issued share capital of Maypond Holdings Limited, a company incorporated 
in the Republic of Ireland whose principal activity is that of an investment holding company. 

Details of the significant investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures and associates that are held by the Company are detailed in notes 31 and 15 of the Group 
financial statements respectively. 

Additions in the year ended 31 December 2010 comprised the fair value of the share incentives issued to employees of subsidiaries during the year of £3.2m (2009: 
£2.4m). The cumulative amount of share incentives issued to employees recognised in investments in subsidiaries is £9.4m (2009: £6.2m). 

10. Debtors 

      2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Amounts falling due within one year:       

Amounts owed from subsidiaries      383.3 214.1

      383.3 214.1

11. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

      2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Amounts owed to subsidiaries      282.1 289.5

Other creditors      4.7 2.5

      286.8 292.0

Amounts owed to subsidiaries falling due within one year are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. 
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Notes to the parent company financial statements continued 
 

12. Bank and other loans due after more than one year 

      2010
£m 

2009
£m 

$350m fixed rate dollar bonds 2020      218.2 –

£250m fixed rate sterling bonds 2016      247.5 247.1

£75m floating rate reset bonds      75.0 75.0

      540.7 322.1

On 3 November 2010, the Company issued $350m fixed rate dollar bonds at 98.295% of par. The bonds pay a 5.75% coupon on a semi annual basis on 3 May 
and 3 November until maturity in 2020. The coupon of 5.75% would be increased in the event the Company’s long term credit rating were to be reduced below 
investment grade by either Standard and Poor’s or Moody’s (below Baa3). The increase to the coupon would be 0.25% per ‘ratings notch’ per agency. The proceeds 
were primarily used to repay outstanding bank debt drawn to finance the acquisition of Canon. 

On 23 November 2009 the Company issued £250m fixed rate sterling bonds at 99.384% of par. The bonds pay an annual interest coupon of 6.5% on 23 November 
until maturity in 2016. The coupon of 6.5% would be increased by 1.25% in the event the Group’s long term credit rating were to be reduced below investment grade 
by either Standard and Poor’s (below BBB-) or Moody’s (below Baa3). The proceeds were used to repay outstanding bank debt of the Company.  

The £75.0m floating rate reset bonds bear interest at six month LIBOR plus 0.68% until 26 September 2011. Thereafter the interest rate will be 4.70% plus a credit 
spread which will be reset every three years by auction. Bondholders may put the bonds back to the issuer, at par, on 26 September 2011 and on each triennial interest 
reset date thereafter. The Company may call the bonds at fair market value on interest payment dates from September 2011. If not put or called, the bonds will 
mature in 2028. 

13. Other creditors due after more than one year 

      2010
£m 

2009
£m 

Amounts owed to subsidiaries      84.2 87.3

Amounts owed to subsidiaries due after more than one year are loans which are unsecured, interest free and with no specified dates for repayment. 

14. Called up share capital 

      2010
£m 

2010
£m 

Authorised       

1,217,124,740 ordinary shares of 10 pence each (2009: 1,217,124,740 ordinary shares of 10 pence each) 121.7 121.7

 

      

Ordinary
shares

number 

Ordinary
shares

£m 

Issued and fully paid      

At 1 January 2009      244,082,372 24.4

Issued in respect of share option schemes and other entitlements      92,116 –

At 31 December 2009      244,174,488 24.4

Issued in respect of share option schemes and other entitlements      379,118 – 

At 31 December 2010      244,553,606 24.4 

Company share schemes 

The ESOP Trust and QUEST Trust (Note 27 to the Group financial statements) own 0.55% (2009: 0.27%) of the issued share capital of the Company in trust for 
the benefit of employees of the group and their dependants. The voting rights in relation to these shares are exercised by the trustees. 
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15. Equity shareholders’ funds 

   

Share
capital

£m 

Share 
premium
account

£m 

ESOP 
Reserve 

£m 

Profit
and loss
account

£m 
Total

£m 

At 1 January 2009   24.4 1.0 – 1,195.5 1,220.9

Loss for the year   – – – (134.8) (134.8)

Issued in respect of share option schemes and other entitlements   – 0.2 – – 0.2

Dividend paid   – – – (10.7) (10.7)

Equity granted to employees of subsidiaries    – – – 2.4 2.4

At 31 December 2009 24.4 1.2 – 1,052.4 1,078.0

Loss for the year   – – – (30.3) (30.3)

Issued in respect of share option schemes and other entitlements   – 1.9 – – 1.9 

Dividend paid   – – – (6.0) (6.0)

Equity granted to employees of subsidiaries    – – – 3.2 3.2 

Own shares purchased by the Company   – – (6.3) – (6.3)

At 31 December 2010  24.4 3.1 (6.3) 1,019.3 1,040.5 

Exercise of options 

The Company received £1.9m (2009: £0.2m) on the issue of shares in respect of the exercise of options awarded under various share option plans. 

Dividends 

As indicated in Note 7, during the year ended 31 December 2010 equity dividends of £6.0m (2009: £10.7m) were paid by the Company to those shareholders who 
did not elect to receive dividends under the Dividend Access Plan (‘DAP’) arrangements. In total, dividends of £58.9m (2009: £58.8m) were paid in the year of 
which £52.9m (2009: £48.1m) were paid by United Business Media (GP) No. 2 Limited under the DAP arrangements. Further details of the DAP arrangements are 
given in Note 11 to the Group financial statements. 

16. Contingent liabilities 

The Company acts as guarantor over a net overdraft facility of £30.0m, the £325m variable rate multi option facility, the €53.1m floating rate reset loans and the 
£0.2m loan in India that are available to subsidiaries. The Company also acts as guarantor on interest rate swaps taken out by a subsidiary and on foreign exchange 
transactions undertaken by a subsidiary. The Company acts as a guarantor on liabilities of the United Magazines Final Salary defined benefit pension scheme 
up to a maximum liability of £28.0m. 
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Notes to the parent company financial statements continued 
 

17. Related party transactions  

The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties during the year: 

Transactions with related parties Nature of relationship Nature of transactions 

Balances 
(owed by)/
due to the 

Group at
31 December

2010
£m 

Value of 
transactions 

2010 
£m 

Balances 
(owed by)/
due to the 
Group at

31 December 
2009

£m 

Value of
transactions

2009
£m 

UBM Asia (Thailand) Co Limited1 Subsidiary <100% Management fees –* –* – –*

UBM Medica India Private Limited2 Subsidiary <100% Management fees –* – –* –

UBM Conferences Limited Subsidiary <100% Management fees –* –* –* –*

RISI Inc Subsidiary <100% Management fees 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.1

Intermodal Organizacao de Eventos Ltda Subsidiary <100% Management fees –* –* –* –*

UBM Brasil Feiras e Eventos Ltda Subsidiary <100% Management fees –* –* – – 

Sienna Interlink Subsidiary <100% Management fees –* –* – – 

* Transactions and balances (owed by)/due to the Group less than £0.1m.  

1. Formerly  Asia (Thailand) Co Limited 

2. Formerly CMP Medica India Private Limited 

The Company has elected as permitted in FRS 8 not to disclose transactions with its wholly owned subsidiaries. 

Transactions with related parties are made at arm’s length. Outstanding balances at year-end are unsecured and settlement occurs in cash. There are no bad debt 
provisions for related party balances as at 31 December 2010, and no related party transactions have been written off during the year.  

Unless otherwise stated above there are no amounts owed by or due to related parties by the Company as at 31 December 2010 and 2009. 

 

CMP
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Shareholder information 
 

Registered office and registered number 

Ogier House 
The Esplanade  
St. Helier  
Jersey 
JE4 9WG  

Registered Number 100460 

Corporate Headquarters  

51-54 Pearse Street  
Dublin 2 
Ireland 

UK Office 

Ludgate House 
245 Blackfriars Road 
London 
SE1 9UY 

Registrars 

All enquiries regarding shareholder administration including dividends, lost share certificates or changes of address should be communicated in writing, quoting 
United Business Media’s company reference number 8054 to the following address: 

Equiniti (Jersey) Limited 
PO Box 75 
26 New Street 
St. Helier 
Jersey 
JE4 8PP 

Tel: 0871 384 2239* (for callers from the UK) 

Tel: +44 (0)121 415 7002 (for callers from outside the UK)  

Shareholders can also view and manage their shareholdings online by registering at www.shareview.co.uk. 

*Calls to this number are charged at 8p per minute from a BT landline. Other telephone provider costs may vary. 

Investor relations and general enquiries 

For all investor relations and general enquiries about the Company, please contact our group communications department at the UK office as shown above or 
telephone 020 7921 5000. 

The Company website also allows you to keep up to date with all the latest news and events of your Company, simply by registering with our Alerting Service, which 
can be found at www.ubm.com/ubm/sitetools/alert. Just select the information of interest to you, such as company results, news releases, shareholder meetings or 
regulatory updates, and you will then be notified by e-mail when this information is available to view on our website. 

Some other useful features that we have added to the investor relations section of the site include a full section on our share price performance at 
www.ubm.com/ubm/ir/sharepriceinfo/price/ and also a chart of UBM’s performance relative to the other companies in the sector at 
www.ubm.com/ubm/ir/sharepriceinfo/chart. 

Requests for further copies of our annual report and accounts can be made via our website www.ubm.com – or by telephoning the company secretary’s office on the 
number given above.
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Warning about unsolicited shareholder contact 

Shareholders are advised to be extremely wary of any unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares at a discount or offers of free reports about the Company. Further details 
can be found on our website at www.ubm.com/ubm/ir/warning. 

Sharegift 

The Company supports ShareGift, the charity share donation scheme administered by The Orr Mackintosh Foundation. Shareholders who have a very small 
number of shares, which might be considered uneconomic to sell, are able to donate them to the charity ShareGift, which are sold and the proceeds distributed to a 
wide range of UK charities. Further details about ShareGift can be obtained from www.ShareGift.org or 020 7930 3737. 

Capital Gains Tax 

The market value of United Business Media’s shares on 31 March 1982 was 165 pence. The adjusted market value for shares acquired prior to 31 March 1982 which 
participated in the rights issues of November 1983 and June 1993 is 232.5 pence. The market quotations of the Company’s ordinary shares and ICAP plc (previously 
Garban plc) ordinary shares for 17 November 1998, being the first day of dealing following ICAP’s demerger from the Company were as follows: 

United Business Media ordinary shares of 25 pence – 638 pence 

ICAP plc ordinary shares of 50 pence – 217 pence 

The market values of United Business Media’s ordinary shares of 25 pence and B shares on 23 April 2001 following the capital reorganisation were as follows: 

Ordinary shares of 25 pence – 693 pence 

B shares – 245 pence 

The market value of United Business Media’s ordinary shares of 30 5⁄14 pence on 21 June 2005 following the share consolidation was 511.25 pence 

The market value of United Business Media’s ordinary shares of 33 71/88 pence on 20 March 2007 following the share consolidation was 805.0 pence 

Dividend Access Plan 

Pursuant to the Dividend Access Plan that was put in place in 2008, shareholders can elect to receive their dividend from a UK source. Shareholders who hold more 
than 50,000 shares and who wish to receive their dividend from a UK source must make an election. Shareholders who held 50,000 or fewer UBM shares on the date 
of admission of the Company's shares to the London Stock Exchange or (if later) on the first dividend record date after they became shareholders in the Company, 
will be automatically deemed to have elected to receive a UK-sourced dividend. All elections remain in force indefinitely unless revoked. Unless shareholders have 
made, or are deemed to have made, an election under the Dividend Access Plan, their dividend will be paid from an Irish source and will be taxed accordingly. 

Share Listings 

The ordinary shares are listed on The London Stock Exchange under the symbol UBM. 

Shareholder profile as at 31 December 2010 

Holdings No. of holders % of Holders No. of shares % of Issued Share Capital 

1 – 1,000 6,532 78.45 1,885,009 0.77

1,001 – 5,000 1,222 14.68 2,436,320 1.00

5,001 – 50,000 293 3.52 4,851,941 1.98

50,001 – 1,000,000 218 2.62 57,481,878 23.51 

Over 1,000,001  61 0.73 177,898,458 72.74 

Totals 8,326 100.00 244,553,606 100.00 
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Financial Calendar Cautionary Statement 
 

Record date for 2010 second interim dividend  15 April
Annual General Meeting  10 May
Second interim dividend payment date  19 May
Announcement of interim results  29 July
First Interim dividend for 2011 payment date  October
 

This Annual Report has been prepared for, and only for, the members of 
United Business Media Limited (the Company), as a body, and no other persons. 
The Company, its directors, employees, agents or advisers do not accept or 
assume responsibility to any other person to whom this document is shown or 
into whose hands it may come and any such responsibility or liability is expressly 
disclaimed. By their nature, the statements concerning the risks and uncertainties 
facing the Group in this Annual Report involve uncertainty since future events 
and circumstances can cause results and developments to differ materially from 
those anticipated.  

The forward-looking statements reflect knowledge and information available 
at the date of preparation of this Annual Report and the Company undertakes 
no obligation to update these forward-looking statements. Nothing in this 
Annual Report should be construed as a profit forecast. 

United Business Media Annual Report and Accounts 2010 153



Annual Report and Accounts 2010

Helping business...United Business Media Limited
www.ubm.com

U
nited B

usiness M
edia Lim

ited  A
nnual R

eport and A
ccounts 2010

...to do business

Designed and produced by Radley Yeldar www.ry.com


	14146_UBM_AR10_coverB
	14146_UBM_AR10_coverF
	14146_UBM_AR10_p01_13_1
	14146_UBM_AR10_p14_31_1
	14146_UBM_AR10_p32_43
	14146_UBM_AR10_p44-51
	14146_UBM_AR10_p52-53
	14146_GOV&FIN_PRINT_1



